# Assessment of Potential Long-Term Health Effects on Army Human Test Subjects of Relevant Biological and Chemical Agents, Drugs, Medications and Substances

SUPPORT SERVICES

# **Literature Review and Analysis**

Contract Number W81XWH-14-R-0102

February 29, 2016

Ho-Chunk Technical Solutions Healthcare Division



# Table of Contents

Executive Summary	4
Introduction	8
1.0 Agents and Substances with Evidence for Long-Term Sequelae	
1.1 Classical Biological Agents and Vaccines	
Coxiella burnetii (Q-fever)	
Eastern, Western, and Venezuelan Equine Encephalitis Viruses	
Clostridium botulinum (Botulism)	
1.2 Anticholinesterases	
Tabun (GA, EA 1205)	
Sarin (GB, EA-1208)	
DEP (Diisopropyl fluorophosphate)	
Malathion	
1.3 LSD, Other Classical Hallucinogens, & Lysergamides	24
Lysergamides	
1.4 Oximes, Irritants, & Incapacitants	
Irritants	77
Incapacitants	
1.5 Miscellaneous Traditional Chemical Warfare Agents	
Sulfur mustard	
Phosgene	
1.6 Environmental Pollutants and Toxic Compounds	
Dioxins	
Arsenic	
1.7 Antibiotics	
Chloramphenicol	44
Tetracycline	
1.8 Miscellaneous Other Compounds	45
РАВА	45
2.0 Agents and Substances with Little or No Evidence for Long-Term Seque	lae47
2.1 Classical Biological Agents and Vaccines	
2.2 Anticholinesterases	55
2.3 Anticholinergics	59
2.4 LSD, Other Classical Hallucinogens & Lysergamides	62
2.5 Oximes, Irritants, & Incapacitants	65
Oximes	66

Irritants Incapacitants	
2.6 Miscellaneous Traditional Chemical Warfare Agents	71
2.7 Environmental Pollutants and Toxic Compounds	73
2.8 Barbituates, Stimulants, & Antidepressants	75
2.9 Miscellaneous Drugs and Diagnostic Substances	
2.10 Miscellaneous Other Compounds	
3.0 Military Exposures and Health Outcomes	82
3.1 Biological Agents and Vaccines	
3.2 Anticholinesterases	
3.3 Anticholinergics	
3.4 LSD, Other Classical Hallucinogens, & Lysergamides	
3.5 Oximes, Irritants, & Incapacitants	93
Oximes	
Irritants	94
Incapacitants	
3.6 Sulphur Mustard	
3.7 Dioxins	
4.0 Comparing Historical and Recent Information	
5.0 Conclusions	
Appendix 1: Agents, Compounds and Substances	
Biological Agents	
Organophosphorus Nerve Agents	
Anticholinergics	
Lysergic Acid Diethylamide	
National Security Human Tests with LSD	
Oximes	
Irritants	
Incapacitants	
Miscellaneous Traditional Chemical Warfare Agents	
Environmental Pollutants and Toxic Compounds	151
Barbiturates, Stimulants, & Antidepressants	
Miscellaneous Other Drugs and Diagnostic Substances	
Miscellaneous Other Compounds	
References Cited	

# **Executive Summary**

### Background

Between 1954 and 1975, more than 12,000 men entering or in military service in the United States (US) served as medical research volunteers for the country's biological and chemical warfare defense programs. With their consent, these servicemen served as human volunteers in exposure experiments to a wide variety of biological and chemical substances, medications, vaccines, or simulants. The purpose of these tests was to use volunteers to evaluate the effect of biological and chemical substances on humans in an effort to determine US vulnerability to attack.<sup>1,2,3,4</sup> The three main programs under which this testing took place were Project White-coat, Project 112, and Project SHAD (Shipboard Hazard and Defense.)

Several reviews of the health status of volunteers in these exposure experiments have been done the years following the original studies and have found no conclusive evidence that receipt of investigational agents or substances was related to adverse health outcomes.<sup>1,2,3,4</sup> None of the follow-up studies or reviews found differences in all-cause mortality between participants and controls, and none of the studies found consistent, clinically-significant groups of symptoms in those exposed. Despite these failures to determine that the tests had a long-term negative effect on the health of the men who participated in the exposures, many test participants continue to self-report their health as consistently lower than the health of non-participant controls.

The purpose of this report is to provide documentation of potential long-term health effects of exposure to the agents, compounds and drugs tested. Literature searches and analyses of scientific and medical studies published between June 30, 2006 and December 1, 2015 have been reviewed for information concerning the potential long-term health effects of the volunteer human exposures.

Evidence found in the literature for potential long-term health effects or sequelae does not necessarily mean that these symptoms have occurred or will occur in subjects from the military testing programs. Evidence for potential sequelae only means that these conditions *could* occur in the soldiers who participated in the tests.

#### Results

Of the more than 100 agents and compounds researched for this study, 18 had evidence for potential long-term sequelae associated with exposure (See Table 1.) There were 16 different types of sequelae that ranged from neurological disorders to carcinomas. The most frequently seen sequelae were neurological, which occurred in 7 of the 18 compounds. The next most common types of sequelae were cognitive, cardiac, and cutaneous which were each noted in 5 compounds. A higher risk of sarcomas or carcinomas were noted in those exposed to 4 substances. Some types of sequelae were noted only in association with one compound, as in the case of movement disorders (dystonias and dyskenesias) and butyrophenone derivatives.

#### Sequelae by Compound or Substance

The anticholinesterases had the largest number of sequelae associated with them, with five out of 10 compounds associated with the long-term negative effects of exposure. By comparison, only three of 15 biological agents or vaccines had information about related sequelae in the recent scientific or medical literature.

Sulphur mustard had the largest number of sequelae associated with it, and these ranged from respiratory problems to psychosocial and cognitive issues. Some compounds, on the other hand, were outdated or experimental and obscure and little or no information could be found about their long-term adverse effects. To some degree also, estimations of, "the most" or "the least" sequelae have a certain amount of study bias associated with them. For example, most of the data on potential sequelae from sulphur mustard comes from long-term studies of soldiers exposed during the Iran-Iraq War. The doses these men received in theatre were massive when compared to the exposures of the volunteer test subjects. A more detailed discussion of sequelae can be found in the body of the paper.

#### TR-16-109 Distribution A: Approved for Public realease; distribution is unlimited

	Та	able 1.F	Potential	Long-T	erm Se	equelae	e from I	Exposure	to Agent	s or Co	mpound	s in th	is Study			
Agent or Compound	Neuro- logical	Cognitive or Learning	Depression	Fatigue	Psycho- social	Anxiety	Cardiac or Vascular	Muscle Weakness	Movement	Respira- tory	Neuro- endocrine	Bowel	Cutane- ous or Allergic	Ocular	Blood or Marrow	Cancer
C. burnetii	Х			Х			Х									
EEE/WEE/VEE	Х															
C. botulinum	Х			Х				Х								
Tabun	Х	Х						Х								
Sarin	х	Х				Х	Х			Х	Х					
Soman						Х										
DFP	Х	Х														
Malathion		Х	Х													Х
Lysergamides					Х		Х									
CS													Х			
Butyrophenone derivatives							Х		Х							
Sulphur Mustard	Х	Х			Х	Х				Х			Х	Х		Х
Phosgene										Х						
Dioxins	Х												Х			Х
Arsenic							Х						Х			х
Chloram- phenicol															Х	
Tetracycline												Х				
PABA													Х			

Although evidence for long-term sequelae associated with exposure to some agents and substances was found in the recent scientific literature, it is important to note that:

- Volunteer exposures were low relative to many of the sequelae-inducing doses in the recent literature;
- Volunteer exposures were single dose or short term, whereas many of the sequelae reported in the recent literature arose after long-term or chronic exposures;
- Tests were terminated immediately if the volunteers experienced moderate-to-severe discomfort; and
- The health impact of volunteers was assessed at several different time periods in the years following their exposures, and no significant sequelae were recorded in any of the follow-up health screenings.

Furthermore, some of the information presented in this report about associated sequelae comes from animal studies. This information is informative, but should not be taken as *indica-tive* of sequelae associated with human exposure to these compounds. Rather the animal experiments should be regarded as, "proof of concept," of sequelae that *might* arise in humans after exposure, or as supportive of human epidemiological and medical data, if available.

# Introduction

Between 1954 and 1975, more than 12,000 men entering or in military service in the United States (US) served as medical research volunteers for the country's biological and chemical warfare defense programs. With their consent, these servicemen served as human volunteers in exposure experiments to a wide variety of biological and chemical substances, medications, vaccines, or simulants. The purpose of these tests was to use volunteers to evaluate the effect of biological and chemical substances on humans in an effort to determine US vulnerability to attack.<sup>1,2,3,4</sup> The three main programs under which this testing took place were Project Whitecoat, Project 112, and Project SHAD (Shipboard Hazard and Defense.)

This report focuses on the different agents used in these exposure studies. These agents include wide variety of biological and chemical warfare agents, vaccines, irritants, incapacitants, and many miscellaneous compounds and drugs. Many of these chemical agents cause acute symptoms including hallucinations, blurred vision, eye irritation, and acute respiratory symptoms. In the years following these exposure studies, concerns about the long term health effects of these exposures have been brought up by military personnel leading to multiple studies and reviews on the long term health impacts.

Several reviews of the health status of volunteers in these exposure experiments have been done the years following the original studies and have found no conclusive evidence that receipt of investigational agents was related to adverse health outcomes.<sup>1,2,3,4</sup> None of the follow-up studies or reviews found differences in all-cause mortality between participants and controls, and none of the studies found consistent, clinically-significant groups of symptoms in those exposed. Despite these failures to determine that the tests had a long-term negative effect on the health of the men who participated in the exposures, many test participants continue to self-report their health as consistently lower than the health of non-participant controls.<sup>1</sup>

The purpose of this report is to provide documentation of potential negative long-term health effects (sequelae) of exposure to the agents, compounds, and drugs tested. Literature searches and analyses of scientific and medical studies published between June 30, 2006 and December 1, 2015 have been reviewed for information concerning the potential long-term health effects

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the follow-on health status studies, participants were divided into exposure groups, and were matched with non-participant controls. In general, the reviews found no statistical difference in health between participants and nonparticipant controls. A more detailed discussion of participants vs. controls is available in the Institute of Medicine review of Project SHAD volunteer health.<sup>387</sup>

of the volunteer human exposures. Some papers consulted or cited on health outcomes in exposure-test participants were published prior to 2006. This report will be used to inform an ongoing legal case brought by former test subjects against the Central Intelligence Agency, Department of Defense and Department of the Army.

#### What are Sequelae?

Sequelae are secondary symptoms that can persist for weeks or sometimes for months or years after an original exposure or infection.

In cases of sequelae following infections, generally the sequelae are not associated with a persistent or reactivated primary infection, but rather result from a separate disease or condition *triggered* by the original infection. For example, some infections (i.e. infection with *Clostridium botulinum*) can cause severe fatigue in some individuals that lasts for months or years after the infection has been eradicated.

Sequelae differ from complications of exposure or infection by the timing of onset of symptoms: complications occur during exposure or infection and may pose obstacles to treatment, whereas sequelae arise after initial symptoms and become separate conditions or diseases. With proper treatment, complications will usually resolve as infection resolves or as the amount of agent or substance in the body clears. Sequelae can persist despite proper treatment and substance clearance.

Sequelae usually arise in the weeks or months that follow an exposure or infection. Rarely, if ever, have they been recorded happening for the first time years after the initial exposure and primary symptoms. Also, sequelae *can be* associated with exposures and infections but do not *always* occur. Only a fraction of the people exposed to a substance may develop sequelae as a consequence.

The relevance to military test subjects in Whitecoat, 112 and SHAD are that for their symptoms to even be considered as potential sequelae of exposure, the conditions experienced by the volunteers in the military human trials must have arisen in the weeks or months following exposure, not five to ten years (or more) after exposure. Given this timing, potential sequelae should have been detected in the follow-up health screenings given to test participants.

#### **Sources of Information**

The types of information evaluated as a part of this review varied widely from medical case reports and long-term health monitoring of exposed soldiers, to animal studies and clinical trials,

to meta-analyses that combine the results of several studies for trend analysis and statistical significance. These sources also vary widely in the value of the information that they provide.

For example, some of the information presented in this report about associated sequelae comes from animal studies. This information is informative, but should not be taken as indicative of sequelae associated with human exposure to these compounds. Rather the animal experiments should be regarded as, "proof of concept," of sequelae that *might* arise in humans after exposure, or as supportive of human epidemiological and medical data, if available.

Likewise, a great deal of the recent public health and medical literature consulted for this study involves sequelae that may arise from long-term exposures or chronic use of a medication or substance. By contrast, the volunteer tests consisted of a single exposure or on occasion, a short series of exposures. Additionally, exposure doses in the literature consulted can be extremely high relative to the doses administered to volunteer test subjects.

The information offered by medical case reports is also potentially problematic. They differ from scientific studies in several important ways. Medical case studies are:

- Usually only based on one or two cases per publication;
- Often based on the accepted or status quo interpretation of symptoms or disease states; and
- Sometimes numerous in the literature relative to other types of reports or studies.

Taken together, these issues with medical case reports can affect the understanding of a disease or condition. An example of this can be found in literature on LSD and other hallucinogens. The plethora of medical case reports discussing negative sequelae (flashbacks) to hallucinogen exposure influenced medical opinion for decades about the effects of these drugs. It wasn't until recent population-level studies of effects showed that no harmful sequelae were associated with hallucinogen use that the conclusions of these case reports were questioned.

The relevance of this to the health of military test subjects is that older literature (prior to June 30, 2006) and medical case studies may report sequelae associated with the agents in this report, whereas more modern scientific or population-based studies show no association. Thus some of the results communicated in this report may contradict that of earlier reports.

#### **Screening Before and After Testing**

The records of the tests published by the National Academies of Science in the 1980s showed that the volunteers were carefully screened prior to the tests; exposures were low relative to many of the sequelae-inducing doses in the recent literature; and the tests were terminated immediately if the volunteers experienced moderate-to-severe discomfort. Additionally, the health of volunteers was assessed at several different time periods in the years following their exposures, and no significant sequelae were recorded in any of the follow-up health screenings.

# 1.0 Agents and Substances with Evidence for Long-Term Sequelae

## 1.1 Classical Biological Agents and Vaccines

Table 2. Biological Agents with Potential for
Long-Term Sequelae
Coxiella burnetii (Q-fever)
Eastern, Western, and Venezuelan Equine
Encephalitis Viruses
Clostridium botulinum (Botulism)

# Coxiella burnetii (Q-fever)

After primary infection with *C. burnetii*, approximately one-to-five percent of patients' progress to chronic infection in the years following initial infection.<sup>5</sup> A common symptom of chronic Q-fever is endocarditis, which can occur months or years after infection, and can be fatal if untreated. It can also be treated as a long-term sequelae of Q-fever because it can emerge long after the original infection, and persist after the recurring infection has been eradicated. Other long-term sequelae have been reported such as chronic fatigue,<sup>5,6</sup> vascular infections,<sup>7,8,9</sup> and neurological impairments.<sup>10,11,12</sup>

## **Chronic Fatigue**

Persistent fatigue following acute infection with *Coxiella burnetii* is the most common longterm sequelae reported following acute Q-fever.<sup>5,6</sup> The symptoms associated with this are disabling fatigue, musculoskeletal pain, neurocognitive difficulties, and mood disturbance. These symptoms can last for months or years after eradication of the primary infection. Although these symptoms are associated with morbidity more than mortality, they can be severe. One study found over eight times more (per 1000 cases) disability-adjusted life years associated with post Q-fever fatigue than with pandemic influenza.<sup>13</sup>

The cause of the fatigue symptoms after primary infection is unclear. Some authors have hypothesized that a dysregulation of cytokines (i.e., increased IL-6 release),<sup>7</sup> or impaired immune function in general might be associated with chronic fatigue,<sup>14</sup> while others think that the persistence of *C. burnetii* organisms (antigenic non-viable cell residues) in the host's bone-marrow<sup>15</sup> or changes in immunogenetics<sup>16</sup> might account for post Q-fever fatigue.

A study published in September 2006 by Hickie et al., was instrumental in providing evidence for the long observed phenomenon of severe fatigue following acute Q-fever.<sup>17</sup> The study, a

prospective cohort study of 253 patients in rural southwestern Australia, found that 12 percent of patients developed symptoms of chronic fatigue after a laboratory-confirmed infection with *Coxiella burnetii*.

More recent studies have found a higher percentage of severe-fatigue symptoms following acute Q-Fever infection. For example, in a recent review of the Q-fever outbreak in The Netherlands, over 50 percent of patients were suffering from severe fatigue symptoms (compared to 26% of the control group), one year after their initial infection.<sup>18,19</sup> This study involved 54 patients from the same geographical outbreak area with 23 age and sex-matched controls from the same neighborhood.<sup>19</sup> It is difficult, however, to compare the results between studies, because they do not all differentiate between fatigue symptoms, idiopathic chronic fatigue, and chronic fatigue syndrome.

Some studies have questioned whether post-infection fatigue symptoms could be correlated with other psychological variables such as pre-infection depression or neuroses, but the results are equivocal. A 2012 German study by Strauss et al., found that patients who were exposed to a *C. burnetii* infection indicated increased post-infection fatigue symptoms (54.8 percent vs. 20 percent) and chronic fatigue than controls (32 percent vs. 4.7 percent).<sup>6</sup> This study followed 84 patients approximately 2 years after infection and a matched control group of 85 patients with the same general practitioners. It was also noted that patients with higher fatigue scores also scored significantly higher on psychological tests examining somatoform disorders (SOMS) and hypochondria (Whitley-Index), indicating that psychosocial factors might play a role in the self-perception of post-infective fatigue.<sup>6</sup>

The previously mentioned Australian study by Hickie et al., was controlled for demographic and psychological issues, but found that neither had a significant effect on the incidence or severity of post-infective fatigue.<sup>17</sup> However, the study did find that severity of acute symptoms during infection with *C. burnetii* was predictive of chronic fatigue symptoms, with the most severe cases of Q-fever resulting in long-term fatigue.<sup>17</sup>

Work on the association of Q-fever with fatigue related long-term sequelae is ongoing. For example, a team of researchers who showed that whole blood gene-expression in Q-fever-related fatigue is identical in individuals with long-term idiopathic fatigue,<sup>16</sup> is continuing its work, and the randomized, placebo-controlled study is examining the effect of antimicrobial treatment on Q-fever related fatigue symptoms.<sup>5</sup>

#### Vascular Complications: Endocarditis and Other Vascular Infections

After primary infection with *C. burnetii*, approximately one-to-five percent of patients' progress to chronic infection in the years following initial infection.<sup>5</sup> Endocarditis, mycotic aneurysm, and vascular infection are the most common manifestations.<sup>20</sup> These sequelae will be discussed because they can persist after active infection appears to be eradicated and have an extremely poor prognosis if untreated, with mortality approaching 100 percent and the need for surgery of up to 60 percent.<sup>21</sup> Patients with pre-existent valvular disease or vascular defects, immunocompromised patients, or pregnant women, are most frequently affected.<sup>22</sup>

Additionally, secondary aneurysm or vascular infection can occur after treatment for *C. burnetii* related endocarditis has started.<sup>9</sup> The estimated risk of transformation from acute infection to Q-fever endocarditis in patients with preexisting valvulopathy is approximately 40 percent.<sup>8</sup> In the literature, association of endocarditis and vascular infection with Q-fever is difficult to find. Good evidence for the association is usually only found in individual case studies as opposed to epidemiological studies on infected populations.

More recently however, long-term study of patients from a large outbreak (>4000 cases) in the Netherlands in 2007 has resulted in more cases of vascular complication following Q-fever. For example, a 2014 study from the Netherlands has shown that 30.8 percent of patients with aortic or iliac disease living in an epidemic area are seropositive for *C. burnetii.*<sup>9</sup> This is much higher than the 7.8 percent seropositive rate found in Dutch patients with a history of cardiac valve surgery living in the same epidemic area.<sup>23</sup> This suggests there is a higher than previously understood association between Q-fever infection and vascular complications. This increase in the size of the data pool may lead to a better understanding of the association as well as additional long term sequelae in future years.

#### **Neurological Impairments**

Acute neurologic manifestations following acute *C. burnetii* infection include headache, encephalitis, encephalomyelitis, meningitis, Guillain–Barré syndrome, optic neuritis, brachial neuritis, mononeuritis multiplex, peripheral neuropathy, transverse myelitis, polyradiculopathy, and extrapyramidal disorders.<sup>10,11,12</sup> Central nervous system neuropathies can be seen in as many as 40 percent of post-infective Q-fever patients, but peripheral disturbances are reported in less than one percent of patients. The peripheral neuropathies that have been reported include brachial-plexus neuropathy usually manifesting itself as pain in the shoulder and hip, numbness in the radial aspect of the forearm and deltoid area, or difficulty in raising the arm.<sup>10</sup> Other peripheral neuropathies include transient or recurring optic neuritis.<sup>11,12</sup> All of the peripheral neuropathies were successfully treated with long-term antimicrobial therapy.<sup>10,11</sup>

#### **Cognitive Problems**

A 2013 study by Cvejic and colleagues looked at neurocognitive sequelae in 121 Australian patients infected with Epstein Barr virus, *C. burnetii* (21 patients), or Ross River virus.<sup>24</sup> Study subjects exhibited slower matching-to-sample responses, poorer working memory capacity, mental planning, and dual attention task performance.<sup>24</sup> Objective impairments correlated significantly with self-reported symptoms as well as levels of the inflammation marker, C-reactive protein.<sup>24</sup> This study also attempted to understand the underlying causes of the neurological sequelae. Linear regression analysis identified an association between neurocognitive disturbance and functional polymorphisms in inflammatory cytokine genes.<sup>24</sup> Specifically, the high cytokine producing G allele of the IL-6-174G/C SNP was associated with poorer neurocognitive performance. These findings suggest that genetic polymorphisms may predispose some individuals to more intense inflammatory responses that may result in neurocognitive disturbances following acute infections.<sup>24</sup>

## Eastern, Western, and Venezuelan Equine Encephalitis Viruses

It is estimated that up to thirty percent of survivors of encephalitis resulting from eastern equine encephalitis virus (EEEV) or western encephalitis virus (WEEV) experience severe neurological sequelae.<sup>25</sup> In Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus (VEEV), on the other hand, neurological disease, including disorientation, ataxia, mental depression, and convulsions can be detected in up to 14 percent of infected individuals.<sup>25</sup> Neurological sequelae from VEEV infection in humans are also common.<sup>25</sup>

#### **Neurological Impairments**

Half of those who survive EEE suffer permanent neurologic sequelae and require long-term care, which is estimated to cost as much as three million dollars per patient over the rest of their lifetime.<sup>26</sup> A study done in Darién, Panama, found that of seven cases of EEEV-associated encephalitis (or dual infection with VEEV) admitted to hospital, three were discharged with severe neurological sequelae, which included recurrent seizures, psychomotor impairment, or a vegetative state.<sup>27</sup>

A review of fifteen EEE cases in Massachusetts and New Hampshire from 1970 – 2010 also revealed that 33 percent of EEE patients developed severe neurological impairments and an additional 13 percent had mild neurological deficits at discharge.<sup>28</sup> Of four patients with severe deficits at hospital discharge, three showed improvement at follow-up (follow-up was unavailable for one patient with severe neurological impairments). One patient progressed from being comatose to being able to communicate nonverbally by 30 months after hospital discharge. A second patient recovered speech, comprehension, and the ability to self-feed by 18 months after hospital discharge, and a third patient progressed from being nonvocal and having limited

spontaneous movements when released from the hospital, to speaking in full sentences by 21 months after discharge.<sup>28</sup>

Interestingly, poor case outcome for EEE was correlated with the length of the prodromal illness phase, with those patients with the shortest prodrome having the worst long-term followup symptoms. This could be because of variation in neuroinvasiveness, fitness, or virulence of different strains of virus,<sup>29</sup> because of host factor variability,<sup>30</sup> or exposure to substances that damage the blood-brain barrier and enhance neuroinvasiveness.<sup>31</sup>

In addition to long-term health effects resulting from encephalitis or encephalomyelitis, there are case reports that include sepsis and myocarditis in addition to neurological symptoms. These severe complications could also potentially have their own sequelae.<sup>32</sup>

# Clostridium botulinum (Botulism)

Those who survive an episode of botulism may have fatigue and shortness of breath for years. Self-assessments of psychosocial well-being have also shown patients recovering from botulism rate themselves less well off than age and sex-matched controls. Most sequelae reported from botulism intoxication are neurological in origin.<sup>33</sup>

#### **Fatigue and Neurological Impairments**

The most complete survey of long-term health following botulism to date has been done in patients recovering from disease in the Republic of Georgia.<sup>33</sup> Gottlieb and colleagues interviewed 211 patients recovering from botulism, and found most sequelae from intoxication to



be neurological in origin. Sixty percent of recovering patients rated their health, "fair," or, "poor," as opposed to only 20 percent of control subjects. Patients were also significantly more likely than control subjects to report current symptoms of fatigue, weakness, dizziness, dry mouth, and difficulty lifting things (P < 0.05



for each symptom; see Figure 1.)<sup>33</sup>

Twenty-five percent of patients enrolled had required mechanical ventilation during the acute phase of their illness. These patients, presumably with more severe disease, had significantly worse health outcomes than patients who did not need assistance breathing.

A small outbreak of botulism resulting from the ingestion of home-brewed alcohol in a Utah prison in 2011 resulted in some sequelae lasting 11 months after the outbreak. Clinical complaints included weakness and loss of muscle mass, dysphagia and reflux. Difficulty sleeping, increased anxiety, and depression also were reported, prison medical staff did not associate these with the botulism incident.<sup>34</sup>

An animal study by Frick and colleagues supports the findings from the Republic of Georgia by showing how even a single injection of botulinum toxin can have crippling effects that last for months after the injection.<sup>35</sup> In this study, rats were injected with varying doses (0.625, 2.5, and 10 U) of botulinum toxin into the tibialis muscle. Control animals received an equivalent volume of saline. At 128 days after injection, neuromuscular function and expression of nico-tinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) were evaluated. These authors found that nerve-evoked tensions, including tetanic tension and muscle mass, were decreased on the toxin-injected side in a dose-dependent manner relative to saline-injected controls as well as the contralateral side.<sup>34</sup>

Full or partial paralysis continues after exposure because of the persistence of the toxin at the neuromuscular junction. Research indicates that the persistence of BoNT intoxication can be influenced both by the ability of the toxin protease or its cleaved SNARE (soluble Nethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein receptor) protein substrate to resist turnover.<sup>36</sup> Since protease turnover seems to be mediated in part by the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) research continues to manipulate the UPS to improve development of botulism antidotes.<sup>35</sup>

# 1.2 Anticholinesterases

Table 3. Anticholinesterases with Potential
for Long-Term Sequelae
Tabun (GA)
Sarin (GB)
Soman (GD)
DFP (Diisopropyl fluorophosphate)
Malathion

# Tabun (GA, EA 1205)

Survivors of Tabun exposure can exhibit a number of long-term sequelae including neurological and cognitive impairments and severe muscle weakness that inhibits mobility or other activities.

## **Neurological and Cognitive Impairments**

Tabun exposure can produce centrally mediated seizure activity, which rapidly progresses to status epilepticus, contributing to profound brain damage. The exposure of experimental animals to tabun in convulsion-inducing doses may result in irreversible lesions in the central nervous system (CNS) that can be manifested as behavioral effects in survivors who have convulsed. Additionally, there are numerous studies in both humans and animals showing that survivors of high-level nerve agent exposure can experience subtle but significant long-term neurological and neuropsychological outcomes that are detectable months or even years following the recovery from acute poisoning.

For example, a long-term clinical follow-up study of severely exposed survivors of Tabun and sulphur mustard attacks during the Iran-Iraq war found neurological complications of exposure 20-27 years after exposure.<sup>37</sup> Specifically, this study found that sensory nerve impairments, including paraesthesia (88.3%), hyperaesthesia (72.1%) and hypoesthesia (11.6%), were the most common observed clinical complications in the survivors. The prevalence of these complications were prominently higher (72.1% hyperaesthesia and 11.6% hypoesthesia) than the adult neuropathy prevalence of 3.3–8%.

Animal studies also indicate long-term cognitive impairments in rats given a low-level tabun exposure.<sup>38</sup> In a study, Kassa and colleagues found impaired visuospatial working-learning performance of rats in a water maze that was believed to reflect the ability of the subject to retain trial-dependent information in memory.

#### **Muscle Weakness**

Another one of the long-term health effects of exposure to tabun is muscle weakness and lack of muscle control which can manifest as full or partial paralysis, or simply weak muscles.



Figure 2. Decrease in Myoblast IL-6 Levels with Tabun Exposure. Credit: Katalinic, 2013

The mechanisms underlying these symptoms are not completely understood, but in-vitro studies on human myoblasts have shown that ten-minutes of either 10<sup>-5</sup>M or 10<sup>-4</sup> M tabun exposure produces a near 100% drop in acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in the cells as well as a 53% decrease in secretion of IL-6 (See Figure 2), coupled with a concomitant 34% increase in some heat-shock proteins.<sup>39</sup> Since AChE in believed to be involved with apoptosis in myoblasts prior to regeneration<sup>40</sup> and IL-6 is a potent stimulator of regeneration,<sup>41</sup> it is possible that these changes in myoblast secretion may result in a marked decrease in myoblast regenerative function after exposure.

## Sarin (GB, EA-1208)

#### **Neurological and Cognitive Impairments**

Longitudinal clinical evaluation of the victims of the sarin attacks on the Tokyo subway suggest that there have been long-term neurological and cognitive sequelae from exposure.<sup>42</sup> In a study of 38 survivors of the Tokyo attack who were treated for acute sarin intoxication, Ya-masue and colleagues found that most of the subjects suffered from somatic complaints, ocular symptoms, and memory loss, even though the neuropsychological and occupational impairments were relatively mild. Importantly, these researchers also found significant decreases in regional gray matter volume in the right insular and right temporal cortices, in the left hippocampus. They also found decreases in regional white matter volume in the left temporal stem of victims of sarin exposure when compared with matched control subjects. Furthermore, reduced regional white matter volume of the left temporal stem was significantly related to the long-term somatic complaints of the victims.<sup>41</sup>

A potential confounding factor related to the Yamasue study is the inability to completely differentiate the effects of sarin intoxication from psychological stress and trauma such as posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Previous studies have indicated changes in brain structures in victims of PTSD that were not exposed to chemical agents.<sup>43,44</sup> However, Yamasue and colleagues did perform a separate analysis of covariance looking for the effects of psychological stress on gray matter density. They did not find a significant correlation between regional brain volume reduction and psychological symptoms.

In another case well documented by Loh, a Gulf War Veteran exposed to sarin as part of his IED disposal duties developed cognitive disturbances months after his single sarin exposure.<sup>45</sup> He complained of short-term memory loss, mostly involving names and tasks that he intended to complete. He also noted episodic dyscoordination and imbalance. He was assessed after he had fallen several times for no reason and began to weave down straight hallways on occasion, without any noticeable cause.

Studies in rodents have also found that inhalation of sarin vapors induced impaired memory processes at 1-month post exposure with no recovery of function during the 6 months follow-up period.<sup>46</sup> Studies examining the mechanism of exposure-related long-term deficits in rats have shown that organophosphorus poisons interfere with microtubule polymerization.<sup>47</sup> Since microtubules are required for transport of nutrients from the nerve cell body to the nerve synapse, it has been suggested that disruption of microtubule function could explain the learning and memory deficits associated with OP exposure.<sup>49</sup> Additionally, increased peripheral benzodiazepine receptors in microglia have been found for up to six-months following a single exposure to sarin, suggesting another mechanism for impaired performance in learning and memory tasks.<sup>49</sup>

#### **Cardiac Abnormalities**

A study conducted at Wright State University using sarin-exposed mice suggested that even a low dose of sarin can have severe effects on the autonomic nervous system, as related to heart rate variability, baroreflex function, and a central marker for adrenergic activity.<sup>48</sup> Animal studies using echocardiography, electrocardiography, and histology to determine sarin's effect on the murine cardiovascular system also found that the sarin plays a role in cardiac remodeling and reducing cardiac performance.<sup>49</sup> Specifically, this study found that sarin exposure caused marked increases in heart weight to body weight ratios and decreases in the left ventricular lumen size. In addition, cardiomyocytes were significantly larger in the sarin-exposed mice and atrial/brain natriuretic peptide levels were increased. Lastly, results of the electrocardiograms showed significant ST/T-wave changes in the sarin group, while the echocardiograms showed significantly decreased performance of the left ventricule.<sup>48</sup>

#### **Neuroendocrine Abnormalities**

A study in rats done at the Lovelace Respiratory Research Institute found that inhalation of subclinical doses of sarin, which did not cause overt signs of cholinergic toxicity or detectable changes in the brain AChE activity, still induced long-term decreases in the production of the adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) (p < 0.01) from the pituitary and cortisol/corticosterone (CORT) (p < 0.05) from the adrenal glands.<sup>50</sup> Low CORT and ACTH contribute to a wide range of symptoms in other diseases, including muscle weakness, chronic fatigue, dizziness, and head-aches, but it is unclear what the impact of these decreases may be following sub-clinical exposure to sarin.

#### Anxiety

Victims of the Tokyo and Matsumoto sarin attacks have reported symptoms associated with anxiety disorders over a decade after the attacks.<sup>51</sup> These anxiety disorders, including posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) – the most prevalent neuropsychiatric deficit present in the sarin attack victims in Japan<sup>52</sup> – are associated with amygdalar hyperactivity<sup>53</sup> and volumetric loss.<sup>54</sup>

#### **Respiratory Impairments**

The Kurdish population in the northern Iraqi mountains was subject to chemical weapons attacks with a range of agents, including sarin, tabun, soman and blistering agents such as sulfur mustard. These attacks were launched by Iraqi government, most notably in Halabja and Sheikh Wassan. Survivors of these attacks have reported multiple respiratory symptoms, sometimes for many years following the attacks.<sup>55</sup> These symptoms include shortness of breath, cough, and severe wheezing.<sup>56</sup> Although the most severe long-term symptoms are associated with exposure to blistering agents in this population, survivors without blistering at the time of the attacks also have long-term impairments to the respiratory systems.<sup>57</sup>

## Soman (GD, EA 1210)

Soman exposure in both human and animals produces long-term anxiety disorders in some individuals. This association is seen with both high and low dose exposures. Additionally, transient neurological and cognitive disturbances are also found.

#### Anxiety

Anxiety disorders are commonly reported by survivors of accidental or deliberate exposure to anticholinergic organophosphate nerve agents.<sup>58</sup> Human survivors of acute sarin intoxication received during the Aum Shinrikyo attack on the Tokyo Subway demonstrated anxiety disorders for many years following exposure.<sup>57</sup> Animal studies support these findings with some reporting that a single exposure to sub-lethal doses [0.6 LD<sub>50</sub> (16.8 mg/kg) or 0.8 LD<sub>50</sub> (22.4 mg/kg)] of soman can trigger long-lasting anxiogenesis and decreased locomotor activity in guinea pigs.<sup>57</sup>

There have also been recent advances in understanding the mechanism of this anxiety. A recent study of soman-exposed (149 mg/kg, approximate dose of 1.35 LD<sub>50</sub>) mice found significant damage to the function of the gamma-aminobutyric neurotransmitter system (GABAergic system) in the basolateral amygdala (BLA), resulting in significantly increased tonic excitatory activity.<sup>59</sup> Thus the anxiety reported by some survivors of the Tokyo attacks may be attributable to BLA hyperexcitability instead of nonspecific "stress."

## DFP (Diisopropyl fluorophosphate)

Epidemiological studies of adults and children exposed to DFP have found long-term cognitive deficits that persist for years after organophosphate intoxication. Animal studies, on the other hand, seem to indicate that most cognitive deficits resolve if behavioral testing continues beyond DFP exposure and into a washout period. The differences between the human and animal findings may be dose dependent.

#### **Neurological and Cognitive Impairments**

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency estimates that millions pounds of organophosphate (OP) pesticides are used each year in the United States.<sup>60</sup> Despite the widespread use of these chemicals, some epidemiological studies have reported prolonged neurological changes following OP intoxication.<sup>59</sup>

#### **Human Studies**

These studies indicate that individuals intoxicated by OPs can exhibit long-term deficits in cognitive and motor processes including abstraction, dexterity, memory, problem solving, visual attention and visuomotor speed.<sup>59</sup> One study comparing the long-term sequelae of organophosphate intoxication with those of other pesticides or toxic substances such as kerosene found that children who had been exposed to organophosphate pesticides had a deficit in inhibitory motor control, almost ten years after exposure when compared to controls (p < 0.01).<sup>61</sup>

#### **Animal Studies**

Animal studies have found that repeated sub-clinical exposures to DFP can also lead to prolonged deficits in cognition.<sup>62,63</sup> One study examined behavioral responses in rats injected with DFP of 0.5 mg/kg every other day for 30 days. Behavioral testing occurred daily during the DFPexposure period and throughout a 45 day (OP-free) washout period. When compared to controls, DFP-treated rats exhibited deficits in accuracy (p < 0.05) and increases in omissions (p < 0.01) and timeout responses (p < 0.05) during the OP exposure period, with no significant effects on premature responses, perseverative responses, or response latencies.<sup>61</sup> Decreases in timeout responses continued throughout the washout period, while other deficits corrected. In a separate study, these researchers also found that rats treated with sub-clinical doses (dose range, 0.25-1.0 mg/kg every other day over the course of 30 days) of DFP had cognitive deficits in spatial learning and recall as well as recognition memory, and that such cognitive deficits may be related to persistent functional changes in brain neurotrophin and cholinergic pathways.<sup>62</sup>

Additionally, a study on the mechanisms underlying the neurological deficits caused by organophosphates by Torres-Altoro and colleagues found that DFP alone or as part of a combination of neurotoxicants caused hyper-phosphorylation of Thr205 tau in mice.<sup>64</sup> Tau functions to stabilize the cytoskeleton, and its hyper-phosphorylation can result in the formation of neurofibrillary tangles and neurodegeneration.<sup>65</sup> Furthermore, phosphorylation at this site is Cdk5-dependent, which plays a critical role in corticogenesis, synaptic plasticity, drug addiction, and cognition.<sup>63</sup>

### Malathion

In humans with both acute poisoning and chronic exposure to the organophosphate pesticide Malathion, long-term neurological and cognitive sequelae have been found. Additionally, analysis of population-level data suggests an increased relative risk for aggressive prostate cancer with exposure.

#### **Cognitive Impairments**

Recent studies have found neuropsychological deficits among farmers and farmworkers acutely and chronically exposed to Malathion.<sup>66,67</sup> One study looking at farmers from southern Spain, found that both those acutely poisoned with malathion and those with chronic high exposure (>10 years) obtained significantly lower scores on the perceptual, verbal memory, and visuomotor tests than did control subjects.<sup>65</sup> In the case of acutely poisoned subjects, verbal and perceptive learning, and recall and constructive abilities were also impaired.<sup>65</sup> Another study found that the neurobehavioral performance of Hispanic immigrant farmworkers in the U.S. to be lower than that observed in a nonagricultural Hispanic immigrant population.<sup>66</sup> Within the same sample of agricultural workers, there was a positive correlation between urinary organophosphate metabolite levels and poorer performance on some neurobehavioral tests.

#### **Other Illnesses and Conditions**

The Agricultural Health Study (AHS), prospective cohort study which ran from 1993-2007, assessed the health of 57,311 licensed restricted-use pesticide applicators and 32,347 applicator spouses for a wide range of conditions.<sup>68</sup> The AHS found no association between chronic malathion exposure and any form of cancer.<sup>67</sup> More recently, however, a review of AHS data by Koutros and colleagues did show a correlation between chronic malathion exposure and aggressive prostate cancer [risk ratio or relative risk (RR) for the highest quartile of exposure (Q4) vs. non-exposed = 1.43].<sup>69</sup> AHS analysis has also shown that physician-diagnosed acute pesticide poisoning and chronic pesticide exposure were associated with depression [odds ratio (OR) = 2.57; and 1.54, respectively].<sup>70</sup>

# 1.3 LSD, Other Classical Hallucinogens, & Lysergamides

Recent population-level studies of LSD and other classical hallucinogens (psilocybin, DMT, mescaline) have found no long-term negative health effects of use. These findings are in contrast to older case reports that found some long-term cognitive abnormalities (usually flashbacks) associated with use. These results will be discussed in the following section of the report. The literature on the large related-class of drugs called lysergamides does have long-term sequelae associated with them and these are discussed below.

## Lysergamides

### Cardiac Abnormalities and Valvular Heart Disease

Case reports of cardiac abnormalities and valvular regurgitation events after treatment with a lysergamide abound in the literature.<sup>71,72,73,74</sup> Usually, the drug associated with the heart or valve problems is cabergoline, but bromocriptine, and methysergide, have also been reported as related.<sup>70,71,72,73</sup>

From Tours, France, there is a case report of ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) reported in a 38-year-old woman a few days after an induced abortion by oral prescription of methylergometrine. Several case reports implicate bromocriptine in the formation of peripartum cardiomyopathy, and includes one from Haiti.<sup>75</sup> Tan, et al., hypothesized that the mechanism for this association between ergot-derivatives and myocardial malfunction was the stimulation of serotonergic (5-HT<sub>2B</sub>) receptors in the myocardium that caused the development of subendocardial plaques of myofibroblasts and enhanced extracellular matrix formation in the atria and ventricles.<sup>76</sup>

Turning to cases of valvular heart disease, a study in Naples, Italy of 50 Parkinson's disease patients on cabergoline and 50 age and sex matched patients not under treatment with a lysergamide, found that there was an approximately three times higher relative risk to develop moderate tricuspid valve regurgitation in patients with prolactinomas receiving cabergoline therapy than in age and sex-matched healthy controls.<sup>77</sup> Another case report linked aortic valve regurgitation after 12 months of cabergoline therapy in a 57-year old dementia patient.<sup>78</sup> Tan et al., investigated the frequency of valvular heart disease in a population of Parkinson's disease patients.<sup>75</sup> In that study, seventy-two patients were on bromocriptine, 21 patients were on pergolide, and 47 were control patients. A cardiologist performed blinded transthoracic echocardiographic studies to assess valvular function. The risk for the bromocriptine group to develop any abnormal valvular regurgitation was 3.32 (adjusted odds ratio (OR), 95% CI: 1.11-9.92, P = 0.03) compared to controls, whereas the risk for the pergolide group was 3.66 (adjusted OR, 95% CI: 1.22-10.97, P = 0.02). When dosage analysis was done, researchers found that patients with a greater exposure to bromocriptine had significantly higher risk of developing both mild and moderate-severe regurgitations (P for trend, 0.005 and 0.019, respectively). This study demonstrated that bromocriptine use was associated with an increased risk of developing valvular heart disease, which occurred in a cumulative dose-dependent manner.<sup>75</sup>

Likewise, a meta-analysis of observational studies on valvular function in Parkinson's patients by De Vecchis, et al., showed that valvular regurgitation of any degree—at one cardiac valve or more —was more frequent in patients who were taking cabergoline compared to those treated with a non-ergot dopamine agonist (DA) agent or to those not treated with any dopamine agonist.<sup>79</sup> The adjusted (inverse variance) odds ratio was 7.25 95% CI: 3.71–14.18; p<0.0001. On the other hand, pooled data from seven studies showed that patients with hyperprolactinemia who were taking cabergoline (n=444) exhibited significantly higher odds of mild- to-moderate tricuspid regurgitation compared to untreated controls (n=954) [adjusted odds ratio (OR) was 1.92 95% CI: 1.34-2.73; p=0.0003.<sup>78</sup>

Interestingly, a study of patients with non-Parkinson's associated hyperprolactinemia showed no increase over baseline of valvular regurgitation or morphology with the start of an average of five years of cabergoline therapy.<sup>80</sup> Moderate valve regurgitation was not associated with the duration of treatment (p = 0.359), cumulative dose of cabergoline (p = 0.173), age (p = 0.281), previous treatment with bromocriptine (p = 0.673) or previous adenomectomy (p = 0.497) in patients with HyperPRL.<sup>79</sup> These researchers note that the mean cumulative dose given their patients was lower than that given Parkinson's patients (279 ± 301 mg), and that their patients tended to be younger than the average Parkinson's patient (41 ± 13 years).<sup>79</sup>

#### Vascular Insufficiency

Lysergamides have also been linked with severe vascular insufficiencies.<sup>80,81,82</sup> A case report from France found a long stenosis of the right external iliac artery (70%) and a short stenosis (70%-80%) of the left external iliac artery in a 52-year old woman using methysergide to control migraine headaches.<sup>81</sup> The researchers found no other underlying cause of disease that could cause the stenosis. When the lysergamide was removed from her treatment regimen, the stenosis cleared over a 4-month period and remained clear throughout a two-year follow up. A similar case was reported from California and managed with a change of medications [removal of an ergotamine compound (Cafergot)] and endovascular stenting to restore femoral circulation in six weeks.<sup>82</sup> A case of brachial insufficiency from Pakistan due to ergot-derivative ingestion unfortunately resulted in gangrene and amputation was required to clear the secondary infection.<sup>83</sup>

#### **Psychosocial Abnormalities**

Lysergamide use is also associated with the onset of a variety of psychosocial abnormalities.<sup>83</sup> Chief amongst these is a significant decrease in impulse control leading to such socially disruptive syndromes as pathological gambling, impulsive eating, compulsive shopping, and hyper sexuality.

One case report discusses the development of compulsive gambling in a young woman more than a decade after she had been treated for a large pituitary tumor.<sup>83</sup> Her treatment included resection to reduce the size of the tumor and bromocriptine to control hyperprolactinemia and prevent tumor regrowth.<sup>84</sup> In 2011 she developed symptoms of compulsive gambling and was treated with behavioral therapy while bromocriptine was tapered off in favor of fluoxetine. A second surgical reduction was also performed. Her symptoms resolved after the bromocriptine was discontinued (8 months after surgery) and she remained symptom free on follow up.<sup>83</sup> A similar case report of compulsive gambling in a woman treated with cabergoline for hyperprolactinemia was also resolved with the withdrawal of the ergot-based dopamine agonist.<sup>85</sup>

Sudden onset of mania and psychosis associated with lysergamide use have also been reported in the clinical literature.<sup>85,86</sup> In all cases, the onset of disease occurs in individuals with no history of this type of disease. In one case a woman developed psychosis complete with auditory and visual hallucinations after three months of treatment with cabergoline for hyperprolactinemia.<sup>86</sup> In the other case, a sudden onset of mania was observed in a woman being treated with cabergoline for amenorrhea.<sup>87</sup> In both cases, the psychosocial abnormalities tapered off with medication change.

## 1.4 Oximes, Irritants, & Incapacitants

## Irritants

#### CS (Chlorobenzylidene malononitrile)

CS has been associated with long-term respiratory and cutaneous sequelae. Although some of the studies examining these associations have limitations, the evidence is presented below.

#### **Respiratory Symptoms**

A Turkish study done on ninety-three men with multiple recent exposures to crowd-control tear gasses, found persistent respiratory symptoms when compared to non-exposed, age-matched controls.<sup>88</sup> Specifically, the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) questionnaires administered to study participants showed that more tear-gas exposed subjects (24%) had respiratory complaints (particularly cough and phlegm) for more than 3 months relative to controls (11%).<sup>87</sup> Additionally, spirometric measurements showed that mean forced expiratory volume in one second – forced vital capacity ratio (FEV1/FVC) in smoker-exposed subjects were significantly lower than in smoker-controls (p = 0.046). The percent predicted maximal mid-expiratory flow rate (MMFR) in nonsmoker exposed subjects was significantly lower than that in nonsmoker controls (p = 0.05). One of the limitations of this study included the inability to determine whether subjects were exposed to CS or OC (pepper spray) or a mixture of the two agents in any of their exposures. Another limitation was that so many of the study participants were smokers, and that this may have predisposed exposed subjects to more severe reactions to CS.<sup>87</sup>

Another recent study taking place in a military setting noted an increased risk for acute respiratory infections after CS exposure in a basic combat training (BCT) cadre.<sup>89</sup> This observational prospective cohort studied the association in 6,723 U.S. Army recruits attending BCT at Fort Jackson, South Carolina from August 1 to September 25, 2012 by capturing and linking the incidence of ARI before and after the mask confidence chamber to CS exposure data. Across the nearly two-month period of the study, recruits had a significantly higher risk (risk ratio (RR) = 2.44; 95% confidence interval = 1.74 - 3.43) of being diagnosed with ARI following exposure to CS compared to the period of training preceding exposure, and the incidence of ARI after CS exposure was dependent on the CS exposure concentration (p = 0.03). Assessment of exposures found that all of the soldiers in the training cadre were potentially exposed to doses of CS that exceeded those recommended by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and NIOSH. Exposure chamber operators were also potentially at risk for a larger than recommended dose.<sup>90</sup>

Importantly perhaps, a study of the effects of CS on detainees of the London Metropolitan Police found that almost one-third (n=36) of the 99 study subjects had a pre-existing medical condition, and that "most" had asthma or mental illness.<sup>91</sup>

In one notable case report of respiratory symptoms subsequent to CS exposure, the subject developed acute laryngeal and bronchial obstruction *three weeks* after being sprayed with CS in a small, police interrogation room.<sup>92</sup> Immediately after being sprayed, she experienced the common CS symptoms of tearing, conjunctivitis, blinking and coughing, but these resolved within a few minutes. Three weeks later, (with no interim symptoms) she presented to the emergency department in acute respiratory distress. A bronchoscopy revealed vocal cord edema and extensive crusting of the glottis, trachea, and bronchi. Two weeks after treatment, a repeat bronchoscopy showed that the bronchi were nearly back to normal, and four months later, her she remained free of respiratory problems. Although the symptoms resolved with treatment, their appearance was delayed after exposure, and as such can be considered a potential sequelae of exposure.

#### **Cutaneous Conditions**

A recent case report discussed the development of severe allergic contact dermatitis in a police officer subsequent to exposure to CS.<sup>93</sup> In their report, Barghava and colleagues discuss the case of a 35-year-old policeman who was initially exposed to CS during his police training. After the second or third exposure, during the course of active duty, he developed an eczematous eruption affecting exposed sites, 12–24 hours after exposure.<sup>92</sup> Subsequent exposures, for as little as 3–4 seconds each time, caused more severe cutaneous effects. Examination and a positive patch test confirmed hypersensitivity and allergy to CS. Given that CS exposure is a potential occupational hazard for a member of an urban police force, the officer in the study was placed on disability leave from duty.<sup>9293</sup>

A historical study published in 2005, supports these findings. In this paper, Watson and colleagues reviewed seven cases of police or security personnel who developed moderate to severe skin reactions after CS exposure.<sup>94</sup> Although rashes and erythema can be common symptoms of exposure to CS, they generally resolve soon after exposure. Contrary to this, the patients in Watson's study experienced severe skin problems long after exposure, some of them lasting for months, and a few others that the authors suspect may be permanent. Three of the patients developed an allergic contact dermatitis, necessitating changes in their day-to-day practice: one patient had been transferred to office duties, and another one was able to avoid relapses by wearing protective gloves and mask. Exposure to CS spray seems to have triggered seborrheic dermatitis in one of the patients, and another patient developed a disfiguring leukoderma and dysesthesia. Two patients with pre-existing rosacea also showed greater susceptibility to the cutaneous effects of CS, and had subsequent flare-ups of disease for months after exposure.<sup>93</sup>

## Incapacitants

#### 302089 & 302582, Butyrophenone derivatives

Although there is no historical or recent technical information available on the specific butyrophenones researched and tested at Edgewood Arsenal in open sources, butyrophenones are still widely used today. Most of the information about toxicology, side-effects, and sequelae are available on haloperidol. These publications were reviewed as part of the literature search and are summarized below.

#### **Movement Disorders**

Butyrophenone use is linked to the development of extrapyramidal symptoms such as the dystonias<sup>95,96</sup> and dyskinesias. A meta-analysis by Satterthwaite of 18 trials looked at the relationship between antipsychotic medication use and negative side effects.<sup>96</sup> Using the primary outcome of acute dystonia (N=3,425 total cases), the butyrophenone, haloperidol was associated with 4.7% of all cases.<sup>97</sup> This was significantly higher than the number of cases caused by any of the second-generation antipsychotic medications tested.<sup>96</sup>

- **Dystonia:** A neurological movement disorder in which sustained muscle contractions cause twisting and repetitive movements or abnormal postures. May sometimes resemble a tremor.
- **Dyskinesia:** A category of movement disorders that are characterized by involuntary muscle movements, including movements similar to tics or chorea and diminished voluntary movements. Can manifest as a slight tremor of the hands or an uncontrollable movement of the upper body or lower extremities.

Some of these may be transient and resolve with medication dose adjustment or medication change, and some of these conditions can be long-term and difficult to treat, or even permanent. Some of these movement disorders develop slowly and persist, and are called *tardive* dystonias or dyskinesias.

The prevalence of persistent tardive dyskinesia in a population of 143 patients on conventional antipsychotics (40% of those were on haloperidol) was 5.5% [95% CI: 2.1-11.6]. The link between medication use and serious sequelae was significantly higher for those of butyrophenones, than for patients on other conventional or second-generation antipsychotics.<sup>98</sup> There is a subset of dystonias that affect the eyes and are called ocular dystonias. When long-term, these dystonias are known as oculogyric crises. Butyrophenones are significantly associated with the risk of developing these disorders.<sup>99</sup> Occasionally, dystonias and oculogyric crises can recur despite the cessation of butyrophenone medications.<sup>100</sup>

#### **Cardiac Abnormalities**

In addition to movement disorders, haloperidol is associated with sudden cardiac death.<sup>101</sup> A case-controlled survey of medical practices within a network of 150 general practitioners in the Integrated Primary Care Information project over a six-year period (1995–2001) was performed by Straus and colleagues.<sup>102</sup> In a population of 554 cases of sudden cardiac death, antipsychotic medication use was related to a 3-fold increase in the rate of sudden cardiac death. The risk of sudden cardiac death was also highest among those using butyrophenones (usually haloperidol), those with a defined daily dose equivalent of more than 0.5, and short-term (</=90 days) users.<sup>102</sup> This may be because of the association of many of the butyrophenones with a prolonged cardiac QT interval.<sup>103</sup>

Disruption of cardiac conduction (i.e. length of the QT-interval) can itself be considered a sequelae of exposure because the clinical manifestations of this can be varied and sometimes serious. For example, QT interval prolongation can develop into a cardiac arrhythmia called *torsade de pointes*, which may progress to ventricular fibrillation.<sup>103</sup> One of the most common manifestations is syncope, which can sometimes be accompanied by myoclonic convulsions due to cerebral ischemia.<sup>104</sup>

In addition to their effects on cardiac conduction, antipsychotic medications also have a negative inotropic effect, and reduce cardiac output and severely lower blood pressure.<sup>103</sup>

## 1.5 Miscellaneous Traditional Chemical Warfare Agents

Table 4. Traditional Chemical Warfare Agents
with Potential for Long-Term Sequelae
Sulfur mustard
Phosgene

## Sulfur mustard

Between 1980 and 1988, more than 100,000 people are estimated to have been exposed to sulfur mustard gas during the Iran-Iraq War.<sup>105</sup> A significant subset of these sulfur mustard victims (< 30,000 people) have had medical follow-ups, in some cases, for over 25 years post exposure.<sup>106,107</sup> Long-term sequelae have been noted in the skin, eyes, and respiratory systems<sup>108,109</sup> of those exposed, and a wide variety of complaints in the gastrointestinal, endocrine and peripheral nervous systems<sup>110</sup> are also believed to be related to sulfur-mustard exposure. Additionally, genetic alterations, immune dysfunction, neuropsychiatric disorders, and carcinogenesis have been studied.

#### Sequelae of the Skin

The most common long-term complaints about the skin following sulfur-mustard exposures are of dry skin with persistent pruritus (itching), burning, and desquamation (peeling).<sup>111,112</sup> Those areas of the skin exposed to the gas are also susceptible to chronic eczema and seborrheic dermatitis, with related changes such as skin atrophy, hair loss, and urticaria (hives). In some cases, scarring occurs and has led to contractures and deformity. Vascular changes such as telangiectasia (dilated capillaries commonly called "spider veins") and an increased number of cherry angiomas may be seen.<sup>113</sup>

Changes in pigmentation in and around blistered areas have been noted in up to 55% on those exposed, with hyperpigmentation being more common than hypopigmentation.<sup>114</sup> Pigment changes are believed to be related to the degree of melanocyte injury, and pigment loss appears to be more frequent after exposure to higher doses. A study comparing 500 sulfur mustard exposed Iranian veterans with 500 unexposed veterans,<sup>115</sup> found a higher rate of vitiligo, psoriasis, and discoid lupus erythematous in exposed veterans.

#### **Ocular Sequelae**

Acute effects of sulfur mustard include conjunctivitis with dry eyes, pain, and photophobia. However, in most cases, there is a full recovery from these injuries, at least with regard to the restoration of vision to pre-exposure functionality.<sup>105</sup> Nevertheless, a small number of those exposed to sulfur mustard have corneal scarring or other moderate-to-severe ocular sequelae.<sup>105</sup>

In a study of 112 Iranian veterans exposed to sulfur mustard by Sedghipour and colleagues, the abnormal ocular findings were severe conjunctival vascular tortuosity (65.2%, mean: 13.71 years after exposure), corneal neovascularization (19.6%, mean: 16.54 years after exposure), conjunctival/limbal vessels with ampulliform dilatation (17.9%, mean: 9.33 years after exposure), and delayed keratitis (9.8%, mean: 19.54 years after exposure).<sup>116</sup> Abnormal ocular conditions were significantly more frequent in victims with moderate-to-severe respiratory sequelae.<sup>115</sup>

One of the late-onset conditions that is characteristic of sulfur mustard exposure is ulcerative keratopathy. This sequelae develops in 10 - 15% of those exposed, some 16–20 years after the original injury.<sup>117</sup> The complaints are primarily rapid onset photophobia, lacrimation, and decreased vision. The cause of these changes is not clear, but it is thought to be autoimmune in nature, because of alterations in corneal proteins caused by sulfur mustard.<sup>118</sup>

#### **Respiratory Symptoms**

Exposure to sulfur mustard can lead to persistent lung disease, and is the major cause of morbidity in those exposed on a population basis (42% of 34,000 patients).<sup>105</sup> The most commonly reported symptoms are chronic cough, dyspnea (shortness of breath), and increased sputum production.<sup>119</sup> Additional symptoms can include chest pain, gastroesophageal reflux pain, and hemoptysis (coughing up blood).<sup>118</sup>

A study of Kurdish civilians exposed to mustard gas by Iraqi forces has shown that long-term respiratory symptoms are more common in those who had blistering upon exposure.<sup>56</sup> Those with blisters also had decreased lung function as measured by forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>) (p < .0001).<sup>56</sup>

Historically, a number of respiratory sequelae have been described in those suffering from sulfur mustard exposure and include asthma, emphysema, chronic bronchitis, pulmonary fibrosis, and bronchiolitis. A recent international study by Ghanei and colleagues now suggests that the primary pathological process is actually bronchiolitis obliterans, as determined by the use of high-resolution CT scanning, bronchoalveolar lavage, and open-lung biopsies.<sup>120</sup> Bronchiolitis obliterans involves a chronic scarring process affecting primarily the bronchioles, with progressive loss of these structures and the development of bronchiectasis, and obstructive lung disease.

In addition to lower airway disease, the direct effect of sulfur mustard on the upper airways can lead to damage to the trachea and bronchi. Scarring, fibrosis, and mucociliary malfunction can then lead to stenosis of the bronchi and trachea. Ghazanfari hypothesized that immuno-globulins might play a role in the pathology of the delayed lung symptoms after finding significantly decreased IgM and IgG4 levels in the peripheral blood of mustard-exposed patients.<sup>121</sup> In that study, serum IgM levels also correlated with some measures of lung function (FEV<sub>1</sub>) in the mustard-exposed patient group.

Interestingly, genetic polymorphisms may play a role in the development of pulmonary sequelae after mustard gas exposure. A study of 208 Kurdish patients exposed to high doses of mustard gas in 1987 looked at spirometric function and angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) genotyping 18 years after exposure.<sup>122</sup> This study found that FEV<sub>1</sub> % predicted tended to be higher in association with the D allele. Specifically, the FEV<sub>1</sub> % predicted was 68.03 ± 20.5%, 69.4 ± 21.4% and 74.8 ± 20.1% for II, ID, and DD genotypes respectively. The ACE DD genotype was overrepresented in the better spirometry group (Chi2 4.9 p = 0.03).

#### Cancer

A review of the literature on lung cancer and sulfur mustard exposure by Ghanei and colleagues found that, although it is well documented that *prolonged exposure* to mustard gas (even at low doses) was associated with an increased risk of lung or other respiratory tract cancers, evidence, however, is lacking for an association between respiratory cancers and short-term, acute, or single high-dose exposure.<sup>123</sup> The small number of reported lung cancers after single high-dose exposures are too few to determine whether the cancers were due to mustard gas exposure or whether they were caused by confounding factors such as smoking or other environmental exposures.<sup>122</sup>

On the other hand, a small study of 20 lung-cancer patients with single high-dose mustard exposures found a lower than expected age at onset (< 40 years of age) of lung cancer for seven of the patients.<sup>124</sup> Additionally, p53 mutations (within exons 5–8) were predominately G to A transitions; a mutation consistent with the DNA lesion caused by mustard gas.<sup>125</sup> Two of the lung cancers had multiple p53 point mutations, a finding similar to those found in historical studies of lung cancers in Japanese mustard-gas factory workers.<sup>125</sup>

Likewise, a cohort study by Zafarghandi looked at the incidence of malignant disorders in 7,570 Iranian veterans exposed to sulfur mustard and compared that with cancer incidence in 7,595 unexposed comrades in a 25-year follow-up period. This study found that cancer incidence was significantly increased with exposure.<sup>126</sup> All cancer diagnoses were confirmed by pathological examination, and the most commonly found cancers in both groups (75% of all cancers combined) were lymphatic, hematological, and gastrointestinal. The age adjusted incidence rate ratio was 1.64 (95 % CI 1.15–2.34), and the hazard ratio of cancer was 2.02 (95 % CI 1.41– 2.88).<sup>125</sup> An important limitation of this study is that increased contact with healthcare providers in the sulfur mustard exposed group may have led to earlier detection of cancers than in non-exposed controls.

#### **Quality of Life**

A small number of studies looked at "soft" or non-medical issues in an attempt to gauge the quality of life of victims suffering from sequelae of mustard gas exposure.<sup>126,127,128</sup> In a study of 242 patients exposed to mustard gas during the Iran-Iraq war, Ebadi and colleagues found that,

in general, all those suffering sequelae had a lower quality of life, especially with regard to health factors.<sup>126</sup> These researchers also found that sequelae in three or more systems (i.e. pulmonary, ocular, and skin) were correlated with the lowest quality of life.<sup>127</sup> Another study found that exposed patients with sequelae suffered chronic and prolonged fatigue, but this differed from clinical definitions of chronic fatigue syndromes.<sup>128</sup> The source of fatigue for the people in this study was often the physical sequelae themselves – for instance, fatigue arising from shortness of breath or muscle weakness caused by mustard-gas exposure.<sup>127</sup> These researchers also found the chronic fatigue of physical origin also caused significant fatigue in some patients. Another study found high levels of social isolation and lack of independence, often arising from physical disability, in a group of 17 male veterans exposed to sulfur mustard.<sup>129</sup>

#### **Reproductive Toxicity**

There are conflicting reports on the impact of sulfur mustard on fertility.<sup>132</sup> In a study of 81 infertile patients exposed to sulfur mustard during the Iran-Iraq war, Safarinejad found azoospermia and severe oligozoospermia in 42.5% and 57.5% of patients, respectively.<sup>130</sup> They also found a significant decrease in sperm motility in infertile mustard gas-injured patients compared with mean motility according to the WHO criteria for normal (P < 0.02). In contrast, Ghanei and colleagues reported that fertility was not adversely affected and suggested that any mustard gas-associated impact on fertility may be latent in nature.<sup>131</sup>

#### **Neuropathic Effects**

Neuropathic symptoms are a frequent, yet underreported long-term complication of sulfur mustard exposure.<sup>108</sup> Balali-Mood and colleagues studied 40 Iranian veterans with severe adverse health effects of sulfur mustard exposure.<sup>108</sup> Using electromyography and nerve conduction velocity, they found that 77% of patients had peripheral nervous system abnormalities. Nerve conduction velocity disturbances were more prevalent in the lower extremities than the upper extremities and more common in sensory nerves than motor nerves. Electromyography revealed a normal pattern for 60% of patients, incomplete interference with normal amplitude in 15% of patients, and incomplete interference with low amplitude in 25% of patients. Disturbances in both upper and lower extremities were mostly symmetric for electromyography and nerve conduction velocity.<sup>108</sup>

#### **Psychiatric Disorders**

Mental disorders are frequently reported among the chemically injured veterans. Razavi and colleagues reviewed current literature on the effects of mustard gas on producing mental health disturbances.<sup>132</sup> They found a large percentage of emotional problems (98%), behavioral abnormalities (80%), memory impairment (80%), anxiety (18-65%), low concentration (54%),

PTSD (8-59%), and severe depression (6-46%). With less frequency, they found personality disorders (31%), insomnia (13.63%), social performance disturbances (10.73%), thought processing disturbances (14%), seizures (6%), and psychosis (3%).<sup>131</sup>

### Phosgene

Individuals who survive exposure and acute symptoms may develop long-term damage to the lungs and increased susceptibility to infection. Sensitivity to irritants may persist, causing bronchospasm, chronic inflammation of the bronchioles and Reactive Airway Dysfunction Syndrome (RADS), a chemically- or irritant-induced type of asthma.<sup>133,134</sup> Follow-up examinations of soldiers who had been exposed to phosgene in World War II found that between 6 to 12 percent of the men had chronic bronchitis, emphysema, pulmonary fibrosis, bronchial asthma or pulmonary tuberculosis.<sup>133</sup>

It is important to point out that symptoms of exposure to phosgene and the potential for sequelae are dose dependent. A survey of phosgene-plant workers in the US recently found that accidental phosgene exposures averaged 8.3 ppm-minutes, ranging up to 159 ppm-minutes with most exposures below 10 ppm-minutes, and that almost a quarter, 24.6%, of the exposed workers reported one or more symptoms within 48 hours of exposure.<sup>135</sup> The most common symptoms were coughing; odd taste in mouth; irritation of eyes, throat, and nose; followed by nausea, headache, and chest tightness.

Most of these symptoms disappeared after a 3-hour period or observation. Only anxiety and "other" symptoms persisted in a few cases after 48 hours. Thirty days after exposure, however, the percentage of workers with symptoms dropped to 1.2%. One exposed worked did develop symptoms of pulmonary edema after two days. He was exposed to 30 ppm-minutes of phosgene. Although unusual, this case demonstrates that there is individual variation in the symptomatology after phosgene exposure. It is also important to note that all of these exposures (except perhaps the highest, 159 ppm-minutes) would likely be lower than the estimated dose of phosgene received during an offensive attack.<sup>134</sup>

Additionally, in a study of nose-only exposure, adult, male Wistar rats exposed to phosgene for 30 or 240 minutes, showed acute symptoms and histopathological changes for several days after exposure, but no late-onset sequelae 84 days after exposure.<sup>136</sup> The doses administered related to C x t products ranging from 28.2 mg/m3 ×min to 460.8 mg/m3 ×min in the 30-minute exposure group to 47.0 mg/m3 × min to 1008 mg/m3 × min in the 240-minute exposure group. None of the rats died after exposure in either group.

In addition to acute and longer-term injury being dose–dependent, there is a growing body of evidence that suggests that individual variation accounts for difference in injury timing and severity as well – at least in mice.<sup>137</sup> In a recent study by Leikauf, a genetically diverse panel of 43 mouse strains was exposed to phosgene and genome-wide association mapping performed using a high-density single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) assembly. Of 14 candidate genes previously associated with lung injury or that contained a nonsynonymous SNP within a functional domain, five genes emerged that were associated with acute lung injury: Atp1a1, Alox5, Plxnd1, Ptprt, and Zfand4.<sup>138</sup>
# 1.6 Environmental Pollutants and Toxic Compounds

Table 5. Environmental Pollutants and Toxic Compounds
with Potential for Long-Term Sequelae
Dioxins
Arsenic

#### Dioxins

Dioxins are associated with neurological, and cutaneous sequelae as well as some cancers. There is also evidence linking dioxin exposure with diabetes, but it is not clear at this time whether this association is causal – so it is not considered sequelae.

#### **Neurological Sequelae**

The neurological sequelae resulting from high-dose exposure to 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-pdioxin (TCDD) have been shown to last for decades. For example, a study by Urban and colleagues looked at the neurological function in workers exposed to TCDD in an herbicide plant accident back in the 1960s.<sup>139,140</sup> At the time of exposure, the estimated mean concentration of TCDD was about 5000 pg/g of plasma fat. Only 15 men from the original accident cohort were available for follow-up, despite the exposure of more than 350 individuals and a group of about 80 workers who developed overt signs of poisoning.<sup>138</sup>

The current TCDD plasma concentration for the survivors was 128 pg/g, and researchers found signs of polyneuropathy in nine subjects and confirmed them with neural conduction velocity tests in three men.<sup>138</sup> Fourteen patients had abnormal neural or sensory function tests: 3 had abnormal electroencephalography tests, five had unusual visual-evoked potential, and six had acquired dyschromatopsia. Lastly, single-photon emission computed tomography showed focal reduction of perfusion in various brain locations in all but one patient. Taken together, the survivors test results show that TCDD can damage the nervous system, and that this damage lasts for decades, even after TCDD levels have fallen.<sup>138</sup>

#### **Skin Conditions**

Short-term exposure to high levels of dioxins are known to damage liver function and cause chloracne, a chronic inflammatory skin condition characterized by keratinous plugs with cysts and dark acne. Chloracne lesions usually appear on the face, but in case of severe poisoning, they also occur on shoulders, back, chest, and the abdomen. Ukrainian President, Viktor Yush-chenko, suffered a very high-profile case of chloracne in 2004, after he was deliberately poisoned with TCDD. When he presented to a hospital after the attack, his serum dioxin level was

108,000 pg/g lipid weight which is about 50,000 times the dioxin level in the general population.<sup>141</sup> Chloracne significantly disfigured his face, leaving scars which will remain for the rest of his life.

Chloracne is not the only long-term sequelae of the skin associated with dioxin exposure. A 24year follow-up with victims of the Yusho mass food poisoning in Japan found that survivors still had elevated levels of PCBs and dioxin, as well as skin lesions in the same amount and distribution as at the time of the event.<sup>142</sup> A group led by Mitoma categorized and evaluated the specific skin symptoms displayed by 252 of the nearly 14,000 Yusho survivors and compared the severity of their skin symptoms with blood concentrations of the dioxin-like chemical 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF and PCBs. These researchers found that approximately one-third of Yusho patients still presented with black comedones, acneiform eruptions, and scar formation, and that the prevalence and severity of comedones was worse with advancing age of the subject.<sup>141</sup>

#### Cancer

In 2007, Zambon and colleagues assessed the role of modelled dioxin levels in the development of 172 cases of visceral and extra-visceral sarcoma registered in the Venice Tumor Registry.<sup>143</sup> The residential history of each subject was reconstructed, address by address, from 1960 to the date of diagnosis and compared with the level of local atmospheric dioxin dispersion for each calendar year. A specific value for exposure was calculated for each address and for each calendar year and expressed as the average of specific time-weighted values. For each sarcoma case, three controls of the same age and sex were randomly selected from population records. These researchers calculated that the risk of developing a sarcoma was 3.3 times higher (95% CI, 1.24 – 8.76) among subjects with the longest exposure period and the highest exposure level. Additionally, a significant excess of risk was also observed in women (OR = 2.41, 95% CI, 1.04 – 5.59) for cancers of the connective and other soft tissues.<sup>142</sup>

#### Diabetes

In the last few decades, a considerable body of epidemiological evidence has been accumulated that suggest that exposure to dioxin can be considered as a risk factor for diabetes in humans in addition to the traditional lifestyle-related factors, such as excess of energy intake and a lack of exercise.<sup>144,145</sup> Although the evidence for a relationship between dioxin exposure and diabetes is compelling, it is appropriate at this time to consider it an association rather than a causal link.<sup>146</sup> In a review of 72 studies examining the potential connection between diabetes and dioxin exposure, Taylor and colleagues found that there was too much heterogeneity in the studies to perform either a meta-analysis or a pooled analysis. They noted that there seemed to be an overall positive correlation between diabetes and organochlorine compounds, such as trans-

nonachlor, dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and dioxins and dioxin-like chemicals, but that there were too many different diagnostic strategies and approaches to address confounding - particularly of serum lipid levels and the presence of obesity – to allow an analysis to proceed. Additionally, the ages of subjects in the studies was too widely varied to allow confident analysis.<sup>143</sup>

Although the epidemiological data for an association between dioxins and other persistent organic pollutants is equivocal, findings from *in-vitro* and animal studies show that TCDD, PCBs, and other chlorinated POPs can influence insulin signaling,<sup>147,148,149,150,151,152</sup> glucose-stimulated insulin secretion,<sup>153,154,155</sup> and adipocyte differentiation or regulation.<sup>156,157,154</sup> Better designed and implemented epidemiological studies and efforts to align the laboratory work with the epidemiology, along with systematic gap identification is needed in order to see if a causal link exists.

#### Arsenic

There is a strong body of evidence linking arsenic intake with a variety of health problems, from skin lesions and some cancers, to cardiovascular diseases. There is also an association with metabolic disorders such as diabetes, but it is not clear whether there is a causal link at this time.<sup>158,159</sup>

#### **Skin Conditions**

Characteristic early skin problems associated with chronic arsenic exposure are nodular hyperkeratoses (HKs) bilaterally on the palms and soles or interspersed areas of hyper- and hypopigmentation occurring on the trunk or face in a characteristic raindrop pattern. As part of the Health Effects of Arsenic Longitudinal Study (HEALS), Ahsan found that arsenic exposure appears to increase the risk of skin lesions, even at the low end of exposure in this population.<sup>160</sup> Compared with drinking water containing < 8.1 µg/L of arsenic, adjusted prevalence odds ratios for skin lesions was 1.91 for water containing 8.1–40.0 µg/L of arsenic, 3.03 for water with arsenic concentrations between 40.1–91.0 µg/L, 3.71 for 91.1–175.0 µg/L and 5.39 for water with 175.1–864.0 µg/L of arsenic. The HEALS group of researchers also found that males and elderly people are more affected by arsenic exposure, (Ahsan 2006b) as were those with excessive sun exposure,<sup>161</sup> lower nutritional status,<sup>162,163</sup> and lower socioeconomic status (non-land owners).<sup>164,165</sup>

Genetic variability in genes that code for enzymes in arsenic metabolism may also affect individual susceptibility to skin lesions. In a case–control study of 594 skin lesion cases and 1041 controls, the dose–response relationship of skin lesion risk was significantly higher in individuals with the 677TT/1298AA and 677CT/1298AA diplotypes in the methylenetetrahydro-folate reductase (MTHFR) enzyme (1.66 and 1.77 respectively), than for those with the 677CC/1298CC diplotype.<sup>165</sup> The OR for skin lesions in relation to the GSTO1 diplotype (Glutathione S-transferase 1) containing all at-risk alleles was 3.91.<sup>166</sup>

These early changes in the skin associated with arsenic also predispose to the development of a variety of skin cancers, and a squamous cell carcinoma (in situ) known as Bowen's Disease may also develop.<sup>167</sup> After a latency period that can last years, or even decades, non-melanoma skin cancers, including frank squamous-cell carcinomas and basal-cell carcinomas can also develop.

A small study led by Kathryn Bailey of the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) used microarray analysis and qRT-PCR to profile gene expression in hyperkeratotic lesions associated with arsenic exposure.<sup>168</sup> Hyperkeratotic skin samples from seven individuals from Inner Mongolia exposed to high levels of arsenic (212 to 950 ppb arsenic in their drinking water for >20 years), were compared with skin samples from four disease-free people in an urban Mongolian setting. Of the expressed transcripts, 2,824 different transcripts were differentially expressed (up or down regulated) between the HK and control sample groups, with most expression values differing by at least 1.5-fold between the groups. Each of the 9 genes chosen for qRT-PCR analysis demonstrated the same direction of modulation in the HK samples relative to controls as observed in microarrays.<sup>167</sup>

The most commonly altered regulatory genes were roughly grouped amongst indicators of cellular stress, and included components, regulators and effectors of P38, JNK (c-jun N-terminal kinase), and, in particular, the MAPK/ERK pathways<sup>2</sup>. At the cellular and molecular levels, the most significant functions of the modulated genes can be broadly classified into categories involving cell death, cellular development and organization, and cell proliferation. Importantly, apoptosis-related genes are already modulated in the pre-neoplastic HK lesions. In general, perturbations in these processes are thought to be important forces behind the development of arsenic-related non-melanoma skin cancers and other pre-neoplastic and malignant skin diseases.<sup>167,169</sup>

#### **Internal Cancers**

The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has classified arsenic and arsenic compounds as carcinogenic to humans (Group 1), which means that there is sufficient evidence for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The MAPK/ERK pathway is a chain of proteins in the cell that communicates a signal from a receptor on the surface of the cell to the DNA in the nucleus of the cell, thereby acting as an "on" or "off" switch.

their carcinogenicity in humans.<sup>170</sup> Although less common than the development of skin cancer, arsenic exposure is also associated with internal (visceral) cancers such as those arising in the lungs, liver, kidney, or bladder.<sup>173, 171</sup>

A study of over 3000 lung-cancer patients in Bangladesh found an association between cancer and water arsenic levels of >100 mg/L, with increased risk (OR) being 1.65 (95% CI 1.25 to 2.18). However, this correlation was only seen in smokers exposed to higher levels of arsenic, not in the population at large, and needs further examination.<sup>172</sup>

A study done in the in the Antofagasta area of Northern Chile, where arsenic levels were as high as 800 - 900 mg/L between the late 1950s and the mid- 1970s, but lower thereafter also found a relationship between lung cancer and arsenic exposure.<sup>173</sup> The ORs were 1.00 for < 11 mg/L (reference), 1.27 (95% CI, 0.81–1.98) for 11-90 mg/L, 2,00 (1.24–3.24) for 91-335 mg/L, and 4.32 (2.60 – 7.17) for >335 mg/L.

A meta-analysis of studies by Wang and colleagues examined the risk of liver cancer with arsenic exposure in 12 studies from Asia and Latin America.<sup>174</sup> Arsenic levels between the studies varied widely from 700 to 930 mg/L in Taiwan to 178 mg/L for the high exposure groups in studies done in Argentina. In the studies from Chile, the arsenic levels varied over time with the average arsenic level ranging from 570 mg/L from 1955 to 1969, and decreasing to less than 100 mg/L by 1980. This analysis found the standard mortality ratio of all the studies for the highest and lowest arsenic exposure groups was 1.80 (1.61 to 2.02), indicating an association between arsenic exposure and the development of liver cancer in these studies.<sup>173</sup>

A study examining bladder cancer rates was done in the Antofagasta area of Northern Chile, found that there was an increased risk for bladder cancer as measured by hospital discharges with diagnosis (peak RR 3.6, (95% CI 3.0–4.7)) relative to areas where arsenic levels have always been low.<sup>175</sup> Mortality for bladder cancer was also higher in the arsenic-polluted areas relative to areas of low arsenic, with incident rate ratio (IRR) for men being 5.3 (95% CI 4.8–5.8) and for women 7.8 (95% CI 7.0–8.7).

Another population-based case–control study in the same area calculated the odds ratios (ORs) for developing bladder cancer relative to quartiles of average arsenic concentrations in the water. The ORs were 1.00 for < 11 mg/L (reference), 1.36 (95% CI, 0.78–2.37) for 11-90 mg/L, 3.87 (2.25–6.64) for 91-335 mg/L, and 6.50 (3.69 – 11.43) for >335 mg/L.<sup>172</sup>

#### **Cardiovascular Diseases**

Epidemiological studies have shown that chronic arsenic poisoning through ingestion of arseniccontaminated water is associated with cardiovascular diseases,<sup>176</sup> including carotid atherosclerosis, impaired microcirculation, prolonged QT interval and QT dispersion. Clinical outcomes associated with arsenic poisoning include hypertension, coronary artery disease, ischemic heart disease, and cerebral infarction. Arsenic-induced cardiovascular diseases in human population may also result from the interaction among genetic, environment and nutritional factors.

High arsenic levels in drinking water (>100µg/L) increased the risk of peripheral artery disease, coronary heart disease, stroke, and carotid atherosclerosis in studies conducted in Chile,<sup>177</sup> Taiwan,<sup>178</sup> Inner Mongolia,<sup>179,180</sup> Bangladesh,<sup>181, 182</sup>and Pakistan.<sup>183,184</sup>

The prospective cohort study from Bangladesh also examined the lower threshold of arsenic concentrations of arsenic in water and found that concentrations above 12  $\mu$ g/L were associated with an increased hazard of CVD mortality.<sup>181</sup> This study took arsenic samples (urine) from 11,746 men and women and followed the study population for an average of 6.6 years. During the course of the study, 198 people died from diseases of circulatory system, accounting for 43% of total mortality in the population. The mortality rate for cardiovascular disease was 214.3 per 100 000 person years in people drinking water containing <12.0  $\mu$ g/L arsenic, compared with 271.1 per 100 000 person years in people drinking water with ≥12.0  $\mu$ g/L arsenic.<sup>181</sup>

Looking more closely at the relationship between arsenic and mortality from ischemic heart disease (IHD), these researchers found that after adjusting for confounding factors, there was a dose-response relationship between exposure to arsenic in well water assessed at baseline, and mortality from ischemic heart disease and other heart disease. The hazard ratios for IHD mortality relative to arsenic concentration in well water were 1.00 for concentrations of 0.1-12.0  $\mu$ g/L (reference value); 1.22 for concentrations of 12.1-62.0  $\mu$ g/L; 1.35 for 62.1-148.0  $\mu$ g/L; and 1.92 for 148.1-864.0  $\mu$ g/L (p=0.0019 for trend).<sup>181</sup>

Another study followed 280 men and 355 women for 17 years in an area of southwest Taiwan with a high prevalence for potential arsenic poisoning.<sup>185</sup> Before the mid-to late 1970s, water for drinking or cooking was drawn from artesian wells having extremely high arsenic concentrations of  $700 - 930 \mu g/L$ . A tap-water system was implemented in the 1970s, and after this time, water for drinking or cooking came from the tap. Estimated lifetime cumulative arsenic exposures were obtained by multiplying the median arsenic level in a specific village by the duration of drinking artesian well water in the village, and summing the values across the period subjects lived in the arseniasis-endemic area.<sup>184</sup>

This group found that high cumulative arsenic exposure was significantly associated with QTdispersal (QTD), indicating a lack of ventricular repolarization homogeneity, and that this relationship varied in a dose-dependent manner (p < 0.001). After adjusting for potential confounders, they also found a significant association of QTD with coronary artery disease and carotid atherosclerosis. Furthermore, the hazard ratio for cumulative cardiovascular mortality was 3.9 (2.1-6.2, p=0.002) for QTD > 65 ms.<sup>184</sup>

Researchers have long observed the individual variability in susceptibility to arsenic toxicity, and have hypothesized that this may be due in part to differences in age, sex, and arsenic metabolism.<sup>186</sup> Additionally, within the last two decades, the genes coding the enzymes responsible for arsenic metabolism have been cloned and characterized. Building on these two developments, a recent study from Taiwan investigated the possible contribution of genetic factors to the development of cardiovascular after long-term arsenic exposure.<sup>187</sup>

This study, by Liao and colleagues, examined variations in PON1, PON2, (human paraoxonase encoding genes) and AS3MT and GSTO (arsenic metabolism genes), and found that arsenic exposure was significantly correlated with any ECG abnormality (representing a range of clinical conditions from myocardial infarction or ischemia to arrhythmias to prolonged QT wave and ventricular repolarization abnormalities). Furthermore, polymorphisms in PON1 and PON2 (PON1 Q192R, -108C/T and PON2 C311S) were associated with the incidence of ECG abnormality and CVD risk. Although it is unclear why polymorphisms in the PON1 and PON2 gene families should be related to increased risk, the researchers hypothesized that since PON1 products can prevent both HDL and LDL oxidation, it is therefore protective against the development of some Cardiovascular diseases.<sup>186</sup>

#### Diabetes

Evidence for a link between arsenic exposure and diabetes is equivocal, with some studies finding an association and others not. The lack of agreement between studies remains regardless of whether diabetes is measured by existing diagnosis, medical support for symptoms, blood tests, oral glucose tests, or diabetes mortality. A recent, population-based examination that took place as part of the HEAL study in Bangladesh also found no association between arsenic exposure and diabetes.<sup>188</sup>

In this study, more than 90% of the 11,319 cohort members were exposed to drinking water with arsenic concentration < 300  $\mu$ g/L. The adjusted odds ratios for diabetes in relation to quintiles of time-weighted, arsenic concentrations in water were 1.00 for concentrations of 0.1–8  $\mu$ g/L (reference), 1.35 (95% Cl, 0.90 – 2.02) for 8–41  $\mu$ g/L, 1.24 (0.82–1.87) for 41–91  $\mu$ g/L, 0.96

(0.62–1.49) for 92–176 µg/L, and 1.11 (0.73–1.69) for concentrations above  $\geq$  177 µg/L. Furthermore, no relationship was found in this study between arsenic exposure and diabetes when urinary concentrations of arsenic were measured instead of those in drinking water. HEAL researchers also observed no association between arsenic exposure and prevalence of glycosuria and no evidence of an association between well water arsenic, total urinary arsenic, or the composition of urinary arsenic metabolites and glycosylated hemoglobin level (HbA1c).<sup>187</sup>

# **1.7 Antibiotics**

Table 6. Antibiotics with Potential for Long-
Term Sequelae
Chloramphenicol
Tetracycline

# Chloramphenicol

The most serious long-term sequelae of chloramphenicol use is the development of aplastic anemia, or depletion of blood cells, which, if it develops, usually occurs weeks or months after antibiotic treatment has ceased. It is a relatively rare sequelae, but is included as a potential long-term sequelae because the evidence for an association is strong. There is no way to predict which patients will develop anemia, although genetic polymorphisms predisposing some individuals are believed to be involved.<sup>189</sup>

Additionally, some historical case-control studies link chloramphenicol use to the development of leukemia, which in many cases is diagnosed after aplastic anemia.<sup>188</sup> The risk of leukemia is higher with longer chloramphenicol treatment periods. It is possible that children are more likely to develop leukemia after chloramphenicol use than adults, as the relationship in studies with child subjects is usually stronger than it is in studies on adults.<sup>188</sup>

Chloramphenicol use is also associated with bone-marrow suppression and optic neuritis,<sup>190 191</sup> but these conditions resolve after the antibiotic is withdrawn and are not associated with long-term sequelae.

# Tetracycline

Tetracycline antibiotics are associated with a number of acute adverse effects including druginduced systemic lupus erythematosus,<sup>192</sup> photo-oncholysis,<sup>193</sup> and esophageal scarring.<sup>194</sup> However, all of these symptoms and syndromes resolve when drug therapy ceases, and exposure does not cause long-term sequelae. A case of renal failure as a result of tetracycline use has been reported, but the patient had pre-existing polycystic kidney disease as an underlying condition.<sup>195</sup>

A recent retrospective cohort study, however, found a possible association between the tetracycline-class antibiotic use and the onset of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), ulcerative colitis and Crohn's Disease.<sup>196</sup> In this study, Margolis and co-workers looked at the association in over 94,000 individuals using The Health Improvement Network database of the United Kingdom. They calculated the hazard ratio (HR) for developing IBD subsequent to any exposure to a tetracycline antibiotic to have been 1.39 (95% CI: 1.02, 1.90). HRs for individual antibiotics were 1.19 (95% CI: 0.79, 1.79) for minocycline, 1.43 (95% CI: 1.02, 2.02) for tetracycline / oxytetracycline, and 1.63 (95% CI: 1.05, 2.52) for doxycycline. For ulcerative colitis, the associations (HR) were 1.10 (95% CI: 0.76, 1.82) for minocycline, 1.27 (95% CI: 0.78, 2.07) for tetracycline /oxytetracycline, and 1.06 (95% CI: 0.53, 2.13) for doxycycline. For Crohn's disease (CD), the associations (HR) were 1.28 (95% CI: 0.72, 2.30) for minocycline, 1.61 (95% CI: 0.995, 2.63) for tetracycline / oxytetracycline, and 2.25 (95% CI: 1.27 4.00) for doxycycline. These increased HRs remained even after robust sensitivity analyses of potentially confounding factors, such as gender, age, use of oral contraceptives, and cigarette smoking.<sup>195</sup>

It is unclear why the use of tetracycline antibiotics would cause inflammatory bowel disease or Crohn's Disease in some individuals, but alterations in gut flora, gut cellular activity, or T-cell activity due to antibiotic use might be involved.<sup>197, 198</sup>

# 1.8 Miscellaneous Other Compounds

#### PABA

Several recent studies link exposure to PABA with the development of photoallergic contact dermatitis (PACD). PACD is a delayed type IV hypersensitivity reaction. Although its exact prevalence is not known because it varies between populations, PACD was reported in only 2 to 10 percent of patients tested for photo allergy in North America and Europe, respectively.<sup>199,200,201</sup> A Chinese study by Gao and colleagues, however, found PABA-related PACD in 14.7% of 2,454 patients photo patch tested.<sup>202</sup> This variation could be related to PABA being used more frequently in Chinese cosmetics than in products marketed in North America and Europe.

Although uncommon, PACD can cause significant long-term morbidity in some patients that may require major lifestyle changes among those afflicted. Chronic or recurrent PACD can continue for months or years after exposure to the sensitizing substance. Secondary infection of the allergic rashes can occur, and eczema can develop.

Oral administration of PABA rarely results in an acute but poorly defined systemic illness that can include fever, myalgia, muscle weakness, rash, and eosinophilia (DRESS). However, when dosing stopped, the symptoms abruptly resolved and did not return,<sup>203,204</sup> Thus, DRESS should be considered an adverse reaction to PABA, not a long-term sequelae.

# 2.0 Agents and Substances with Little or No Evidence for Long-Term Sequelae

# 2.1 Classical Biological Agents and Vaccines

Table 7. Biological Agents with No Evidence for Long-   Term Sequelae
Francisella tularensis (tularemia)
Plasmodium vivax (vivax malaria)
Staphylococcal Enterotoxin B (SEB)
Pseudomonas Endotoxin
Sandfly Fever, Sicilian Strain
Typhoid Fever
Rickettsia rickettsii (Rocky Mountain Spotted-Fever)
Plague Vaccine
Adenovirus Vaccine, live
Yellow Fever 17-D Vaccine
Rift Valley Fever Virus Vaccine
Chikungunya Virus Vaccine

#### Francisella tularensis (Tularemia)

The literature on short or long-term sequelae to *tularensis* infection is very sparse. This is possibly because of tularemia's polymorphic presentation that depends upon the route of infection. Cases studies of unusual symptoms during or following active infection were found, but there were no population-based studies describing disease sequelae. The case studies included cutaneous (erythema nodosum),<sup>205</sup> immunological (Sweet's Syndrome), vascular (endocarditis)<sup>206</sup> and neurological (tularemic meningitis, with or without cerebral abscesses)<sup>207,208,209</sup> symptoms. These illnesses can be severe, but they are primary presentations of disease following infection, or complications of infection, not post-infection sequelae.

Only one case report was found, however, that discussed a long-term sequelae to tularemia. Ylipalosaari and colleagues discussed the neurological disorder reported on a patient who developed serious Guillain–Barré polyneuropathy following ulceroglandular tularemia infection.<sup>210</sup> This patient was a 38-year old man who presented with fever and muscle weakness that progressed to admission to an intensive care unit, paralysis in the upper and lower extremities, and mechanical ventilation. He was treated with multiple antimicrobial medications and plasmapheresis, and returned to work 9 months after hospital admission. Although serious, and longlasting, because this association between *F. tularensis* and Guillain-Barré is only based on one case study, it is not included in this analysis.

#### Plasmodium vivax (Vivax Malaria)

Although traditionally viewed as a milder malaria infection, case reports of sometimes severe complications of *P. vivax* malaria have been increasing in the literature over the past decade. A review and assessment of the scientific literature shows that complications of vivax malaria include a variety of neurological symptoms including tremors or neuropathy,<sup>211,212,213</sup> and renal dysfunction. These symptoms and syndromes do not count as long-term sequelae because they resolve spontaneously or with treatment within weeks or months after appearance.

#### **Neurological Impairments**

Post-malaria neurological syndrome (PMNS) is defined as the acute onset of neurological or neuropsychiatric syndrome in patients who had recently recovered from malaria and have negative blood film at the time of onset of neurological symptoms.<sup>214</sup> This distinguishes it from cerebral malaria, which occurs during the period of parasitemia in *P. falciparum* infection. The time from eradication of systemic parasitemia to the development of this syndrome can be up to nine weeks.<sup>213</sup> There is a 0.12% prevalence of PMNS in patients with malaria and it is 300 times more common in patients with severe malaria compared to those with uncomplicated malaria.<sup>213</sup>

Reported clinical features include convulsions, confusion, psychosis, tremors, cerebellar ataxia, motor aphasia, and generalized myoclonus.<sup>213</sup> Two recent case reports of neurological deficit following *P. vivax* infection fits within the post-clinical spectrum of PMNS. Kochar and colleagues described a case report of a bilateral facial palsy that presented two weeks after *P. vivax* infection and spontaneously resolved after four weeks.<sup>213</sup> Lampah and colleagues reported a case in which a child presented with severe tremor after resolution of *P. vivax* induced coma.<sup>215</sup> The tremor had improved but was still present at the time of hospital discharge.

Another type of neurological disorder reported in the literature includes acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM). A case report by Goyal and colleagues shows ADEM developing after the resolution of malarial infection in a young girl.<sup>216</sup> After her initial (smear-negative) discharge, the child was readmitted to hospital feverish and unconscious. After the ADEM diagnosis and treatment with corticosteroids, she regained consciousness but took almost six months to begin to walk again.

#### **Renal Complications**

Several cases in the literature report long-term disability resulting from acute kidney injury during active *P. vivax* infection.<sup>216,217</sup> Kute and colleagues published a report in 2012 from India that discussed a case of severe renal cortical necrosis which left the patient on hemodialysis and an assessment of stage 4 chronic kidney disease on five-month follow up.<sup>217</sup> Keskat et al., described another case, also from India, that resulted in only partial restoration of renal function after acute failure, possibly from hemolytic uremic syndrome.<sup>218</sup>

These conditions are not included in this analysis because they resolve – with treatment – after the parasite has cleared, or because they are still only represented in a couple of case reports and the association is not strong at this time.

#### Staphylococcal Enterotoxin B (SEB)

There were no specific long-term sequelae reported in the scientific literature for SEB intoxication. However, acute intoxication with SEB-producing *S. aureus* is associated with some severe inflammatory complications, including toxic shock syndrome.<sup>220</sup> Generally, shock subsides as infecting bacteria and toxins are cleared from the body, but damage to organ systems may persist for weeks or months following exposure.<sup>220</sup> Likewise, chronic carriage of toxin-producing strains may also be linked to select inflammatory disease states.<sup>223</sup>

#### Toxic Shock Syndrome (TSS)

Staphylococcus enterotoxin B and other *S. aureus*-derived toxins are known causes of TSS, as are other viral and bacterial pathogens. Unlike other antigens, SEB activates CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells directly, which in turn increases the production of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines.

A recent DNA-microarray analysis of SEB-infected HLA-DR3 transgenic mice, Rajogopalan and colleagues found that the genes producing interleukin-6 (IL-6) was upregulated 700-fold, while the genes producing interferon-gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ) and IL-2 were upregulated 360-fold and 240-fold respectively.<sup>219</sup> Although the gene expression (production) of these cytokines was greatly increased, the expression of the genes coding for their receptors was increased only slightly or in some cases decreased. Similar dysregulation of other cytokines, chemokines and proteases also occurred.<sup>218</sup> Modelling of the effects of the subsequent organ and tissue damage predicted significant damage to the liver and kidneys – hallmarks of the onset of toxic shock.

Another recent study by Tilahun and colleagues has also elucidated the role of IFN-  $\gamma$  in the severity of SEB-induced TSS.<sup>220</sup> This study found that lethality of TSS in HLA-DR3 transgenic mice

was related to IFN-  $\gamma$  mediated intestinal pathology. Specifically, high levels of IFN-  $\gamma$  increased small-bowel permeability to macromolecules.<sup>219</sup>

So, although there are no publications in the literature describing the long-term health effects of acute SEB intoxication at this time, the mechanisms for longer-term cytokine dysregulation as a result of SEB-induced TSS may continue to produce sub-clinical illness for some time after toxin and bacteria have been cleared.

#### Inflammation

Chronic carriage of toxin-producing *S. aureus* has also been implicated in the development of specific inflammatory pathologies, namely food allergy<sup>221</sup> and the development of nasal polyps.<sup>222,223</sup> Although these low-level inflammations do not produce a great deal of morbidity, and seem inconvenient rather than dangerous, these disease processes may be indicative of other sub-clinical sequelae produced after exposure to SEB.

#### Pseudomonas Endotoxin

As with *Staphylococcus aureus* enterotoxin-B, there is little on the specifics of long-term health effects resulting from the exposure to *P. aeruginosa* endotoxin. However, the lipopolysacharide (LPS)-derived endotoxin is implicated in a number conditions or diseases ranging from severe (major depression)<sup>224</sup> to more mild manifestations such as osteolysis<sup>225</sup> in chronic otitis media.

#### **Major Depression**

Recent studies have provided evidence that major depression is accompanied by an activation of the inflammatory response system and that pro-inflammatory cytokines and LPS may induce depressive symptoms (e.g. fatigue, autonomic and gastro-intestinal symptoms, and a subjective feeling of infection).<sup>223</sup> For example, Maes and colleagues examined the serum IgM and IgA against LPS of enterobacteria, and found that they were significantly (p=0.0002 for IgM and p=0.01 for IgA) greater in depressive patients (12/28 for IgM and 11/23 for IgA) than in normal volunteers (0/23 for IgM and 2/23 for IgA).<sup>223</sup> Specifically this study found that the IgM against *P. aeruginosa* and *P. putida* LPS was much higher in depressive patients than in controls. Increased translocation of LPS across the gut can also account for depression in alcoholics and potentially in other diseases related to gut permeability, such as inflammatory bowel disease and some autoimmune disorders.<sup>223</sup> It is unclear at this time whether LPS translocation occurs first, and is followed by an inflammatory response (notably increases in IL-6 and IFN-γ), or whether an inflammation increases gut permeability and secondarily moves LPS across the gut.

#### Osteolysis

There is a delicate balance between bone deposition and absorption in healthy individuals: osteoblasts lay down bone and osteoclasts resorb it.<sup>224</sup> In some disease states such as chronic otitis media, *P. aeruginosa* has been implicated as a cause of increased osteoclastic bone resorption sometimes leading to hearing loss, vertigo, and facial paresis. A recent murine study by Nason and colleagues, demonstrated that *P. aeruginosa* LPS can indeed cause turn precursor cells into mature osteoclasts.<sup>224</sup> Furthermore, LPS stimulated the production of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), IL-1 $\alpha$ , and IL-6, all of which subsequently promote osteoclast formation in an autocrine - paracrine manner. The authors of this study speculate whether this mechanism may also be involved in the formation of multinucleated giant cells seen in other chronic inflammatory states.<sup>224</sup>

#### Sandfly Fever, Sicilian Strain

Because the Sicilian Strain of Sandfly fever produces a relatively mild illness (it is also known as the 3-Day Fever) relative to other *Phleboviruses*, there is no evidence in the literature of long-term health effects associated with infection.<sup>226</sup>

There is one recent case report of encephalitis resulting from infection with Turkey virus which has only recently been considered something more than just a variant of Sicilian virus.<sup>227</sup> The case is notable because on two-month follow up, the patient, a 63-year old woman, was left with cognitive disturbances and unable to walk without assistance.<sup>226</sup>

#### **Typhoid Fever**

There are a number of complications associated with typhoid fever that include neurological impairments such as nerve palsies and weaknesses, and Guillain-Barré Syndrome. These, are complications of infection rather than long-term sequelae, because they resolve, spontaneously or with treatment, within a few weeks or months after infection and do not reoccur.

#### **Neurological Impairments**

Neurological complications of typhoid fever are not uncommon, with reported neurological complications including encephalopathy, spastic paralysis of cerebral origin, convulsions, meningitis, Parkinsonian syndrome, and sensory motor neuropathy.<sup>228</sup> Several recent case reports from Asia and the Pacific Rim (Fiji) have also noted Guillain-Barré Syndrome as a long-term health effect of typhoid fever.<sup>229, 230, 231</sup> These three case studies were all pediatric patients, however, and the time to resolution of the long-term symptoms of Guillain-Barré varied widely from two weeks to three months. Facial and palatal neuropathy and other cerebral nerve palsies following typhoid fever have also been reported. Joshi et al., described two recent case studies from India in which symptoms of palatal palsy completely resolved within five to seven weeks.<sup>227</sup>

In 2013, Talukdar also reported a case of mixed catatonia and Parkinsonism as sequelae to typhoid fever in an 18-year old man.<sup>232</sup> This case, although severe, and included periods of total paralysis, resolved with appropriate treatment four weeks after hospital discharge. The mechanism by which typhoid fever may produce neurological illness is still unknown, but it is possible that *S. enterica*, var. Typhi endotoxins (LPS) transiently interfere with cholinergic–dopaminergic control of the basal ganglion producing Parkinsonian rigidity.

#### **Abdominal Complications**

Sequelae can also arise from complications of the infection in the abdominal organs and include the long-term effects of pancreatitis, gallbladder disease, and bowel perforation.<sup>233,234,235</sup> These sequelae, although sometimes severe, tended to resolve several weeks or months after the infection is cleared.<sup>233</sup> Surgical removal of gangrenous gallbladder and repair of intestinal perforation were also necessary. Case reports also implicate *Salmonella enterica*, var. Typhi in the development of gallbladder cancer, although this association is still somewhat controversial.<sup>236</sup>

#### Rickettsia rickettsii (Rocky Mountain Spotted-Fever)

Complications (not sequelae) following acute Rocky Mountain spotted fever are largely neurological in origin and include partial paralysis of the lower extremities, hearing loss, loss of bowel or bladder control, or movement disorders, and language disorders.<sup>237</sup> Complications of myocarditis subsequent to RMSF infection have also been noted. Both the neurological and the vascular sequelae resolved with proper treatment several weeks after discharge.<sup>238</sup>

#### **Plague Vaccine**

None of the plague vaccines currently or recently in use are associated with long-term sequelae. There are a few short-term complications associated with some of the vaccines, but these are generally mild and transient. The live plague vaccine (EV76) created in the 1920s in the Soviet Union to immunize plague workers and populations at risk is highly reactogenic and produces a number of local and systemic, vaccine-related side effects, such as extreme pain at the



injection site, swelling, local erythema, regional lymphadenopathy, malaise, headache, giddiness, anorexia, weakness and mild fever with an elevated body temperature of up to 38.5–39.5 centigrade. <sup>239</sup>

The Plague USP vaccine is a formaldehyde-killed preparation of the highly virulent 195/P strain of *Y pestis* and was once licensed in the US.<sup>238</sup> Incomplete protection (it protected against cutaneous but not aerosol challenge) lead to its use being

*Figure 3. Adverse Events in the Plague USP Vaccine, 2008 & 2012. (Data: CDC Vaccine Adverse Events Reporting System)* 

discontinued. *Self-reported* complications from administration of plague USP vaccine have been collected by the Centers for Disease Control and stored in the Vaccine Adverse Events Reporting System (VAERS).<sup>240</sup> The most commonly reported VAERS complications include cutaneous discomfort at the injection site, bone-joint or muscle pain, psychological problems or systemic disease (See Figure 3.)

#### Adenovirus Vaccine, live

The new adenovirus vaccine used by the US Department of Defense has few complications and no sequelae associated with its administration. Phase I trials of this vaccine showed it to be well tolerated, with only five severe adverse events reported, and none of them were determined to be related to the vaccine.<sup>241</sup> Phase III trials of this vaccine also found it to be safe, and serious adverse events were documented in only 1.2% of vaccine recipients and 1.2% of placebo recipients. The most common adverse events were headache, upper respiratory tract infection, and arthralgia.<sup>242</sup>

#### Yellow Fever 17-D Vaccine

Yellow fever, which occurs in tropical South America and Africa and has been successfully controlled in many areas by using the live, attenuated yellow fever 17D vaccine developed in 1936.



Serious adverse events, including death, have however been associated with the vaccine in several countries, including the United States (See Figure 4.)<sup>243,244</sup> Even if severe, these are complications of vaccination and not sequelae.

Figure 4. Adverse Events Associated with Yellow Fever Vaccine, 2008 -2014 (Data: Vaccine Adverse Events Reporting System, CDC)

Between March and April of 2001,

309,920 doses of dramatic Yellow Fever 17D vaccine were administered in a mass vaccination campaign in Juiz de Flora, Brazil. A rise in reporting of adverse events followed the campaign with symptoms ranging from fever and myalgia to jaundice and aseptic meningitis were reported.<sup>245</sup>

In 2001, a new syndrome, yellow fever vaccine-associated viscerotropic adverse events (YEL-AVD) was reported.<sup>246</sup> The pathogenesis of this adverse event involved unchecked replication of vaccine virus in visceral organs. The reported incidence of YEL-AVD approximates 0.4 per 100,000 vaccinations.<sup>245</sup> from 1990 to 2012, the number of cases of YEL-AD (n = 31) and deaths (n = 12) from YEL-AVD in travelers has exceeded the reports of YF (n = 6) acquired by natural infection.<sup>247</sup> This raised the question whether the risk of vaccination exceeded the benefit in travelers.<sup>246</sup>

# **Rift Valley Fever Virus Vaccine**

There are no reports of long-term sequelae associated with vaccines against Rift Valley Fever Virus. Immunization side effects of early formalin-killed vaccines, NDBR 103 and TSI-GSD 200, in human volunteers were reported to be local reactions, such as erythema, swelling, tenderness or pain at the site of injection. No specific febrile reaction or severe adverse effects related to the vaccination were reported, except for one case of Guillain-Barré syndrome, which might have been due to enterovirus infection.<sup>248</sup>

Because inactivated vaccines require multiple booster shots to protect against wild-type infection, live, attenuated vaccines were developed. One candidate, MP-12, was tested on human volunteers and has been shown to be safe and immunogenic when an adequate dose was administered. This vaccine is currently undergoing further Phase II clinical evaluation.<sup>249</sup> Other vaccines for RVFV include recombinant proteins, virus-like-proteins, DNA vaccines and plasmid vaccines are also under development but have not yet been tested on humans in phased clinical trials.<sup>250</sup>

#### **Chikungunya Virus Vaccine**

There are no long-term sequelae associated with vaccines formulated against Chikungunya Virus. The first Chikungunya vaccines were formalin-inactivated vaccines prepared from a variety of cell substrates including African green monkey kidney, mouse brains, and chick embryo cells. The vaccine made from chick embryo cells did not elicit a potent immune response. However, vaccines made from the other two materials did with no adverse events in human volunteers.<sup>251</sup> Likewise, a live-attenuated CHIKV vaccine candidate (strain 181/clone25) was tested in Phase I trials and found to be safe and well-tolerated. It produced a transient arthralgia in some patients in Phase II and development was discontinued.<sup>250</sup>

More recently, a safety and tolerability trial in 2012-2013 of a virus-like particle (VLP) Chikungunya virus vaccine, VRC-CHKVLP059-00-VP, at the National Institutes of Health in Bethesda, MD found no serious adverse vaccine-related events in the study population.<sup>250</sup> Overall, nine (36%) of 25 participants reported mild local reactogenicity, whereas ten (40%) reported mild systemic reactogenicity at least once after a vaccination. There were no reports of arthralgia after vaccination.

# 2.2 Anticholinesterases

Table 8. Anticholinesterases with No Evidence
for Long-Term Sequelae
Soman (GD, EA 1210)
Cyclosarin (GF, EA 1212)
GV (GP, EA 5365)
VX (EA 1701)
Other V-agents (VE, VG, VM)
Physostigmine (CAS 57-47-6)

# Soman (GD, EA 1210)

Anxiety is a long-term sequelae of soman exposure is discussed in the previous section of this report. Here, the short-term neurological and cognitive effects are summarized.

#### **Neurological and Cognitive Impairment**

Soman-induced seizures cause neuronal damage in brain limbic and cortical circuits leading to persistent behavioral and cognitive deficits. One common type of consequence of soman –in-duced seizures in rats is an elevated startle response, sometimes accompanied by altered sensorimotor gating.<sup>252</sup> Soman exposure can also impair fear conditioning in rats, with soman- exposed animals spending less time freezing than controls, possibly due to the neuropathy observed in the hippocampus, amygdala, and thalamus.<sup>253</sup>

Filliat and colleagues found that mice exposed to 1.2 LD<sub>50</sub> of soman (110 mg/kg in 200 ml of saline solution) could be divided into high-weight loss (HWL) and low-weight loss (LWL) groups, and that this grouping was predictive of neuropathological damage to the hippocampus.<sup>254</sup> Initially, both groups of mice showed a decrease in their motor performance subsequent to an acute soman toxicity phase. Then, total motor recovery occurred for the LWL group.

Comparatively, HWL mice showed only transient recovery prior to a second decrease phase due to soman-induced delayed toxicity.<sup>253</sup> One month after intoxication, mnemonic cognitive performances of the LWL group were similar to controls while the HWL group did not exhibit any learning skill.<sup>253</sup> Three months after poisoning, compared to controls, the LWL group showed similar mnemonic performances in the maze test but a mild deficit in the Morris water maze task. At the same time, learning skills slightly recovered in the HWL group.

# Cyclosarin (GF, EA 1212)

Unlike other G-Series anticholinesterase agents, animal studies with subclinical doses of cyclosarin have found no evidence for long-term sequelae. There are, however, some short-term neurological and cognitive complications of exposure that are transient and resolve in a few weeks post-exposure.

For example, a study of the effects of sub-clinical inhaled doses of cyclosarin in rats, Genovese and colleagues found that the largest concentration (5.2 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) of cyclosarin disrupted performance on a variable food-reinforcement task that the animals had been taught (and successfully performed) prior to exposure. This deficit, however, resolved by the third post exposure test session, and remained resolved across 11 weeks of behavioral testing. These results suggest that subclinical doses of cyclosarin may produce performance deficits in learned behaviors, but that the deficits appear to be transient.<sup>255, 256</sup>

# GV (GP, EA 5365)

No information in the English language was found on the long-term sequelae resulting from GV exposures.

# VX (EA 1701)

There was no evidence found for long-term sequelae associated with VX exposure. However, animal studies have found several types of acute injury (neurological and cognitive as well as respiratory) in survivors of VX exposure, but these injuries resolve and do not return.

#### **Neurological and Cognitive Impairment**

In a study on repeated sublethal exposures to VX, Myers and colleagues found that performance of a learned differential reinforcement task was impaired in rats given larger exposures (0.4 LD<sub>50</sub> and 0.5 LD<sub>50</sub>) of agent.<sup>257</sup> These researchers found, however, that performance of tasks returned to normal one-week after exposure and remained stable for the remainder of the test period.<sup>256</sup> This suggests that damage from sublethal doses of VX is transient in small animals. Bloch-Shilderman and colleagues also noted transient damage with repeated suble-thal doses (2.25  $\mu$ g/kg/day, 0.05 LD<sub>50</sub> for 3 months) in rats.<sup>258</sup>

Pizarro and colleagues found that subsequent to repeated sublethal exposures to VX,  $(0.2 \text{ LD}_{50} \text{ and } 0.4 \text{ LD}_{50})$  brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) messenger RNA expression was significantly elevated in multiple brain regions in mice (p < 0.05), including the dentae gyrus, CA3, and CA1 regions of the hippocampal formation, as well as the piriform cortex, hypothalamus, amygdala, and thalamus.<sup>259</sup> Seventy-two hours after the last exposure, however, BDNF was only increased in the CA3 region of the hippocampus. This is significant because neurotrophins in the hippocampus also contribute to long-term potentiation, learning, and memory.<sup>258</sup>

Likewise, using microarray analysis, Gao found that marked changes in gene expression in cultured human neural cells 6, 24, and 72 hours after exposure to 0.1 or 10  $\mu$ M of VX for 1 hour.<sup>260</sup> Gao noted that "functional annotation and pathway analysis of the differentially expressed genes has revealed many genes, networks and canonical pathways that are related to nervous system development and function, or to neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, Huntington's disease, and Parkinson's disease." Specifically, these researchers found that the neuregulin pathway was impacted by VX exposure, and that this has important implications in many nervous system diseases including schizophrenia.<sup>259</sup>

#### **Respiratory Impairment**

A study done at the Walter Reed Army Institute of Research has demonstrated that inhalation exposure of VX (dose of 50.4 to  $90.4\mu$ g/m3 for 5 min. or  $0.5 LD_{50}$  to  $0.9 LD_{50}$ ) causes lung injury in guinea pigs.<sup>261</sup> Specifically, Wright and colleagues found that the pulmonary damage induced by VX has the classic signature of acute lung injury, including increased inflammatory cell infiltration, decreased macrophage/monocytes, increased protein in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid, and pulmonary edema.<sup>260</sup>

#### Other V-agents (VE, VG, VM)

There was no information about long-term health effects of the other V-series agents.

#### Physostigmine (CAS 57-47-6)

No publications could be found that provided evidence for any long-term sequelae associated with physostigmine exposure.

# 2.3 Anticholinergics

Table 9. Anticholinergics with No Evidence for Long-Term Sequelae
3-Quinuclidinyl benzilate (BZ, QNB)
Tox Number B002: N-Methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylphenyl glycolate
Tox Number B003: N-methyl-4-piperidyl cyclobutylphenyl glycolate
Tox Number B006: 3-quinuclidinyl phenylcyclopentyl glycolate
Tox Number B007: Ditran
Tox Number B008: Benzetimide HCl
Tox number B009: L-2-α-tropinyl benzilate hydrochloride
Tox Number B010: L-2-α-tropinyl L-cyclopentylphenylglycolate
Tox Number B011: N-methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylmethyl-ethynyl
glycollate (PCMG)
Tox Number B012: cis-2-methyl-3-quinuclidinyl cyclopentylphenyl-
glycolate
Tox Number B013: 1-methyl-4-piperidyl phenyl-(3-methylbut-1-yn-3-
enyl)-glycolate
Tox Number B014: 3-quinuclidinyl (1-hydroxycyclopentyl) phe-
nylacetate
Tox Number B015: 3-quinuclidinyl cyclopentyl-(2 –propenyl)-glyco-
late
Tox Number B016: 4-(1-methyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridyl)-Methyl-
Isopropyl-phenylglycolate
Tox Number B018: Benactyzine HCl (Amizil, Suvatil, Parasan, Nutinal)
Tox Number B022: atropine methyl nitrate (Eumydrin, AMN)
Tox Number B023: N-methyl-4-piperidyl isopropylphenyl-glycolate
(EA 3834)
Tox Number B025: toxogonin-atropine-benactyzine (TAB)

Neither BZ nor any of the anticholinergic BZ-related compounds studied had any long-term sequelae associated with them. BZ and Benactyzine HCl produced short-term neurological and cognitive deficits in rats and mice respectively. Additionally, atropine methyl nitrate (AMN) administration seems to be related to immunomodulatory activity in rats, but it is unclear what physiological impact this may have – if any.

#### 3-Quinuclidinyl benzilate (BZ, QNB)

No evidence was found for long-term sequelae associated with BZ exposure in humans or animals. However, animal testing with BZ has demonstrated short-term learning impairment after exposure. An administration of BZ at the dose of 2.0 mg.kg-1 induced disorientation in rodents tested against various maze running activities and passive avoidance tests.<sup>262,263,264</sup> The behavioral alterations were found only when BZ was administered before training; well-trained rats showed no alteration in the test of spatial memory or avoidance. These results indicate that BZ impairs specifically the process of memory acquisition (learning), whereas retrieval of consolidated information (long-term memory) is not affected. Similar results on learning disruption have been found with scopolamine and other anticholinergics.<sup>265,266,267</sup>

#### Tox Number B002: N-Methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylphenyl glycolate

This compound is no longer in commercial use. No information on long-term sequelae associate to exposure was found.

#### Tox Number B003: N-methyl-4-piperidyl cyclobutylphenyl glycolate

There was no information available about long-term sequelae of exposure for this compound.

#### Tox Number B006: 3-quinuclidinyl phenylcyclopentyl glycolate

No information on long-term sequelae associated with exposure to this compound was found.

#### Tox Number B007: Ditran

The only recent publication discussing Ditran that could be found is on its historical use in toxic, antipersonnel projectiles (bullets, shells, etc.).<sup>268</sup> It is not currently in widespread clinical or commercial use today, and information on long-term effects of exposure to Ditran is absent from the medical, public health, and environmental science literature.

#### Tox Number B008: Benzetimide HCl

Benzetimide HCl is not in widespread clinical or commercial use today. There is no information on the potential long-term effects of exposure to this compound.

#### Tox number B009: L-2-α-tropinyl benzilate hydrochloride

L-2- $\alpha$ -tropinyl benzilate hydrochloride is no longer in widespread clinical or commercial use, and there is no recent scientific or medical information about its effects. There is no information on the potential long-term effects of exposure to this compound.

#### **Tox Number B010: L-2-α-tropinyl L-cyclopentylphenylglycolate**

Testing with this compound ended in the late 1960s. There is no information available on long-term effects of exposure to this drug.

Tox Number B011: N-methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylmethyl-ethynyl glycollate (PCMG)

There are no recent publications on PCMG, and there is no information on the potential longterm effects of exposure to this compound.

# Tox Number B012: cis-2-methyl-3-quinuclidinyl cyclopentylphenyl-glycolate

No information was available about this compound in recent literature.

# Tox Number B013: 1-methyl-4-piperidyl phenyl-(3-methylbut-1-yn-3-enyl)-glycolate

This anticholinergic is no longer in use today, and no information about long-term sequelae related to exposure was found.

# Tox Number B014: 3-quinuclidinyl (1-hydroxycyclopentyl) phenylacetate

No recent information was available on this compound.

# Tox Number B015: 3-quinuclidinyl cyclopentyl-(2 –propenyl)-glycolate

There is no recent information available on this compound.

# Tox Number B016: 4-(1-methyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridyl)-Methyl-Isopropyl-phenylglycolate

There is no recent information on this compound.

# Tox Number B018: Benactyzine HCI (Amizil, Suvatil, Parasan, Nutinal)

No information was found on long-term sequelae associated with the use of Benactyzine HCl.

There are, however, a few animal studies that suggests some short-term cognitive impairment may be brought about by the administration of benactyzine compounds, but that these side-effects will spontaneously resolve within a few weeks post exposure. Studies in mice have shown a decrease in the natural preference for novelty with administration along with decreased exploration and rearing. Other studies have suggested that benactyzine compounds decrease the ability of the animal to notice changes in its environment and to adapt its behavior accordingly.<sup>269</sup>

# Tox Number B022: atropine methyl nitrate (Eumydrin, AMN)

There was no information available about long-term sequelae associated with AMN exposure. However, animal studies have demonstrated that atropine methyl nitrate increases FOS-like immunoreactivity selectively in the in the gut of rats. Specifically, this action takes place in the mesenteric plexus, but not in the dorsal vagal complex or the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus.<sup>270</sup> Still other studies have shown that atropine methyl nitrite does NOT suppress tumor necrosis factor release during endotoxemia, but another atropine compound, atropine sulfate does.<sup>271,272,273</sup> This is potentially important in mediating the response of pro-inflammatory cytokines to toxic insult or sepsis.

#### Tox Number B023: N-methyl-4-piperidyl isopropylphenyl-glycolate (EA 3834)

No recent studies were available on EA 3834 to analyze the potential long-term health effects of exposure.

#### Tox Number B025: toxogonin-atropine-benactyzine (TAB)

There is a substantial literature on TMB-4 and a less significant amount on TAB anticholinergic compounds. However, most of these studies examine the efficacy of TMB-4 and TAB and do not discuss long-term negative effects of exposure. In fact, a study of accidental overdose in more than 100 children with TMB-atropine autoinjectors found no negative sequelae resulting from intramuscular inoculation.<sup>274</sup>

# 2.4 LSD, Other Classical Hallucinogens & Lysergamides

# Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (LSD), Psilocybin, DMT, and Mescaline

Psychedelics are not known to harm the brain or other body organs or to cause addiction or compulsive use.<sup>275,276</sup> LSD and psilocybin mushrooms are also consistently ranked by drug-abuse experts as much less harmful to the individual user or to society than alcohol.<sup>277,278,279,280</sup>

#### No Long-Term Sequelae

A number of recent studies have found no long-term negative effects of LSD or other classical hallucinogen (psilocybin, DMT, & mescaline) exposure. The conclusions of these studies are different from earlier individual case reports of flashbacks and other cognitive disorders associated with LSD use, because they look at a large number of cases from a population survey, or amass a large amount of data by following a population across a significant amount of time.

For example, Krebs and Johansen examined the prevalence of mental-health problems in US hallucinogenic drug users by pooling data from the National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH), years 2001-2004, yielding 130,152 respondents.<sup>281</sup> After the data were culled for age and demographic characteristics to make them representative of the US population, the re-

searchers were left with 21,967 samples. 17486 individuals (80.1%) reported use of LSD. Symptoms indicators for eight DSM-IV psychiatric disorders were used, and included: panic disorder, major depressive episode, mania, social phobia, general anxiety disorder, agoraphobia, post-traumatic stress disorder, and non-affective psychosis. These researchers found no significant associations between lifetime use of any psychedelics, lifetime use of specific psychedelics (LSD, psilocybin, mescaline, peyote), or past year use of LSD and increased rate of any of the mental health outcomes. Rather, in several cases psychedelic use was associated with lower rate of mental health problems.<sup>280</sup> Krebs and Johansen suggest that psychological disturbances or severe flashbacks previously associated with LSD use actually arise from other concurrent psychiatric problems, and not from the drug-use itself.<sup>280</sup>

Another study utilizing the NSDUH from 2008 – 2011, pooled data from 19,299 psychedelic drug users affirmed the findings reported above.<sup>282</sup> Additionally, the study found no association between LSD or psilocybin use and suicidal thoughts, plans, or attempts. Rather, among people with childhood depression, those who had used psychedelics had lower likelihood of past year suicidal thoughts and plans.

A study from a group of researchers at the University of Alabama, Birmingham also utilizing the NSDUH (2008-2012) found similar low prevalence of hallucinogen use and psychological distress, and suicide thoughts, plans, or attempts.<sup>283</sup> This work found that classic psychedelic use was associated with a significantly reduced odds of past month psychological distress [weighted odds ratio (OR)=0.81 (0.72–0.91)], past year suicidal thinking [weighted OR=0.86 (0.78–0.94)], past year suicidal planning [weighted OR=0.71 (0.54–0.94)], and past year suicide attempt [weighted OR=0.64 (0.46–0.89)], whereas lifetime illicit use of other drugs was largely associated with an increased likelihood of these outcomes.<sup>282</sup>

Another publication reporting on long-term LSD self-experimentation amongst a small group (n=22) of mental health professionals found no long-term negative effects from the drug use.<sup>284</sup> Also, all but two of the counselors recorded enrichment in the sphere of self-awareness.

#### Hallucinogen Persisting Perception Disorder

Prior to the use of data from the large population studies reported above, the use of LSD or related substances was thought to cause flashbacks in some people. However, there is no strong correlation between the number of times a person has taken the drug and the likelihood that they develop hallucinogen persisting perception disorder, so the condition may result following a single LSD experience or never appear despite hundreds of LSD experiences.<sup>285</sup> Hermle states that in light of recent clinical evaluations that previous estimates of HPPD prevalence (5% - 54%) were vastly overestimated and that these visual disturbances occur in less than 5 percent of psychedelic drug users.<sup>286</sup>

Nevertheless, the clinical literature of the past decade describes a defined flashback syndrome called hallucinogen persisting perception disorder (HPPD). The four visual illusions most described as part of HPPD are: macropsia (objects are perceived larger than their actual size), micropsia (objects are perceived smaller than their actual size), pelopsia (objects are perceived nearer than they actually are, and teleopsia (objects are perceived much further away than they actually are).<sup>287</sup> Some researchers studying flashbacks have divided HPPD divide it into two types:

- **HPPD 1:** A generally short-term, non-distressing, benign and reversible state accompanied by a pleasant affect.<sup>287</sup>
- **HPPD 2:** A generally long-term, distressing, pervasive, either slowly reversible or irreversible, non-benign state accompanied by an unpleasant affect.<sup>288</sup>

Both types of HPPD can contain the same visual imagery as experienced on the drug, or on occasion, new imagery presented in a hallucinogenic manner.<sup>289</sup> Lerner and colleagues have suggested that the principal difference between these two conditions rests on the patient's perception of impairment and disability.<sup>288</sup> They have also noted that HPPD I and II onsets may be preceded by already preexisting mental disorders such as anxiety, mood, somatoform, sleep and dissociative disorders or severe mental illnesses like schizophrenia, but may also contribute to the development of these disorders acting as a trigger.<sup>288</sup> Additionally, Litjens reviewed clinical HPPD cases and found that the majority of cases were attributed to drugs with agonistic effects on serotonergic 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptors like LSD, but also like ecstasy (MDMA), which is not generally considered a hallucinogen.<sup>290</sup> He also proposes that serotonergic neurotransmission and the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> receptor, which are involved in low-level visual processing, and as such are possible targets for both classical hallucinogens and MDMA visual changes, such as HPPD.<sup>289</sup>

#### **Rhabdomyolysis-Related Complications**

There are a small number of human case reports on LSD-related rhabdomyolysis, which is a syndrome resulting from skeletal muscle cell injury and the subsequent release of intracellular contents into the circulation.<sup>292</sup> Presenting symptoms and signs include myalgia, limb weakness, and electrolyte abnormalities. Although technically not necessary for diagnosis, myoglobinuria and elevated creatine kinase (CK) are important markers of muscle injury.<sup>291,292</sup> Although rhabdomyolysis is usually reversible, it requires long-term follow-up treatment.<sup>293</sup>

# LSD (free base), LSD (tartrate salt), LSD (maleate salt)

No information on long-term sequelae were found on LSD in its unstable free-base form, or in its tartrate or maleate salt forms.

#### Acetyl lysergic acid diethylamide (ALD)

There was no recent information about long-term negative health effects of ALD.

#### Bromo-lysergic acid diethylamide (BOL)

There was no recent information about long-term negative health effects of BOL

# 2.5 Oximes, Irritants, & Incapacitants

Table 10. Oximes, Irritants and incapacitants with No Evi-
dence for Long-Term Sequelae
Oxime
Toxogonin, Obidoxime chloride
Trimedoxime (TMB4)
Pralidoxime methane sulfonate
Irritant
(CA) Bromobenzyl cyanide
(CN) Chloroacetophenone (Mace™)
(DM) Adamsite
Capsicum (Pepper Spray)
EA 1778 (nonanoyl morpholide), MPK
EA 2097, Benzylidene malonitrile
(CR), EA 3547, Dibenzoxazepine
(CHT), EA 4923, 1-Methoxy-1,2,5-cycloheptatriene
Incapacitants
EA 2148-A, Phencyclidine (PCP)
218437, an indolylalkyl piperazine (Oxypertine)
219362
220548, Benzomorphan
302034, Benzomorphan butyrophenone
EA 1476, EA 2233, EA 2233 2-8, Dimethylheptyl pyran (DHMP)

#### Oximes

#### Toxogonin, Obidoxime chloride

Despite many publications on the acute adverse effects of oximes, there is no discussion of the long-term negative health impact of use in the recent literature (7/2006 – 12/2015). Historical work by Balali-Mood found that obidoxime was hepatotoxic at high recommended doses of 8 mg/kg initially and 3 mg/kg/hr.<sup>294</sup> A more recent reference by Balali-Mood confirmed these early results and call for the need to monitor liver function during obidoxime treatment.<sup>295</sup> Unmonitored and untreated, this hepatotoxicity can lead to jaundice or hepatitis, but not all studies have found this to be true.<sup>296</sup> Other adverse clinical effects of oximes include hypotension, cardiac arrhythmia (including cardiac arrest after rapid administration), headache, blurred vision, dizziness and gastric discomfort.<sup>295</sup>

#### **Oxidative Stress**

Work done by Drtinova and Pohanka in guinea pigs has shown that the level of low molecular weight antioxidants decreased in all the organs (except kidneys) after administration of obidoxime.<sup>296</sup> This work was done by intramuscularly injecting groups of 3-month old guinea pigs with a five percent LD<sub>50</sub> dose of obidoxime (4.15 mg/kg).<sup>297</sup> The frontal lobe, cerebellum, spleen, liver, and kidney were collected after euthanasia at 15, 30, 60, 120, and 240 minutes post-exposure and assessed for antioxidant markers using the ferric reducing antioxidant power assay (FRAP), thiobarbituric acid reactive substances assay (TBARS), glutathione S-transferase (GST) assay, and glutathione reductase (GR) assay.<sup>296</sup>

Obidoxime caused a decrease of FRAP (p = 0.01) in the frontal lobe after 15 minutes and in the spleen after 60 minutes (p = 0.05). TBARS levels were also significantly reduced in the frontal lobes and cerebellum at 15 minutes post exposure and beyond (p = 0.01). Furthermore, GR was significantly increased (p = 0.01) in the liver after 15 minutes when compared to controls.<sup>296</sup>

It is unclear how disruptions in antioxidant homeostasis and subsequent oxidative stress caused by obidoxime exposure is related to specific pathogenesis and toxicity, but clinical studies have shown that antioxidants are often depleted in the brains of patients who suffer from neuro-degenerative disease.<sup>298,299</sup>

Oxidative stress has also been implicated as a factor in the development of some cardiovascular diseases such as myocardial infarction and atherosclerosis.<sup>300</sup> Historical studies also implicate oxidative stress in chronic fatigue syndrome.<sup>301</sup> That said, oximes are generally cleared from the body soon after exposure, and there is currently no clear evidence linking the oxidative stress caused by obidoxime administration and disease in humans. Repeated administration of

obidoxime across several days or a week, however, may cause tissue damage in multiple organs which, if severe enough, may predispose patients to other illnesses.

#### Trimedoxime (TMB4)

A recent examination of symptoms produced by accidental injection with atropine and TMB4 autoinjectors in Israel, found no adverse reactions related to TMB4 exposure in adults.<sup>302</sup> This study was based on data collected from the Israel Poison Information Center, and the Assaf Harofeh Medical Center over a two-year period. The absence of adverse effects in the study subjects was likely related to the relatively low dose of TMB4 in the autoinjectors (80 mg). Earlier studies (before 7/2006) sometimes reported more severe adverse effects of TMB4 use, but these were usually observed after larger doses (187 – 262 mg) of the oxime.

#### Pralidoxime methane sulfonate

The literature search found no recent publications (from 7/2006 – present) which clearly link pralidoxime exposure to long-term adverse health effects. The only recent publications found discussed the acute toxicity and adverse short-term effects of exposure.

Despite the beneficial effects of pralidoxime first noted with parathion poisoning, its effectiveness has been much debated. Historical trials in the developing world, where organophosphate (OP) poisoning is an important public health problem, noted that low-dose infusions of pralidoxime may actually increase morbidity and mortality in patients<sup>303, 304, 305</sup> A recent metaanalysis by Buckley and Eddleston, however, suggested that these clinical trials used suboptimum doses and inadequate delivery regimes of pralidoxime, that investigators did not achieve the plasma concentrations of oxime recommended by the World Health Organization, and that these design issues were the cause of their poor outcomes.<sup>306</sup>

A more recent clinical trial by Pawar examining the efficacy of high-dose pralidoxime for OP poisoning found the administration of the oxime improved morbidity and treatment outcomes.<sup>307</sup> In that trial, patients were given a dose of oxime upon admission and were then randomly assigned to control and study groups (100 patients per group.) Controls were given a bolus dose of 1g pralidoxime per hour every 4 hours for 48 hours. The study group had a constant infusion of 1g per hour every hour for 48 hours. Patients receiving the high-dose pralidoxime regimen required less atropine during the first 24 hours than controls [median 6 mg vs 30 mg; difference 24 mg (95% CI 24-26, p < 0.0001)]. Eighty-eight percent of controls and 64 percent of high-dose patients needed intubation during admission to hospital (relative risk (RR) = 0.72, 0.62-0.86, p = 0.0001). Control patients required ventilatory support for longer [median 10 days vs 5 days; difference 5 days (5-6, p < 0.0001)].<sup>306</sup>

# Irritants

# (CA) Bromobenzyl cyanide

There were no publications available from 7/2006 to 12/2015 that discussed adverse effects or long-term sequelae of exposure to CA.

# (CN) Chloroacetophenone (Mace<sup>™</sup>)

Older animal studies (rat, rabbit, guinea pig and mouse) from the 1970s examining the inhalational pathophysiology and pathogenesis of CN at LD<sub>50</sub> exposures found that animals surviving intentionally high initial doses sustained only acute injury, not long-term serious damage.<sup>308</sup> Historical reports also describe several human deaths associated with aerosol exposure, but these exposures took place in enclosed spaces and over long periods of time, so the inhaled dose of CN was quite high-<sup>309,310,311</sup> Serious acute injuries, including respiratory distress, chemical pneumonitis, pulmonary edema, and hepatocellular injury have also been reported in historical and in recent literature, as have non-serious cases of allergic dermatitis.<sup>312,313,314</sup> Despite the large number of papers (most published before 7/2006) on the acute effects of CN, the literature search did not find any information about long-term negative health effects of exposure.

# (DM) Adamsite

Adamsite and other arsenicals are not commonly used anymore because of the moderately high toxicity in humans.<sup>315</sup> No information was found on the long-term sequelae of Adamsite exposure published between the periods of 7/2006 - 12/2015.

# Capsicum (Pepper Spray)

Although there is no systematic review of long-term negative sequelae associated with pepperspray attacks, there are a few case reports of ocular and respiratory injuries sustained during the course of pepper-spray attacks lasting for months post exposure.<sup>316,317</sup> Ocular injuries include corneal erosions, abrasions, and ulcers, respiratory problems include pulmonary edema and bronchospasm, and even death.<sup>318,319,320</sup> An examination by Toprak and colleagues of 10 deaths in which riot-control agents were either the principal or contributory cause of death, showed that 7 of the lethal cases were associated solely with a pepper spray product.<sup>321</sup>

Most of the serious complications, however, resulted from exposure to very high doses,<sup>322</sup> or from the subject being very close to the spray, smoke, or exploding canister.<sup>315</sup> Pre-existing health conditions, such as asthma, COPD, or cardiovascular disease; or interaction with pre-scribed medications or illegal drugs may also influence the development of severe injuries.<sup>323,324</sup>

Serious injuries resulting from exposure to capsicum have been estimated to range between 2.7% and 15% of exposures, depending upon the setting.<sup>325</sup>

#### EA 1778 (nonanoyl morpholide), MPK

Despite its recent use in Russia, <sup>326</sup> the literature search found no information in English on the long-term health effects of EA 1778 published between 7/2006 and the present.

#### EA 2097, Benzylidene malonitrile

Benzylidene malonitrile is the parent compound of the CS agents (-chlorobenzylidene malononitrile). The literature search found no information on the long-term health effects of EA2097.

#### (CR), EA 3547, Dibenzoxazepine

The literature search uncovered no recent work on long-term negative health effects from CR exposure in animals or humans.

# (CHT), EA 4923, 1-Methoxy-1,2,5-cycloheptatriene

The literature search uncovered no recent (7/2006 - 2015) publications on the long-term health effects of CHT.

# Incapacitants

# EA 2148-A, Phencyclidine (PCP)

Despite there being numerous papers on the use of PCP exposure to model schizophrenia in rodents, the literature search failed to uncover information about potential long-term sequelae resulting from PCP exposure. One of the reasons for this is that many of the animal studies purported to study, "long-term," changes in behavior<sup>327,328</sup> or brain receptors<sup>329,330</sup> resulting from PCP exposure, but only measured behaviors for 2-to-3 weeks after drug dosing had ceased. Other studies called the difference between adolescence and adulthood slightly more than 1 month (50 days postnatal as opposed to 90 days or older.)

In regards to the long-term effects on humans, older publications tend to emphasize how phencyclidine *causes* psychosis, schizophrenia, or other psychological disturbances,<sup>331</sup> whereas more recent papers tend to discuss how PCP use, "unmasks," or "uncovers" innate problems.<sup>332</sup> Therefore it is impossible to confidently assign PCP exposure as the cause of these disorders or to mark the disorders as sequelae.

# 218437, an indolylalkyl piperazine (Oxypertine)

This literature search was unable to uncover recent publications (7/2006 – present) on potential long-term sequelae related to oxypertine exposure. This is probably because it is more common for clinicians today to prescribe a second-generation antipsychotic with greater efficacy and safety profile, than a first-generation drug like oxypertine. The compound is also not discussed in the National Academy of Sciences summaries on the human-exposure trials.

#### 219362

No information, historical or recent, was found on this compound, and it is also not discussed in the National Academy of Sciences summaries on the human-exposure trials.

#### 220548, Benzomorphan

Descriptions of potential sequelae found in the historical and recent literature for pentazocine almost all deal with long-term use or abuse of the drug, and not a single or a handful of exposures as was experienced by volunteers in the trials run by the US military and intelligence community.

The most commonly described sequelae is cutaneous scarring from injection.<sup>333, 334</sup> Patients (chronic users) can present with deep skin ulcers and sinuses over accessible sites, and the cutaneous sequelae include hyperpigmented halos around injection ulcers. These ulcers heal with central hypopigmentation, along with skin fibrosis, chronic panniculitis, edema, woody induration, phlebitis, cellulitis, and symmetrical myopathy. On occasion, injection-site necrosis and sepsis have also occurred, and thus sometimes required amputation. Fibrous myopathy is a rare but conspicuous complication of prolonged pentazocine injection, with subsequent limb contractures.<sup>335</sup>

Additionally, the potential for long-term sequelae related to morphine use (addiction, respiratory depression or failure, appetite suppression and weight loss, nausea and vomiting, and negative psychosocial behaviors) were also examined as part of the literature review. Once again, all of the potential long-term sequelae were related to long-term use of morphine and/or escalating doses of the drug.

Benzomorphan exposure is not discussed in the National Academy of Sciences summaries on the human-exposure trials.

#### 302034, Benzomorphan butyrophenone

No information, historical or recent, was found on long-term sequelae associated with this compound. The compound is also not discussed in the National Academy of Sciences summaries on the human-exposure trials.

# EA 1476, EA 2233, EA 2233 2-8, Dimethylheptyl pyran (DHMP)

Although cannabinoid use has been linked with specific changes in immune function, including 1.) An alteration in cytokine production and secretion (suppression of pro-inflammatory cytokines) in most immune system cell lines, including central nervous system cells<sup>336</sup> and, 2.) A general change in the immune response from Th1 (cell-mediated) to Th2 (humoral mediated),<sup>337</sup> it is unclear what the functional impact of these changes may be – if any.

Additionally, some historical population research has shown that cannabinoid users have a twofold higher risk of developing schizophrenia than matched non-users.<sup>338</sup> And that elimination of cannabinoid use would reduce the incidence of schizophrenia by approximately 8 percent,<sup>339</sup> these studies are flawed and do not differentiate between pre-existing conditions and those that may be, "caused," by DMHP use.

Lastly, most of the studies looking at the potential links between DMHP and neuropsychiatric conditions studied it in repeat and often heavy users of cannabinoid drugs. The volunteers exposed to one or only a few exposures in human trials may not have experienced the same biological processes described in the studies cited.

# 2.6 Miscellaneous Traditional Chemical Warfare Agents

Table 11. Traditional Chemical Warfare Agents
with No Evidence for Long-Term Sequelae
Lewisite
Cyanide, Hydrogen cyanide (HCN), AC
Phosgene Oxime (CX)

#### Lewisite

Despite the severe acute effects of lewisite, no information on long-term symptoms or sequelae related to exposure exists. One can surmise, however that mid-to-long term incapacitation may occur from skin and eye burns, pulmonary injury, and systemic illness. The eye lesions produced by lewisite are particularly serious: blindness will follow contamination of the eye with liquid lewisite unless decontamination is prompt.<sup>340</sup>

# Cyanide, Hydrogen cyanide (HCN), AC

Although the scientific literature is full of studies describing the acute effects of cyanide exposure, most of these publications are limited to the description and mitigation of acute symptoms. Only a few case reports from any time period attempt follow-of discharged patients and discuss the long-term sequelae experienced by some survivors of cyanide exposure. Because neurological sequelae as a consequence of HCN exposure occurs in only one case report published between 7/2006 – 12/2015, it is discussed below.

Neurological impairments are the most frequently described long-term negative effects. A recent case report from Australia discusses the neurological deficits in a woman who attempted suicide by ingesting cyanide salts. Several days after admission and after the resolution of her acute physical symptoms, a psychiatric assessment showed marked impairment in episodic memory, particularly for day-to-day events. Neurological assessment was unremarkable and she displayed none of the symptoms: Parkinsonism, dystonia, or dyskenia sometimes described in survivors of cyanide exposure.<sup>341</sup> MRI-scan of the brain at 1-week post-injury showed extensive long repetition time (TR) high signal and restricted diffusion in the hippocampus and globus pallidus bilaterally. These changes from normal architecture were considered consistent with anoxic brain injury. Memory deficits, visual recall difficulties and mild problems concentrating and dividing attention continued after transfer to a mental health facility three weeks after admission.

A repeat assessment five months later showed a general improvement in intellectual ability and in registration of verbally presented material (which were then assessed at a low-average level). Her ability to learn new verbal information, as well as her visual recall had also improved in the later assessment, although they remained at an impaired level. A second MRI-scan showed decreased high signal in the hippocampi, suggestive of resolution of acute edema noted in the first scan. In the follow-up MRI, the hippocampi were also noted to appear more atrophic.<sup>340</sup>

Although cyanide exposure is associated with severe acute cardiovascular symptoms, such as ventricular fibrillation, cardiac arrest, cardiac rhythm and repolarization disorders, and intracardiac conduction disorders, these problems either lead to the death of the patient, or apparently resolve before discharge.<sup>342</sup> No reports on long-term cardiac sequelae following cyanide exposure were found.

#### Phosgene Oxime (CX)

Despite severe acute effects, there is no specific information available about the long-term sequelae that may arise as a consequence of exposure to CX.
If an individual survives an offensive attack with phosgene oxime, the long-term negative effects may be *hypothesized* based on the acute effects. Keratitis and pigment problems may follow mild-to-moderate dermal exposure, with the potential for peripheral neurological sequelae seen in cases of high-dose exposure.

Mild-to-moderate inhalation exposure may produce respiratory disability that will resolve in weeks to months, with higher-dose exposures producing permanent respiratory disability such as shortness of breath, wheezing, easy fatigability, and a possible predisposition to lung diseases such as bronchitis and COPD, etc. Ocular exposures will likely lead corneal scarring that may or may not resolve over time. High-dose exposures to the eyes will almost certainly lead to vision problems or permanent blindness. Since there is no treatment for the symptoms of phosgene oxime, the amount and quality of supportive therapy, pre-existing health status of the patient, and potential relevant genetic polymorphisms may influence the development of long-term negative symptoms following exposure.

## 2.7 Environmental Pollutants and Toxic Compounds

Table 12. Environmental Pollutants with No Evidence
for Long-Term Sequelae
Nitrogen dioxide
Propylene glycol

## Nitrogen dioxide

In recent years there have been a number of studies linking NO<sub>2</sub> exposure to a wide variety of serious illnesses including cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, diabetes, and some cancers. However, most of these studies are based on long-term (sometimes lifetime) exposures, and so they are not relevant to the potential development of sequelae experienced by soldiers in the short-term human exposure trials conducted by the military in the 1950s through the 1970s. There are, however, a number of *short-term exposure* studies that have found increases in mortality from a variety of causes linked to short-term increases in nitrogen dioxide in the air. Although none of these studies discuss the potential for long-term sequelae *per se*, a summary of the most notable studies follows.

As part of the China Air Pollution and Health Effects Study (CAPES) study, Chen and colleagues found that small increases in NO<sub>2</sub> levels were associated with increased mortality in 17 Chinese cities.<sup>343</sup> In the combined analysis, a  $10-\mu g/m^3$  increase in two-day moving averaged NO<sub>2</sub> was associated with a 1.63% increase [95% posterior interval (PI), 1.09 to 2.17] in total mortality, a

1.80% increase (95% PI, 1.00 to 2.59) in cardiovascular mortality, and a 2.52% increase (95% PI, 1.44 to 3.59) increase in respiratory-related mortality.<sup>342</sup> These associations remained significant after adjustment for ambient particles or sulfur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>), indicating the specific role of NO<sub>2</sub> in increased mortality. Mortality also varied with age (higher in older individuals), sex (higher in females), and educational attainment (higher in those of lower socioeconomic backgrounds), but these relationships were not statistically significant.<sup>342</sup> These results are similar to those found in the Air Pollution on Health: a European Approach (APHEA)-2 project which examined the relationship between NO<sub>2</sub> levels and total, cardiovascular and respiratory mortality in 30 European cities.<sup>344</sup> The Public Health and Air Pollution in Asia (PAPA) study also found an excess total mortality of 1.19%, for each 10  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> increase in NO<sub>2</sub> in three Chinese cities (Hong Kong, Shanghai, and Wuhan).<sup>345</sup>

A recent meta-analysis of mortality and air pollution (NO<sub>2</sub> levels) in 17 Chinese cities found an excess risk for total mortality of 1.30% (95% CI: 1.19, 1.41) for each 10  $\mu$ g/m3 increase in NO<sub>2</sub>. Cardiovascular mortality was increased by 1.46% (95% CI: 1.27, 1.64), and respiratory mortality increased by 1.62% (95% CI: 1.32, 1.92) with similar short-term increases in NO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>346</sup> Another recent meta-analysis of air pollution levels and cardiovascular disease mortality found a 1.30% (95% CI: 0.45, 2.14) increase in coronary heart disease deaths in 8 Chinese cities with a 10  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> increase in NO<sub>2</sub> levels.<sup>347</sup>

Although all of the short-term exposure studies described above use mortality as an endpoint, there is a small but significant relationship between increased mortality and increases in air pollution (NO<sub>2</sub>) in a wide-variety of geographic settings. Although specific data on the role of NO<sub>2</sub> in the potential development of long-term sequelae are lacking at this time there seems to be an exacerbation of existing (even if undiagnosed) conditions by short-term increases in outdoor air pollution.

#### **Propylene glycol**

Acute propylene glycol toxicity sometimes occurs in hospital situations with continued intravenous infusion of medications and some antibiotics, because of the presence of PPGs in the intravenous solution.<sup>348</sup> Although this toxicity can have serious symptoms (significant hypotension, lactic acidosis, and decreased renal function), symptoms resolve when infusion is stopped, and exposure produces no long-term sequelae.<sup>349</sup>

Recent reviews and meta-analyses of the toxic effect of propylene glycols in electronic cigarettes is inconclusive about how harmful inhaled PPGs are.<sup>350,351</sup> Some studies report negative respiratory effects, such as mouth and throat irritation and the development of a dry cough, and other studies do not. To some degree, this variability of data is caused by methodological problems in the studies, including a lack of long-term follow-up of subjects. Additionally, some studies are sponsored by e-cigarette manufacturers.<sup>352</sup>

Kienhuis and colleagues recently found that one puff (50-70 mL) of a "shisha-pen" e-cigarette results in an exposure to propylene glycol of 430 to 603 mg/m<sup>3</sup>. This single puff produces exposure concentrations higher than the points of departure for human airway irritation, which have been estimated to be 309 mg/m<sup>3</sup>.<sup>353</sup> Additionally, most e-cigarette studies do not examine the health effects of the products with prolonged use. This is a significant gap because a historical animal study showed that repeated exposure (6 h per day; 5 days per week) for 90 days at 1,000 and 2,200 mg/m<sup>3</sup> caused *irreversible* respiratory damage.<sup>354</sup>

Historical research generally concludes that the propylene glycols are not genotoxic or carcinogenic, and they do not cause developmental abnormalities or sensitization.<sup>355</sup> A recent study from Sweden by Choi and colleagues, however, found higher indoor levels of propylene glycols are associated with a 1.5-fold greater likelihood of asthma (95% CI, 1.0 - 2.3), 2.8-fold greater likelihood of rhinitis (95% CI, 1.6 - 4.7), and 1.6-fold greater likelihood of eczema (95% CI, 1.1 - 2.3) in children.<sup>354</sup> These increased risks for disease remain after adjustment for a wide variety of other factors which include but are not limited to gender, secondhand smoke, parental allergies, and wet cleaning with chemical agents. These researchers propose a novel hypothesis that propylene glycols in indoor air exacerbate or induce the multiple allergic symptoms such as asthma, rhinitis, and eczema, as well as IgE sensitization.<sup>356</sup>

# 2.8 Barbituates, Stimulants, & Antidepressants

Table 13. Barbituates, Stimulants and Antidepressantswith No Evidence for Long-Term Sequelae
Amobarbital
Phenobarbital
MDMA
Iproniazid

## Amobarbital

Amobarbital is generally regarded as safe. A small number of case reports were found that discuss seizure or stroke during intracarotid amobarbital dosing,<sup>357,358</sup> but analysis of these publications suggest that these events are procedure-related and not substance-related.

There were some papers on the negative neurobehavioral effects on children born to women who used or abused the drug during pregnancy, but these were not thought to be relevant to the demographics of the volunteers in the historical military-sponsored human trials.

#### Phenobarbital

Studies have implicated phenobarbital in the development of a number of adverse reactions, some of which were acute and transient like cutaneous reactions<sup>359</sup> and eosinophilia with systemic symptoms (DRESS).<sup>360</sup> Although these events can sometimes be severe, symptoms generally resolve when medication is stopped, and they are not associated with long-term sequelae.

A national-level study in Taiwan also implicated several anti-epileptic drugs with acute hypothyroidism.<sup>360</sup> Using the Taiwan National Health Insurance Research Database (NHIRD) from 2004 to 2010, Lai and colleagues found that the adjusted sequence ratio of thyroxine use after any anti-epileptic drug was 1.75 (99% C: 1.58–1.94), and 1.21 (99% CI: 1.08–1.34) for phenobarbital.<sup>361</sup> Despite the serious effects of hypothyroidism, these adverse events were acute and not chronic or long term.

Phenobarbital use has also been linked with other adverse events with more serious and longterm consequences, such as the development of liver cancer.<sup>362</sup> This relationship is particularly strong in some historical studies. A long-term Danish cohort study found a more than threefold excess risk of any liver cancer in patients who took phenobarbital.<sup>363</sup> This study by Olsen and colleagues found relative risks (RRs) of 4.7 [95% confidence interval (CI) 3.2–6.8] of liver cancer and 2.2 (95% CI 1.2–3.5) of biliary tract cancers. More recent studies, however, have concluded that such apparently-high excess risks could be largely or completely attributed to the use of thorotrast, a contrast medium used in the past in epileptic patients for cerebral angiography.<sup>364</sup> Thorotrast is a known hepatic carcinogen, and when the thorotrast-treated cases were removed from the Danish sample, the association between phenobarbital and liver cancer was no longer significant.

Additionally, the US Food and Drug Administration released a review in 2008 that reported a 2fold increased risk of suicidal ideation or behavior for 11 anti-epileptic drugs that include phenobarbital (odds ratio, OR, 1.80, 95% confidence interval, Cl, 1.24–2.66).<sup>365</sup> This study has been criticized as methodologically unsound (i.e., it grouped anti-epileptic medications with very different mechanisms of action and associated relative risks) by a number of authors, <sup>366,367</sup> and no association between suicide and phenobarbital is recognized today. A major meta-analysis by Zhang and colleagues performed using the Cochrane Central Register of randomized controlled trials (1800-2009), Medline (1966-2009), Embase (1966-2009), and three Chinese databases found that the data did not demonstrate any evidence of association between phenobarbital and a higher risk of adverse events.<sup>368</sup> However, they did find that phenobarbital appeared to be associated with a higher rate of adverse drug reaction related with-drawal (ADR-related withdraw), when compared to carbamazepine, valproic acid and phenytoin.

#### MDMA

Animal studies have demonstrated that MDMA use produces long-term changes in the brain's serotonergic system. A study by Kirilly and colleagues using rats showed that a *single* MDMA exposure produced significant (20–40%), widespread reductions in serotonin transporter (5-HTT)-IR fiber density in most investigated brain areas at 7 and 21 days. This occurred in all regions of the cerebral cortex, and hippocampus, several nuclei of the hypothalamus, and some cell groups of the brainstem. Recovery of serotonergic neuronal density to normal by the end of the 180-day observation period was seen in most brain areas except the hippocampus.<sup>369</sup> In addition to neuronal damage, significant decreases in REM latency were found in the rats at 7 (-55%) and 21 (-53%) days after MDMA administration.

Interestingly, *pretreatment* with MDMA three weeks *prior* to the experiment produced significant long term decreases in 5-HTT-IR fiber density in brain areas involved in the regulation of aggression 21 days after MDMA administration. The animals showed a significant increase in kicking (H=18.912, p=0.010) and a small decrease in grooming ((H=24.473, p=0.008) and social behavior (H=24.340, p=0.006). <sup>368</sup>

Although, many of the alterations in the serotonergic system observed by Kirilly returned to normal by the end of the observation period, it is important to note that the rats received only *a single dose* of MDMA. With multiple or habitual dosing, changes may persist of longer periods of time, or may be permanent.<sup>368</sup>

Brain neuroimaging studies have suggested that *human* MDMA users may also have long-lasting changes in brain function consistent with decreased serotonin transporter density.<sup>370</sup> Additionally, a study by Reneman investigated the effects of moderate and heavy MDMA use on several aspects of cognitive function. These researchers found that heavy and ex-MDMA users performed significantly poorer on memory function tasks than controls, but that moderate users had no memory deficits.<sup>371</sup> Neither the heavy nor the moderate user groups differed in performance on reaction time tests or on measures of attention and executive function relative to controls. The results of this study suggest that sporadic or moderate MDMA use produces no long-term sequelae.

#### Iproniazid

Iproniazid was an MAO-inhibitor drug that was first labelled as an antidepressant in 1958, but was removed from major portions of the world market in 1961 because of its ability to induce hepatocellular injury and chronic hepatitis. Because it is rarely used today as an antidepressant, all of the publications found that discuss its association with liver injury were published before July 2006 – the early cutoff date for information in this report. Even the recent reviews of that explore the association between medications and liver problems;<sup>372</sup> only cite iproniazid-related papers from the 1970s and early 1980s.

# 2.9 Miscellaneous Drugs and Diagnostic Substances

#### Phenazone

Phenazone is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug used as an analgesic and antipyretic. It is a commonly used drug and generally regarded as safe. None of the databases consulted had recent publications linking it to toxicity, adverse effects, or sequelae.

#### Indocyanine green

Indocyanine green (ICG) is a cyanine dye used in medical diagnostics. It is also commonly used to improve the visualization of preretinal tissues during repair of macular holes or chromovitrectomy. The most common long-term sequelae resulting from the use of indocyanine green is found in ophthalmological surgery; ICG has been found to be toxic to the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE). Surgical observation has suggested that the toxic effect of ICG on the retina is dose-dependent.<sup>373</sup> Indeed, a comparative test of the effect of ICG and other contrast dyes on retinal cell lines at five different concentrations (1, 0.5, 0.25, 0.05, and 0.005 mg/mL) found that ICG significantly reduced cell viability after 3 minutes of exposure at all concentrations (p<0.01). Additionally, the expression of pro-apoptotic *Bax, cytochrome-c* and *caspase-9* were upregulated at the mRNA and protein level after ICG exposure.<sup>374</sup>

ICG-related damage to the retina has long been thought to result in lower visual acuity than expected after surgery.<sup>375,376</sup> For example, a study from Korea showed that indocyanine greenrelated RPE atrophy in an elderly woman resulted in best-corrected visual acuity of 20/63 in the right eye and 20/125 in the left eye. However, a recent meta-analysis from China suggest that ICG only slows the *rate* of vision recovery, and that visual acuity between the ICG treated group and the non-ICG treated group is only lower for the first year after surgery.<sup>377</sup>

#### Aminohippuric acid (PAH)

Aminohippuric acid (PAH) is generally regarded as safe. None of the databases consulted had any recent publications on potential toxicity, adverse effects, or sequelae.

## Bromsulphthalein (BSP)

Bromsulphthalein (BSP) is generally regarded as safe. BSP is a commonly used contrast dye that is safe. None of the databases consulted had any recent publications on potential toxicity, adverse effects, or sequelae.

## 2.10 Miscellaneous Other Compounds

Table 15. Miscellaneous Other Compounds with No Evi- dence for Long-Term Sequelae
12202
Pyridine
CS Arsenic
5-HTP
Octylamine
Chloropicrin

#### 12202

No references could be found for this compound. Even after many searches like 12202 AND Chemical Warfare OR Edgewood. If further information can be provided, references will be identified and evaluated during the revision phase of the project.

## Pyridine

Most references on pyridines that have been published after 7/1/2006 have to do with pyridine compounds as treatments for a wide-variety of illnesses from allergies to cancer. There is also a robust literature on biomarkers and detection. The important work on toxicology, adverse effects and sequelae is very old and beyond the range of this report.

## **CS** Arsenic

No recent information could be found in any open-source database on the CS-Arsenic compound.

#### 5-HTP

The most common adverse effects of 5-HTP include nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. These effects are probably due to the conversion of 5-HTP to serotonin in the periphery, and subsequent increases in gut motility.<sup>378</sup> Less commonly, headache, insomnia, and palpitations can occur. Gastrointestinal effects are usually moderate and often lessen or disappear once a steady dosage is achieved. Intravenous administration of 200 to 300 mg of 5-HTP can induce

confusion, memory impairment, and symptoms of behavioral activation (primarily anxiety). However, none of these effects is long-term and generally resolve when dosing stops.

It is worth noting that over-the-counter sales of the 5-HTP precursor amino acid L-tryptophan caused an epidemic of eosinophilia myalgia syndrome (EMS) that affected over 1,500 people and caused at least 38 deaths in 1989-1990.<sup>379</sup> The cause of this outbreak was found to be contaminants in the L-tryptophan that were traced to a single manufacturer in Japan. The FDA subsequently banned the sale of over-the-counter L-tryptophan, and a swift resolution of the EMS epidemic followed.

Since the introduction of 5-HTP onto the nutritional supplement market, a handful of cases of EMS-like illness have been reported in people taking the supplement.<sup>380</sup> These cases sparked fears that 5-HTP might also cause EMS. However, none of the cases has been definitively linked to 5-HTP, despite 20 years of use.<sup>381</sup>

## Octylamine

No recent references were found for the potential long-term negative health effects of octylamine in any of the databases searched.

## Chloropicrin

A 2009 review of accidental agricultural exposures that took place in California between 1992 and 2003 found many reports of acute illness among people exposed to chloropicrin, but no long-term sequelae resulting from acute exposures.<sup>382</sup> The 28 incidents reviewed in this paper resulted in 318 reports of illness associated from off-site or drift chloropicrin exposure. The most common complaints of those exposed were eye irritation (280 cases; 88.1%), respiratory irritation (173 cases; 54.4%), and systemic illness such as headache or nausea (149 cases; 46.9%).<sup>381</sup> Skin irritation was reported by only five people (1.6%). All of the symptoms experienced by the people exposed to chloropicrin in these events resolved, and there were no reported long-term effects or sequelae.<sup>381</sup> Similar acute symptoms were experienced by people exposed to chloropicrin in 2005 in Salinas, California, with no resulting long-term illnesses.<sup>383</sup>

# 3.0 Military Exposures and Health Outcomes

From the 1950s through the mid-1970s, thousands of U.S. service members were exposed to chemical and biological agents through a series of human-exposure experiments.<sup>2</sup> The tests took place across several branches of service and were focused on developing defensive chemical warfare capabilities such as tests of protective clothing, respiratory masks, and the impact of various agents on the operational readiness of military personnel. Tests were done on "soldier volunteers" and generally involved one or two exposures to a single agent. However, participants were often involved in multiple experiments with different agents. Most experiments began with "range finding" doses, followed by doses estimated as acute but safe.<sup>2</sup>

Although these programs were interested in short-term effects, thousands of veteran participants have recently voiced concerns about the possible long-term health consequences of these exposures.<sup>1,2</sup> Clinical evaluation of potential long-term health effects has been difficult in many cases because the lack of adequate test records and the lack of continuous health histories of participants. <sup>1,2,3</sup>

Despite the lack of completeness in the test records from exposure experiments, several reviews of the health of veterans who participated in these exposure experiments have been conducted by the National Research Council/National Academies of Science (NAS) and the Institute of Medicine. Additionally, studies related to relevant exposures were also evaluated for potential chronic effects of exposure. The findings of these studies are summarized in more detail below.

# **3.1 Biological Agents and Vaccines**

The U.S. Department of Defense conducted two separate tests called Operation Whitecoat and Project Shipboard Hazard and Defense (SHAD) to evaluate human vulnerability to biological warfare agents.

## **Operation Whitecoat**

Operation Whitecoat began in 1954 with mostly Seventh-Day Adventist (SDA) draftees who were trained as medics but whose religious convictions forbade combat.<sup>3, 384</sup> Over 2,300 SDA volunteers participated in these studies. An estimated 150 studies were conducted to clarify the disease processes and to develop and test vaccines. The biological agents tested, included: Q fever (*Coxiella burnetti*), *Francisella tularensis* (tularemia), Pseudomonas endotoxin, Staphylococcus aureus enterotoxin B (SEB), Venezuelan Equine Encephalitis virus and sandfly fever.

Vaccines against plague (*Yersinia pestis*), Adenovirus, Yellow Fever, Rift Valley Fever and Chikungunya were also tested (See Table 1.)

An assessment of self-reported health effects among 358 volunteers who served in Operation Whitecoat was conducted in 2005 by Pittman and collegues.<sup>1</sup> This study found no conclusive, statistically significant evidence of adverse health effects of exposure to investigational agents. There was a slightly higher frequency of asthma among subjects exposed to antibiotics or other inactive substances compared to control subjects. A borderline higher frequency of asthma and headaches were also reported among subjects exposed to tularemia vaccines.<sup>1</sup> Several limitations of the study were reported. Due to the small sample size of the study population, statistical associations were difficult to conclude. There was also a lack of laboratory studies and medical record reviews. Further confounding the study were volunteers having multiple exposures

<b>Biological Agents and Vaccines</b>	Program	Year(s)
Pseudomonas endotoxin	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
Sand-Fly Fever	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
VEE	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
VEE Vaccines	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
EEE Vaccines	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
WEE Vaccines	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
Yersinia pestis (Plague Vaccine)	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
Adenovirus Vaccine	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
Yellow-Fever Vaccine	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
Rift Valley Fever Vaccine	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
Chikungunya Vaccine	Whitecoat	1954 – 1973
Coxiella burnetii (Q-fever)	SHAD (Shady Grove)	1964 – 1965
Francisella tularensis (wet and dry)	SHAD (Red Cloud & Watch	1966 – 1967
	Dog); Whitecoat	
Francisella tularensis (Schu 4)	SHAD (Shady Grove)	1964 – 1965
Plasmodium vivax (vivax malaria)*	Stateville Penitentiary (US	1940s
	Army, State Department, U	
	Chicago)	
Staphylococcus aureus enterotoxin B (SEB)	SHAD (DTC 68-50); Whitecoat	1968
Salmonella typhi (Typhoid Fever)		
Rocky Mountain Spotted Fever		
Clostridium botulinum (Botulism)		

#### Table 16. Biological Agents and Vaccines Tested on US Military Personnel

\* This trial was conducted by a consortium that included the US Army, but exposures were done on prisoners, not on US military personnel. Credit Pittman (1), Brown (3)

to different agents, making statistical associations of poor-health outcomes to specific agents challenging.

#### **Biological Weapons and Countermeasures Program at Fort Detrick, Maryland**

Pittman and colleagues also conducted an assessment of long-term health effects of multiple vaccine exposures in a group of 155 multiply immunized individuals who participated in a biological weapons and countermeasures program between 1943 and 1969.<sup>385</sup> Participants were not military members but were employees, such as lab technicians, at Fort Detrick, Maryland. Pittman's study of these individuals involved both self-reported health effects and laboratory findings. Although this study did not involve military members, it does address some of the confounding factors seen in the Project Whitecoat assessment, such as multiple exposures and lack of laboratory studies.

No association was found between multiple vaccinations and disease; however, statistically significant changes in blood chemistry (serum calcium, serum bicarbonate, and percent thyroxine uptake) and hematology (mean corpuscular hemoglobin, mean corpuscular volume, and mean platelet volume) were identified.<sup>384</sup> None of these abnormalities were clinically significant or in support of the diagnosis of disease. Fatigue was the only self-reported symptom of statistical significance but was not associated with number of injections, number of vaccines, or time in the program.<sup>384</sup> The most significant finding of this study was the increase in prevalence of monoclonal proteins. These immunological proteins are produced by plasma cells and usually do not indicate disease; however, they can sometimes progress to disease over time, including some forms of blood cancer.<sup>384</sup> Although further descriptions of this condition were lacking, the authors note that further investigations of this topic are important.

## Project Shipboard Hazard and Defense (SHAD)

Between 1962 and 1972, more than 5,800 military personnel participated in a series of tests as a part of the Department of Defense chemical and biological warfare defense program.<sup>2,386</sup> These tests, known as SHAD (Shipboard Hazard and Defense), were "designed to evaluate the effectiveness of shipboard detection and protective procedures against chemical, biological, or nuclear attacks." <sup>3</sup> Test ships and their crews were potentially exposed to agents such as Q-fever, tularemia, and Staphyloccus aureus enterotoxin B (See Table 16.)

In 1998, the Department of Veteran Affairs (VA) requested that the Institute of Medicine (IOM) review the entire medical and scientific literature on long-term health effects potentially related to project SHAD participation.<sup>387</sup> The IOM had access to an abundant scientific literature, published over more than five decades, including significant data from human experimentation. The IOM literature review found the following potential health effects for biological agents *Coxiella burnetti* (Q fever), *Francisella tularensis* (tularemia), & Staphyloccus aureus enterotoxin B.<sup>390</sup>

- 1) *Coxiella burnetti* literature indicated long-term health effects include self-limited or isolated febrile illness, pneumonia, and hepatitis
- 2.) *Francisella tularensis* no significant demonstrated long-term or late developing effects found in the literature
- 3.) Staphyloccus aureus enterotoxin B exposure has been implicated in certain allergic diseases like atopic dermatitis, *psoriasis vulgaris*, vernal keratoconjunctivitis, and atopic keratoconjunctivitis. SEB has also been implicated in the induction of autoimmune diseases such as Graves' disease, arthritis, and even multiple sclerosis (MS).

Beyond the literature review, the VA requested an epidemiological study to evaluate the health risks among all Project SHAD veterans in 2002.<sup>386,3</sup> Health questionnaires were mailed to SHAD veterans with a 60.8% return rate for participants and 46.6% for controls. To determine outcomes by specific patterns of exposure, four groups (A – D) were defined. Group C was the only group with potential exposure to active agents and thus the primary focus for this literature review. The study found no clinically significant patterns of ill health; however, SHAD veterans reported more symptoms and worse overall health than controls.<sup>386,3</sup> The study also found a statistically significant rate of respiratory conditions and neurodegenerative disease. Most of the neurodegenerative conditions were unspecified, making causality difficult to assign.<sup>386</sup> SHAD veterans also had a statistically significantly higher risk of death due to heart disease. The study was unable to find any cardiovascular risk factor data or biological plausibility to interpret this difference.<sup>386</sup>

In 2005, Kang and colleagues conducted a follow-up of SHAD veterans to assess mortality.<sup>385</sup> This study identified 4,927 SHAD participants and 10,947 non-SHAD veteran controls. Heart disease was the only cause-specific risk of mortality found among SHAD veterans.<sup>384</sup> The study also suggested that the increase was not specifically associated with exposure to active agents.

# **3.2 Anticholinesterases**

Anticholinesterases were tested in a U.S. Army set of experiments at Edgewood Arsenal in Maryland. The Department of Defense also tested some nerve agents as part of their Project Shipboard Hazard and Defense.

#### U.S. Army experiments at Edgewood/Aberdeen

From 1955 to 1975, the U.S. Army conducted a series of experiments at Edgewood Arsenal, Maryland. These tests involved hundreds of chemical agents including several anticholinesterase agents. Approximately 1,400 volunteers were exposed to anticholinesterases including sarin (n=246), VX (n=740), tabun (n=26), cyclosarin (n=21), soman (n=83), DFP (n=11), and Malathion (n=10) at Edgewood/Aberdeen.<sup>388</sup> The dosage of each agent was determined by animal potency studies and subthreshold does were used for the first few test subjects. As the effects of lower doses were determined, the doses were increased and subjects were randomly assigned a low or high dose.<sup>387</sup> Subjects were also exposed through several routes such as intramuscular, intravenous, or inhalation. The intramuscular and intravenous studies rarely exceeded 1.5 times the incapacitating dose whereas inhalation doses were higher.

In 1980, the Department of Defense requested that an independent evaluation of the longterm health effects among the Edgewood/Aberdeen subjects be conducted by the National Research Council (NRC). According to the 1982 National Research Council review of the Edgewood/Aberdeen experiments, experimental subjects reportedly showed a wide range of symptoms consistent with *acute* cholinergic toxicity, including dizziness, frontal headache, blurred vision, lethargy, nausea, stomach pain, vomiting, rhinorrhea, chest tightness, wheezing, fasciculations, sweating on hands and feet, and significantly decreased red blood cell cholinesterase levels.<sup>387</sup> The 1982 NRC review of experiments involving exposure to anticholinesterases inhibitors concluded that there was no firm evidence that any of the anticholinergic test compounds surveyed produced long-term adverse human health effects in the doses used at Edgewood Arsenal.<sup>387</sup>

"On the basis of available data, in the judgment of the panel, it is unlikely that administration of these anticholinergic compounds will have long-term toxicity effects or delayed sequelae." NRC, 1982

## Project Shipboard Hazard and Defense (SHAD)

Between 1962 and 1972, as part of the SHAD project, 5,800 military personnel were exposed to select anticholinesterase and anticholinergic chemicals on a volunteer basis. Sarin and VX were the main chemical warfare agents that the men were exposed to.

As part of their 1998 review of the test information, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) focused efforts on sarin, but wrote that their findings are applicable to related organophosphate anticholinesterases, especially those in the G-series of traditional CWAs. For organophosphorus (OP) nerve agents as a class, including military agents and related pesticides, four distinct health effects were found:

- Acute cholinergic toxicity.
- Reversible muscular weakness known as "intermediate syndrome."
- Organophosphate-induced delayed neuropathy (OPIDN).
- Subtle long-term neuropsychological and neurophysiological effects (COPIND).<sup>4</sup>

#### **Gulf-War Exposures**

In addition to the data from the original anticholinesterase human-exposure tests, increasing evidence suggests excess illness in Persian Gulf War veterans (GWV) can be explained in part by exposure to organophosphate and carbamate acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, including pesticides, nerve agents, and the nerve-agent symptom preventative pyridostigmine bromide (PB). Pesticides (including some organophosphates) were aggressively used in an effort to control vector-borne disease, and the Department of Defense (DoD) has estimated at least 41,000 service members may have had overexposure to pesticides.<sup>389</sup> Additionally, an estimated 250,000 servicemen received PB as a pretreatment to potential exposure to CWAs.<sup>388</sup> Potential nerve agent exposure most likely occurred during the destruction of ammunitions depots such as the one at Khamisiyah in 1991.<sup>388</sup> This site was later found to have housed chemical agent munitions that contained sarin and cyclosarin.<sup>390</sup> Small amounts of these agents were released into the atmosphere during the demolition.<sup>389</sup>

Veterans who exhibited reduced intellectual functioning, confusion, vestibular ataxia/vertigo attacks, and occasional disorientation were epidemiologically connected with exposure to low-level chemical nerve agent in fallout from bombing of Iraqi ammunition depots and/or PB or personal pesticide use and misuse. Krengel and Sullivan found that most veterans suffering from Gulf War Syndrome (GWS) with lowered mean-reaction times and complaints about mood were a found to have high personal pesticide use AND PB use.<sup>391</sup> This same group of veterans also complained more about their health than others exposed to different combinations of agents. Specifically, they noted, stiffness, muscle pain and weakness, sleep disturbance, gastro-intestinal disturbances, and word-finding difficulties.<sup>390</sup>

In a ten-year follow-up of Gulf War Veterans, Toomey and colleagues, found that Gulf War deployment was associated with subtle declines of motor speed and sustained attention, despite overall intact neuropsychological functioning.<sup>392</sup> In addition to concluding that toxicant exposures influence both these functions, these researchers found that attention was worst in those also reporting depressive symptoms.<sup>391</sup> Subsequent neuroimaging studies of Gulf War Veterans indicate that there may be a nucleus of Gulf War veterans suffering from variants of a chronic encephalopathy related to different combinations of abnormal resting metabolism and cholinergic responsiveness of neurons in deep brain structures.<sup>393,394</sup> Additionally, recent research has provided evidence that low dose exposure to acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, including sarin, pyridostigmine bromide, and DEET, has long-term negative impacts on the memory - specifically due to hippocampal dysfunction.<sup>395</sup> Lastly, there is the possibility that low-level sarin exposure in the Gulf War led to increased susceptibility to sarin toxicity through decreased hydrolyzation of the agent. The mechanism of this increased susceptibility is proposed to be low blood activity of the Q isoenzyme of PON1 paraoxonase/arylesterase.

Despite these efforts to determine the cause of the complex, multi-symptom syndrome suffered by some Gulf War Veterans, documentation about exposure to organophosphate anticholinesterases is lacking or confusing (multiple exposures to different agents), which makes it difficult to link the symptoms to specific exposures.<sup>396</sup>

## 3.3 Anticholinergics

Anticholinergics were among the agents tested in the U.S. Army experiments at Edgewood Arsenal in Maryland. A total of 1,752 US servicemen took part in the human-exposure trials of anticholinergic compounds. These men received 2,614 exposures, which required some men to receive multiple exposures, sometimes with different compounds (See Table 17).

Test records indicate that experimental subjects reportedly showed a wide range of symptoms consistent with *acute* toxicity, including dizziness, lethargy, confusion, combativeness, mood disorders, and hallucinations shortly after exposure.<sup>387</sup>

However, long-term or delayed effects of exposures were rare, and were documented.<sup>387</sup> One person experienced flashbacks while still at Edgewood Arsenal after receiving intravenous EA 3834.<sup>397</sup> Additionally, accidental exposures of two laboratory personnel to EA 3167, resulted in mild, but nontrivial, impairment of cognitive function for 6-to-12 months after exposure. After this time, an apparent full recovery ensued. <sup>396</sup>

When the National Research Council reviewed the Edgewood/Aberdeen human exposure experiments in 1982, they concluded that:

No firm evidence has been seen that any of the anticholinergic test compounds surveyed produced long-range adverse human health effects in the doses used at Edgewood Arsenal. On the basis of available data, in the judgment of the panel, it is unlikely that administration of these anticholinergic compounds will have long-term toxicity effects or delayed sequelae.

Tox Number	Agent code	No. volunteers	Total exposures*
B1	BZ (EA-2277)	292	358
B2	EA-3443	101	101
B3	EA-3580	130	133
B4	Scopolamine	534	636
B5	Atropine	444	738
B6	EA-3167	2	4
B7	Ditran	9	13
B8	EA-4929 (benzetimide)	18	18
B9	27349	50	50
B10	226,086	21	21
B11	302,196	52	56
B12	301,060	29	29
B13	302,282	8	8
B14	302,368	5	5
B15	302,537	18	18
B16	302,668	39	39
B18	Benactyzine	16	26
B21	M-Scopolamine	72	114
B22	M-Atro; (atropine methyl	18	50
	nitrate)		
B23	EA-3834	144	173
B25	ТАВ	24	24

As part of the National Research Council's review of the human exposures tests, a survey was devised for self-reporting of health status.<sup>4</sup> More than eighty percent of the veterans who received a survey completed it, and of the respondents exposed to anticholinergic agents, almost ninety percent reported no health problems related to experimental exposures, and seventy-nine percent reported good-to-excellent health.<sup>4</sup>

The NRC also notes that data is lacking on many of the anticholinergic compounds tested to determine whether the substance is the cause of longer-term health effects such as flashbacks and transient cognitive impairment.<sup>4</sup> They also note that subjects were not kept under longterm observation to determine if the compounds indeed had delayed or prolonged effects. There are no recent studies examining the long-term effects of anticholinergics specifically on military populations, so a comparison between the historical analyses and more recent ones cannot be made.

# 3.4 LSD, Other Classical Hallucinogens, & Lysergamides

From 1955 through 1967, the U.S. Army Chemical Corps and the U.S. Intelligence Corps conducted human experiments with LSD.<sup>398</sup> There were 741 soldiers recorded as exposed to LSD. Subjects were given between one and five doses ranging from 0.4 to 75 micrograms per kilogram each. Most (63%) subjects were given only one dose which averaged 1.0 to 1.5 micrograms per kilogram.

## US Army Medical Department Analysis

In 1978, the US Army Medical Department conducted a follow-up study to evaluate the 741 individuals who were "believed to have received LSD in Army experiments".<sup>397</sup> Health evaluations were done to identify possible long-term health effects for 220 exposed subjects. An additional 100 subjects were evaluated using a "Health History Questionnaire" after declining medical examination. A matched control group was not obtained due, in part, to the bias in initial volunteer selection. The LSD subjects were not a random selection of the Army population due to strict physical and psychological screening. These subjects were also of higher intelligence and greater overall health than the average Army soldier or the general population. Additionally, many of the subjects were involved in other experiments, exposing them to more than one chemical/biological agent and further confounding agent-specific long-term health impacts.<sup>397, 3</sup>

Of the 320 subjects evaluated, 281 were positively identified as having received LSD.<sup>397</sup> Of the 320 LSD subjects evaluated, 76 (24%) reported one or more long-term adverse reactions to LSD exposure. Flashbacks were the most common adverse reaction followed by somatic complaints, depression, personality changes, and anxiety. Less common reactions included nightmares, paranoid ideation, dissociative episodes, phobia, memory loss, drug abuse, and psychosis. <sup>397,3</sup>

 Flashbacks. At the time of this medical follow-up, flashbacks were thought to be one of the most common adverse effects of hallucinogen use.<sup>399</sup> Twenty-seven (8%) out of 320 subjects reported flashbacks. Most subjects reported that the onset of flashbacks occurred within the two years of LSD exposure. The reported flashbacks were similar to those described in other LSD literature of the time with the exception of their unusual persistence. Flashbacks continued to the present time (18 years after LSD exposure) for more than 40% of subjects who reported flashbacks. The prevalence of flashbacks varied widely depending on the population studied.<sup>400,401</sup> Individuals administered in a therapeutic or volunteer research setting are less likely to have flashbacks than illicit LSD users.<sup>402</sup> Strassman attributed this lower incidence to a well-controlled environment: "individuals (both normal volunteers and patients) are carefully screened and prepared, supervised and followed-up, and given judicious dose of pharmaceutical quality drug." <sup>403</sup> Since this time population-level studies of hallucinogen users have found no adverse long-term sequelae associated with use.<sup>280,281,282</sup>

- Somatic complaints. Somatic complaints such as headache, weakness, shortness of breath, and allergies were reported as adverse effects from LSD exposure by 18 (6%) subjects. <sup>386</sup> Most somatic complaints were reported to have an onset two years post exposure. In most cases, the somatic complaints were attributed to other causes and commonly occur in healthy subjects with no chemical exposures.
- Depression. Depression was reported as an adverse effect of LSD exposure in 12 (4%) subjects.<sup>386</sup> The onset of depression ranged from a few days post exposure to several years. Although depression has previously been reported as a reaction to LSD<sup>404</sup>, the exposed veterans did not report an excess of depression greater than what is seen in the general population. The most severe outcome of depression is suicide. Cohen reported suicide as an adverse outcome related to LSD use; however, those cases were reported in a group of psychiatric patients undergoing therapy.<sup>403</sup> In this study, one subject who reported severe depression attempted suicide two years post exposure but remained asymptomatic after receiving psychotherapy. Suicide gesture or suicide ideation was reported for an additional 3 subjects who experienced depression.<sup>386</sup>
- Personality changes. Previous studies indicate that personality changes are a common self-reported adverse effect after LSD use.<sup>389,405</sup> In the Army follow-up study, seven (2%) subjects reported personality changes that they attributed to LSD exposure. Most reported negative changes such as social withdrawal, loss of interest in work, irritability, and aggressiveness. Positive personality changes (i.e., self-awareness, tolerance, etc.) were observed in two subjects. The pre-LSD psychological examinations where not available for review, making it difficult to compare and distinguish personality changes among LSD exposed subjects.
- Anxiety & nightmares. LSD ingestion is frequently followed by episodes of anxiety, especially in individuals with rigid, structured personalities where the threatened loss of self-

control causes severe stress.<sup>399,403,404</sup> Six (2%) subjects reported sporadic recurrent anxiety as well as prolonged constant increases in anxiety. None of the subjects reported anxiety severe enough to require hospitalization. Nightmares were also reported by five (2%) subjects. Due to the lack of information on LSD exposure and nightmares, they were suspected to be closely related to underlying anxiety.<sup>397</sup>

- Paranoia. Paranoia has been described as a short-term adverse reaction of LSD ingestion.<sup>403</sup> As with reports of anxiety after LSD exposure, paranoia is often reported in those individuals with rigid personalities that feel threatened by the loss of control.<sup>403</sup> In the review of Army studies, 4 (1%) subjects reported paranoid ideation as a long-term adverse reaction. Two of these subjects indicated that their paranoia resolved after several years post LSD exposure.
- Dissociative episodes & Memory loss. Dissociative episodes and/or memory loss are adverse reactions rarely mentioned in LSD literature; however, dissociative episodes were reported by five (2%) subjects and memory loss by four (1%). Dissociative episodes occurred anywhere from a few days post exposure to several years post exposure. The dissociative episodes in three subjects were triggered by alcohol. In two subjects, memory loss was attributed to the normal aging process.
- Phobic neurosis & Illicit drug use. These conditions are rarely discussed in the LSD literature. Two (>1%) subjects reported severe phobias after LSD ingestion that has persisted to the present time.<sup>397</sup> Although LSD is not known to be addicting,<sup>399</sup> two (>1%) subjects reported experimenting with other drugs as a result of LSD exposure.<sup>397</sup>
- Prolonged psychosis. Prolonged psychosis is one of the most common adverse reactions reported after LSD exposure and is estimated to occur in 0.8 per 1,000 experimental subjects.<sup>397,398</sup> In this study, only one subject reported prolonged psychosis as an adverse effect of LSD exposure. The subject required hospitalization where he was given tranquilizer medication to resolve symptoms.

#### National Research Council/National Academy of Sciences Analysis

In 1985, the National Research Council (NRC) conducted a health survey for soldiers involved with LSD experiments at Edgewood/Aberdeen.<sup>4</sup> In the 1980 US Army Medical Department follow-up study, 741 soldiers were believed to have received LSD;<sup>397</sup> however, only 571 were positively identified as having received the drug. Of the 571 soldiers who were identified as exposed to LSD, 317 (56%) responded to the National Research Council survey. The survey asked multiple health-related questions, and, based on the results, the LSD -exposed subjects did not differ significantly from controls in terms of total hospital admissions, admissions for malignant neoplasms, mental disorders, or current health status.<sup>4</sup> Overall, the NRC study was consistent with the findings of the 1980 Army LSD Follow-up study.<sup>3</sup> The NRC health survey did find a statistically significant increase in first admissions for nervous system and sense organ disorders.<sup>4</sup> It was noted that those admissions were small, and no LSD dose relationships were found. There was no evidence of an increase in suicide or epilepsy; however, subjects reported increased use of controlled substances subsequent to these experiments<sup>3,4</sup>

## 3.5 Oximes, Irritants, & Incapacitants

#### Oximes

The warfare potential of chemical agents grew rapidly during and after World War II.<sup>406</sup> Research on lethal nerve agents was quickly followed by the development of treatment methods.<sup>405</sup> Due to their effectiveness in treating organophosphate poisoning in animals, the U.S. Army tested oximes in soldier volunteers from 1958 to 1975 at Edgewood, Maryland.<sup>405</sup>

The three oximes Toxogonin, Trimedoxime (TMB-4), and, Pralidoxime methane sulfonate (P2S) were tested on a small number of subjects. Toxogonin was administered to 41 subjects either intravenously (0.5-1.0  $\mu$ g/kg or 60-128 mg infused with aminohippuric acid), orally (1-9 g), or intramuscularly (2.5-10 mg/kg). TMB-4 was administered to 32 subjects; however, the route and dose were not determined due to lack of data as well as subjects being given other potent drugs at the time of administration. P2S was administered to 95 subjects either intravenously (5 mg/kg), orally (2-9 g or 1-3g before nerve agent), or intramuscularly (1-2 g after nerve agent).

According to the 1984 National Research Council review of the Edgewood experiments, several acute symptoms were reported by test subjects including dry mouth, blurred vision, lethargy, tingling sensation, dizziness, eye discomfort, nausea, etc.<sup>405</sup> These symptoms were moderate and resolved within 24 hours in all but one subject. This is consistent with the finding that the oxime compounds are eliminated rapidly from the body, and adverse health effects are short-lived and reversible. The NRC review concluded that there was no firm evidence that any of the oxime test compounds studied produced long-term adverse health effects in the doses used. It

was also noted that there was very little research available; therefore, a conclusion was not reached regarding carcinogenicity, mutagenicity, teratogenicity, or reproductive anomalies associated with oximes.

## Irritants

Irritants, also called riot control agents, were used to dispel rioters in Paris before World War I and by French and German soldiers during that war. CA, CN, and DM were used in hand grenades, mortar rounds, and artillery shells for harassment and casualty functions.<sup>407</sup> After WWI, the United States Chemical Warfare Service focused on further developing "harassing agents" CN and DM followed later by CS. The United States used CS extensively in the Vietnam War to clear enemy personnel from congested areas and to prevent civilian casualties. The use of riot control agents in Vietnam didn't go without controversy. In early 1975, the United States acknowledged riot control agents as prohibited war gasses and renounced their use in Vietnam.

Riot control agents are still used worldwide by law enforcement agencies for the purpose of crowd and riot control as well as by military personnel in combat and training to simulate the efficacy of protective measures in event of chemical attack.<sup>406</sup> CN is also used in self-protecting devices labeled as Mace. In general, riot-control agents are designed to have a rapid onset of effects, produce a high degree of immediate disability, and require a short recovery time as soon as the rioters are dispersed from the area.<sup>406,408</sup> Several irritants were tested as part the US Department of Defense human exposure experiments as part of its chemical and biological warfare defense program in Edgewood, Maryland.<sup>405</sup> The tests focused on short-term effects on health; however, questions concerning their possible long-term effects have raised concerns.<sup>3,4</sup> The National Research Council conducted a review of the Edgewood experiments which is described below.

## Bromobenzyl cyanide (CA)

The lacrimatory chemical bromobenzyl cyanide (CA) was studied on 13 subjects at Edgewood in 1966. CA was studied due to its persistence in enclosed areas over lacrimators CS and CN.<sup>405</sup> CA exposure ranged from 0.9 to 204 mg-min/m3 for a time of 50 seconds to 10 minutes. Each subject was only exposed once, and they wore masks upon entry to the aerosol chamber until the CA concentration had equilibrated. Adverse effects such as ocular irritation followed by conjunctivitis and upper respiratory tract irritation with rhinorrhea were transient.<sup>405,3</sup> Laboratory analysis done for 12 subjects, 7 days after exposure, showed one subject with minimal leukocytosis (WBC 12,800) not seen before exposure.<sup>405,3</sup>

The National Research Council review of the Edgewood experiments found CA unlikely to produce long-term health effects after exposure at the doses and duration used at Edgewood. <sup>405</sup>

#### Chloroacetophenone (CN)

CN was tested on 99 subjects at Edgewood between 1958 and 1972. Subjects were exposed by either dermal application or by aerosol (they entered masked and removed the masks after CN concentration had equilibrated).<sup>405,3</sup> For aerosol-exposed subjects with known exposure data, concentrations ranged from 6-315 mg·min/m3 with exposure times between 0.15 seconds to 3.36 minutes.<sup>405</sup> Aerosol-exposed subjects were exposed between one and five times. The dermal exposed subjects, for whom exposure data was known, were given 0.01-0.025 ml of CN to their bare or clothed arms.<sup>405</sup> Adverse effects of aerosol exposure included ocular irritation, respiratory irritation, skin irritation, headache, and dizziness. Most symptoms were transient and resolved minutes after removal of the agent. Only one of the dermal exposed subjects experienced erythema that lasted 7 hours at exposure site.<sup>405,3</sup>

The National Research Council review of the Edgewood experiments found no evidence of lasting ocular or respiratory effects in subjects exposed to CN. Overall, exposures were short with low-doses and recovery was complete within minutes.<sup>405,3</sup>

#### Adamsite (Diphenylaminechloroarsine, DM)

Ninety-six subjects were exposed to DM aerosol at Edgewood in either 1958 or between 1966 and 1968. Subjects tested in 1958 underwent between one and five exposures; dose and exposure times ranged from 7.1 to 100 mg·min/m3 and 1 minute to 4 minutes 28 seconds respectively.<sup>405</sup> The subjects tested between 1966 and 1968 were only exposed once with a dose between 7.1-236 mg·min/m3 for 45 seconds to 10 minutes.<sup>405,3</sup> The most common adverse health effects were respiratory tract irritation including burning sensations of the respiratory passages, choking sensations, dysphonia, dyspnea, coughing, sneezing, and nausea<sup>405</sup> Most were transient and only lasted for a few hours after removal from the agent.

The National Research Council review of the Edgewood experiments found DM to have a greater acute toxicity to the respiratory tract than CS and CN.<sup>405,3</sup> Health effects were transient and subjects recovered quickly. The review stated that DM is unlikely to produce long-term health effects after exposure at the does and duration used at Edgewood.

#### Nonanoyl morpholide

Thirty-two subjects were exposed to nonanoyl morpholide in an aerosol chamber at Edgewood in 1958.<sup>405</sup> Some of the subjects wore protective masks during exposure. Exposures ranged from one to four times with duration of 10 seconds to 8 minutes. The doses were not known. Adverse health effects such as respiratory tract irritation, nausea, vomiting, and headache were

mostly transient; however, one subject experienced a headache for one-week post exposure.<sup>405,3</sup>

The National Research Council review of the Edgewood experiments concluded that no long-term health effects in subjects tested with nonanoyl morpholide would be expected. <sup>405,3</sup>

#### Chlorobenzylidene malononitrile (CS)

CS experimental tests were performed on human subjects from 1958 to 1973 at Edgewood. Tests included 1,073 subjects exposed to aerosolized CS, 180 subjects with skin applications, 82 subjects with skin and aerosol exposures, and 31 subjects underwent applications to their eyes.<sup>405</sup> There was a wide range of dosages used (from 0.03 to 345 mg·min/m3). Higher doses were used in tests of equipment. Complete experiment records were available for 105 CS test subjects representing a cross-section of CS protocols used. Adverse health effects due to CS exposure included lacrimation, eye irritation, upper respiratory passage irritation, chest constriction, and dyspnea.<sup>405,3</sup> No effects were noted in the skin application subjects for whom records were available.

Pre-exposure and post-exposure laboratory analyses were done on 72 subjects.<sup>405</sup> Laboratory abnormalities were noted in 11 subjects post-exposure. Seven subjects had urinary sediment containing 2-10 white cells per high-power field with no reports of a lower urinary tract source of white cells. Their post-exposure renal-function tests were normal. An additional 3 subjects had high serum glutamic-oxalacetic transaminase (112, 38, and 31 IU). In one subject, leukocy-tosis accompanied the marked increase in transaminase. Leukopenia was noted in one additional subject.

Two additional studies were conducted utilizing CN in conjunction with other chemical agents. Thirty-one subjects were exposed to either 0.1% or 0.25% CS in water with 0.5% polysorbate 20 or 0.05- 1.0% CS in tri-octyl phosphate in their right eye.<sup>405</sup> Subjects reported intense ocular irritation and lacrimation with one subject having corneal staining as seen with a slit lamp. All adverse effects resolved within 24 hours post exposure.

CS was also used to determine the effects of skin pigment on susceptibility to sensitization, sensitizing and irritating concentrations of CS, and cross-sensitization with CN.<sup>405</sup> Eighty-six skin applications of 0.01% and 0.1% CS were conducted.<sup>406</sup> The results of those applications were available for 45 cases and concluded that lighter skin subjects seemed more susceptible to sensitization and previously CS-sensitive subjects showed no cross-reactivity to CN. Primary irritation dermatitis was also noted for several subjects exposed to 0.1% CS but not to 0.01% CS. The National Research Council review of the Edgewood experiments concluded that repeat exposures to CS may cause allergic contact dermatitis and may induce idiosyncratic hepatitis or allergic pneumonitis; however, these effects seem reversible and not likely to become chronic in the absence of repeat exposures.<sup>405,3</sup>

#### **Benzylidene malonitrile**

Nineteen subjects were experimentally exposed to benzylidene malonitrile at Edgewood. Most (80%) subjects had two exposures, but the doses were not available. Subjects experienced chest constriction and dyspnea as a result of exposure. Due to the lack of follow-up information, the National Research Council concluded that long-term health effects were not possible to predict.<sup>405</sup>

#### 2-Bromoethyl-bromoacetamide

Subjects were exposed to 2-bromoethyl-bromoacetamide at Edgewood in either 1963 (2 subjects exposed) or in 1969 (15 subjects exposed). The two subjects exposed in 1963 were given a single dose each of 39 and 57 mg·min/m3. No effects were described after exposure. 2-Bromoethyl-bromoacetamide was further tested in 1969 on 15 subjects with one exposure each ranging from 29.8 to 65.8 mg·min/m3.<sup>405</sup> Adverse health effects included irritation of the eyes, nose, throat, and periorbital sites. The post exposure laboratory results were normal. Due to the lack of follow-up information, the National Research Council concluded that long-term health effects were not possible to predict.

## Dibenzoxazepine (CR)

CR was studied as a potential replacement for CS as it has a lower toxicity than either CN or CS and its effects are generally the same as those of CS, although it is more potent a tear agent. A total of 97 subjects were exposed to CR at Edgewood between 1963 and 1972. Thirty-three subjects were exposed to aerosolized CR at a concentration ranging from 0.01-34 mg·min/m3 for a duration of 1 second to 6.75 minutes. Only one subject had two exposures. Adverse health effects experienced after exposure to CR aerosol were transient in nature and were mostly respiratory and ocular related.<sup>405,3</sup>

An additional 24 subjects were exposed through open patch testes where 0.1 or 0.25-1.0% CR was applied to their foreheads, faces, necks, and hands for 5 or 30 minutes. Closed patch tests were also done on 20 subjects with 0.01, 0.1, or 0.25-1.0% CR applied to their foreheads for 5 or 30 minutes. Adverse health effects from patch exposures were listed as stinging and ery-thema at the exposure sites and resolved within 24 hours<sup>. 405,3</sup>

An aerosol chamber was used to test an additional 11 subjects who were wearing protective masks. Concentrations of the CR spray was available; however, CR was sprayed on the test subjects faces from 3 or 12 feet for 10 seconds, and the exposed areas were then washed. Adverse health effects seen after exposure were skin irritation at the exposure site, lacrimation and conjunctivitis, upper respiratory tract irritation, and numbness at the exposure site.<sup>405,3</sup>

The National Research Council concluded that the small number of exposures to CR at low doses were unlikely to cause long-term health effects in subjects exposed to CR.

#### 1-Methoxy-1,2,5-cycloheptatriene (CHT)

Between 1969 and 1970, 16 subjects were exposed to CHT in an aerosol chamber at Edgewood. Subjects were each exposed once to 15.4 to 64 mg·min/m3 of CHT aerosol for 30 seconds to 5 minutes. Adverse health effects were reported as dermal irritation as well as eye irritation, causing incapacitation due to eye closure and blurred vision.<sup>405,3</sup> One subject reported "chest congestion." The effects of exposure were resolved within 15 of leaving the chamber.

Laboratory analysis was done on the subjects 9 days after exposure. Two subjects had slight abnormalities in SGOT (serum glutamic oxaloacetic transaminase) after exposure to CHT and may have represented idiosyncratic hepatic reactions to the chemical. One subject showed an increase in alkaline phosphatase while another subject showed a decrease in hemoglobin after CHT exposure.<sup>405</sup>

The National Research Council review was unable to relate those abnormalities with exposure. They also concluded that long-term health effects of the exposure were difficult to predict given the available information.<sup>405</sup>

#### Chloropicrin (PS)

Chloropicrin (PS) was tested on 136 subjects at Edgewood, MD between 1955 and 1971.<sup>405</sup> Test subjects wore gas masks and remained in a test chamber for up to four hours. No dosages were available. Minimal gas-mask leakage was reported in test subjects, and there were no acute adverse health effects reported after exposure. The National Research Council review of the Edgewood experiments found PS unlikely to produce long-term health effects in volunteers exposed at Edgewood.<sup>405</sup> The NAS analysis did not recount exposure information to any of the other substances treated in this report.

## Incapacitants

Psychochemical incapacitants were of interest to the U.S. Chemical Corps for use in overcoming an enemy without the need for human misery, destruction or killing typically seen in warfare.

Edgewood scientists were tasked with evaluating the biologic effects of a variety of chemicals that could affect the brain to alter the state of mind or mood. Several psychochemical irritants were tested as part the US Department of Defense human exposure experiments in Edgewood, Maryland. The tests focused on short-term effects on health; however, questions concerning their possible long-term effects have brought concern.<sup>405,3</sup> The National Research Council conducted a review of the Edgewood experiments and a review of the findings is described below.

#### Phencyclidine, PCP

In the late 1950s, the Army began testing phencyclidine on volunteer subjects at Edgewood.<sup>405</sup> some studies were similar to those found in non-military research at the time. These studies included seven subjects, who underwent a water loading test. Subjects treated with phencyclidine at 0.1 mg/kg before a saline infusion showed evidence of inhibition of antidiuretic hormone secretion. Another study involved oral administration of 5 and 10 mg of SNA after which subjects were asked to walk on a treadmill in a heated room (100° F). In general, the doses of SNA given to subjects had no impact on the exercise-induced heart-rate changes, metabolic rate, evaporative heat losses, or tolerance times.<sup>405</sup>

Edgewood experiments went beyond civilian research of phencyclidine by administration of phencyclidine by inhalation. An inhalation chamber was used to disperse SNA in a methylene dichloride solution. Concentrations were varied to achieve a steady dose of approximately 100  $\mu$ g/kg. With a dose range of 25-62  $\mu$ g/kg, subjects had feelings of unreality, involuntary eye movement, and mood changes. At 100 ug/kg, subjects experienced visual disturbances, blurred vision, ataxia, limb paraesthesias, memory impairment, and became noncommunicative. Analgesia, nausea, and vomiting developed rapidly between 100 and 180  $\mu$ g/kg. Four subjects were exposed to the largest dose of 225  $\mu$ g/kg. Collapse and prostration occurred in three of those subjects and incapacitation was observed in the fourth. In general, test subjects had short lived adverse health effects of exposure, lasting 6 to 8 hours; although at the highest doses symptoms persisted for 24 or 48 hours for some subjects.<sup>405,3</sup>

The National Research Council review concluded that it is unlikely that detectable long-term or delayed effects have occurred or will occur in the subjects exposed to phencyclidine at Edgewood. Their conclusions were based on the doses and frequencies of exposure to phencyclidine in addition to the small number of test subjects. Forty-eight (56%) of the 86 subjects exposed to phencyclidine returned the NRC follow-up survey.<sup>4</sup> The survey found that the phencyclidine exposed group had the lowest proportion of volunteers ever hospitalized, but that their primary health concerns were mental disorders. <sup>405,3</sup>

#### **Dibenzopyrans**

Edgewood experiments using dimethylheptylpyran and its derivatives in humans, spanned the period from 1958 through 1968. One of the earlier studies involved a mixture of dimethylheptyl pyran isomers given to 35 subjects at 0.5-4 mg per 70 kg of body weight. Adverse health effects were generally dose-related and included hypotension, tachycardia, decrease in oral temperature, visual disturbance, subjective symptoms of thirst and dry mouth, and decreases in motor performance. At 2 mg of dimethylheptylpyran, subjects were noted to be incapable of performing their regular military duties. <sup>405</sup>

Between 1963 and 1966, 100 subjects were administered doses of a dimethylheptylpyran acetate racemic mixture either orally, intravenously, or intramuscularly. Oral doses ranged from 3 to 60 µg/kg. Intravenous doses ranged from 0.5 µg/kg to (in a few subjects) 5 µg/kg. Intramuscular doses were between 0.5 and 5 µg/kg. Some subjects experienced tachycardia and orthostatic hypotension at almost all doses. These the cardiovascular effects disappeared in most subjects after 24 hours. Decreased body temperature, dryness of the mouth and throat, nasal stuffiness, apathy, and nausea were also reported; however, their intensity was dose-related.<sup>409</sup>

Approximately 125 subjects were exposed to eight optical isomers of dimethylheptylpyran acetate given singly or in combination. Six of the isomers had little biologic activity, and subjects appeared unaffected except for pain at injection site. Two of the isomers had significant biological activity and produced intense tachycardia and orthostatic hypotension in subjects given 1-2 mg intravenously. <sup>405</sup>

Both hepatic and renal functions were assessed during the dimethylheptylpyran studies, and occasional borderline abnormal results noted after exposure. Upon follow-up, these abnormalities did not appear to be clinically significant. EEG and ECG assessments were also done to follow the intensity and duration of any drug-induced changes in cardiovascular and brain functions. Upon evaluation the effects did not appear to be particularly specific or clinically significant for acute or long-term toxicity. <sup>405</sup>

Although the dibenzopyrans produced potent long-lasting orthostatic hypotension during the Edgewood experiments the National Research Council review did not have enough information to determine the plausibility of chronic effects. It was noted that there was no indication from the responses on the National Research Council follow-up questionnaire that the current health of exposed subjects was affected. <sup>405</sup>

No further information on military exposures and health outcomes was found for any of other of the incapacitants tested on volunteers.

# 3.6 Sulphur Mustard

National Research Council analysis of experiments that took place at Edgewood looked at the health status of the 147 soldier volunteers who were exposed to sulfur mustard between 1955 and 1966.<sup>405</sup> The majority of soldiers exposed (n=116) wore gas masks into an aerosol chamber to test the effectiveness of protective attire. Subjects were exposed up to 14 times over various days and were removed from the test if their protective garments became compromised. Exposures ranged from 14 to 60 minutes with a Ct (product of concentration and duration of exposure) ranging between 2,031 mg·min/m<sup>3</sup> and 30,800 mg·min/m<sup>3</sup>.

An additional 31 subjects underwent cutaneous exposure to test the effectiveness of antidotes. Twenty subjects were exposed to sulfur mustard on their arms, either in a 4 mg drop on their forearms or 2 g/10 cm<sup>2</sup> on three separate swatches of protective cloths taped to their arms. Eleven subjects were exposed to 1,100 mg·min/m<sup>3</sup> of moving sulfur mustard vapor at the same site (seven daily exposures), followed by 200 mg·min/m<sup>3</sup> of static sulfur mustard vapor at a different site (three daily exposures). Of the 147 exposed subjects, 59 had no reaction, 77 experienced erythema without blistering, and 11 experienced skin blistering. All of the subjects who experienced blistering were subjects with dermal exposure. Two of the subjects with blisters were hospitalized. No ocular or respiratory tract injuries were reported.<sup>405406</sup>

The National Research Council concluded:

"Serious long-term adverse effects in the small number of soldiers who received one or a few low-dose exposures at Edgewood seem unlikely."

Some of those exposed at Edgewood suffered skin injuries that took several weeks to resolve. However, in view of the small number of persons tested, and the very low dosages involved, it is unlikely that a statistically significant increase in the risk of cancer or other chronic disease can be detected in those exposed to sulfur mustard gas at Edgewood.<sup>4</sup>

## Sulphur Mustard in Iran-Iraq War

During the Iraq-Iran war, the Iraqi army used an estimated 1,800 tons of sulfur mustard against Iranian soldiers and civilians, resulting in over 100,000 people with mustard-related injuries.<sup>108</sup> The long-term sequelae experienced by Iranian veterans are summarized in the front section of this paper and this summary includes information of sequelae amongst civilians exposed to sulfur mustard during the war or in the course of military operations.

## 3.7 Dioxins

From 1962 through 1971, the US military sprayed an herbicide defoliant in southern Vietnam as part of Operation Ranch Hand.<sup>409</sup> Several different tactical formulations were used, and the code names Orange, Blue, White, Pink, Green, and Purple were used to identify the herbicide used.<sup>410</sup> Agent Orange was the most widely used herbicide during Operation Ranch hand.<sup>413</sup> Agent Orange was composed of a 1:1 mixture of 2,4- dichlorophenoxyacetic acid and 2,4,5-tri-cholorophenoxyacetic acid. During the manufacture of the latter, 2,3,7,8- tetracholorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD), also referred to as dioxin, was formed as a contaminant.<sup>408</sup> After the Vietnam War ended, veterans expressed concerns about how exposure to herbicides including Agent Orange, and their dioxin contaminant, had affected their health.<sup>408,411</sup>

The US Department of Veterans Affairs and other US governmental organizations, such as the Institute of Medicine and the National Academy of Science (NAS) in collaboration with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, were tasked with conducting research studies on possible health effects of Agent Orange exposure on US veterans.<sup>412</sup> This collaboration produced the report "Veterans and Agent Orange" in which they found "sufficient evidence" to associate Agent Orange exposure with the following diseases: soft tissue sarcoma (including of the heart), non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (including hairy cell leukemia and other chronic B-cell leukemia), Hodgkin's disease, and chloracne.<sup>410,411,413</sup>

They also determined there is "limited/suggestive evidence of association" found with laryngeal cancer; cancer of the lungs, bronchus, or trachea; prostate cancer; multiple myeloma; AL amy-loidosis; early-onset peripheral neuropathy; *porphyria cutanea tarda*; Parkinson's disease; hypertension; ischemic heart disease; type 2 diabetes (mellitus); and spina bifida in off-spring.<sup>410,411</sup>

Given these presumptive associations due to Agent Orange exposure, the Department of Veterans Affairs released a statement on November 1, 2010 that VA disability benefits will now be paid for the following: acute and subacute transient peripheral neuropathy, chloracne, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, diabetes mellitus (type 2), Hodgkin's disease, multiple myeloma, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, *porphyria cutanea tarda*, prostate cancer, respiratory cancers, soft tissue sarcoma (other than osteosarcoma, chondrosarcoma, Kaposi sarcoma, or mesothelioma), AL amyloidosis, B-cell (hairy cell) leukemia, Parkinson's disease, and ischemic heart disease.<sup>414</sup> Several studies have been conducted since the Agent Orange Act, and are included in updates of the "Veterans and Agent Orange" report. Below are summaries of studies relevant to the potential for long-term sequelae in military servicemen.

#### **Prostate cancer**

Chamie et al. studied the association between Agent Orange and prostate cancer among northern California Vietnam veterans.<sup>415</sup> In this cohort study, a veteran was classified as being exposed through self-reported exposure to Agent Orange on the initial application for medical benefits and was stationed in known areas that were sprayed with Agent Orange during 1962 through 1971. A total of 6,214 men were classified as exposed whereas 6,930 were classified as not exposed to Agent Orange. They found that patients exposed to Agent Orange were twice as likely to develop prostate cancer as patients who were unexposed (OR, 2.19; 95% CI, 1.75-2.75; P <0.001). Chang and colleagues stated that the self-report exposure estimates used by Chamie led to profound exposure misclassification.<sup>416</sup> They commented that misclassification combined with potential selection bias largely invalidates the findings of the Chamie study and cannot associate Agent Orange/TCDD exposure and prostate cancer risk.

#### Myeloma

Parikh and Pearlman conducted a case-control study to estimate the risk of being diagnosed with multiple myeloma and AL amyloidosis after exposure to Agent Orange in a clinical population of military veterans at the Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center in Memphis, TN.<sup>410</sup> Military veterans with Agent Orange exposure (n=1,873) were compared to other hospital patients in the same age group (62–73 years) without Agent Orange exposure (n = 62,122). Of the veterans exposed to Agent Orange, one (0.053%) was diagnosed with multiple myeloma and zero were diagnosed with AL amyloidosis. In unexposed patients, 34 (0.054%) were diagnosed with multiple myeloma and 3 (0.004%) were diagnosed with AL amyloidosis. The risk of multiple myeloma was nearly identical in both groups (odds ratio, 0.98; 95% confidence interval, 0.13–7.13), and statistical analyses were not performed for AL amyloidosis due the low numbers of diagnosed patients. The author did note that larger, multicenter-based studies are needed to confirm this observation.

#### **Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia**

In a longitudinal, prospective cohort, Gupta and colleagues studied 971 US Air Force veterans involved in Operation Ranch Hand and 1,271 Air Force veterans who did not spray herbicides to assess the effect of serum TCDD concentration on the risk of development of benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH).<sup>417</sup> The BPH risk was determined by medical record review and by medical examinations conducted during the study. The authors found that TCDD exposure at general population levels is associated with a decreasing risk of BPH with higher exposure levels. They also found that TCDD exposure was negatively associated with serum testosterone levels.

#### Rhabdomyosarcoma in Offspring

A case-control study to evaluate the role of parental military-related exposures to dioxin compounds and rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS) risk in offspring was performed by Grufferman.<sup>418</sup> The study consisted of 319 patients with RMS and 319 pair-matched controls. Overall, they found little evidence that parental military service is associated with RMS in offspring after adjusting for family income, parental education, recreational drug use, length of pregnancy, and maternal spotting, cramping, or abnormal bleeding during pregnancy. Paternal exposure to AO was positively associated with childhood RMS but was not statistically significant (adjusted OR = 1.72, 95% CI, 0.55 - 5.41). These results are consistent with other studies evaluating exposures in Vietnam veterans and the risk of childhood cancer.<sup>417</sup>

#### **Respiratory Disease**

Cypel and Kang examined the risk of disease-related mortality in Army Chemical Corps (ACC) veterans who sprayed herbicides in Vietnam.<sup>419</sup> They compared deployed Vietnam veterans with non-deployed veteran peers or US civilian men. The study found that the risk of mortality from respiratory disease (malignant or nonmalignant) was significantly greater for ACC Vietnam veterans in comparison with their non-Vietnam veteran peers and US civilian men. They also reported a statistically significant excess mortality from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (RR = 4.82, 95% Cl, 1.10 - 21.18).

#### Diabetes

Michalek and Pavuk studied diabetes in military personnel who were part of Operation Ranch Hand in comparison with a cohort of other Air Force veterans who served in Southeast Asia (SEA) during the same time period but who did not spray herbicides.<sup>420</sup> They calculated the relative risk of diabetes was 21% higher in Air Force Health Study participants than in the SEA comparison cohort (RR = 1.21, p = 0.16) after adjustment for BMI at follow-up and during the qualifying tour in Vietnam or SEA, family history of diabetes, smoking history in 1982, year of birth, last year of service in the Ranch Hand Unit or in SEA, ratio of the number of days spent in Vietnam to the number spent in SEA, and military occupation.

Michalek and Pavuk then postulated that Agent Orange was more heavily contaminated with TCDD earlier in the war, and sought to study those who served before 1970 versus after 1970. They reported that Ranch Hand participants who served before 1970 had a 65% higher risk of diabetes than the SEA comparison group (RR = 1.65, p = 0.005). No association with diabetes was seen in those serving after 1970 (RR = 0.85, p = 0.45). The number of days Ranch Hand participants sprayed, also played a confounding factor. Participants who had at least 90 days of spraying had a 32% higher risk of diabetes (RR = 1.32, p = 0.04). Analysis of time-to-diabetes

was applied to the individual Log (TCDD) values of all the Ranch Hand and SEA subjects generated a significant slope for diabetes incidence with serum dioxin (hazard ratio (HR) = 1.29 p < 0.001). They concluded that calendar period of service, days of spraying, and time spent in SEA are important confounders in the Air Force Health Study.<sup>419</sup>

#### Spina Bifida

Ngo and colleagues studied the association between Agent Orange exposure and the risk of spina bifida through a meta-analysis of seven studies, including 330 spina bifida cases and 134,884 non-cases.<sup>421</sup> Three case–control studies were identified with a total of 80 spina bifida cases, three retrospective cohort studies reported on 12,875 infants or children of exposed fathers and 103,220 infants or children of unexposed fathers, and one cross-sectional study involved 213 children of exposed fathers and 210 children of unexposed fathers.<sup>420</sup> All seven studies involved veteran service men. The combined relative risk for spina bifida associated with paternal exposure to Agent Orange was 2.02 (95% CI, 1.48 – 2.74), with no statistical evidence of heterogeneity across studies. Non-Vietnamese studies showed a slightly higher combined relative risk (RR = 2.22; 95% CI, 1.38 – 3.56) than Vietnamese studies (RR = 1.92 95% CI, 1.29 – 2.86).<sup>421</sup> For the three case–control studies, the overall association between Agent Orange exposure and spina bifida was statistically significant (Summary Odds Ratio = 2.25, 95% CI, 1.31 - 3.86). The cross sectional study also showed a statistically significant association (RR = 1.97, 95% CI, 1.31 – 2.96), but the three cohort studies did not (RR: 2.11, 95% CI, 0.78 – 5.73). Ngo and colleagues concluded that paternal exposure to Agent Orange appears to be associated with a statistically increased risk of spina bifida.<sup>421</sup>

# 4.0 Comparing Historical and Recent Information

The reports on the human volunteer trials published by the National Academies of Science in the 1980s provided a tremendous amount of information about these tests to the public for the first time. They remain important historical documents because of so much of the original documentation on the trials has been fragmented or lost over time. However, some of the conclusions they came to regarding the potential for long-term sequelae as a result of exposure to the test compounds is outdated and does not agree with recent experimentation and analysis. Notable examples of this can be seen in the report's conclusions on sarin and other anticholinesterases (especially other G-Series agents); on LSD and other classical hallucinogens; and on the irritant CS (Chlorobenzylidene malononitrile), and the vesicant, sulphur mustard.

## Anticholinesterases

The historical reports did not have consistent and compelling evidence for the long-term negative health effects of exposure to anticholinesterase chemicals. More recent work on the subject, including the Institute of Medicine's health analysis from 2007 concluded that two distinct long-term sequelae to organophosphate exposure exist:

- Organophosphate-induced delayed polyneuropathy (OPIDP), and,
- Chronic organophosphate-induced neuropsychiatric disorder (COPIND).

These syndromes have been vetted and embraced by both military and civilian experts, and continue to be used as perceptual frameworks about which ongoing studies are conducted.

In addition to official reports, there are now significant bodies of scientific literature on the health outcomes of Gulf War Veterans, and the health of soldiers and civilians exposed to anticholinesterases in the Iran-Iraq War and in the terror attacks by Aum Shinrikyo.

# LSD & Other Hallucinogens

The reports on the human-exposure LSD trials by the Department of the Army for the Inspector General in the 1970s and those by the National Research Council in the 1980s acknowledged the existence of sometimes profound cognitive (flashbacks) and psychological sequelae (transient psychoses) associated with LSD ingestion, but noted that a very small number of volunteers had experienced any of these events.

By contrast, recent work on the long-term health of people using LSD or other classical psychedelic drugs (psilocybin, DMT, & mescaline) have found no negative health effects associated with the willing ingestion of these drugs. Many of the recent studies have been done using population-level databases with thousands of cases instead of isolated case reports of adverse effects or sequelae. Detailed investigation of the reports of negative health effects have found that the prevalence of flashbacks has been greatly overestimated in the past. Additionally, many of the people reporting negative effects are individuals who have (sometimes serious) pre-existing psychiatric conditions prior to hallucinogen use, or are people who habitually mixing drugs from different classes.

#### CS (Chlorobenzylidene malononitrile) & Sulphur Mustard

The National Academies reports described some of the volunteers has having allergic contact dermatitis after exposure to the irritant CS, and skin lesions after dermal application of sulphur mustard. However, they interpreted the effects of exposure to both of these compounds as transient, or resolving in a few weeks after exposure, instead of as a long-lasting negative health impact.

Recent clinical reports by Barghava, and Watson have shown allergic contact dermatitis and other cutaneous conditions that have arisen from CS exposure to be long lasting, or even a life-long condition.<sup>95,96</sup> Likewise, recent documentation of the cutaneous lesions from sulphur mustard in Iranian veterans has shown that some sequelae can persist for years.

The difference in the disparities in these two cases is probably dose-dependent, with the larger doses (in-theatre offensive use of) or more frequent doses (training for CS use) producing the longer-term sequelae, than the smaller doses used on the soldiers in the volunteer studies.

# 5.0 Conclusions

Of the more than 100 agents and compounds researched for this study, 18 had evidence for potential long-term sequelae associated with exposure. There were 16 different types of sequelae that ranged from neurological disorders to carcinomas. The most frequently seen sequelae were neurological, which occurred in 7 of the 18 compounds. The next most common types of sequelae were cognitive, cardiac, and cutaneous which were each noted in 5 compounds. A higher risk of sarcomas or carcinomas was noted in those exposed to 4 substances. Some types of sequelae were noted only in association with one compound, as in the case of movement disorders (dystonias and dyskenesias) and butyrophenone derivatives.

Table 18. Strength of Association Between Com-						
pound Exposure and Sequelae						
Agent or Com-	Low	Medium	High			
			X			
C. burnetii			X			
EEE/WEE/VEE			Х			
C. botulinum			Х			
Tabun			Х			
Sarin			Х			
Soman		Х				
DFP			Х			
Malathion			Х			
Lysergamides	Х					
cs	Х					
Butyrophenone derivatives	Х					
Sulphur Mustard			Х			
Phosgene			Х			
Dioxins			Х			
Arsenic			Х			
Chloramphenicol	Х					
Tetracycline	Х					
РАВА		Х				

The associations between exposures and sequelae varied in strength from weak – like the association between aplastic anemia and chloramphenicol use – to strong – like the association between neurological abnormalities in survivors of infection from the equine encephalitis viruses (See Table 18.) Eleven of the 18 compounds had strong associations between agent exposure and possible long-term sequelae. Five agents had weak associations between exposures and sequelae and two agents had medium associations

A strong association could be made because the condition was well documented by a number of authors in different populations over time, or because the association was based on a large population study or a high-quality meta-analysis.

Similarly, a weak association was based either on an extremely low population prevalence, like the hematological problems

associated with chloramphenicol, or by uncertainty in which exact drug from a large class was tested on volunteers as in the case with lysergamides or the butyrophenone derivatives. CS had a weak association because although sequelae have been documented several times,
		Table	1. Potenti	al Long	-Term S	Sequela	ae from	Exposure	to Agent	s or Com	pounds	in this	Study			
Agent or Com- pound	Neuro- logical	Cognitive or Learn- ing	Depression	Fatigue	Psycho- social	Anxiety	Cardiac or Vas- cular	Muscle Weak- ness	Move- ment	Respira- tory	Neuro- endo- crine	Bowel	Cutane- ous or Al- lergic	Ocular	Blood or Mar- row	Cancer
C. burnetii	х			х			х									
EEE/WEE/VEE	х															
C. botulinum	х			х				Х								
Tabun	х	Х						Х								
Sarin	х	Х				Х	Х			Х	х					
Soman						Х										
DFP	х	Х														
Malathion		Х	х													х
Lysergamides					Х		Х									
CS													Х			
Butyrophenone derivatives							х		х							
Sulphur Mustard	х	х			Х	Х				х			х	х		х
Phosgene										х						
Dioxins	х												Х			х
Arsenic							Х						Х			х
Chlorampheni- col															Х	
Tetracycline												х				
PABA													Х			

TR-16-109 Distribution A: Approved for Public realease; distribution is unlimited

most reports are of individual cases or come from studies with methodological problems, such as failure to perform adequate sensitivity analyses to rule out confounding factors. When wellcontrolled for, however, sometimes factors that exist before exposure can be somewhat predictive of adverse effects or sequelae, as when heavy smokers or people with asthma or other lung diseases are exposed to irritant gasses.

#### Sequelae by Compound or Substance

The anticholinesterases had the largest number of sequelae associated, with five out of 10 compounds associated with the long-term negative effects of exposure. By comparison, only three of 15 biological agents or vaccines had information about related sequelae in the recent scientific or medical literature.

Sulphur mustard had the largest number of sequelae associated with it, and these ranged from respiratory problems to psychosocial and cognitive issues. Some compounds, on the other hand, were outdated or experimental and obscure and little or no information could be found about their long-term adverse effects. To some degree also, estimations of, "the most" or "the least" sequelae have a certain amount of study bias associated with them.

#### **Neurological Sequelae**

Looking more closely at neurological sequelae, we can see that the most common manifestation is seen as a motor or movement sequelae such as in a psychomotor impairment with EEE/WEE/VEEE infection or problems balancing or walking without falling over as is sometimes seen as a long-term consequence of sarin exposure. (See Table 19.)

Agent or	Coma	Sei-	Motor or	Speech or	Depres-	<b>CNS Neu-</b>	Peripheral	Weak-	Sensory
Compound		zures	Move-	Comprehen-	sion	ropathy	Neuropa-	ness &	
			ment	sion			thy	Fatigue	
C. burnetii						Х	Х		
EEE/WEE/VEE	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х				
C. botulinum			Х		Х			Х	
Tabun			Х					Х	Х
Sarin			Х			Х			
DFP			Х						
Sulphur		Х			Х		Х	Х	Х
Mustard									
Dioxins							Х		Х

#### Table 19. Neurological Sequelae by Agent or Compound

EEE/WEE/VEE infection had the broadest range of neurological sequelae associated with it, ranging from patients presenting with persistent seizures to those who had difficulty with speech or comprehension. Some 40 percent of people who survive severe Q-Fever infection in some populations can develop central nervous system or autonomic neuropathy; peripheral polyneuropathies may also occur, although they have been documented in less than 5 percent of survivors. Weakness and fatigue also occur as sequelae after infection with *C. botulinum*, or after exposure to tabun or sulphur mustard.

Balali-Mood found that almost 80 percent of Iranian veterans recovering from sulphur mustard exposure and signs of peripheral polyneuropathy and that this was confirmed by abnormal neural conduction tests.<sup>106</sup> A similar polyneuropathy was also seen more than thirty years after an industrial accident with dioxin, indicating the long-term nature of some sequelae.<sup>138</sup>

Table 20. Cognitive Sequelae by Agent or Compound									
Agent or Com-	Learning	Memory	Visual At-	Perception	Abstraction	Problem-	Dexterity		
pound			tention			Solving			
Tabun	Х	Х							
Sarin		Х	Х						
DFP	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х		
Malathion	Х	Х	Х	Х					
Sulphur Mustard		Х							

#### **Cognitive Sequelae**

Turning now to cognitive sequelae, we see that DFP has the broadest range of cognitive symptoms associated with it. (See Table 6.) These range from learning and deficits to problem solving and dexterity issues. It is important to note that there is disagreement in animal studies about the persistence of these sequelae. Some studies show most deficits correcting themselves in the months after DFP dosing has ceased, and others do not.

Malathion exposure is also related to a similar range of sequelae. People with chronic high exposure (> 10 years) as well as those with acute poisoning had significantly lower scores on verbal memory, perceptive learning, and attention tests than did matched control subjects.

Anticholinesterase chemical warfare agents are also associated with cognitive sequelae. From follow-up on survivors of the Aum Shinrikyo attacks, we know that sarin is associated with mild memory loss. An observation that is supported by water-maze tests with rodents, who demonstrated problems in visual-spatial memory tasks after tabun exposure.

Long-term follow-up on Iranian survivor of sulphur mustard attack also show high levels cognitive and memory-related sequelae (> 70%). However, like the studies on the Tokyo-subway attack victims, these follow-up studies do not control for confounding factors like PTSD that may also affect cognition.

#### **Cardiac and Vascular Sequelae**

Five agents or compounds were also associated with cardiac or vascular sequelae: *C. burnetii*, sarin, lysergamides, butyrophenone derivatives, and arsenic. (See Table 21.) The most commonly seen sequelae was one of vascular stenosis or insufficiency, which was found associated with Q-fever, and exposure to lysergamides or arsenic. In the case of Q-fever, a recent population study from the Netherlands has found slightly more than 30 percent of cardiac patients with aortic or iliac disease to be positive for *C. burnetii* infection. This is a much greater than expected association, as most previous studies indicated the potential for vascular insufficiency to be under 10 percent of those infected.

	Table 21. Cardiac or Vascular Sequelae by Agent or Compound									
Agent or Compound	Endo- cardi- tis	Vascular Infection	Vascular Insuffi- ciency	Cardiac Conduc- tion	Cardiac Valves	Arrhyth- mias	Cardiac Re- modeling & Performance	Myocar- dial Infarc- tion	Aneurysm	Sudden Cardiac Death
C. burnetii	Х	Х	Х		Х				Х	
Sarin						Х	Х			
Lyser- gamides			х		х			х		
Butyrophe- none deriva- tives				х						х
Arsenic			Х	Х		Х		Х		

Valvular patency or problems with regurgitation are associated with infections with *C. burnetii* as are vascular infections and endocarditis. Cardiac valve problems are also noted in some patients taking lysergamides.

Cardiac conduction problems, such as prolonged QT-intervals are associated with arsenic exposure and ingestion of haloperidol, a butyrophenone derivative incapacitant.

In animal studies with mice, sarin-treated animals demonstrate high levels of cardiac remodeling that decreases heart performance. This remodeling can either affect whole heart weight relative to body size, or just the ventricular lumen. It is not clear what mechanisms underlie these changes, but autonomic neuropathy is believed to play an important role.

#### **Cutaneous Sequelae**

Sulphur mustard exposure can produce a broad range of skin sequelae ranging from severely dry and itchy skin with or without areas of hyper- and hypo pigmentation, which develop into seborrheic dermatitis or chronic eczema. (See Table 22.) Spider veins – which can be mild or disfiguring – are also common in victims of sulphur mustard attacks.

	Table 22. Potential Cutaneous Sequelae by Agent or Compound									
Agent or Compound	Dry Skin (Itching, peeling)	Allergic Contact Dermatitis	Seborrheic Dermatitis	Chronic Eczema	Hyper- or Hypo- pigmen- tation	Spider Veins	Dyses- thesia	Chlor- acne	Hyper- keratosis	Bowen's Disease
CS		Х	Х		Х		Х			
Sulphur Mustard	х		х	х	х	х				
Dioxins								Х		
Arsenic					Х				Х	Х
PABA		Х		Х						

Allergic contact dermatitis sometimes occurs with exposure to the irritant CS and the sunscreen ingredient PABA. Painful, red plaques can develop in the exposed area that can last for months after exposure. There are also documented cases that appear to be permanent. These cases may require changes in lifestyle – especially if exposure was occupational as is the case with some law-enforcement officers training to use CS.

Chloracne, a chronic inflammatory skin condition characterized by keratinous plugs with cysts and dark acne caused by problems in liver function is a characteristic cutaneous sequelae of dioxin exposure. A high-profile case occurred in 2004 when former Ukrainian President Viktor Yushchenko ingested a large dose of dioxin. Liver and pancreas dysfunction eventually led to chloracne which left him disfigured for many years after the event.

Arsenic exposure also produces a characteristic nodular hyperkeratosis on the palms and soles of the feet. These areas of thickened epidermis can be interspersed with areas of hyper- and hypopigmentation and sometimes form, "raindrop," patterns. These early changes in the skin associated with arsenic also predispose to the development of a variety of skin cancers, and a squamous cell carcinoma (*in situ*) known as Bowen's Disease may also develop. After a latency period that can last years, or even decades, non-melanoma skin cancers, including frank squamous-cell carcinomas and basal-cell carcinomas can also develop.

#### Cancer

In addition to being associated with cutaneous cancers, arsenic exposure has also been linked to gastrointestinal and lung cancers as well. (See Table 23.) A study done in the in the Antofagasta area of Northern Chile, where arsenic levels were as high as 800 - 900 mg/L between the late 1950s and the mid- 1970s, but lower thereafter found an exposure-level related relationship between the risk of lung cancer (OR) and arsenic exposure. The ORs were 1.00 for < 11 mg/L (reference), 1.27 (95% CI, 0.81–1.98) for 11-90 mg/L, 2,00 (1.24–3.24) for 91-335 mg/L, and 4.32 (2.60 – 7.17) for >335 mg/L.

Table 23. Potential Cancers Associated with Exposure to Agents or Compounds								
Agent or	Testicular	Lymphatic	Hematological	Gastroin-	Visceral	Soft-tissue	Cutaneous	Lung
Compound	Cancer			testinal	Sarcomas	Sarcomas		
Malathion	Х							
Sulphur		v	v	v				
Mustard		^	^	^				
Dioxins					Х	Х		
Arsenic				Х			Х	Х

A study in Venice correlated dioxin exposure with cancers in the tumor registry and found that the risk of developing a visceral or extra-visceral sarcoma was 3.3 times higher (95% CI: 1.24 – 8.76) among people with the longest dioxin exposure at the highest exposure level.

Using the nearly 100,000 individuals registered in the Agricultural Health Study (AHS) database, as recent prospective cohort study found a correlation between chronic Malathion exposure and aggressive prostate cancer (RR = 1.43) for the highest quartile of exposure vs. nonexposed.

#### Discussion

This literature review, which looked for associations between more than 100 biological or chemical warfare agents, industrial pollutants and miscellaneous drugs and compounds, found evidence that some of these substances (18/93) are sometimes associated with long-term sequelae that negatively impacts their health or the quality of life. That said, it is important to remember that this information gathered for this analysis was recently published (6/30/2006 – 12/1/2015) and most of it was unknown to the soldiers and civilians who administered the volunteer human exposure tests which took place from the 1950s to the 1970s.

The records of the tests published by the National Academies of Science in the 1980s showed that the volunteers were carefully screened prior to the tests; exposures were low relative to

many of the sequelae-inducing doses in the recent literature; and the tests were terminated immediately if the volunteers experienced moderate-to-severe discomfort. Additionally, the health impact of volunteers was assessed at several different time periods in the years following their exposures, and no significant sequelae were recorded in any of the follow-up health screenings.

Furthermore, a great deal of the recent public health and medical literature consulted for this study involves sequelae that may arise for long-term exposures or chronic use of a medication or substance. By contrast, the volunteer tests consisted of a single exposure or on occasion, a short series of exposures

Additionally, some of the information presented in this report about associated sequelae comes from animal studies. This information is informative, but should not be taken as indicative of the sequelae that might occur following human exposure to these compounds. Rather the animal experiments should be regarded as, "proof of concept," of sequelae that might arise in humans after exposure, or supportive of human epidemiological and medical data, if available.

Lastly, there are some discrepancies between the historical analyses of health outcomes from the human exposure trials performed by the National Research Council panel in the 1980s, with the Institute of Medicine's review published in 2007 and some of the literature reviewed for this report. These differences have arisen as consequences of our improved medical and scientific understanding of these compounds and conditions, not because of any attempt to deny or hide the negative health impacts associated with exposure.

# Appendix 1: Agents, Compounds and Substances

# **Biological Agents**

## Coxiella Burnetii (Q-fever)

Q-fever is a disease caused by infection with the intracellular bacterium *Coxiella burnetii*. The most common symptoms of infection are mild flu-like symptoms with abrupt onset of fever, malaise, profuse perspiration, severe headache, myalgia, and joint pain, loss of appetite, upper respiratory problems and gastrointestinal symptoms.



*Figure A-2. C. burnetii inside replication vacuole. (Credit: Beth Fisher, Rocky Mountain Laboratory)* 

On occasion, acute Q-fever can progress to an atypical pneumonia, which can be severe if left untreated. Less often, Q-fever causes granulomatous hepatitis, which presents as malaise, fever, hepatomegaly, and pain in the upper abdomen. A common symptom of chronic Q-fever is endocarditis, which can occur months or years after infection, and can be fatal if untreated. It can also be treated as a long-term sequelae of Q-fever because it can emerge long after the original infection, and persist after the recurring infection has been eradicated.

Naturally occurring Q-fever is a zoonotic disease and

human cases usually result from contact with infected animals or improperly disposed tissue and fluids from infected animals. Ticks can also be a vector for the spread of the bacterium. Infective dose is very low for all animals, and has been determined to be 18 MICLD<sub>50</sub>/person (mouse intracerebral units) in human tests. The incubation period ranges from 9 to 40 days, but usually last for two to three weeks. Approximately half of infected individuals exhibit no symptoms.

## Francisella tularensis (Tularemia)

There are multiple subspecies or biovars of the pathogenic bacterial species *F. tularensis* that cause disease of varying symptoms and severity. The subspecies *F. tularensis* (Type A,) however, causes the most severe type of disease, and is the focus of this report.



Figure A-2. F. tularensis bacteria. (Credit: NIAID)

Within the *tularensis* biovar, symptoms of natural tularemia infection range from cutaneous sores to severe atypical pneumonia, depending upon the route of infection. Other routes of inoculation have been described and include oropharyngeal or gastrointestinal infection due to consumption of contaminated food and conjunctival infection due to inoculation at the eye.

In the environment, *F. tularensis* is capable of surviving outside of a mammalian host for long periods of time

and has been found in water, grassland, and haystacks. It also has an extremely low infectious dose and easily becomes airborne in primary and secondary aerosols. Like *Yersinia* species, it reproduces preferentially within macrophages, first suppressing the cells ability to destroy them after phagocytosis and then facilitating cell death to escape and proliferate infection.

#### Plasmodium vivax (Vivax Malaria)

*Plasmodium vivax* is a protozoal parasite and the cause of vivax malaria. Vivax malaria is traditionally thought to be less acute than malaria caused by *Plasmodium falciparum*. However, a recent surge in studies from Latin America and Asia documenting severe symptoms and sequelae resulting from *Plasmodium vivax* infection has prompted a reassessment of its impact. A



Figure A-3. Plasmodium vivax, trophozoite stage. (Credit: Steven Glenn, CDC)

meta-analysis comparing the incidence of severe malaria, severe anemia and mortality between *P. vivax* and *P. falciparum* mono-infection published in 2014 found the prevalence of severe malaria comparable in infants, children under five-years of age, children ages five to 15 years, and adults.

The incidence of severe anemia was also comparable in infants, and in children ages five to 15 between the groups. Mortality was lower in infants, but comparable in children ages five to 15.

Clearly, *P. vivax* malaria is not a benign as once thought.

Still, separating symptoms from long-term health effects or sequelae is difficult with vivax malaria, largely because of periods of latency and dormancy that can last from days to years. During these periods, the parasites sequester within hepatocytes as hypnozoites, and cause no symptoms. They are also undetectable in blood tests at this time. Thus, a single infectious bite can trigger multiple relapses of disease and leave the host more vulnerable to other infectious and chronic diseases. Likewise, infection with other diseases or conditions can trigger relapses of vivax malaria.

## Staphylococcal Enterotoxin B (SEB)

Staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB) is a toxin produced by the bacterium *Staphylococcus aureus*. The function of the toxin is to facilitate the infection of the host organism and induce pathogenesis.



Figure A-4. Staphylococcus enterotoxin B (SEB). Credit: S. Swaminathan, Brookhaven Nat'l Lab

In nature, *S. aureus* toxins are a common cause of food poisoning, with severe diarrhea, nausea, and cramping starting within a few hours of ingestion. SEB is very stable, and may remain active long after the contaminating bacteria are killed. It can also withstand temperatures above 100 degrees centigrade for several minutes without degrading. Gastroenteritis occurs because SEB is a superantigen, and it causes the immune system to release a large amount of cytokines (activation of a significant fraction of

T-cells (up to 20%)) that lead to significant inflammation.

In addition to gastroenteritis from ingestion of the toxin, fever along with gastrointestinal and pulmonary symptoms can result from inhalation, and conjunctivitis and local facial swelling can result from ocular and cutaneous exposure. Additionally, severe intoxication can result in rapid pulmonary edema, adult respiratory distress syndrome, shock, or death. The time from exposure to illness, and the severity of symptoms is dose dependent. In humans, the estimated  $LD_{50}$  is 0.02 µg/kg and the ED<sub>50</sub> is 0.0004 µg/kg by aerosol route.

## Pseudomonas Endotoxin

The lipopolysaccharide (LPS) component of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is a major part of its outer membrane – a characteristic shared with other gram-negative bacteria. The LPS contributes greatly to the structural integrity of the bacteria, and protects the membrane from chemical attack. It is also an endotoxin that induces a strong response from normal animal immune systems. It has been implicated in non-pathogenic aspects of bacterial ecology, including surface adhesion, bacteriophage sensitivity, and interactions with predators such as amoebae.



Figure A-5. Pseudomonas aeruginosa micrograph. (Credit: Janice Haney Carr, CDC)

A growing body of experimental evidence suggests that *P. aeruginosa* LPS plays an important role in the pathophysiology of infection. Some studies show that the LPS degrades the surface of target tissues, thereby facilitating bacterial infection. In studies of LPS effect on skeletal muscles, LPS produces deleterious effects on vasomotor tone and can possibly underlie the intractable hypotension observed in patients with *P. aeruginosa* sepsis.

Moreover, *P. aeruginosa* endotoxemia, particularly of intestinal origin, is implicated in a num-

ber of diseases, including alcoholic hepatitis. Although precise mechanisms of disease pathogenesis are unknown, it is thought that bacterial overgrowth and toxin release increases intestinal permeability.

#### Sandfly Fever, Sicilian Strain

Sandfly fever, also known as Pappataci fever or phlebotomus fever is a disease transmitted by Phlebotominae sandflies that causes fever, myalgia, and malaise along with abnormalities in liver enzymes and hematological markers. The Mediterranean basin is the main area for sand-



*Figure A-6. Phlebovirus (Credit: CDC)* 

fly fever transmission, with natural cases occurring from Spain and Morocco to Turkey and Iran. Cases have fever resulting from Sicilian Strain viruses have also recently been reported from the Afar region of Ethiopia.

Sandfly fever viruses are classified within the Phlebovirus genus of the Bunyaviridae family, with a segmented negative-strand RNA genome. Sandfly Fever is one of ten recognized serogroups within the Phlebovirus genus, and is divided into two groups: Naples and Sicilian.

Within the Sicilian group are seven viruses Belterra virus, Chagres virus, Corfu virus, Rift Valley fever virus, and the closely related Sandfly fever Cyprus, Sicilian and Turkey viruses.

## Eastern, Western, and Venezuelan Equine Encephalitis

Alphaviruses are enveloped, positive-stranded RNA viruses, spread by mosquito vector, that are the etiologic agents of severe encephalitis and polyarthritis. Three of seven alphavirus sero-



Figure A-7. Eastern Equine Encephalitis Virus (Credit: Fred Murphy; Sylvia Whitfield, CDC)

complexes are represented by the equine encephalitis viruses: eastern equine encephalitis (EEE), western equine encephalitis (WEE), and Venezuelan equine encephalitis (VEE). In nature, these viruses have widespread distributions in North, Central and South America, and can pose a threat to human and animal health. EEE is found along the Atlantic and Gulf coasts as well as out to the mid-West, and WEE from the mid-West to the west coast and up into Canada. By contrast, the transmission of VEEV occurs predominantly in Central and South America. Mosquito vector species vary with geographic distribution, affecting the zoonotic potential of the viruses.

Traditionally, EEE is viewed as the most severe of the encephalitic alphaviruses with the case-fatality rate in humans estimated in the range of 50 to 70

percent. WEE is generally much less severe with an estimated case-fatality of 3 to 7 percent. This may be because of the high number of asymptomatic cases in potentially infected populations that increases from 1:1 relative to clinical cases in infants under the age of one, to >1000:1 in children over the age of 14 years. Natural human case fatality from VEE is usually 1-3 percent of those infected. VEE generally results in flu-like symptoms for humans with encephalitis being rare. It is, however, highly transmissible by aerosol route and outbreaks can be large.

#### **Typhoid Fever**

Typhoid fever is a common disease caused by the bacterium *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhi. It is usually transmitted by the ingestion of contaminated water or food. The course of untreated typhoid fever is divided into four individual week-long stages, including fever, malaise and flu-like symptoms in week one, a prostrate fever with multi-organ dysfunction in week two, complications and spontaneous resolution in weeks three and four, respectively.



Figure A-8. Salmonella enterica, serovar Typhi (Credit: Melissa Brower, CDC)

Prior to the widespread use of antimicrobial medications, typhoid fever had a case-fatality rate of 10-20 percent. With improved sanitation, agricultural hygiene, and the use of antimicrobials, mortality from disease fell significantly to near one percent. However, in the past several decades emergence and rapid spread of drug-resistant strains are causing disease severity and mortality to rise once again, especially in the developing world.

#### Rickettsia rickettsii (Rocky Mountain Spotted-Fever)

Rocky Mountain spotted fever (RMSF) is the most frequently reported rickettsial illness in the United States, with approximately 1200 cases presenting annually. The disease is caused by *Rickettsia rickettsii*, an intracellular bacterium that is spread to humans by ticks of the genera *Dermacentor*, *Rhipicephalus*, or *Amblyomma*.



Figure A-9. Rocky Mountain Spotted Fever Virus (Credit: Billie Ruth Bird, CDC)

The name Rocky Mountain spotted fever is somewhat of a misnomer, because RMSF cases have been reported from all states within the continental U.S. It is also reported from Mexico, Central and South America, and Canada. Approximately 90 percent of all infections occur within the months of April to September, when populations of adult and nymphal ticks are the highest.

Initial signs and symptoms of the disease include sudden onset of fever, headache, and

muscle pain, followed by the development of the characteristic rash. The disease can be difficult to diagnose in the early stages, and without prompt and appropriate treatment it can be fatal. Prior to the use of antimicrobial medications to treat RMSF, case fatality was a high as thirty percent. Now, however, treatment has caused mortality to fall to three to five percent.

## **Clostridium botulinum (Botulism)**

Botulism is a rare and potentially fatal paralytic illness caused by a toxin produced by the bacteria *Clostridium botulinum*. It usually occurs when spores are ingested or toxin inhaled, but in



Figure A-10. Clostridium botulinum (Credit: Dr. Holdeman, CDC)

recent years, there have been many cases of cutaneous origin in injectingdrug users. Typical symptoms of botulism include lethargy and progressive weakness, drooping eyelids or facial muscles, and difficulty speaking or breathing, progressing to a complete descending flaccid paralysis. Botulinum toxins are subdivided into eight neurotoxins: Types A through H, which are antigenically and serologically distinct but structurally similar. Botulism in adults is

usually caused by toxin types A, B, E, although rare cases of intoxication with types F and G have been reported.

The growth and lysis of *Clostridium botulinum* spores releases botulinum toxin, which is then absorbed into the bloodstream and taken throughout the body, causing paralysis by blocking the release of acetylcholine at the neuromuscular junction. Treatment is with appropriate antitoxin and is most effective if delivered quickly, before toxin has bound at the receptor sites.

Case fatality rates in the U.S. from natural disease are between 3 and 10 percent, but can be much higher in older adults. Historically, mortality was much higher at 60 to 70 percent, but fell precipitously with the use of mechanical ventilation and improved supportive care. Patients with severe botulism may require ventilation and intensive care, sometimes for several months.

# Organophosphorus Nerve Agents

The organophosphorus (OP) nerve agents belong to a chemically diverse group of organic compounds that have in common at least one carbon atom bound to a phosphorous atom. They are sometimes referred to as nerve gases because of the high volatility of some of the specific agents, but in fact, they are clear, colorless liquids at room temperature. The OP nerve agents were derived from OP pesticides during World War II by the Nazis to be used as chemical warfare agents (CWAs). Traditional OP nerve agents fall into two groups, the G- and the V-series, based on their chemical and physical properties. The G-series nerve agents [tabun (GA); sarin (GB); and Soman (GD)] are volatile liquids at room temperature that can be deadly when inhaled as a vapor or from percutaneous exposure to the vapor. V-series agents (VX and others) have a consistency similar to oil and do not evaporate rapidly. The V-series agents can remain on clothing and other surfaces for a long time, and they pose a greater risk from dermal exposure or by ingestion. Agents in the V-series are approximately 10- to 100-fold more toxic than those in the G-series.

OP nerve agents inhibit the catalytic function of acetylcholinesterase (AChE).<sup>422</sup> This removes the capacity of the enzyme to catalyze acetylcholine (ACh). As a consequence, the hydrolysis of ACh is prevented, leading to accumulation of ACh in the synaptic cleft and overstimulation and subsequent desensitization of ACh receptors at cholinergic synapses in the brain, glands, and skeletal and smooth muscles. (See Figure 1.)



Figure A-11.. The Biological effects of Organophosphate (OP) Compounds at the Neuromuscular Junction. OP Compound (red), Acetylcholinesterase (yellow), Acetylcholine (blue). (Note the build-up of acetylcholine in the junction which leads to constant firing of the effected nerve.)

The acute effects of OP nerve agents and pesticides include a progression from lack of response to light, ex-

cessive secretions, and muscle fasciculation to epileptic seizures, muscle paralysis, cardiorespiratory depression, and death by respiratory failure. If the subject survives the first day of poisoning, personality changes, mood swings, aggressive events, and psychotic episodes including schizoid reactions, paranoid delusions, and exacerbations of preexisting psychiatric problems may also ensue. Sleep quality is disturbed due to the occurrence of nightmares and hallucinations, disturbances or deficits in memory and attention, as well as additional delayed effects.<sup>423,424</sup>

#### Tabun (GA, EA 1205)

Originally developed as an insecticide in 1936, tabun (O-ethyl-N,N-dimethyl phosphoramidocyanidate) is a highly toxic organophosphorus compound that may also be used as chemical warfare agent. It was the first of the G-Series agents to be developed, and in the Second World War, Germany produced over 12,000 metric tons of it before the manufacturing plant was shut down by allied forces.



Figure A-12. The Chemical Structure of Tabun. Credit: Amir Ahrls, 2012

Exposure can be through inhalation, contact with the skin, eyes, or mucus membranes, or ingested in contaminated food or water. Tabun is a compound of moderate volatility, which means that it can remain toxic on environmental surfaces or substances for minutes to hours. Additionally, tabun breaks down slowly once ingested or absorbed, allowing it to build up in the body with repeated exposures. It also differs from other OPs in that many commonly used antidotes are not able adequately to prevent tabun-induced acute toxic effects, such as central-nervous sys-

tem mediated seizure activity, which can lead to profound long-term disability after exposure.

#### Sarin (GB, EA-1208)

Sarin was discovered in 1938, and like tabun, the finding was made by German scientists attempting to create stronger pesticides for the IG Farben Corporation. It was found to be many



Figure A-13. Chemical Structure of Sarin Credit: Amir Ahrls, 2012

times more toxic than tabun, and it was slated for use in WWII within a year of its discovery. Sarin, named in honor of its discoverers, Schrader, Ambros, Ritter, and Van der Linde, was produced and loaded into artillery shells, but never used against allied forces.

Since then, sarin has been used as a weapon on both military and civilian populations by state actors. Iraqi forces used sarin in attacks against Iranian soldiers near the end of the Iran-Iraq War in the 1980s. Around the same time, in 1988, the Iraqi government also used it against its Kurdish population, killing

5,000 people and injuring many more. More recently, in 2004, Iraqi insurgents attempted to detonate a shell containing precursor chemicals for sarin near US forces. The shell, however, did not detonate correctly, and only two servicemen showed symptoms of exposure. In 2013 the Syrian government used sarin against the rebels in Syria's civil war.

Sarin has also been used in terrorist attacks by the Aum Shinrikyo cult in attacks on civilian populations in Japan in 1994 (Matsumoto attack) and 1995 (Tokyo subway attack). Those two attacks combined, killed 21 people, exposed more than 5,000 people to sarin, and injured hundreds.

## Soman (GD, EA 1210)

Soman, or GD (O-Pinacolyl methyl-phosphonofluoridate), is a volatile, corrosive, and colorless liquid that was the third of the G-series nerve agents to be invented along with tabun (GA),



Figure A-14. Chemical Structure of Soman. Credit: Amir Arhls, 2012

sarin (GB), and cyclosarin (GF). Like many other nerve agents, soman interferes with normal functioning of the mammalian nervous system by inhibiting acetylcholinesterase. Soman is more lethal and more persistent than sarin or tabun, but less so than cyclosarin.

The LCt<sub>50</sub> for soman is estimated to be 70 mg·min/m<sup>3</sup> for humans, a value that is a fraction of the LCt<sub>50</sub> for rodents (954.3 mg·min/m<sup>3</sup>). It can be used as a binary chemical weapon, or it can be thickened

for use as a chemical spray using an acryloid copolymer. It is extremely toxic by all routes: inhalation, contact, and ingestion, with exposure to a 1% LCt<sub>50</sub> dose causing miosis in some individuals.

Regardless of the route of exposure, the initial manifestations of soman toxicity includes runny nose, chest tightness, pinpoint pupils, shortness of breath, excessive salivation and sweating, nausea, vomiting, abdominal cramps, involuntary defecation and urination, muscle twitching. These symptoms are followed by confusion, seizures, paralysis, coma, and in fatal cases, respiratory paralysis, and death may occur within 1 to 10 minutes, depending on the dose. Fatigue, irritability, nervousness, and memory defects may persist for weeks or months (or longer in severe cases of intoxication) after recovery from an exposure episode.

## Cyclosarin (GF, EA 1212)

Cyclosarin or GF (cyclohexyl methylphosphonofluoridate) is the most toxic member of the Gseries family of nerve agents by dose. Discovered in Germany, during the 1930s, cyclosarin was studied extensively by the allies after WWII. To date, however, Iraq is the only nation known to have manufactured significant quantities of cyclosarin for use as a chemical warfare agent. The Iraqi government is believed to have deployed it in battle during the Iran–Iraq war (1980– 1988), often using it together with sarin.



Figure A-15. Chemical Structure of Cyclosarin

At room temperature, cyclosarin is a colorless liquid, but unlike sarin, cyclosarin is a persistent liquid, meaning that it has a low vapor pressure and therefore evaporates slowly, allowing it to remain toxic in the environment longer than other G-series agents.

Sarin has a median lethal dose  $(LD_{50})$  of 5 mg for a 70 kg human, while cyclosarin has an  $LD_{50}$  of 1.2 mg for the same size person. The median lethal concentration per unit time  $(LCt_{50})$  of cyclosarin is 50 mg·min/m<sup>3</sup>, which is half that of sarin.

## GV (GP, EA 5365)

GV (2-(Dimethylamino)ethyl N,N-dimethylphosphoramidofluoridate) is an organophosphate nerve agent that is a part of a new series of nerve agents with properties of both the G-seriesand V-series- agents. It is a potent acetylcholinesterase inhibitor similar to the Novichok (новичок) or "newcomer" series of agents developed in Russia in the 1970s and 1980s. The



Figure A-16. Chemical Structure of GV. Credit: Amir Ahrls

volatility of GV compounds is between that of sarin and VX. Therefore, these agents are effective when penetrating through uniforms and clothing and can be absorbed into porous surfaces for dispersal. GV compounds are not included in the Chemical Weapons Convention schedules of compounds. Symptoms of acute intoxication begin with agitation, followed by increased salivation, rumination and bristling. If doses are high enough, tachypnea (rapid breathing) followed by convulsions and death will follow. The LD<sub>50</sub> values in rats and mice by route of administration are given in Table A- $1.^{425}$ 

Table A-1: LD <sub>50</sub> Values of GV in Rats and Mice by Routes of Administration							
Route of administration	LD <sub>50</sub> (µg/kg) with their 95 %	LD <sub>50</sub> (µg/kg) with their 95 % confidence limits					
	Rats	Mice					
Intravenous	27.6 (25.6-29.4)	11 (8.5-17.6)					
Intramuscular	30.5 (28-55)	17 (15.5-23.6)					
Subcutaneous	32 (29-53)	21 (18-26)					
Oral (po)	.222 (194-255)	190 (881-272)					
After meals (pc)	not tested	1366 (881-3138)					

## VX (EA 1701)

VX, or O-ethyl S-[2-(diisopropylamino)ethyl] methylphosphonothioate — is an extremely toxic substance that is a traditional chemical warfare nerve agent. It is a tasteless, odorless liquid and is the oldest of the V-series agents. It was invented in the 1950s by a British chemist (Rana-



jit Ghosh) investigating organophosphate pesticides and initially marketed under the trade name *Amiton*. Its use as a commercial product, however, was short lived, and it was soon withdrawn because it was too toxic for safe use. Unlike traditional CWAs in the G-series, VX is oily rather than of watery and thus evaporates so slowly that it remains an environmental hazard much longer than other OP nerve agents.<sup>426</sup>

Figure A-17. Space-Filling Model of VX. Credit: Ben Mills

VX can be disseminated as a liquid, thickened

with a polymer, or as an aerosol. It is toxic by multiple routes: inhaled, contact, or ingested. It is the most potent of the traditional CWAs, with the median lethal dose for humans estimated to be about 10 milligrams through skin contact, and the  $LCt_{50}$  for inhalation is estimated to be  $30-50 \text{ mg}\cdot\text{min/m}^3$ .

Iraq claimed to have researched VX, but that they had failed to weaponize the agent due to production failures. After U.S. and allied forces invaded Iraq, however, The United Nations Special Commission (UNSCOM) laboratories detected traces of VX on Iraqi warhead remnants,<sup>427</sup> so it is possible that Iraq may have field-tested the agent. Aum Shinrikyo also synthesized 100 to 200 grams of VX which was used in assassination attacks against three persons suspected of spying on the cult. One of the targeted men was killed and the two others injured.

## Other V-agents (VE, VG, VM)

The V-series agents are part of the group of persistent agents, which are nerve agents that can remain on skin, clothes, and other surfaces for long periods of time due to low volatility characteristics. Like VX, the consistency of these related agents is similar to oil, making the inhalation hazard low. (See Table A-2.)

The only member of the V-series (other than VX) for which historical information exists is V-Gas, also denoted VR. This agent was developed in Russia in the 1950s and 1960s. In 1972, mass production of VR began, with the Soviets making more than 15,000 tons of VR before abandon-ing manufacturing. Most if not all of this is believed to have been destroyed under disarmament treaties.

VR has similar lethal dose levels to VX (between 10–50 mg) and has similar symptoms and method of action as other nerve agents that act on cholinesterase and treatment remains the same. However, the window for effectively treating second generation V series seizures is shorter, as they rapidly denature the acetylcholinesterase protein in a similar manner to soman.

Treatment with the standard nerve gas antidotes are thus challenging unless delivered immediately after exposure.

Table A-2. Other V-Agents					
Code Name	Chemical Name				
VX	O-Ethyl-S-[2(diisopropylamino)ethyl] methylphosphonothioate				
VE	O-Ethyl-S-[2-(diethylamino)ethyl] ethylphosphonothioate				
VG	O,O-Diethyl-S-[2-(diethylamino)ethyl] phosphorothioate				
VM	O-Ethyl-S-[2-(diethylamino)ethyl] methylphosphonothioate				
VR (V-Gas)	Russian equivalent of VX				

## DFP (EA 1152, Diisopropyl fluorophosphate)

Diisopropyl fluorophosphate, or DFP, was developed in Britain as a chemical warfare agent in an attempt to counter the threat of nerve agent use on the battlefield by Germany. Although



*Figure A-18. Structure of Diisopropyl fluorophosphate (DFP). Credit: Ben Mills, 2013.* 

DFP is a potent neurotoxin, with an LD<sub>50</sub> of 1.3 mg/kg in rats, it was much less effective as a chemical weapon than the G-series agents (tabun, soman, sarin, and cyclosarin). Its principal use as a chemical warfare agent was in conjunction with other agents (often mustard gas) to form compounds that had lower melting points and were suitable for use in colder weather. It was sometimes also used as a simulant for G-series

agents in military research. Today it has medical uses as an anticholinesterase treatment for the miosis associated with glaucoma and as a targeted protease inhibitor against some viral infections. It is also used as a potent insecticide in agricultural settings.

# Malathion (CAS 121-75-5)



Figure A-19. Space-Filling Model of Malathion

Malathion is a pesticide that is widely used in agriculture, residential landscaping, public recreation areas, and in public health pest control programs such as mosquito eradication. It has been used in Mediterranean fruit fly and West Nile virus control programs, and is also used as a personal pesticide for lice infestations. It is an organophosphate parasympathomimetic which binds irreversibly to cholinesterase (ChE). Malathion itself is of low toxicity, however, absorption or ingestion into the human body readily results in its metabolism to malaoxon, which is substan-

tially more toxic. In studies of the effects of long-term exposure to oral ingestion of malaoxon in rats, malaoxon has been shown to be 61 times more toxic than Malathion.<sup>428</sup>

#### Physostigmine (CAS 57-47-6)

Physostigmine is a parasympathomimetic alkaloid, specifically, a reversible cholinesterase inhibitor. It occurs naturally in the Calabar bean, native to West Africa. It was synthesized for the first time in 1935 by African-American chemist, Percy Lavon Julian, in conjunction with Josef Pikl.



Figure A-20. Space-Filling Model of Physostigmine. Credit: Jacopo Werther

Because it is a tertiary amine, it can cross the blood-brain barrier. Physostigmine salicylate is used to treat the central nervous system effects of atropine, scopolamine, and other anticholinergic drug overdoses. However, routine use not recommended because of potentially serious adverse effects (e.g., seizures, bronchospasm, bradycardia, and asystole).

# Anticholinergics



#### Tox Number B001: 3-Quinuclidinyl benzilate (BZ, QNB)

Tox Number B001: 3-Quinuclidinyl benzilate (BZ, QNB)

One of the first incapacitants investigated for use was 3-quinuclidinyl benzilate, also known as QNB or BZ. It is one of the most potent anticholinergic psychomimetics known, and works by competitively inhibiting acetylcholine at postsynaptic and postjunctional muscarinic receptor sites in smooth muscle, exocrine glands, autonomic ganglia, and the brain. Because of its muscarinic receptor target, it has both important parasympathetic and central nervous system (CNS) effects. Its CNS ef-

fects include stupor, confusion, and hallucinations, sometimes lasting for days depending upon the dose. The onset of action is approximately 1 hour, post-exposure with peak effects occurring 8 hours post-exposure. Acute symptoms gradually subside over 2-4 days. BZ can be delivered as an aerosol, or prepared with carrier substances for gastrointestinal or percutaneous absorption. Estimates of the aerosol doses of BZ required to produce mild incapacitation (blurring of vision, minimal lack of coordination) is 66-124 mg.min/m<sup>-3</sup>. Moderate incapacitation, which includes confusion, hallucination, and incoherent speech was achieved with 102-152 mg.min/m<sup>-3</sup>, and severe incapacitation, which could include stupor or coma, resulted from doses of 110-165 mg.min/m<sup>-3</sup>.

Use of QNB has been suggested, but not confirmed, in two past international conflicts: In 1992 in the Mozambican Civil War, and in 1995, in Bosnian War. It also is used in low-levels as an illicit, recreational drug in some civilian populations.



## Tox Number B002: N-Methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylphenyl glycolate

N-Methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylphenyl glycolate is one of the glycolate esters closely related to BZ. Notably, its incapacitating dose is two-thirds that of BZ. It also has fewer effects on the peripheral nervous system than BZ, but produces more central nervous system effects, such as hallucinations. Almost all of the recent unclassified information available on this compound comes from publications reviewing historical human exposure testing data by the US

Tox Number B002: N-Methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylphenyl glycolate

military, or from publications older than the scope of this report (1960s-1970s).<sup>429</sup> It is not a compound currently in clinical or commercial use. (See Table A-3.)

Table A-3. The Potency of Tox Number B002 Relative to BZ <sup>15 (Moshiri)</sup>							
ID <sub>50</sub>	Relative Potency						
µg/kg	Peripheral Effects	Central Nervous System Effects					
(relative to BZ; BZ=1)	(BZ=1)	(BZ=1)					
3.4 (0.65)	0.43	1.6					

## Tox Number B003: N-methyl-4-piperidyl cyclobutylphenyl glycolate

N-methyl-4-piperidyl cyclobutylphenyl glycolate is another one of the glycolate esters closely related to BZ. Its incapacitating dose is about three-quarters that of BZ. Like Tox B002, it has



*Tox Number B003: N-Methyl-4-piperidyl cyclobutylphenyl gly-colate* 

about half as many peripheral effects as BZ, but produces one and a halftimes as many central nervous system effects. Almost all of the recent unclassified information available on this compound comes from publications reviewing historical human exposure testing data by the US military, or contemporaneous academic and civilian studies. It is not a compound currently in clinical or commercial use. There was no information available about po-

tential long-term sequelae of exposure. (See Table A-4.)

Table A-4. The Potency of Tox Number B003 Relative to BZ <sup>15 (Moshiri)</sup>							
ID <sub>50</sub>	ID <sub>50</sub> Relative Potency						
μg/kg	Peripheral Effects	Central Nervous System Effects					
(relative to BZ; BZ=1)	(BZ=1)	(BZ=1)					
3.9 (0.75)	0.48	1.5					

Table A-5 The Potency of Tox Number B006 Relative to BZ <sup>15 (Moshiri)</sup>							
ID <sub>50</sub>	ID <sub>50</sub> Relative Potency						
μg/kg	Peripheral Effects	Central Nervous System Effects					
(relative to BZ; BZ=1)	(BZ=1)	(BZ=1)					
4.1 (0.78)	0.37-0.74	1.4					

## Tox Number B006: 3-quinuclidinyl phenylcyclopentyl glycolate



*Tox Number B006: 3-Quinuclidinyl phenylcyclopentyl glycolate* 

Another analogue of BZ that was tested for its incapacitating effects was 3-quinuclidinyl phenylcyclopentyl glycolate. According to tests performed by the US military at Edgewood, cited in JD Ball's review article, this compound had a lower incapacitating dose than BZ, along with fewer effects on the peripheral nervous system. Conversely, it had more central nervous system effects than BZ, and effects from exposure could be detected for up to five days after exposure, a full day after BZ's symptoms had usually ceased. (See Table A-5.)

#### Tox Number B007: Ditran (JB-329, CAS: 8015-54-1)

Ditran is an anticholinergic drug mixture that is also related to BZ. It is composed of a mixture of 70 percent 1-ethyl-2-pyrrolidinylmethyl-alpha- phenylcyclopentylglycolate and 30 percent 1-ethyl-3-piperidyl-alpha-phenylcyclopentylglycolate. These compounds are structural isomers and have very similar pharmacological properties. The piperidine compound is the more potent of the two and the reason the mixture was used was because of ease of manufacture. It is also possible to make the piperidine compound in its pure form, so there were ultimately two forms of Ditran used in research, the original 70/30 mix, and "Ditran-B", the pure piperidine compound.



Ditran was developed in an attempt to produce non-lethal incapacitating agents similar to BZ, but was found to be less potent. It was, however, roughly comparable to the action of atropine and scopolamine, although scopolamine was the most potent of the three drugs. Ditran fell out of use, and most research on it stopped by the 1980s.

The only recent publication discussing Ditran that could be found is on its historical use in toxic, antipersonnel projectiles (bullets, shells, etc.).<sup>267</sup>



Tox Number B008: Benzetimide HCl

Tox Number B008: Benzetimide HCl

Benzetimide HCl is a powerful anticholinergic that was investigated both as an incapacitating agent and as an anti-Parkinson's disease medication. It produced neuromuscular blockage without anesthesia, and decreased peripheral nerve sensation. In increasing doses, it could produce tremor, seizure, and convulsions. Like other anticholinergics, mydriasis (dry eyes) and pupil dilation were side effects.

#### Tox number B009: L-2-α-tropinyl benzilate hydrochloride



L-2- $\alpha$ -tropinyl benzilate hydrochloride is an anticholinergic that was investigated as an incapacitating agent because of its central nervous system effects. It produced powerful hallucinations and distorted perceptions at doses as small as 0.007 mg/kg in humans.

L-2-α-Tropinyl benzilate hydrochloride is no longer in widespread clinical or commercial use, and there is no recent scientific or medical infor-

mation about its effects. A small literature does exist from the 1960s and 1970s, when it was under investigation as an incapacitant.

#### **Tox Number B010: L-2-α-tropinyl L-cyclopentylphenylglycolate**

L-2-α-tropinyl L-cyclopentylphenylglycolate was tested on approximately twenty-one human subjects in the late 1960s to evaluate its effects as an incapacitating agent in order to learn how to better protect US servicemen from its effects.

It was a notable substance because it had powerful central nervous system effects that were more than two and a half times those of BZ at only one-tenth the dose. It had, however, fewer effects on the peripheral nervous system than did BZ.



Testing was limited, and there is very little information about the compound in current literature. The one recent paper that discusses it, does so to review historical work on the compound. (See Table A-6.)

Tox Number B010: L-2- $\alpha$ -Tropinyl L-cyclopentylphenylgly-colate

Table A-6. The Potency of Tox Number B010 Relative to BZ <sup>15 (Moshiri)</sup>							
ID <sub>50</sub> Relative Potency							
μg/kg	Peripheral Effects	Central Nervous System Effects					
(relative to BZ; BZ=1)	(BZ=1)	(BZ=1)					
2.0 (0.12)	0.37-0.74	2.5					

#### Tox Number B011: N-methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylmethyl-ethynyl glycollate (PCMG)

N-methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylmethyl-ethynylglycollate or PCMG was a moderately potent and relatively short lasting anticholinergic deliriant drug, related to the chemical warfare agent BZ. It was developed under contract to Edgewood Arsenal during the 1960s as part of the US military chemical weapons program, during research to improve upon the properties of earlier incapacitants agents. During research and development PCMG was found to be only around one-fourth the potency of BZ, but its onset of action was much faster - only a few minutes. Additionally, in a dose-dependent manner, duration of effects could be far shorter – at only 2-3 hours. A fast-acting and short-lasting anticholinergic drug was felt to be more desirable for some applications.<sup>430</sup>

## Tox Number B012: cis-2-methyl-3-quinuclidinyl cyclopentylphenyl-glycolate

The only information that could be found on Tox Number B013 was a Chem ID-Plus Datasheet from ToxNet. Although this provided some structural and chemical properties, no toxicity data was available.



*Tox Number B013: 1-Methyl-4-piperidyl phenyl-(3-methylbut-1-yn-3-enyl)-glycolate* 

# Tox Number B013: 1-methyl-4-piperidyl phenyl-(3-methylbut-1-yn-3-enyl)-glycolate

This unusual anticholinergic was tested on only eight servicemen at Edgewood/Aberdeen. There is no information available in recent publications about this compound. A Chem-ID Plus fact sheet from ToxNet only revealed that the LD<sub>50</sub> for mice was 36 mg/kg delivered as an intravenous dose. No further information is available as the compound is not in widespread use today.

## Tox Number B014: 3-quinuclidinyl (1-hydroxycyclopentyl) phenylacetate



Only five servicemen at Edgewood/Aberdeen were exposed to this anticholinergic compound. There is little information about it, except that it has an extremely low intramuscular toxic dose for humans of 0.003mg/kg.

*Tox Number B014: 3-Quinuclidinyl (1-hydroxycyclopentvl) phenvlacetate* 

# Tox Number B015: 3-quinuclidinyl cyclopentyl-(2 –propenyl)-glycolate

This anticholinergic was tested on 18 servicemen during the human exposure trials at Edgewood/Aberdeen. Other than a Chem-ID Fact sheet, only historical animal testing information remains. In original reports form Edgewood, it is noted to have had a potency more or less the same as that of BZ, however, it's time to action was extremely short as were the duration of its effects.

# Tox Number B016: 4-(1-methyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridyl)-Methyl-Isopropyl-phenylglycolate



*Tox Number B016: 4-(1-methyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridyl)-Methyl-Isopropyl-phenylglycolate* 

Thirty-nine servicemen were administered Tox Number B016 during the Edgewood/Aberdeen exposure tests. Subjects were given a range of doses from 1.0 to 4.6  $\mu$ g/kg via the intravenous route. When scored against baseline performance on Numbers Facility Test, all subjects lost at least 25 percent of their abilities, and men given the largest doses lost as much as 50 percent of their baseline abilities. The intravenous ID<sub>50</sub> was estimated to be about

9 μg/kg based on both performance on a Numbers Facility Test and clinical evaluation of the test subjects. (See Table A-7)

Table A-7. The Potency of Tox Number B016			
ID <sub>50</sub>	Relative Potency		
μg/kg	Peripheral Effects	Central Nervous System Effects	
8.9	0.9	2.4	

\*Peripheral potency is in comparison to atropine (based on ED<sub>50</sub> to produce maximal heart rate of at least 100 beats/min.). Central potency is in comparison with scopolamine (based on ID<sub>50</sub>).

#### Tox Number B018: Benactyzine HCl (Amizil, Suvatil, Parasan, Nutinal)

Various benactyzine compounds were tested for psychomimetic effects by the US military. A total of sixteen servicemen were given the drug. Those given low doses noted a feeling of detachment from reality. Those given moderate doses had frequent episodes of forgetfulness while the drug was active, and those given higher doses experienced euphoria and hypersensitivity with some hallucinations.

In addition to these tests, benactyzine was used for decades for treatment of depression and related anxiety, until it was removed from the US market by the Food and Drug Administration for lack of effectiveness. It is still used as an anticonvulsant used to treat Parkinson's disease.



*Tox Number B018: Benactyzine HCl* 

Recent work in chemical defense has suggested benactyzine as an adjunct treatment for organophosphate nerve agent poisoning. It has shown to be effective in stopping convulsions in animals. Benactyzine stopped convulsions brought on by the administration of sarin or soman, even after the test animal had been convulsing for more than 30 minutes.<sup>431,432</sup>

Recent *in-vitro* analyses of the action of benactyzine on the survival of cell lines

found that it had very low toxicity when compared with other anticholinergics such as atropine and obidoxime. Likewise, the same study found low levels of DNA damage by benactyzine administration relative to the damage caused by the other drugs.<sup>433</sup>

#### Tox Number B022: atropine methyl nitrate (Eumydrin)

Atropine methyl nitrate (AMN) is a synthetic atropine and a muscarinic cholinergic blocker that does not cross the blood brain barrier. It produces all of the peripheral effects of atropine, but none of the centrally-mediated ones. Peripheral effects could include rapid heart rate, dry mouth and eyes, blurred vision and lack of balance and coordination. In high doses it can incapacitate just like atropine.



Tox Number B022: Atropine Methyl Nitrate (Eumydrin)

A total of 18 servicemen underwent 50 exposures of AMN or Eumydrin during the Edgewood/Aberdeen human trials of anticholinergic compounds. Very little information is available about these tests except that the human intramuscular toxic dose was calculated to be 0.002mg/kg.

Studies examining the potential effects

on cognition of atropine compounds have found that atropine, but not AMN has an inhibitory effect on some types of learning and memory.<sup>434</sup> The researchers believe that AMN does not have an effect on cognition because the neurobehavioral elements studied are centrally mediated and AMN only acts on peripheral muscarinic targets.

## Tox Number B023: N-methyl-4-piperidyl isopropylphenyl-glycolate (EA 3834)

EA 3834 is somewhat distinctive from the other anticholinergic test compounds. The intravenous  $ID_{50}$  is approximately 5.7 µg/kg, which is about the same as that for BZ. However, the time



Tox Number B023: N-Methyl-4-piperidyl isopropylphenyl-glycolate (EA 3834)

of onset of severe effects of EA 3834 is inversely related to dose. Onset of symptoms occurs after about 35 min for subject given the ID<sub>50</sub> and after about only 10 minutes for those administered 3 times the ID<sub>50</sub>. The duration of severe effects is roughly constant within this dose range, and usually begins to taper off after six to nine hours. A total of 144 servicemen received EA 3834 during the human exposure tests by the US military.

Possible renal toxicity in two servicemen was reported in the Edgewood studies after the use of this compound.<sup>387</sup> One volunteer who had received the agent intravenously had red blood cells in his urine shortly after the completion of his test. Extensive workup failed to uncover any definite kidney disease or lesion to account for the bleeding, which persisted intermittently for a year after exposure. Animal studies suggested that such bleeding could indeed result from administration. When greater care was taken with screening for renal toxicity or injury, no further cases were noted. Thus, it is not clear whether renal injury was caused by the compound or by the catheterization procedure.

#### Tox Number B025: toxogonin-atropine-benactyzine (TAB)

TAB is an anticholinergic compound mixing atropine and benactyzine with a third oxime compound, which varies. Today the third compound is often the TMB-4, in the past it has sometimes been 2-PAM, or toxogonin (obidoxime). It is used as a fast-acting medical countermeasure to organophosphate anticholinesterase exposure. From 1975–1980 the U.S. military also used TAB. Prior to use, this TAB (with TMB-4) was tested on 24 servicemen at Edgewood/Aberdeen. Overall, TAB was deemed to be as safe and as effective as atropine alone, although the combination was quicker acting.

#### Lysergic Acid Diethylamide

Lysergic acid diethylamide, or LSD is a drug of the ergoline family, well known for its psychological effects including hallucinations, synesthesia, an altered sense of time, and spiritual experiences. It is produced by the alkaline hydrolysis of ergotamine, a chemical derived from ergot, a grain fungus that typically grows on rye. LSD can also be synthesized without the use of ergotamine.<sup>435</sup> The drug is very unstable in its pure basic or free-base form (EA 1729), but is relatively stable as a salt. The two most commonly encountered LSD salts are maleate salt (EA 3528) and tartrate salt (EA 1653) (See Table A-8) Related compounds include the lysergamides, which are amides of lysergic acid; ergotamine is a lysergamide. Several well-known lysergamides include acetyl-LSD (ALD/N-acetyl LSD) and bromo-LSD (BOL-).

LSD has been used to study psychotic-like states and model psychosis<sup>436,437</sup> and as a treatment for psychological disorders. It has also been investigated for the treatment of alcoholism,<sup>438</sup> addiction,<sup>439</sup> cluster headache,<sup>440</sup> and anxiety associated with terminal illness.<sup>441</sup>

It was first synthesized in 1938, by Swiss biochemist Albert Hoffman, while researching compounds to act as respiratory and circulatory stimulants. The discovery took place in the Sandoz laboratories in Basel, but was set aside for several years while work on other, more promising

Table A-8. LSD and Related Compounds	
Lysergic Acid Diethylamide/CAS 50-37-3	
LSD (free base)/EA 1729	
<ul> <li>LSD (maleate and tartrate salts)/EA 3528 and EA 1653</li> </ul>	
Lysergamides	
<ul> <li>Acetyl-lysergic acid diethylamide/ALD/N-acetyl LSD</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Bromo-lysergic acid diethylamide/BOL/CAS 478-84-2</li> </ul>	

compounds proceeded. Hoffman began work on LSD again in 1943, and accidently discovered its psychological effects after getting some of the drug on his fingertips. After Hoffman's initial

discovery and explorations of LSD's hallucinogenic properties, WA Stoll, the director of the laboratory that Hoffman worked in, began experimenting on the psychological phenomena produced by the drug.<sup>442</sup>

Using both normal and psychologically disturbed subjects, Stoll reported changes in perception that led to hallucinations, acceleration of thinking, and slight dimming of consciousness without the lessening of judgement in his subjects. He noted that LSD was outstanding in producing a clear-cut blunting of the effect and suspiciousness that was often seen in schizophrenic patients. In 1947, Stoll and Hoffman patented LSD for psychiatric use under the trade name *Delysid*.<sup>443</sup>

# National Security Human Tests with LSD

In 1949, L. Wilson Greene, Edgewood Arsenal's Scientific Director, wrote an influential paper titled *Psychochemical Warfare: A New Concept of War*. In it, he called for a search for compounds that would create the same debilitating effects as nerve gas, developed by the Germans in WWII, but without the lethality.<sup>444</sup> Greene said that, "I am convinced that it is possible, by means of the techniques of psychochemical warfare, to conquer an enemy without the whole-sale killing of his people or the mass destruction of his property."

By 1950, attempts to replicate Stoll's findings were taking place at Washington University Medical Center in Saint Louis. The point of these studies were to try to, "reactivate," chronically depressed, or psychotically withdrawn patients.<sup>445</sup> At around the same time, other institutions were exploring the use of LSD in treating other psychological disorders – including Parkinson's disease and a variety of psychoses.

In early 1951, reports that the Soviets were experimenting with psychotropic drugs, including one called, "ketjabung," that rendered subjects unable to resist the control of external handlers began to worry the US Intelligence Community.<sup>446</sup> Also at this time, two Soviet-bloc agents were apprehended at the West German border with vials of an alkaloid compound said to have the same effects as ketjabung, <sup>4</sup> the Soviets made large purchases of ergot, and Polish radio urged citizens to collect ergot as large supplies were needed.<sup>447</sup>

The threat of Soviet experimentation on mind control and incapacitation, as well as civilian findings on LSD effects spurred the Central Intelligence Agency's interest, and in late 1951, their investigations into the drug's effects began.<sup>448</sup> The CIA's efforts were twofold; they wanted to clarify the potential threat to operatives to know how to defend against it, and they wanted to see if the drug could be used offensively to incapacitate or to ease interrogations.

Throughout the rest of the 1950s, interest in the effects of LSD grew amongst civilian medical and scientific groups, and in the US National Security community. In 1960, Sidney Cohen of UCLA compiled the test results of 44 civilian investigators and found that a total of 5000 individuals were administered LSD in the US.<sup>449</sup> Similarly, almost 4,500 civilians in the UK were given the drug as part of private medical experiments or as part of a treatment regimen.<sup>450</sup>

The Chemical Warfare Laboratories at Edgewood received authority to use human volunteers in psychochemical drug experiments in May 1956, and later that year, the Medical Research Laboratories at Edgewood began studies on the effects of LSD.<sup>451</sup> Careful candidate selection with a barrage of medical and psychological tests occurred and individual consent from subjects was required. All tests were performed under medical supervision. Retrospective analysis of the health effects of LSD conducted by the Department of the Army identified 741 individuals thought to have participated in the LSD tests.

#### Oximes

Organophosphorus chemicals (OPs) and anticholinesterase chemical warfare agents (CWAs) inhibit acetylcholinesterase (AChE) at synaptic junctions by depositing a phosphoryl group at the enzyme's active site. This results in an accumulation of acetylcholine and uncontrolled activation of cholinergic synapses. Oximes are chemicals that react with the cholinesterase enzyme inhibited by the OPs and CWAs, and allow acetylcholinesterase to break down acetylcholine.

The ability to reverse acetylcholinesterase inhibition varies with the OP, CWA exposure, and route of administration. Timing of oxime administration is critical because the binding of the nerve agents to a cholinesterase can become irreversible with time ("aging"). Once aging has occurred, the cholinesterase enzyme will be unable to break down acetylcholine. Aging occurs at different rates for different nerve agents. Aging can sometimes be counteracted with continuous or intermittent doses of oxime as opposed to single bolus dosage. Soman's rapid aging, however, still makes treatment of this CWA challenging.

Oximes are often administered with atropine and complement the function of this anticholinergic compound, which is a potent muscarinic antagonist, whereas oximes work mostly at nicotinic synapses. Oximes also tend to act peripherally because their ability to penetrate the blood brain barrier can be limited (depending on the oxime type and plasma concentration).

Historical work has shown that some of the acute toxic effects of oximes are due to the generation of cyanide through metabolic processes.<sup>452,453</sup> However, existing data suggest less than 5 percent of administered doses is converted to cyanide, and this does not represent a significant health threat in animals. It is not known whether this is also true for humans and other primates. Another pathway for oxime toxicity may be related to their ability to form compounds with the OPs they remove from AChE binding sites (phosphylated oximes).<sup>454</sup>

Some of these compounds are more stable than others, and those formed by obidoxime and trimedoxime are more stable than those formed by pyridoxime.<sup>455</sup> These compounds are important because they may have higher AChE inhibition rates than OPs themselves. This, however, varies greatly by OP exposure and oxime.<sup>456</sup>

#### Toxogonin, Obidoxime chloride

Obidoxime was developed in Germany in the early 1960s and introduced into medical practice as a treatment for OP poisoning. Being a good AChE reactivator, obidoxime, given with atropine, efficiently protected experimental animals against poisoning with tabun, sarin, and VX. However, like the pyridoximes and trimedoxime, it was inefficient in countering soman poisoning in mice and other laboratory animals. An exception to this finding was that it could provide some protection against soman in guinea pigs that were pretreated with the anticholinergic pyridostigmine.<sup>457</sup>

## Trimedoxime (TMB4)

TMB-4 was first synthesized in the late 1950s and was the first bispyridinium oxime to be effective against tabun (GA) exposure.<sup>458</sup> Historical studies from the 1970s have described the side effects of TMB4 after intramuscular injection of 250 mg (2.5 -3.52 mg/kg) in humans.<sup>459, 460</sup> Acute adverse reactions included a burning sensation at the site of injection, warm sensation in the face, dizziness, blurred vision, difficulty concentrating, headache, diplopia, impaired accommodation, and nausea. Symptoms were of variable duration and lasted from 10 to 45 minutes.

A more recent examination of symptoms produced by accidental injection with atropine and TMB4 autoinjectors in Israel, however, found no adverse reactions related to TMB4 exposure in adults.<sup>301</sup> This study was based on data collected from the Israel Poison Information Center, and the Assaf Harofeh Medical Center over a two-year period. The absence of adverse effects in the study subjects was likely related to the lower dose of TMB4 in the autoinjectors (80 mg) relative to the dosages used in the earlier study (187 – 262 mg). These results are similar to those found in a historical (2005) study in which children receiving unintentional injections from atropine and TMB4 autoinjectors experienced no significant adverse side effects of injection.<sup>461</sup>

#### Pralidoxime methane sulfonate

Pralidoxime is the most frequently used oxime worldwide and occurs in four forms: Pralidoxime chloride [2-PAM; molecular weight (MW) 173]; Pralidoximemesylate (P2S; MW 232); Pralidox-ime metilsulfate (MW 248), and Pralidoxime iodide (MW 264).<sup>462</sup>

The different salts vary in efficacy according to the chemical characteristics of the salts. For example, the lower molecular weight of the chloride salt provides 1-5 times more active compound per gram than does the larger MW iodide salt.<sup>463</sup> The effectiveness of the different pralidoxime compounds and of other oximes as well, can also vary depending upon the specific OP or CWA exposure.

First discovered in the mid-1950s, pralidoxime was soon successfully introduced into clinical practice for patients with organophosphate pesticide poisoning. Despite the beneficial effects of pralidoxime first noted with parathion poisoning, its effectiveness has been much debated. Historical trials in the developing world, where OP poisoning is an important public health problem, noted that low-dose infusions of pralidoxime may actually increase morbidity and mortal-ity in patients.<sup>302,303,304</sup> A recent meta-analysis by Buckley and Eddleston, however, suggested that these clinical trials used suboptimum doses and inadequate delivery regimes of pralidox-ime, that investigators did not achieve the plasma concentrations of oxime recommended by

the World Health Organization, and that these design issues were the cause of their poor outcomes.<sup>305</sup>

A more recent clinical trial by Pawar examining the efficacy of high-dose pralidoxime for OP poisoning found the administration of the oxime improved morbidity and treatment outcomes.<sup>306</sup> In that trial, patients were given a dose of oxime upon admission and were then randomly assigned to control and study groups (100 patients per group.) Controls were given a bolus dose of 1 g pralidoxime per hour every 4 hours for 48 hours. The study group had a constant infusion of 1 g per hour every hour for 48 hours. Patients receiving the high-dose pralidoxime regimen required less atropine during the first 24 h than controls [median 6 mg vs 30 mg; difference 24 mg (95% Cl 24-26, p < 0.0001)]. Eighty-eight percent of controls and 64 percent of high-dose patients needed intubation during admission to hospital (relative risk = 0.72, 0.62-0.86, p = 0.0001). Control patients required ventilatory support for longer [median 10 days vs 5 days; difference 5 days (5-6, p < 0.0001)].<sup>306</sup>

#### Irritants

The irritant compounds cause tearing, rhinorrhea, intense salivation, and irritation of the skin and eyes, and are commonly known as, "tear gasses," or lachrymatory agents. Brief exposure to irritants produces effects that generally resolve within an hour, leaving no long-term sequelae. However, sustained exposure to high concentrations may produce tissue injury, notably to the eye, respiratory tract, and skin.<sup>314</sup>

Because irritant compounds generally produce only transient casualties, they are widely used for riot control and situations where long-term incapacitation is unacceptable. When used against poorly equipped disruptive or enemy forces, these compounds have proved extremely effective in dispersing crowds and quelling disturbances. When released indoors, however, they can cause serious illness or death.<sup>464</sup>

Today, commonly used irritants include: CN (chloroacetophenone), CS (chlorobenzylidene malononitrile), CR [dibenzoxazepine), and OC (oleoresin capsicum-based compounds (or pepper sprays)]. Many police and military units mix irritants as well, so it would not be uncommon for CS and pepper-spray to be used together to disperse potentially violent or disruptive crowds.<sup>465</sup> Irritants are generally dispersed into the atmosphere as pyrotechnically generated smokes, aerosols, vapors, or dusts. They may also be dispersed in solution as jets or sprays with the solution chemicals chosen for their own irritant effects.<sup>465</sup>
# (CA) Bromobenzyl cyanide

CA was one of the first tear agents or lacrimators fielded in-theatre in World War I. After the war, CA fell out of favor in the west because it was considered too toxic and was generally replaced with CN-series agents.<sup>466</sup> Its use, however, persisted in the Soviet Union and satellite nations, where it was sometimes mixed with mustard gas or bis(chloromethyl) aether.<sup>467</sup> It is now considered obsolete, but was tested on 13 volunteers at Edgewood Arsenal in 1966, to study its persistence in enclosed spaces, as well as its effects on human subjects.<sup>405</sup>

### (CN) Chloroacetophenone

CN was developed at the end of World War I, but it came into use after the war, and in the interwar years, it became widely used by militaries and law enforcement agencies around the world. Also known as Mace <sup>™</sup> when it is dispensed as a low-dose, pressurized aerosol, CN produces a burning sensation in the nose, eyes, and mouth followed rapidly by tearing, rhinorrhea, and salivating. Burning sensation on exposed skin is also a common acute effect. (See Table A-9.)

Table A-9. Comparison of the Estimated Human Toxicity of CN and CS <sup>468, 469</sup>		
	(CN) chloroacetophe-	(CS) chlorobenzylidene
	none	malonitrile
Threshold for eye irritation (mg/m3)	1.0	0.004
Effective concentration—ICt50	20–50	4–20
(mg/min/m3)		
Estimated lethal dose—LCt50 (mg/min/m3)	8500-25 000	25 000–100 000

Older animal studies (rat, rabbit, guinea pig and mouse) from the 1970s examining the inhalational pathophysiology and pathogenesis of CN at LD<sub>50</sub> exposures found that the lungs of exposed animal were macroscopically congested, edematous, and had multiple variable sized hemorrhages. Histopathology of the lungs showed congestion of alveolar capillaries intrapulmonary veins, intra-alveolar hemorrhages, bronchioles occluded with excess secretions, and patchy acute inflammatory cell infiltration of the trachea, bronchi, and bronchioles. Importantly however, animals sacrificed 14 days post-exposure, in general, showed no pathology. So, animals surviving intentionally high initial doses sustained only acute injury, not long-term serious damage.<sup>307</sup>

### (DM) Adamsite

Adamsite is an arsenical irritant often referred to as a, vomiting agent. Its effects are, however, largely similar to CN, CS, and several other irritants, although both time to onset of symptoms

and duration are generally longer than in other agents. Within five minutes of exposure to Adamsite as an aerosol, humans feel a burning sensation beginning in the eyes and upper respiratory tract. This can be followed by rapid, uncontrolled blinking and tearing, rhinorrhea and then nausea and vomiting.<sup>470</sup> If exposure to Adamsite aerosol is in an open-air environment, initial symptoms will begin to clear within 20-30 minutes. Historical studies indicated that a second wave of symptoms, including headache, depression, perspiration, chills, nausea, abdominal cramps, vomiting, and diarrhea, may appear about 30 minutes after exposure and persist for several hours.<sup>471</sup>

### EA 1778 (nonanoyl morpholide), MPK

Nonanoyl morpholide or EA 1778 was an irritant agent developed at Edgewood Arsenal. It is a synthetic compound of capsaicin, which acts as a lacrimator or tearing agent and causes coughing, a burning sensation of the nose, throat, and eyes, and in some cases nausea. It has also been reported to cause respiratory tract irritation including rhinorrhea, substernal pain, and dyspnea. It is not a persistent agent, and symptoms were relieved when subjects were allowed to breathe fresh air.<sup>472</sup>

Commercially, EA 1778 is available as an aerosol canister for the Russian UDAR ("punch") gun used by both military and civilians as an antipersonnel weapon.<sup>325</sup>

# (CS) Chlorobenzylidene malononitrile

CS is widely used around the world for crowd control and is generally dispersed as a grenadegenerated smoke, as a droplet aerosol, or as a liquid solution. Commercial CS-based products include Paralyzer<sup>®</sup> and the mixture of CS and capsaicin known as Sabre<sup>®</sup>. Historical studies examining human response to liquid exposure found that after drenching with 0.001–0.005% CS in aqueous 3.3% glyceryl triacetate, there was an abrupt onset of stinging sensation of the eyes, uncontrolled blinking and tearing, all persisting for about 3 minutes. This was followed by stinging sensation of the skin, progressing down from the face to neck, back, and genitalia. Skin discomfort resolved within about 10 minutes.<sup>473</sup>

# EA 2097, Benzylidene malonitrile

Benzylidene malonitrile is the parent compound of the CS agents (-chlorobenzylidene malononitrile). Lindsay and colleagues have recently recounted historical trials at Porton Down that exposed human volunteers to various benzylidene malonitriles (BMNs).<sup>474</sup> That paper stated, "BMN is an irritant which attacks the respiratory tract and to a lesser degree the eyes. In both respects, however, it is far less potent than many other well-known compounds." In these Porton Down tests, the men who were exposed became affected within 1 minute and experienced mild coughing and restricted breathing. There was also tear formation but no actual lachrymation. Although this concentration would interfere with carrying out ordinary duties, the symptoms could not be described as indicating the limit of tolerability during an exposure of 3 minutes. Towards the end of the exposure, the discomfort was subsiding.<sup>474</sup>

# (CR), EA 3547, Dibenzoxazepine

Dibenzoxazepine is a potent irritant that is 5-10 times more effective than CS but is much less toxic than CS or CN (human  $LCt_{50}$  is estimated at > 100,000 mg.min/m<sup>3</sup>).<sup>475</sup> CR causes an immediate irritation of the eyes, nose, and skin, and its effects are nearly identical to CS but generally more transient. CR is also the parent compound to loxapine, which is related to the antipsychotic drug Loxitane (loxipine succinate).<sup>476</sup> Because of this association, CR may produce a decline in aggressive behavior.

Despite its reduced toxicity in humans, CR is not entirely without long-term risk. CR is fairly stable, resists weathering, and persists in the environment for long periods of time.<sup>477</sup> For example, Kovalev et al., studied the persistence of CR on cotton fabric and found that storage conditions greatly influenced the persistence of CR on the fabric.<sup>478</sup> That study found that after 300 days post exposure, CR on the fabric stored in the open had reduced to 22.5% of original values, while that on the fabric stored in closed conditions was reduced only 79%. After 600 days, the values of CR on the fabric were 3% and 52 % for open storage conditions and closed storage, respectively. Additionally, the same group of researchers showed that CR on fabric stored in closed conditions cause severe eye irritation in rabbits, even after 600 days post exposure.<sup>479</sup> Because of CRs high persistence, enhanced toxicity may occur with prolonged or repeated exposure, and secondary exposures may occur.<sup>480</sup>

Historical work done on the toxicity of CR in mice, rats, and rabbits found that 14 days after a single, non-lethal exposure to CR in a pyrotechnically generated smoke, half of the animals exposed still had lung pathologies, including intra-alveolar hemorrhages, and moderately advanced bronchopneumonic change.<sup>475</sup>

# (CHT), EA 4923, 1-Methoxy-1,3,5-cycloheptatriene

In an effort to make dissemination of irritant agents easier than thermal or pyrotechnic generation of solid compounds CN, CS, and CR, scientists at Edgewood Arsenal developed and tested the volatile liquid agent 1-Methoxy-1,3,5-cycloheptatriene (CHT, 1-MCHT). It has roughly the same acute effects as the other irritants: lacrimation, skin and mucus membrane irritation, is less potent than CR or CS, and is equally as toxic as CR (but less toxic than CS). It also has the ability to penetrate skin or rubber, and can produce dose-dependent ataxia, tremors, and death via the percutaneous route.<sup>481</sup>

In early toxicity studies performed at Edgewood, McNamara and colleagues, noted that persistent neuromuscular weakness persisted in some dogs for months after percutaneous exposure from a covered patch providing a dose of 500 mg/kg, or from intravenous administration at 10 mg/kg.<sup>482</sup> Rabbits also displayed neuromuscular weakness after cutaneous exposure. Studies done in the 1990s on intravenously dosed dogs showed several histological abnormalities in the brain after exposure. Specifically, there was marked Purkinje cell death and subsequent reactive gliosis in the cerebellum and a few necrotic neurons in the diencephalon, pons, and medulla. These changes possibly underlay the motor disturbances seen in the dogs. The same animals also have hematological abnormalities including leukocytosis with relative lymphopenia, and biochemical changes such as hyperglycemia.<sup>483</sup>

Cole also demonstrated the mutagenic potential of CHT using a modified mouse lymphoma assay. In these tests (using S9 fraction for metabolic activation) CHT was shown to be a clastogenic mutagen, since a dose-dependent increase in micronuclei was observed.<sup>484</sup>

### Incapacitants

Incapacitating agents are pharmacological agents that impair the ability of a subject to perform coordinated tasks by decreasing motor activity, conscious state, or by producing tranquilization through mechanisms in the central nervous system.<sup>485</sup> Included in this class of agents are deliriants, stimulants, and depressants, which interfere with higher functions of the brain such as attention, orientation, perception, memory, motivation, conceptual thinking, planning, and judgment.

### 302089 & 302582, Butyrophenone derivatives

The butyrophenones are a class of antipsychotics that were developed by Janssen Pharmaceuticals in the late 1950s to provide analogs of meperidine using inexpensive chemical substitutions. Although there is no historical or recent technical information available on the specific butyrophenones researched and tested at Edgewood Arsenal in open sources, butyrophenones are still widely used today. Most of the information about toxicology, side-effects, and sequelae are available on haloperidol.

### EA 2148-A, Phencyclidine (PCP)

Phencyclidine was originally synthesized and developed as an anesthetic agent for human use. However, it was soon abandoned, because it sometimes produced postoperative psychosis and agitation. Its symptoms include lightheadedness, numbness, confusion, tremors, ataxia and prostration, and it can be administered to produce effect by intravenous line, aerosol or liquid, by mouth, and through a percutaneous patch.<sup>486</sup>

Phencyclidine has several sites of action in the central nervous system, all of which act synergistically to result in anesthesia and analgesia. It has greatest affinity for the NMDA (N-methyl-Daspartate) receptor complexes in the hippocampus, neocortex, basal ganglia, and limbic system. PCP also has a decreasing affinity to NMDA receptors, to the neuronal norepinephrine (NE), dopamine (DA), and serotonin (5-HT) reuptake system, and to the  $\sigma$  opioid receptors.<sup>487</sup>

# 218437, an indolylalkyl piperazine, Oxypertine

Oxypertine is an antipsychotic medication used in the treatment of schizophrenia. An early study of the effects and toxicity of this compound in rats ("Win 18437") compared it with chlor-promazine, the benchmark drug for treating schizophrenia.<sup>488</sup> This study found that 218437 increased (potentiated) hexobarbitone sleeping time, caused hypothermia, and afforded protection from amphetamine toxicity in aggregated mice to a degree comparable with chlorpromazine. However, it noted that 218437 (in the doses administered: 1, 2, 5, and 10 mg/kg) was three-times weaker than chlorpromazine in blocking conditioned avoidance response in rats, and was more toxic.

### 220548, Benzomorphan

Benzomorphan is the parent compound for a series of drugs which variably act on the opioid and sigma receptors as an analgesic. There are many drugs on today's pharmaceutical market with a benzomorphan base used for pain relief. Several of these were reviewed in the course of the literature search for information on potential long-term sequelae of exposure. The drug best described in the literature is pentazocine and is still widely used (and abused) in the developing world.

### 302034, Benzomorphan butyrophenone

The morphine-like opioid analgesics such as the benzomorphans were sometimes mixed with other compounds in an attempt to improve their potencies, toxicity profiles, or safety margins. One of the tranquillizing agents researched at Edgewood Arsenal as a potential combinant with the benzomorphans was a butyrophenone (302089).<sup>489</sup>

# EA 1476, EA 2233, EA 2233 2-8, Dimethylheptyl pyran

Dimethylheptylpyran (DMHP) is a synthetic analogue of tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), the active component of THC. It was invented in 1949 during attempts to study the structure of THC, but was found to be considerably more potent, and had much stronger analgesic and anticonvulsant effects.<sup>490</sup> DMHP (EA 1476) and its eight stereoisomers (EA 2233, and EA 2233 1-through-

8, 24) were investigated at Edgewood Arsenal from 1958 to 1968. The major signs of DMHP toxicity were: ataxia, analgesia, mydriasis (pupil dilation), and central nervous system depression lasting from several hours to several days. The lethal doses of DMHP were also extremely high in comparison with the small doses required to produce its pharmacodynamic effects. For example, the intravenous LD<sub>50</sub> in mice is 63 mg/kg, whereas the minimal effective dose in 50% of the animals (ED<sub>50</sub>) is 0.075 mg/kg. This high margin between the effective and lethal doses was the main reason it was being investigated as a non-lethal incapacitating weapon.

# Miscellaneous Traditional Chemical Warfare Agents

### **Sulphur Mustard**

Between 1980 and 1988, more than 100,000 people are estimated to have been exposed to sulfur mustard gas during the Iran-Iraq War.<sup>104</sup> A significant subset of these sulfur mustard victims (< 30,000 people) have had medical follow-ups, in some cases, for over 25 years post exposure.<sup>105,106</sup> Long-term sequelae have been noted in the skin, eyes, and respiratory systems<sup>107,</sup> <sup>108</sup> of those exposed, and a wide variety of complaints in the gastrointestinal, endocrine and peripheral nervous systems<sup>109</sup> are also believed to be related to sulfur-mustard exposure. Additionally, genetic alterations, immune dysfunction, neuropsychiatric disorders, and carcinogenesis have been studied.

#### Phosgene

Phosgene is an irritant to the skin, eyes, and respiratory tract. Exposure often results in severe delayed damage after initial symptoms which include mild irritation of the eyes and throat, with some coughing, choking, feeling of tightness in the chest, nausea and occasional vomiting, headache, and lacrimation. It's more severe symptoms include respiratory and cardiovascular failure, which results from low plasma volume, increased hemoglobin concentration, low blood pressure, and an accumulation of fluid in the lungs.<sup>491</sup>

#### Lewisite

Lewisite is an arsenical vesicant developed early in the 20th century in an attempt to create a more effective blister agent than sulfur mustard. Like sulfur mustard, it is both a vesicant and systemic poison, but is more rapidly absorbed through the skin.<sup>492</sup> Dermal or intravenous exposure to lewisite leads to local skin or pulmonary edema due to increased capillary permeability. The vesicant properties of lewisite result from direct contact with the skin. Signs of dermal toxicity (pain, inflammation) may be experienced within a minute after exposure. Acute lethality is usually the result of pulmonary injury. Ocular exposure may result in corneal necrosis.<sup>493</sup>

### Hydrogen Cyanide

Hydrogen cyanide (HCN) is a poison and classical chemical weapon that has been used on battlefields, in mass executions and suicides and in assassinations. From a public health perspective, cyanide poisoning in humans is most commonly caused by smoke inhalation in fires and more rarely, by voluntary ingestion of cyanide salts. HCN is highly poisonous by all routes of administration. Its toxic effect involves inhibition of several metal-containing enzymes, the most critical of which is cytochrome C oxidase, an end-chain enzyme of cellular respiration. The cellular anoxia caused by cyanide administration primarily effects the cardiovascular, respiratory, and central nervous systems but many other organ systems may be involved in a poisoning event.

#### **Phosgene Oxime**

Phosgene oxime or CX is a potent chemical weapon from the group of vesicants or blister agents, specifically called an urticant or nettle agent. The compound has a strong, disagreeable odor and a violently irritating vapor. It induces *immediate* ocular, dermal, and respiratory damage resulting in casualties, reduction in fighting efficiency, and demoralization. In concentrations below 8%, it produces little biological damage. However, more concentrated dermal exposures produce lesions similar to those of mustard gas, with lesions extending into the muscle below. Inhalation exposure may cause immediately respiratory tract irritation, dyspnea, and leads to pulmonary edema. Edema may be accompanied by a necrotizing bronchiolitis and pulmonary venule thrombosis.<sup>494</sup>

# **Environmental Pollutants and Toxic Compounds**

#### Dioxins

Dioxins are a broad group of chemicals that are persistent, lipophilic, and prone to build up in the food chain and bioaccumulation. The compound, 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD), is the most frequently studied of the group that also contains polychlorinated dibenzo-dioxins, polychlorinated dibenzofurans, and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). In the modern world, the most common way that humans are exposed to dioxins are though ingestion of fatty foods such as meat (especially beef) and dairy products.<sup>495,496</sup> Other ways that people are exposed to dioxins are through occupational overexposure to herbicides, chemical pollutants in the environment, or by working in an industry that produces or uses dioxins. Many US Vietnam War-era veterans (as well as many Southeast Asian veterans and civilians) were exposed to dioxins during the transport and spraying of Agent Orange herbicide. The potential health effects of the dioxin exposures experienced by US veterans are discussed in the Military Health section of this report.

# Arsenic

Inorganic arsenic is naturally present at high levels in the groundwater of a number of countries and contaminates drinking water, and crops irrigated or grown in the water (like rice). There is a strong body of evidence linking arsenic intake with a variety of health problems, from skin lesions and some cancers, to cardiovascular diseases, and metabolic disorders such as diabetes.<sup>161,162</sup> Organic arsenic can also be ingested from sources such as fish and shellfish, meat, and poultry, etc., but these arsenic compounds – such as arsenobetaine - are of low toxicity.<sup>497</sup>

#### Nitrogen Dioxide

Nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) is an atmospheric pollutant introduced into the environment by the fires of industry and combustion engines. Along with sulfur dioxide and other chemicals, it contributes significantly to smog in urban environments. It recent years there have been a number of studies linking NO<sub>2</sub> exposure to a wide variety of serious illnesses including cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, diabetes, and some cancers.

### **Propylene Glycol**

The propylene glycols (PPGs) are a family of chemicals that are used industrially to produce polyester resins and are also used as humectants, solvents in many pharmaceuticals, and as preservatives in food. They are also one of the major ingredients in electronic cigarettes, the source of most current human exposures.

Acute propylene glycol toxicity sometimes occurs in hospital situations with continued intravenous infusion of medications and some antibiotics, because of the presence of PPGs in the intravenous solution.<sup>347</sup> Although this toxicity can have serious symptoms (significant hypotension, lactic acidosis, and decreased renal function), symptoms resolve when infusion is stopped, and exposure produces no long-term sequelae.<sup>348</sup>

Recent reviews and meta-analyses of the toxic effect of propylene glycols in electronic cigarettes is inconclusive about how harmful inhaled PPGs are.<sup>349,350</sup> Some studies report negative respiratory effects, such as mouth and throat irritation and the development of a dry cough, and other studies do not. To some degree, this variability of data is caused by methodological problems in the studies, including a lack of long-term follow-up of subjects. Additionally, some studies are sponsored by e-cigarette manufacturers.<sup>351</sup>

# Barbiturates, Stimulants, & Antidepressants

#### Amobarbital

Amobarbital was once used as a sedative "truth serum" to coerce interrogation subjects to talk. It is now used for treatment of anxiety, epilepsy, and insomnia. Amobarbital is generally regarded as safe.

#### Phenobarbital

Phenobarbital is a barbiturate that works by increasing the activity of the inhibitory neurotransmitter GABA and is recommended by the World Health Organization for the treatment of certain types of epilepsy. In the developed world, it is commonly used to treat seizures in young children, but other medications are generally used by older children and adults.

#### **MDMA (Ecstasy)**

Over the past two decades, the amphetamine analog, "ecstasy," (3,4-methylene-dioxymethamphetamine, or MDMA) has become a popular recreational drug around the world. It induces feelings of euphoria, increases energy and sexual arousal, and suppresses the need to eat, drink, or sleep. Like other amphetamine-related drugs, MDMA acts indirectly, primarily by stimulating the release of monoamines, such as dopamine and serotonin (5-HT).

#### Iproniazid

Iproniazid was an MAO-inhibitor drug that was first labelled as an antidepressant in 1958, but was removed from major portions of the world market in 1961 because of its ability to induce hepatocellular injury and chronic hepatitis.

# Miscellaneous Other Drugs and Diagnostic Substances

#### Phenazone

Phenazone is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug used as an analgesic and antipyretic. It is a commonly used drug and generally regarded as safe. None of the databases consulted had recent publications linking it to toxicity, adverse effects, or sequelae.

### Indocyanine green

Indocyanine green (ICG) is a cyanine dye used in medical diagnostics. It is also commonly used to improve the visualization of preretinal tissues during repair of macular holes or chro-movitrectomy.

## Aminohippuric acid (PAH)

Aminohippuric acid (PAH) is a diagnostic agent useful in medical tests involving the measurement of renal plasma flow. It is generally regarded as safe.

# Bromsulphthalein (BSP)

Bromsulphthalein (BSP) is a dye used in liver function tests. It is generally regarded as safe. BSP is a commonly used contrast dye that is safe.

# Miscellaneous Other Compounds

#### PABA

Para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) was widely used as a sunscreen ingredient until the 1980s when it was recognized as a leading cause of sunscreen photoallergy. Concerns about its allergic and photoallergic potential led to a general reduction in its use. However, PABA is still used in Chinese cosmetic products and can also still be found in some sunscreens marketed in Europe.

# **References Cited**

- 1. Pittman, P. R., Norris, S. L., Coonan, K. M., & McKee, K. T. (2005). An assessment of health status among medical research volunteers who served in the Project Whitecoat program at Fort Detrick, Maryland. Military medicine, 170(3), 183-187.
- 2. Brown, M. (2009). Military chemical warfare agent human subjects testing: part 1--history of six-decades of military experiments with chemical warfare agents. Mil Med, 174(10), 1041-1048.
- 3. Brown, M. (2009). Military chemical warfare agent human subjects testing: part 2--long-term health effects among participants of U.S. military chemical warfare agent testing. Military medicine, 174(10), 1049-1054.
- 4. National Research Council, Committee on Toxicology, Board on Toxicology and Environmental Health Hazards: Possible long-term health effects of short-term exposure to chemical agents, Vol. 3. Final Report: Current Health Status of Test Subjects. National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1985.
- 5. Keijmel SP, Delsing CE, Sprong T, Bleijenberg G, van der Meer JW, Knoop H, Bleeker-Rovers CP, "The Qure study: Q fever fatigue syndrome--response to treatment; a randomized placebo-controlled trial," BMC Infect Dis. 2013 Mar 27;13:157.
- 6. Strauss B; Löschau M; Seidel T; Stallmach A; Thomas A, "Are fatigue symptoms and chronic fatigue syndrome following Q fever infection related to psychosocial variables?" Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 2012 Apr; 72 (4): 300-4.
- 7. Parker, N. R., J. H. Barralet, and A. M. Bell, "Q fever," Lancet 2006 367:679–688.
- 8. Landais, C., F. Fenollar, F. Thuny, and D. Raoult, "From acute Q fever to endocarditis: serological follow-up strategy," Clin. Infect. Dis. 2007 44:1337–1340.
- 9. Hagenaars JC, Wever PC, van Petersen AS, Lestrade PJ, de Jager-Leclercq MG, Hermans MH, Moll FL, Koning OH, Renders NH, "Estimated prevalence of chronic Q fever among Coxiella burnetii seropositive patients with an abdominal aortic/iliac aneurysm or aorto-iliac reconstruction after a large Dutch Q fever outbreak," J Infect. 2014 Aug;69(2):154-60.
- 10. Seneviratne JK; Blair JE; Smith BE, "Brachial plexopathy associated with Q fever: Case report and review of the literature," Muscle & Nerve, 2008 Dec; 38 (6): 1644-8.
- 11. Ong C, Ahmad O, Senanayake S, Buirski G, Lueck C, "Optic neuritis associated with Q fever: case report and literature review," Int J Infect Dis. 2010 Sep;14 Suppl 3:e269-73.

- 12. Million M, Halfon J, Le Lez ML, Drancourt M, Raoult D, "Relapsing uveitis and optic neuritis due to chronic Q fever, "Br J Ophthalmol. 2011 Jul;95(7):1026-7, 1038-9.
- 13. Brooke RJ, VAN Lier A, Donker GA, VAN DER Hoek W, Kretzschmar ME, "Comparing the impact of two concurrent infectious disease outbreaks on The Netherlands population, 2009, using disability-adjusted life years," Epidemiol Infect. 2014 Nov;142(11):2412-21.
- Fletcher MA, Zeng XR, Maher K, Levis S, Hurwitz B, Antoni M, et al. Biomarkers in chronic fatigue syndrome: evaluation of natural killer cell function and dipeptidylpeptidase IV/CD26. PLoS One 2010;5(5):e101817.
- 15. Marmion BP, Sukocheva O, Storm PA, Lockhart M, Turra M, Kok T, et al. Q fever: persistence of antigenic non-viable cell residues of Coxiella burnetii in the host–implications for post Q fever infection fatigue syndrome and other chronic sequelae. QJM 2009;102(10):673–84.
- 16. Zhang L, Gough J, Christmas D, Mattey DL, Richards SC, Main J, et al. Microbial infections in eight genomic subtypes of chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis. J Clin Pathol 2010;63(2):156–64.
- Hickie, Ian; Davenport, Tracey; Wakefield, Denis; Vollmer-Conna, Ute; Cameron, Barbara; Vernon, Suzanne D.; Reeves, William C.; Lloyd, Andrew; Dubbo Infection Outcomes Study Group, "Post-infective and chronic fatigue syndromes precipitated by viral and non-viral pathogens: Prospective cohort study," BMJ: British Medical Journal, Vol 333(7568), Sep 2006, 575.
- 18. Delsing CE, Kullberg BJ, Bleeker-Rovers CP. Q fever in The Netherlands from 2007 to 2010. Neth J Med 2010;68(12):382–7.
- 19. Limonard GJ, Peters JB, Nabuurs-Franssen MH, Weers-Pothoff G, Besselink R, Groot CA, Dekhuijzen PN, Vercoulen JH, "Detailed analysis of health status of Q fever patients 1 year after the first Dutch outbreak: a case-control study, QJM. 2010 Dec;103(12):953-8.
- 20. Edouard S, Labussiere AS, Guimard Y, Fournier PE, Raoult D, "Q fever: a case with a vascular infection complication," BMJ Case Rep. 2010 Aug 3;2010
- 21. Blaich A, de Roche M, Kaufmann BA, Suter-Riniker F, Rosin C, Frei R, Weisser M, "Endocarditis due to a stealthy bug," Int J Cardiol. 2012 Oct 18;160(3):e54-5.
- 22. Moustafa S, Patton DJ, Ross DB, Balon Y, Alvarez N, "Unexpected sequel of chronic Q-fever endocarditis," Heart Lung Circ. 2013 Dec;22(12):1054-5.

- Kampschreur LM1, Oosterheert JJ, de Vries Feyens CA, Delsing CE, Hermans MH, van Sluisveld IL, Lestrade PJ, Renders NH, Elsman P, Wever PC, "Chronic Q fever-related dualpathogen endocarditis: case series of three patients," J Clin Microbiol. 2011 Apr;49(4):1692-4.
- 24. Cvejic, Erin; Lemon, Jim; Hickie, Ian B.; Lloyd, Andrew R.; Vollmer-Conna, Uté, "Neurocognitive disturbances associated with acute infectious mononucleosis, Ross River fever and Q fever: A preliminary investigation of inflammatory and genetic correlates," Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, Vol 36, 2014, 207-214.
- 25. Zacks MA, Paessler S, "Encephalitic alphaviruses," Vet Microbiol. 2010 Jan 27;140(3-4):2816. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2009.08.023.
- 26. Armstrong, Philip M; Andreadis, Theodore G, "Eastern equine encephalitis virus--old enemy, new threat," New England Journal of Medicine, 2013 May 2; 368 (18): 1670-3.
- 27. Carrera JP, Forrester N, Wang E, Vittor AY, Haddow AD, López-Vergès S, Abadía I, Castaño E, Sosa N, Báez C, Estripeaut D, Díaz Y, Beltrán D, Cisneros J, Cedeño HG, Travassos da Rosa AP, Hernandez H, Martínez-Torres AO, Tesh RB, Weaver SC, "Eastern equine encephalitis in Latin America," N Engl J Med. 2013 Aug 22;369(8):732-44.
- 28. Silverman MA, Misasi J, Smole S, Feldman HA, Cohen AB, Santagata S, McManus M, Ahmed AA, "Eastern equine encephalitis in children, Massachusetts and New Hampshire, USA, 1970-2010," Emerg Infect Dis. 2013 Feb;19(2):194-201.
- 29. Logue CH, Bosio CF, Welte T, Keene KM, Ledermann JP, Phillips A, Sheahan BJ, Pierro DJ, Marlenee N, Brault AC, Bosio CM, Singh AJ, Powers AM, Olson KE, "Virulence variation among isolates of western equine encephalitis virus in an outbred mouse model," J Gen Virol. 2009 Aug;90(Pt 8):1848-58.
- 30. Blakely PK, Delekta PC, Miller DJ, Irani DN, "Manipulation of host factors optimizes the pathogenesis of western equine encephalitis virus infections in mice for antiviral drug development," J Neurovirol. 2014 Nov 1.
- 31. Steele KE, Seth P, Catlin-Lebaron KM, Schoneboom BA, Husain MM, Grieder F, Maheshwari RK, "Tunicamycin enhances neuroinvasion and encephalitis in mice infected with Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus," Vet Pathol. 2006 Nov;43(6):904-13.

- 32. Reddy AJ, Woods CW, Welty-Wolf KE, "Eastern equine encephalitis leading to multi-organ failure and sepsis," J Clin Virol. 2008 Aug;42(4):418-21.
- 33. Gottlieb SL Kretsinger K Tarkhashvili N Chakvetadze N Chokheli M Chubinidze M Michael Hoekstra R Jhorjholiani E Mirtskhulava M Moistsrapishvili M Sikharulidze M Zardiashvili T Imnadze P Sobel J, "Long-term outcomes of 217 botulism cases in the Republic of Georgia," Clin Infect Dis. 2007, Jul 15; 45(2):174-80.

34. Centers for Disease, C., & Prevention. (2012). Botulism from drinking prison-made illicit alcohol - Utah 2011. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 61(39), 782-784.

- 35. Frick, C. G., Richtsfeld, M., Sahani, N. D., Kaneki, M., Blobner, M., & Martyn, J. A. (2007). Long-term effects of botulinum toxin on neuromuscular function. Anesthesiology, 106(6), 1139-1146.
- 36. Shoemaker, C. B., & Oyler, G. A. (2013). Persistence of Botulinum neurotoxin inactivation of nerve function. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 364, 179-196.
- Darchini-Maragheh, E., H. Nemati-Karimooy, H. Hasanabadi and M. Balali-Mood. "Delayed Neurological Complications of Sulphur Mustard and Tabun Poisoning in 43 Iranian Veterans." Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 111, no. 6 (2012): 426-32.
- Kassa, J. and G. Kunesova. "The Influence of Antidotal Treatment of Low-Level Tabun Exposure on Cognitive Functions in Rats Using a Water Maze." Neurotoxicity Research 9, no. 1 (2006): 39-45.
- 39. Katalinic, M., K. Mis, S. Pirkmajer, Z. Grubic, Z. Kovarik and T. Mars. "The Cholinergic and Non-Cholinergic Effects of Organophosphates and Oximes in Cultured Human Myoblasts." Chem Biol Interact 203, no. 1 (2013): 144-8.
- 40. Pegan, K, U. Matkovic<sup>\*</sup>, T. Marš, K. Miš, S. Pirkmajer, J. Brecelj, Z. Grubic<sup>\*</sup>, Acetylcholinesterase is involved in apoptosis in the precursors of human muscle regeneration, Chem. Biol. Interact. 187 (2010) 96–100.
- Prelovsek, O, T. Mars, M. Jevsek, M. Podbregar and Z. Grubic. "High Dexamethasone Concentration Prevents Stimulatory Effects of Tnf-Alpha and Lps on II-6 Secretion from the Precursors of Human Muscle Regeneration." Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 291, no. 6 (2006): R1651-6.
- 42. Yamasue, H, O. Abe, K. Kasai, M. Suga, A. Iwanami, H. Yamada, M. Tochigi, T. Ohtani, M. A. Rogers, T. Sasaki, S. Aoki, T. Kato and N. Kato. "Human Brain Structural Change Related to Acute Single Exposure to Sarin." Ann Neurol 61, no. 1 (2007): 37-46.

- 43. Shih, T. M., Hulet, S. W., & McDonough, J. H. (2006). The effects of repeated low-dose sarin exposure. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 215(2), 119-134.
- 44. Francati, V., Vermetten, E., & Bremner, J. D. (2007). Functional neuroimaging studies in posttraumatic stress disorder: review of current methods and findings. Depress Anxiety, 24(3), 202-218.
- 45. Loh, Yince, Margaret M Swanberg, M Ingram and Jonathan Newmark. "Case Report: Long-Term Cognitive Sequelae of Sarin Exposure." Neurotoxicology 31, no. 2 (2010): 244-246.
- 46. Grauer, E., S. Chapman, I. Rabinovitz, L. Raveh, B. A. Weissman, T. Kadar and N. Allon. "Single Whole-Body Exposure to Sarin Vapor in Rats: Long-Term Neuronal and Behavioral Deficits." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 227, no. 2 (2008): 265-74.
- Grigoryan, H., L. M. Schopfer, C. M. Thompson, A. V. Terry, P. Masson and O. Lockridge. "Mass Spectrometry Identifies Covalent Binding of Soman, Sarin, Chlorpyrifos Oxon, Diisopropyl Fluorophosphate, and Fp-Biotin to Tyrosines on Tubulin: A Potential Mechanism of Long Term Toxicity by Organophosphorus Agents." Chem Biol Interact 175, no. 1-3 (2008): 180-6.
- 48. Morris, M., M. P. Key and V. Farah. "Sarin Produces Delayed Cardiac and Central Autonomic Changes." Exp Neurol 203, no. 1 (2007): 110-5.
- 49. Horenziak, MW. "Low Dose Sarin Leads to Murine Cardiac Dysfunction." Air Force Institute of Technology, Air University, 2010.
- 50. Pena-Philippides, J. C., S. Razani-Boroujerdi, S. P. Singh, R. J. Langley, N. C. Mishra, R. F. Henderson and M. L. Sopori. "Long- and Short-Term Changes in the Neuroimmune-Endocrine Parameters Following Inhalation Exposures of F344 Rats to Low-Dose Sarin." Toxicol Sci 97, no. 1 (2007): 181-8.
- 51. Hoffman A, Eisenkraft A, Finkelstein A, Schein O, Rotman E, Dushnitsky T. A decade after the Tokyo sarin attack: a review of neurological follow-up of the victims. Mil Med 007;172:607–10.
- 52. Yanagisawa N, Morita H, Nakajima T. Sarin experiences in Japan: acute toxicity and long-term effects. J Neurol Sci 2006;249:76–85.
- 53. Koenigs M, Grafman J. Posttraumatic stress disorder: the role of medial prefrontal cortex and amygdala. Neuroscientist 2009;15:540–8.
- 54. Rogers MA, Yamasue H, Abe O, Yamada H, Ohtani T, Iwanami A, et al. Smaller amygdala volume and reduced anterior cingulate gray matter density associated with history of post-traumatic stress disorder. Psychiatry Res 2009;174:210–6.

- 55. Poursaleh Z, Ghaneei M, Naderi M, Amini Harandi A. "Chronic pulmonary complications in Iraq-Kurdistan chemical weapons victims," Iranian Journal of Military Medicine Spring 2011, Volume 13, Issue 1; 37-42.
- 56. Dizaye, K. "Case Report: Victims of the Long Term Effects of Chemical Weapons on Health in Kurdistan of Iraq." Middle East Journal of Internal Medicine 2, no. 3 (2007).
- 57. Ghanei, M., M. Naderi, A. M. Kosar, A. A. Harandi, N. S. Hopkinson and Z. Poursaleh. "Long-Term Pulmonary Complications of Chemical Warfare Agent Exposure in Iraqi Kurdish Civilians." Inhal Toxicol 22, no. 9 (2010): 719-24.
- 58. Mamczarz, J., E. F. Pereira, Y. Aracava, M. Adler and E. X. Albuquerque. "An Acute Exposure to a Sub-Lethal Dose of Soman Triggers Anxiety-Related Behavior in Guinea Pigs: Interactions with Acute Restraint." Neurotoxicology 31, no. 1 (2010): 77-84.
- Prager, E. M., V. I. Pidoplichko, V. Aroniadou-Anderjaska, J. P. Apland and M. F. Braga. "Pathophysiological Mechanisms Underlying Increased Anxiety after Soman Exposure: Reduced GABAergic Inhibition in the Basolateral Amygdala." Neurotoxicology 44, (2014): 335-43.
- 60. Wright, L. K., J. Liu, A. Nallapaneni and C. N. Pope. "Behavioral Sequelae Following Acute Diisopropylfluorophosphate Intoxication in Rats: Comparative Effects of Atropine and Cannabinomimetics." Neurotoxicol Teratol 32, no. 3 (2010): 329-35.
- 61. Kofman, O., A. Berger, A. Massarwa, A. Friedman and A. A. Jaffar. "Motor Inhibition and Learning Impairments in School-Aged Children Following Exposure to Organophosphate Pesticides in Infancy." Pediatr Res 60, no. 1 (2006): 88-92.
- 62. Terry, A. V., Jr., P. M. Callahan, W. D. Beck, L. Vandenhuerk, S. Sinha, K. Bouchard, R. Schade and J. L. Waller. "Repeated Exposures to Diisopropylfluorophosphate Result in Impairments of Sustained Attention and Persistent Alterations of Inhibitory Response Control in Rats." Neurotoxicol Teratol 44, (2014): 18-29.
- Terry, A. V., Jr., J. J. Buccafusco, D. A. Gearhart, W. D. Beck, M. L. Middlemore-Risher, J. N. Truan, G. M. Schwarz, M. Xu, M. G. Bartlett, A. Kutiyanawala and A. Pillai. "Repeated, Intermittent Exposures to Diisopropylfluorophosphate in Rats: Protracted Effects on Cholinergic Markers, Nerve Growth Factor-Related Proteins, and Cognitive Function." Neuroscience 176, (2011): 237-53.
- Torres-Altoro, M. I., B. N. Mathur, J. M. Drerup, R. Thomas, D. M. Lovinger, J. P. O'Callaghan and J. A. Bibb. "Organophosphates Dysregulate Dopamine Signaling, Glutamatergic Neurotransmission, and Induce Neuronal Injury Markers in Striatum." J Neurochem 119, no. 2 (2011): 303-13.

- 65. Hanger D. P., Anderton B. H. and Noble W. (2009) Tau phosphorylation: the therapeutic challenge for neurodegenerative disease. Trends Mol. Med. 15, 112–119.
- Roldan-Tapia, L., F. A. Nieto-Escamez, E. M. del Aguila, F. Laynez, T. Parron and F. Sanchez-Santed. "Neuropsychological Sequelae from Acute Poisoning and Long-Term Exposure to Carbamate and Organophosphate Pesticides." Neurotoxicol Teratol 28, no. 6 (2006): 694-703.
- Rothlein, Joan, Diane Rohlman, Michael Lasarev, Jackie Phillips, Juan Muniz and Linda McCauley. "Organophosphate Pesticide Exposure and Neurobehavioral Performance in Agricultural and Nonagricultural Hispanic Workers." Environmental Health Perspectives, (2006): 691-696.
- Bonner, M. R., J. Coble, A. Blair, L. E. Beane Freeman, J. A. Hoppin, D. P. Sandler and M. C. Alavanja. "Malathion Exposure and the Incidence of Cancer in the Agricultural Health Study." Am J Epidemiol 166, no. 9 (2007): 1023-34.
- 69. Koutros, S., L. E. Beane Freeman, J. H. Lubin, S. L. Heltshe, G. Andreotti, K. H. Barry, C. T. DellaValle, J. A. Hoppin, D. P. Sandler, C. F. Lynch, A. Blair and M. C. Alavanja. "Risk of Total and Aggressive Prostate Cancer and Pesticide Use in the Agricultural Health Study." Am J Epidemiol 177, no. 1 (2013): 59-74.
- Beseler, Cheryl L, Lorann Stallones, Jane A Hoppin, Michael CR Alavanja, Aaron Blair, Thomas Keefe and Freya Kamel. "Depression and Pesticide Exposures among Private Pesticide Applicators Enrolled in the Agricultural Health Study." Environ Health Perspect 116, no. 12 (2008): 1713-9.
- 71. Andrejak, M., C. Szymanski, S. Marechaux, E. Arnalsteen, V. Gras, J. P. Remadi and C. Tribouilloy. "Valvular Heart Disease Associated with Long-Term Treatment by Methysergide: A Case Report." Therapie 69, no. 3 (2014): 255-7.
- 72. Chague, F., I. Belleville, B. Boujon and J. M. Petit. "[an Aortic Insufficiency Diagnosed under Cabergoline]." Ann Cardiol Angeiol (Paris) 58, no. 3 (2009): 189-91.
- 73. Jeanneteau, P., L. Biere, M. B. Mercier, P. Descamps and L. Sentilhes. "Bromocriptine-Induced Coronary Spasm in Postpartum." Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 179, (2014): 258-9.
- 74. Rasmussen, V. G., K. Ostergaard, E. Dupont and S. H. Poulsen. "The Risk of Valvular Regurgitation in Patients with Parkinson's Disease Treated with Dopamine Receptor Agonists." Mov Disord 26, no. 5 (2011): 801-6.

- 75. Fett, J. D. "Caution in the Use of Bromocriptine in Peripartum Cardiomyopathy." J Am Coll Cardiol 51, no. 21 (2008): 2083.
- 76. Tan, L. C., K. K. Ng, W. L. Au, R. K. Lee and N. C. Tan. "Bromocriptine Use and Myocardial Function." Mov Disord 26, no. 5 (2011): 923-4.
- 77. Colao, A., M. Galderisi, A. Di Sarno, M. Pardo, M. Gaccione, M. D'Andrea, E. Guerra, R. Pivonello, G. Lerro and G. Lombardi. "Increased Prevalence of Tricuspid Regurgitation in Patients with Prolactinomas Chronically Treated with Cabergoline." J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93, no. 10 (2008): 3777-84.
- 78. Lyons, K. and D. Flannery. "Aortic Regurgitation Associated with Cabergoline Therapy." Br J Hosp Med (Lond) 69, no. 1 (2008): 50.
- 79. De Vecchis, R., C. Esposito and C. Ariano. "Cabergoline Use and Risk of Fibrosis and Insufficiency of Cardiac Valves. Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies." Herz 38, no. 8 (2013): 868-80.
- 80. Bogazzi, F., S. Buralli, L. Manetti, V. Raffaelli, T. Cigni, M. Lombardi, F. Boresi, S. Taddei, A. Salvetti and E. Martino. "Treatment with Low Doses of Cabergoline Is Not Associated with Increased Prevalence of Cardiac Valve Regurgitation in Patients with Hyperprolactinaemia." Int J Clin Pract 62, no. 12 (2008): 1864-9.
- Baudoin, Y., K. Guilhem, L. Meyrat and H. Thouard. "Images of an Occlusive Arterial Disease of Lower Extremity Due to Chronic Intoxication by Ergot Alkaloid." J Vasc Surg 60, no. 3 (2014): 785.
- 82. Molkara, A. M., A. M. Abou-Zamzam, Jr., T. H. Teruya, C. Bianchi and J. D. Killeen. "Chronic Ergot Toxicity Presenting with Bilateral External Iliac Artery Dissection and Lower Extremity Rest Pain." Ann Vasc Surg 20, no. 6 (2006): 803-8.
- 83. Naz, I. and Z. Sophie. "Acute Limb Ischemia Due to Ergotism." J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 16, no. 8 (2006): 553-5.
- 84. Thondam, S. K., S. Alusi, K. O'Driscoll, C. E. Gilkes, D. J. Cuthbertson and C. Daousi. "Impulse Control Disorder in a Patient on Long-Term Treatment with Bromocriptine for a Macroprolactinoma." Clin Neuropharmacol 36, no. 5 (2013): 170-2.
- 85. Davie, M. "Pathological Gambling Associated with Cabergoline Therapy in a Patient with a Pituitary Prolactinoma." J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 19, no. 4 (2007): 473-4.

- 86. Bilal, L. and C. Ching. "Cabergoline-Induced Psychosis in a Patient with Undiagnosed Depression." J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 24, no. 4 (2012): E54.
- 87. Harris, Y. T., A. Z. Harris, J. M. Deasis, S. J. Ferrando, N. Reddy and R. C. Young. "Cabergoline Associated with First Episode Mania." Psychosomatics 53, no. 6 (2012): 595-600.
- Arbak, P., I. Baser, O. O. Kumbasar, F. Ulger, Z. Kilicaslan and F. Evyapan. "Long Term Effects of Tear Gases on Respiratory System: Analysis of 93 Cases." Scientific World Journal 2014, (2014): 963638.
- Hout, J. J., D. W. White, A. R. Artino and J. J. Knapik. "o-Chlorobenzylidene Malononitrile (Cs Riot Control Agent) Associated Acute Respiratory Illnesses in a U.S. Army Basic Combat Training Cohort." Mil Med 179, no. 7 (2014): 793-8.
- 90. Hout, J. J., D. W. White, A. Stubner, M. Stevens and J. J. Knapik. "o-Chlorobenzylidene Malononitrile (Cs Riot Control Agent) Exposure in a U.S. Army Basic Combat Training Cohort." J Environ Health 77, no. 3 (2014): 14-21.
- Payne-James, J. J., G. Smith, E. Rivers, S. O'Rourke, M. Stark and N. Sutcliffe. "Effects of Incapacitant Spray Deployed in the Restraint and Arrest of Detainees in the Metropolitan Police Service Area, London, Uk: A Prospective Study." Forensic Sci Med Pathol 10, no. 1 (2014): 62-8.
- 92. Karaman, E., S. Erturan, C. Duman, M. Yaman and G. U. Duman. "Acute Laryngeal and Bronchial Obstruction after Cs (O-Chlorobenzylidenemalononitrile) Gas Inhalation." Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 266, no. 2 (2009): 301-4.
- 93. Bhargava, K., P. Banerjee and I. R. White. "Investigating Contact Allergy to Cs Spray." Contact Dermatitis 66, no. 2 (2012): 109-10.
- 94. Watson, K. and R. Rycroft. "Unintended Cutaneous Reactions to Cs Spray." Contact Dermatitis 53, no. 1 (2005): 9-13.
- 95. Yotsui, H., M. Matsunaga, K. Katori, S. Kohno and K. Higa. "[Extrapyramidal Reactions after Epidural Droperidol]." Masui 49, no. 10 (2000): 1152-4.
- 96. Yamada, S., T. Suzuki, K. Oe and K. Serada. "[Case of Acute Dystonia During Epidural Droperidol Infusion to Prevent Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting]." Masui 59, no. 2 (2010): 238-41.
- 97. Satterthwaite, T. D., D. H. Wolf, R. A. Rosenheck, R. E. Gur and S. N. Caroff. "A Meta-Analysis of the Risk of Acute Extrapyramidal Symptoms with Intramuscular Antipsychotics for the Treatment of Agitation." J Clin Psychiatry 69, no. 12 (2008): 1869-79.

- 98. Kinon, B. J., S. Kollack-Walker, D. Jeste, S. Gupta, L. Chen, M. Case, J. Chen and V. Stauffer. "Incidence of Tardive Dyskinesia in Older Adult Patients Treated with Olanzapine or Conventional Antipsychotics." J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 28, no. 1 (2015): 67-79.
- 99. Richa, Sami and Jean-Claude Yazbek. "Ocular Adverse Effects of Common Psychotropic Agents." CNS drugs 24, no. 6 (2010): 501-526.
- 100. Schneider, S. A., V. Udani, C. S. Sankhla and K. P. Bhatia. "Recurrent Acute Dystonic Reaction and Oculogyric Crisis Despite Withdrawal of Dopamine Receptor Blocking Drugs." Mov Disord 24, no. 8 (2009): 1226-9.
- 101. Robinson, Donald S. "Mortality Risks and Antipsychotics." Primary Psychiatry 15, no. 4 (2008).
- 102. Straus, S. M., G. S. Bleumink, J. P. Dieleman, J. van der Lei, G. W. t Jong, J. H. Kingma, M. C. Sturkenboom and B. H. Stricker. "Antipsychotics and the Risk of Sudden Cardiac Death." Arch Intern Med 164, no. 12 (2004): 1293-7.
- 103. Testai, L., M. C. Breschi, E. Martinotti and V. Calderone. "Qt Prolongation in Guinea Pigs for Preliminary Screening of Torsadogenicity of Drugs and Drug-Candidates. Ii." J Appl Toxicol 27, no. 3 (2007): 270-5.
- 104. Fayek, Mohammed, Steven J Kingsbury, Jaafar Zada and George M Simpson. "Psychopharmacology: Cardiac Effects of Antipsychotic Medications." Psychiatric Services, (2014).
- 105. Rowell, M., Kehe, K., Balszuweit, F., & Thiermann, H. (2009). The chronic effects of sulfur mustard exposure. Toxicology, 263(1), 9-11.
- 106. Khateri S, Ghanei M, Keshavarz S, Soroush M, Haines D (2003) Incidence of lung, eye, and skin lesions as late complications in 34,000 Iranians with wartime exposure to mustard agent. J Occup Environ Med 45:1136–1143.
- 107. Balali-Mood, M., M. Hefazi, M. Mahmoudi, I. Jalali, D. Attaran, M. Maleki, M. Etezad-Razavi, G. H. Zare, M. R. Jafaari & A. Tabatabaee: Long-term complications of sulfur mustard poisoning in severely intoxicated Iranian veterans. Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol. 2005, 19, 713– 721.
- 108. Akhavan A, Ajalloueyan M, Ghanei M, Moharamzad Y. Late laryngeal findings in sulfur mustard poisoning. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2009; 47(2):142–4.
- 109. Balali-Mood, M., Mousavi, S., & Balali-Mood, B. (2008). Chronic health effects of mustard exposure with special reference to Iranian veterans. Emerg Health Threats J, 1, e7. doi:10.3134/ehtj.08.007.

- 110. Holisaz MT, Rayegani SM, Hafezy R, Khedmat H, Motamedi MH. Screening for peripheral neuropathy in chemical warfare victims. Int J Rehabil Res. 2007; 30(1):71–4.
- 111. Balali-Mood, M., & Hefazi, M. (2006). Comparison of early and late toxic effects of sulfur mustard in Iranian veterans. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol, 99(4), 273-282.
- 112. Emadi, S. N., Mortazavi, M., & Mortazavi, H. (2008). Late cutaneous manifestations 14 to 20 years after wartime exposure to sulfur mustard gas: a long-term investigation. Arch Dermatol, 144(8), 1059-1061. doi:10.1001/archderm.144.8.1059
- 113. Askari, N., Vaez-Mahdavi, M. R., Moaiedmohseni, S., Khamesipour, A., Soroush, M. R., Moin, A., . . . Ghazanfari, T. (2013). Association of chemokines and prolactin with cherry angioma in a sulfur mustard exposed population--Sardasht-Iran cohort study. Int Immunopharmacol, 17(3), 991-995.
- 114. Shohrati, M., Peyman, M., Peyman, A., Davoudi, M., & Ghanei, M. (2007). Cutaneous and ocular late complications of sulfur mustard in Iranian veterans. Cutan Ocul Toxicol, 26(2), 73-81.
- 115. Fekri, A. R. & M. Janghorbani: Late dermal complications in Iranian veterans. In: Proceedings of the seminar on late complications of chemical warfare agents in Iranian veterans. Veteran Foundation, Tehran, Iran, 1992, pp. 57–89.
- 116. Sedghipour, M. R., Shenasi, A., Rahbani Nobar, M. B., Fouladi, R. F., & Amini, R. (2012). The ocular complications of mustard gas poisoning and their association with the respiratory system involvement: an experience in 112 Iranian veterans. Cutan Ocul Toxicol, 31(1), 48-52.
- 117. Etezad-Razavi, M., Mahmoudi, M., Hefazi, M., Balali-Mood, M., 2006. Delayed ocular complications of mustard gas poisoning and the relationship with respiratory and cutaneous complications. Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology 34, 342–346.
- 118. Ghasemi, H., Ghazanfari, T., Yaraee, R., Rafii, A. B., Pourfarzam, S., Soroush, M. R., . . . Hassan, Z. M. (2012). Long-term ocular consequences of sulfur mustard in lung-injured war veterans. Cutan Ocul Toxicol, 31(1), 33-37.
- 119. Ghanei, M., & Harandi, A. A. (2007). Long term consequences from exposure to sulfur mustard: a review. Inhal Toxicol, 19(5), 451-456.
- 120. Ghanei, M., Tazelaar, H.D., Chilosi, M., Harandi, A.A., Peyman, M., Akbari, H.M., Shamsei, H., Bahadori, M., Aslani, J., Mohammadi, A., 2008. An international collaborative pathological study of surgical lung biopsies from mustard gas exposed patients. Respiratory Medicine.

- 121. Ghazanfari, T., Mostafaie, A., Yaraee, R., Pourfarzam, S., Faghihzadeh, S., Rezaei, A.; Hassan, Z. M. (2013). Are serum levels of immunoglobulin classes and IgG subclasses involved in delayed pulmonary complications induced by sulfur mustard? Sardasht-Iran Cohort Study. Int Immunopharmacol, 17(3), 936-943.
- 122. Hosseini-Khalili, A. R., Thompson, J., Kehoe, A., Hopkinson, N. S., Khoshbaten, A., Soroush, M. R., . . . Ghanei, M. (2008). Angiotensin-converting enzyme genotype and late respiratory complications of mustard gas exposure. BMC Pulm Med, 8, 15.
- 123. Ghanei, M., & Harandi, A. A. (2010). Lung carcinogenicity of sulfur mustard. Clin Lung Cancer, 11(1), 13-17.
- 124. Hosseini-khalili, A., Haines, D. D., Modirian, E., Soroush, M., Khateri, S., Joshi, R., . . . Giardina, C. (2009). Mustard gas exposure and carcinogenesis of lung. Mutat Res, 678(1), 1-6.
- 125. Takeshima Y, Inai K, Bennett WP, et al. p53 mutations in lung cancers from Japanese mustard gas workers. Carcinogenesis. 1994;15(10):2075–2079.
- 126. Zafarghandi, M. R., Soroush, M. R., Mahmoodi, M., Naieni, K. H., Ardalan, A., Dolatyari, A., .
  . Ghanei, M. (2013). Incidence of cancer in Iranian sulfur mustard exposed veterans: a long-term follow-up cohort study. Cancer Causes Control, 24(1), 99-105.
- 127. Ebadi, A., Moradian, T., Mollahadi, M., Saeed, Y., & Refahi, A. A. (2014). Quality of Life in Iranian Chemical Warfare Veteran's. Iran Red Crescent Med J, 16(5),
- 128. Najafi Mehri, S., Ebadi, A., Heravi Karimooi, M., Foroughan, M., & Sahraei, H. (2012). Experiences living with fatigue in Iranian veterans chemically injured by sulfur mustard gas: a phenomenological study. Asian Nurs Res (Korean Soc Nurs Sci), 6(4), 181-186.
- 129. Hassankhani, H., Taleghani, F., Mills, J., Birks, M., Francis, K., & Ahmadi, F. (2010). The challenges experienced by Iranian war veterans living with chemical warfare poisoning: a descriptive, exploratory study. Scand J Caring Sci, 24(2), 290-298.
- 130. Safarinejad MR 2001 Testicular effect of mustard gas. Urology 58, 90–94.
- 131. Ghanei M, Rajaee M, Khateri S et al. 2004 Assessment of fertility among mustard-exposed residents of Sardasht, Iran: a historical Cohort study. Reproductive Toxicology 18, 635–639.
- Razavi, S. M., Negahban, Z., Pirhosseinloo, M., Razavi, M. S., Hadjati, G., & Salamati, P. (2014). Sulfur Mustard Effects on Mental Health and Quality-of-Life: A Review. Iran J Psychiatry Behav Sci, 8(3), 11-21.
- 133. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Phosgene, Centers for Disease Control, Atlanta Georgia.

- 134. International Uniform Chemical Information Database, Phosgene, European Chemicals Agency, Helsinki, Finland.
- 135. Collins, J. J., Molenaar, D. M., Bowler, L. O., Harbourt, T. J., Carson, M., Avashia, B., . . . Howard, P. (2011). Results from the US industry-wide phosgene surveillance: the Diller Registry. J Occup Environ Med, 53(3), 239-244.
- 136. Pauluhn, J., Carson, A., Costa, D. L., Gordon, T., Kodavanti, U., Last, J. A., . . . Sciuto, A. M. (2007). Workshop summary: phosgene-induced pulmonary toxicity revisited: appraisal of early and late markers of pulmonary injury from animal models with emphasis on human significance. Inhal Toxicol, 19(10), 789-810.
- 137. Sciuto, A. M., Phillips, C. S., Orzolek, L. D., Hege, A. I., Moran, T. S., & Dillman, J. F., 3rd.
  (2005). Genomic analysis of murine pulmonary tissue following carbonyl chloride inhalation. Chem Res Toxicol, 18(11), 1654-1660.
- Leikauf, G. D., Concel, V. J., Bein, K., Liu, P., Berndt, A., Martin, T. M., . . . Fabisiak, J. P. (2013). Functional genomic assessment of phosgene-induced acute lung injury in mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 49(3), 368-383.
- 139. Urban, P., Pelclova, D., Lukas, E., Kupka, K., Preiss, J., Fenclova, Z., & Smerhovsky, Z. (2007). Neurological and neurophysiological examinations on workers with chronic poisoning by 2,3,7,8-TCDD: follow-up 35 years after exposure. Eur J Neurol, 14(2), 213-218.
- 140. Pelclova, D., Fenclova, Z., Urban, P., Ridzon, P., Preiss, J., Kupka, K., . . . Navratil, T. (2009). Chronic health impairment due to 2,3,7,8-tetrachloro-dibenzo-p-dioxin exposure. Neuro Endocrinol Lett, 30 Suppl 1, 219-224.
- 141. Sorg, O., Zennegg, M., Schmid, P., Fedosyuk, R., Valikhnovskyi, R., Gaide, O., . . . Saurat, J. H. (2009). 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) poisoning in Victor Yushchenko: identification and measurement of TCDD metabolites. Lancet, 374(9696), 1179-1185.
- 142 Mitoma, C., Mine, Y., Utani, A., Imafuku, S., Muto, M., Akimoto, T., . . . Uchi, H. (2015). Current skin symptoms of Yusho patients exposed to high levels of 2,3,4,7,8-pentachlorinated dibenzofuran and polychlorinated biphenyls in 1968. Chemosphere, 137, 45-51.
- 143. Zambon, P., Ricci, P., Bovo, E., Casula, A., Gattolin, M., Fiore, A. R., . . . Guzzinati, S. (2007). Sarcoma risk and dioxin emissions from incinerators and industrial plants: a populationbased case-control study (Italy). Environ Health, 6, 19.
- 144. Taylor, K. W., Novak, R. F., Anderson, H. A., Birnbaum, L. S., Blystone, C., Devito, M., . . . Lind, L. (2013). Evaluation of the association between persistent organic pollutants (POPs)

and diabetes in epidemiological studies: a national toxicology program workshop review. Environ Health Perspect, 121(7), 774-783.

- 145. Lee, D. H., Porta, M., Jacobs, D. R., Jr., & Vandenberg, L. N. (2014). Chlorinated persistent organic pollutants, obesity, and type 2 diabetes. Endocr Rev, 35(4), 557-601.
- 146. De Tata, V. (2014). Association of dioxin and other persistent organic pollutants (POPs) with diabetes: epidemiological evidence and new mechanisms of beta cell dysfunction. Int J Mol Sci, 15(5), 7787-7811.
- 147. Ibrahim MM, Fjaere E, Lock EJ, Naville D, Amlund H, Meugnier E, et al. 2011. Chronic consumption of farmed salmon containing persistent organic pollutants causes insulin resistance and obesity in mice. PLoS One 6(9):e25170.
- 148. Kim YH, Shim YJ, Shin YJ, Sul D, Lee E, Min BH. 2009. 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) induces calcium influx through T-type calcium channel and enhances lysosomal exocytosis and insulin secretion in INS-1 cells. Int J Toxicol 28(3):151–161.
- 149. Nishiumi S, Yoshida M, Azuma T, Yoshida K, Ashida H. 2010. 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-pdioxin impairs an insulin signaling pathway through the induction of tumor necrosis factor-α in adipocytes. Toxicol Sci 115(2):482–491
- 150. Ruzzin J, Petersen R, Meugnier E, Madsen L, Lock EJ, Lillefosse H, et al. 2010. Persistent organic pollutant exposure leads to insulin resistance syndrome. Environ Health Perspect 118:465–471.
- 151. Tang F, Yan C, Li F, Wu S, Yu Y, Gao Y, et al. 2007. Protective effects of insulin on polychlorinated biphenyls-induced disruption of actin cytoskeleton in hippocampal neurons. Environ Toxicol 22(2):152–158.
- 152. Wang J, Lv X, Du Y. 2010. Inflammatory response and insulin signaling alteration induced by PCB77. J Environ Sci (China) 22(7):1086–1090.
- 153. Hsu HF, Tsou TC, Chao HR, Kuo YT, Tsai FY, Yeh SC. 2010. Effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin on adipogenic differentiation and insulin-induced glucose uptake in 3T3-L1 cells. J Hazard Mater 182(1–3):649–655.
- 154. Kurita H, Yoshioka W, Nishimura N, Kubota N, Kadowaki T, Tohyama C. 2009. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin on glucose stimulated insulin secretion in mice. J Appl Toxicol 29(8):689–694.
- 155. Piaggi S, Novelli M, Martino L, Masini M, Raggi C, Orciuolo E, et al. 2007. Cell death and impairment of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion induced by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzop-dioxin (TCDD) in the β-cell line INS-1E. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 220(3):333–340.

- 156. Arsenescu V, Arsenescu RI, King V, Swanson H, Cassis LA. 2008. Polychlorinated biphenyl77 induces adipocyte differentiation and proinflammatory adipokines and promotes obesity and atherosclerosis. Environ Health Perspect 116:761–768.
- 157. Mullerova D, Kopecky J. 2007. White adipose tissue: storage and effector site for environmental pollutants. Physiol Res 56(4):375–381.
- 158. WHO. (2010). Chemical hazards in drinking-water: arsenic. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- 159. Crebelli, R., & Leopardi, P. (2012). Long-term risks of metal contaminants in drinking water: a critical appraisal of guideline values for arsenic and vanadium. Ann Ist Super Sanita, 48(4), 354-361.
- 160. Ahsan, H., Chen, Y., Parvez, F., Zablotska, L., Argos, M., Hussain, I., . . . Graziano, J. H. (2006). Arsenic exposure from drinking water and risk of premalignant skin lesions in Bangladesh: baseline results from the Health Effects of Arsenic Longitudinal Study. Am J Epidemiol, 163(12), 1138-1148.
- 161. Chen, Y., Graziano, J. H., Parvez, F., Hussain, I., Momotaj, H., van Geen, A., . . . Ahsan, H. (2006). Modification of risk of arsenic-induced skin lesions by sunlight exposure, smoking, and occupational exposures in Bangladesh. Epidemiology, 17(4), 459-467.
- 162. Zablotska, L. B., Chen, Y., Graziano, J. H., Parvez, F., van Geen, A., Howe, G. R., & Ahsan, H. (2008). Protective effects of B vitamins and antioxidants on the risk of arsenic-related skin lesions in Bangladesh. Environ Health Perspect, 116(8), 1056-1062.
- 163. Pilsner, J. R., Liu, X., Ahsan, H., Ilievski, V., Slavkovich, V., Levy, D., . . . Gamble, M. V. (2009). Folate deficiency, hyperhomocysteinemia, low urinary creatinine, and hypomethylation of leukocyte DNA are risk factors for arsenic-induced skin lesions. Environ Health Perspect, 117(2), 254-260.
- 164. Argos, M., Parvez, F., Chen, Y., Hussain, A. Z., Momotaj, H., Howe, G. R., . . . Ahsan, H. (2007). Socioeconomic status and risk for arsenic-related skin lesions in Bangladesh. Am J Public Health, 97(5).
- 165. Chen, Y., Parvez, F., Gamble, M., Islam, T., Ahmed, A., Argos, M., . . . Ahsan, H. (2009). Arsenic exposure at low-to-moderate levels and skin lesions, arsenic metabolism, neurological functions, and biomarkers for respiratory and cardiovascular diseases: review of recent findings from the Health Effects of Arsenic Longitudinal Study (HEALS) in Bangladesh. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 239(2), 184-192.

- 166. Ahsan, H., Chen, Y., Kibriya, M. G., Slavkovich, V., Parvez, F., Jasmine, F., . . . Graziano, J. H. (2007). Arsenic metabolism, genetic susceptibility, and risk of premalignant skin lesions in Bangladesh. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 16(6), 1270-1278.
- 167. Yu, H. S., Liao, W. T., & Chai, C. Y. (2006). Arsenic carcinogenesis in the skin. J Biomed Sci, 13(5), 657-666.
- 168. Bailey, K., Xia, Y., Ward, W. O., Knapp, G., Mo, J., Mumford, J. L., . . . Thai, S. F. (2009). Global gene expression profiling of hyperkeratotic skin lesions from inner Mongolians chronically exposed to arsenic. Toxicol Pathol, 37(7), 849-859.
- 169. Batinac, T., Zamolo, G., Ruzic, A., & Persic, V. (2007). Apoptosis in skin cancer development and regression. Coll Antropol, 31 Suppl 1, 23-28.
- 170. IARC. (2004). Summaries & Evaluations: Arsenic in Drinking-Water. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer, Retrieved from: <u>http://www.inchem.org/docu-</u> <u>ments/iarc/vol84/84-01-arsenic.html</u>.
- 171. Liao, C. M., Shen, H. H., Chen, C. L., Hsu, L. I., Lin, T. L., Chen, S. C., & Chen, C. J. (2009). Risk assessment of arsenic-induced internal cancer at long-term low dose exposure. J Hazard Mater, 165(1-3), 652-663.
- 172. Mostafa, M. G., McDonald, J. C., & Cherry, N. M. (2008). Lung cancer and exposure to arsenic in rural Bangladesh. Occup Environ Med, 65(11), 765-768.
- 173. Steinmaus, C. M., Ferreccio, C., Romo, J. A., Yuan, Y., Cortes, S., Marshall, G., . . . Smith, A. H. (2013). Drinking water arsenic in northern chile: high cancer risks 40 years after exposure cessation. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 22(4), 623-630.
- 174. Wang, W., Cheng, S., & Zhang, D. (2014). Association of inorganic arsenic exposure with liver cancer mortality: A meta-analysis. Environ Res, 135, 120-125.
- 175. Fernandez, M. I., Lopez, J. F., Vivaldi, B., & Coz, F. (2012). Long-term impact of arsenic in drinking water on bladder cancer health care and mortality rates 20 years after end of exposure. J Urol, 187(3), 856-861.
- 176. Wang, C. H., Hsiao, C. K., Chen, C. L., Hsu, L. I., Chiou, H. Y., Chen, S. Y., . . . Chen, C. J. (2007). A review of the epidemiologic literature on the role of environmental arsenic exposure and cardiovascular diseases. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 222(3), 315-326.
- 177. Yuan Y, Marshall G, Ferreccio C, Steinmaus C, Selvin S, Liaw J, et al. Acute myocardial infarction mortality in comparison with lung and bladder cancer mortality in arsenic-exposed region II of Chile from 1950 to 2000. Am J Epidemiol. 2007; 166(12):1381–91.

- 178. Cheng TJ, Ke DS, Guo HR. The association between arsenic exposure from drinking water and cerebrovascular disease mortality in Taiwan. Water Res. 2010; 44(19):5770–6.10.1016.
- 179. Wade TJ, Xia Y, Wu K, Li Y, Ning Z, Le XC, et al. Increased mortality associated with well-water arsenic exposure in Inner Mongolia, China. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2009; 6(3):1107–23.
- 180. Xia Y, Wade TJ, Wu K, Li Y, Ning Z, Le XC, et al. Well water arsenic exposure, arsenic induced skin-lesions and self-reported morbidity in Inner Mongolia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2009; 6(3):1010–25.
- 181. Sohel N, Persson LA, Rahman M, Streatfield PK, Yunus M, Ekstrom EC, et al. Arsenic in drinking water and adult mortality: a population-based cohort study in rural Bangladesh. Epidemiology. 2009; 20(6):824–30.

 Chen Y, Graziano JH, Parvez F, Liu M, Slavkovich V, Kalra T, et al. Arsenic exposure from drinking water and mortality from cardiovascular disease in Bangladesh: prospective cohort study.
 BMJ. 2011; 342:d2431.

- 183. Afridi HI, Kazi TG, Kazi N, Kandhro GA, Baig JA, Shah AQ, et al. Evaluation of toxic elements in scalp hair samples of myocardial infarction patients at different stages as related to controls. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2010; 134(1):1–12.10.1007/
- 184 Afridi HI, Kazi TG, Kazi N, Kandhro GA, Baig JA, Jamali MK, et al. Association of environmental toxic elements in biological samples of myocardial infarction patients at different stages. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2011; 141(1-3):26–40.
- 185. Wang, C. H., Chen, C. L., Hsiao, C. K., Chiang, F. T., Hsu, L. I., Chiou, H. Y., . . . Chen, C. J. (2010). Arsenic-induced QT dispersion is associated with atherosclerotic diseases and predicts long-term cardiovascular mortality in subjects with previous exposure to arsenic: A 17-Year follow-up study. Cardiovasc Toxicol, 10(1), 17-26.
- 186. Faita, F., Cori, L., Bianchi, F., & Andreassi, M. G. (2013). Arsenic-induced genotoxicity and genetic susceptibility to arsenic-related pathologies. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 10(4), 1527-1546
- 187. Liao, Y. T., Li, W. F., Chen, C. J., Prineas, R. J., Chen, W. J., Zhang, Z. M., . . . Wang, S. L. (2009). Synergistic effect of polymorphisms of paraoxonase gene cluster and arsenic exposure on electrocardiogram abnormality. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 239(2), 178-183.
- Chen, Y., Ahsan, H., Slavkovich, V., Peltier, G. L., Gluskin, R. T., Parvez, F., . . . Graziano, J. H. (2010). No association between arsenic exposure from drinking water and diabetes mellitus: a cross-sectional study in Bangladesh. Environ Health Perspect, 118(9), 1299-1305.

- 189. National Toxicology, P. (2014). Report on Carcinogens, Thirteenth Edition. (1551-8280 (Electronic) 1551-8272 (Linking)). Research Triangle Park, NC: U.S. Public Health Service. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21850123">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21850123</a>.
- 190. Fung, A. T., Hudson, B., & Billson, F. A. (2011). Chloramphenicol--not so innocuous: a case of optic neuritis. BMJ Case Rep, 2011.
- 191. Wang, M. Y., & Sadun, A. A. (2013). Drug-related mitochondrial optic neuropathies. J Neurophthalmol, 33(2), 172-178.
- 192. Lee, S. H., Yoon, J., Kim, T. H., Um, S. H., & Yoon, T. J. (2013). Systemic lupus erythematosus induced by tetracycline. Int J Dermatol, 52(2), 257-258.
- 193. Wlodek, C., & Narayan, S. (2014). A reminder about photo-onycholysis induced by tetracycline, and the first report of a case induced by lymecycline. Clin Exp Dermatol, 39(6), 746-747.
- 194. Karaahmet, F., Coskun, Y., Erarslan, E., & Yuksel, I. (2013). Extensive esophageal damage resembling carcinoma due to tetracycline intake. Endoscopy, 45 Suppl 2 UCTN, E258.
- 195. Miller, C. S., & McGarity, G. J. (2009). Tetracycline-induced renal failure after dental treatment. J Am Dent Assoc, 140(1), 56-60.
- 196. Margolis, D. J., Fanelli, M., Hoffstad, O., & Lewis, J. D. (2010). Potential association between the oral tetracycline class of antimicrobials used to treat acne and inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol, 105(12), 2610-2616.
- 197. Eckburg PB, Relman DA. The role of microbes in Crohn's disease. Clin Infect Dis 2007; 44: 256 62.
- 198. Sartor RB. Microbial influences in inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology 2008; 134: 577 94.
- 199. Shaw, T., Simpson, B., Wilson, B., Oostman, H., Rainey, D., & Storrs, F. (2010). True photoallergy to sunscreens is rare despite popular belief. Dermatitis, 21(4), 185-198.
- 200. Greenspoon, J., Ahluwalia, R., Juma, N., & Rosen, C. F. (2013). Allergic and photoallergic contact dermatitis: a 10-year experience. Dermatitis, 24(1), 29-32.
- 201. Foti C, Bonamonte D, Cassano N, et al. Photoallergic contact dermatitis. G Ital Dermatol Venereol 2009;144(5):515Y525.

- 202. Gao, L., Hu, Y., Ni, C., Xu, Y., Ma, L., Yan, S., & Dou, X. (2014). Retrospective study of photopatch testing in a Chinese population during a 7-year period. Dermatitis, 25(1), 22-26.
- 203. Directorate-General, European Commission on Health and Consumer Protection. (2006). Opinion on para-amino benzoic acid.
- 204. Viehweg, A., Stein, A., Bauer, A., & Spornraft-Ragaller, P. (2013). Potassium-paraaminobenzoic acid (Potaba(R))-associated DRESS syndrome. Dermatitis, 24(5), 257-258
- 205. Polat M, Haydar PA, Örs I, Sirmatel F, "Erythema nodosum and Sweet's syndrome in patients with glandular tularemia," Int J Dermatol. 2011 ;50(7):866-9.
- 206. Salit IE, Liles WC, Smith C, "Tularemia endocarditis from domestic pet exposure," Am J Med. 2013 126(10).
- 207. Hofinger DM, Cardona L, Mertz GJ, Davis LE. Tularemic meningitis in the United States. Arch Neurol. 2009;66:523–7.
- 208. Gangat N. Cerebral abscesses complicating tularemia meningitis. Scand J Infect Dis. 2007;39:258–61.
- 209. van de Beek D, Steckelberg JM, Marshall WF, Kijpittayarit S, Wijdicks EFM. Tularemia with brain abscesses. Neurology. 2007;68:531.
- 210. Ylipalosaari P, Ala-Kokko TI, Tuominen H, Syrjälä H, "Guillain-Barré syndrome and ulceroglandular tularemia," Infection. 2013 Aug;41(4):881-3.
- 211. Genton B, D'Acremont V, Rare L, Baea K, Reeder JC, Alpers MP, et al. Plasmodium vivax and mixed infections are associated with severe malaria in children: A prospective cohort study from Papua New Guinea. PLoS Med 2008; 5(6): e127.
- 212. Tjitra E, Nicholas MA, Sugiarto P, Warikar N, Kenangalem E, Karyana M, et al. Multi drug resistant Plasmodium vivax associated with severe and fatal malaria: A prospective study in Papua, Indonesia. PLoS Med 2008; 5(6): e128.
- 213. Kochar DK, Das A, Kochar SK, Saxena V, Sirohi P, Garg S, et al. Severe Plasmodium vivax malaria: A report on serial cases from Bikaner in northwestern India. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2009; 80: 194–8.

- 214. Kochar DK, Sirohi P, Kochar SK, Bindal D, Kochar A, Jhajharia A, Goswami J, "Post-malaria neurological syndrome--a case of bilateral facial palsy after Plasmodium vivax malaria," J Vector Borne Dis. 2007 Sep;44(3):227-9.
- 215. Lampah DA1, Yeo TW, Hardianto SO, Tjitra E, Kenangalem E, Sugiarto P, Price RN, Anstey NM, "Coma associated with microscopy-diagnosed Plasmodium vivax: a prospective study in Papua, Indonesia," PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2011 Jun;5(6):e1032.
- 216. Goyal JP1, Shah VB, Parmar S, "Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis after treatment of Plasmodium vivax malaria," J Vector Borne Dis. 2012 Jun;49(2):119-21.
- 217. Kute VB1, Vanikar AV, Ghuge PP, Goswami JG, Patel MP, Patel HV, Gumber MR, Shah PR, Trivedi HL, "Renal cortical necrosis and acute kidney injury associated with Plasmodium vivax: a neglected human malaria parasite," Parasitol Res. 2012 Nov;111(5):2213-6.
- 218. Keskar VS, Jamale TE, Hase NK. Hemolytic uremic syndrome associated with *Plasmodium vivax* malaria successfully treated with plasma exchange. Indian J Nephrol. 2014;24:35–7.
- 219. Rajagopalan GI, Tilahun AY, Asmann YW, David CS, "Early gene expression changes induced by the bacterial superantigen staphylococcal enterotoxin B and its modulation by a proteasome inhibitor," Physiol Genomics. 2009 May 13;37(3):279-93.
- 220. Tilahun AY1, Holz M, Wu TT, David CS, Rajagopalan G, "Interferon gamma-dependent intestinal pathology contributes to the lethality in bacterial superantigen-induced toxic shock syndrome," PLoS One. 2011 Feb 3;6(2):e16764.
- 221. Liu T , Wang B-Q , Zheng P-Y , He S-H and Yang P-C, "Rhinosinusitis derived Staphylococcal enterotoxin B plays a possible role in pathogenesis of food allergy," BMC gastroenterology, 2006, 6
- 222. Bernstein JM1, Allen C, Rich G, Dryja D, Bina P, Reiser R, Ballow M, Wilding GE, "Further observations on the role of Staphylococcus aureus exotoxins and IgE in the pathogenesis of nasal polyposis," Laryngoscope. 2011 Mar;121(3):647-55.
- 223. Kim YM, Jin J, Choi JA, Cho SN, Lim YJ, Lee JH, Seo JY, Chen HY, Rha KS, Song CH, "Staphylococcus aureus enterotoxin B-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress response is associated with chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyposis," Clin Biochem. 2014 Jan;47(1-2):96-103.

- 224. Maes M, Kubera M, Leunis JC, "The gut-brain barrier in major depression: intestinal mucosal dysfunction with an increased translocation of LPS from gram negative enterobacteria (leaky gut) plays a role in the inflammatory pathophysiology of depression," Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2008 Feb;29(1):117-24.
- 225. Nason R, Jung JY, Chole RA, "Lipopolysaccharide-induced osteoclastogenesis from mononuclear precursors: a mechanism for osteolysis in chronic otitis media," J Assoc Res Otolaryngol. 2009 Jun;10(2):151-60.
- 226. Woyessa AB, Omballa V, Wang D, Lambert A, Waiboci L, Ayele W, Ahmed A, Abera NA, Cao S, Ochieng M, Montgomery JM, Jima D, Fields B, "An Outbreak of Acute Febrile Illness Caused by Sandfly Fever Sicilian Virus in the Afar Region of Ethiopia, 2011," Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2014 Sep 29. pii: 14-0299
- 227. Ergunay K, Ismayilova V, Colpak IA, Kansu T, Us D, "A case of central nervous system infection due to a novel Sandfly Fever Virus (SFV) variant: Sandfly Fever Turkey Virus (SFTV)," J Clin Virol. 2012 May;54(1):79-82.
- 228. Joshi N, Bhattacharya M, Yadav S, Rustogi D, "Cranial nerve palsies in typhoid fever: report of three cases," Ann Trop Paediatr. 2011;31(3):255-8.
- 229. May W, Senitiri I. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with typhoid fever. A case study in the Fiji Islands. Pac Health Dialog. 2010;16:85–8.
- 230. Mehndiratta S, Rajeshwari K, Dubey AP. Guillain-Barré syndrome as a complication of typhoid fever in a child. Neurol India. 2012;60:433–5.
- 231. Kapoor K, Jain S, Jajoo M, Talukdar B. A rare neurological complication of typhoid fever: Guillain-Barre' syndrome. Journal Of Pediatric Neurosciences [serial online]. May 2014;9(2):148-149.
- 232. Talukdar P, Dutta A, Rana S, Talukdar A, "Catatonia and parkinsonism as a sequelae of ty-phoid fever: a rare experience," BMJ Case Rep. 2013 Jun 27;2013.
- 233. Asano T, Kuwabara K, Fujino O, et al. Acute pancreatitis complicating typhoid fever in a 4year-old girl. Pediatrics International [serial online]. December 2007;49(6):1004-1006.

- 234. Gnassingbé K, Katakoa G, Kanassoua KK, Adabra K, Mama WA, Simlawo K, Eteh K, Tekou H, "Acute cholecystitis from typhic origin in children," Afr J Paediatr Surg. 2013 Apr-Jun;10(2):108-11.
- 235. Pandove PK, Moudgil A, Pandove M, Aggarwal K, Sharda D, Sharda VK, "Multiple ileal perforations and concomitant cholecystitis with gall bladder gangrene as complication of typhoid fever," J Surg Case Rep. 2014 Jul 18;2014(7).
- 236. Tewari M, Mishra RR, Shukla HS, "Salmonella typhi and gallbladder cancer: report from an endemic region," Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int. 2010 Oct;9(5):524-30.
- 237. Dantas-Torres F, "Rocky Mountain spotted fever," Lancet Infect Dis. 2007 Nov;7(11):724-32.
- 238. Nesbit R, Horton J, Littmann L. Myocarditis, pericarditis, and cardiac tamponade associated with Rocky Mountain spotted fever. Journal of The American College of Cardiology (JACC) [serial online]. June 14, 2011;57(24):2453.
- 239. Feodorova VA and Vladimir L Motin VL, "Plague vaccines: current developments and future perspectives," Emerging Microbes and Infections (2012).
- 240. Vaccine Adverse Events Reporting System (VAERS). Centers for Disease Control, Department of Health and Human Services.
- 241. Lyons A, Longfield J, Kuschner R, Straight T, Binn L, Seriwatana J, Reitstetter R, Froh IB, Craft D, McNabb K, Russell K, Metzgar D, Liss A, Sun X, Towle A, Sun W, "A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of the safety and immunogenicity of live, oral type 4 and type 7 adenovirus vaccines in adults," Vaccine. 2008 Jun 2;26(23):2890-8.
- 242. Kuschner RA, Russell KL, Abuja M, Bauer KM, Faix DJ, Hait H, Henrick J, Jacobs M, Liss A, Lynch JA, Liu Q, Lyons AG, Malik M, Moon JE, Stubbs J, Sun W, Tang D, Towle AC, Walsh DS, Wilkerson D; Adenovirus Vaccine Efficacy Trial Consortium, "A phase 3, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of the safety and efficacy of the live, oral adenovirus type 4 and type 7 vaccine, in U.S. military recruits," Vaccine. 2013 Jun 19;31(28):2963-71.
- 243. Domingo C, Niedrig M, "Safety of 17D derived yellow fever vaccines," Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2009 Mar;8(2):211-21.
- 244. McMahon AW, Eidex RB, Marfin AA, Russell M, Sejvar JJ, Markoff L, Hayes EB, Chen RT, Ball R, Braun MM, Cetron M; Yellow Fever Working Group, "Neurologic disease associated

with 17D-204 yellow fever vaccination: a report of 15 cases," Vaccine. 2007 Feb 26;25(10):1727-34.

- 245. Fernandes GC, Camacho LA, Sá Carvalho M, Batista M, de Almeida SM, "Neurological adverse events temporally associated to mass vaccination against yellow fever in Juiz de Fora, Brazil, 1999-2005," Vaccine. 2007 Apr 20;25(16):3124-8.
- 246. Monath TP, "Suspected yellow fever vaccine-associated viscerotropic adverse events (1973 and 1978), United States," Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2010 May;82(5):919-21.
- 247 Monath TP, "Review of the risks and benefits of yellow fever vaccination including some new analyses," Expert Rev Vaccines. 2012 Apr;11(4):427-48. doi: 10.1586/erv.12.6. Review.
- 248. Rusnak JM, Gibbs P, Boudreau E, Clizbe DP, Pittman P, "Immunogenicity and safety of an inactivated Rift Valley fever vaccine in a 19-year study," Vaccine. 2011 Apr 12;29(17):3222-9.
- 249. Tetsuro Ikegami T, and Makino S, "Rift Valley fever vaccines," Vaccine. 2009 November 5; 27S4: D69–D72.
- 250. Kortekaas J, Zingeser J, de Leeuw P, de La Rocque S, Unger H, Moormann R. Rift valley Fever vaccine development, progress and constraints. Emerging Infectious Diseases [serial online]. September 2011;17(9):e1
- 251. Chang LJ, Dowd KA, Mendoza FH, Saunders JG, Sitar S, Plummer SH, Yamshchikov G, Sarwar UN, Hu Z, Enama ME, Bailer RT, Koup RA, Schwartz RM, Akahata W, Nabel GJ, Mascola JR, Pierson TC, Graham BS, Ledgerwood JE; the VRC 311 Study Team, "Safety and tolerability of chikungunya virus-like particle vaccine in healthy adults: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial,"

Lancet. 2014 Aug 14.

- 252. Langston, JL, L. K. Wright, N. Connis and L. A. Lumley. "Characterizing the Behavioral Effects of Nerve Agent-Induced Seizure Activity in Rats: Increased Startle Reactivity and Perseverative Behavior." Pharmacol Biochem Behav 100, no. 3 (2012): 382-91.
- 253. Moffett, M. C., M. K. Schultz, J. E. Schwartz, M. F. Stone and L. A. Lumley. "Impaired Auditory and Contextual Fear Conditioning in Soman-Exposed Rats." Pharmacol Biochem Behav 98, no. 1 (2011): 120-9.

- 254. Filliat, P., Coubard, S., Pierard, C., Liscia, P., Beracochea, D., Four, E., Baubichon, D., Masqueliez, C., Lallement, G., Collombet, J.M., 2007. Long-term behavioral consequences of soman poisoning in mice. Neurotoxicology 28, 508–519.
- 255. Genovese, R. F., B. J. Benton, S. J. Shippee, E. M. Jakubowski and J. C. Bonnell. "Effects of Low-Level Inhalation Exposure to Cyclosarin on Learned Behaviors in Sprague-Dawley Rats." J Toxicol Environ Health A 69, no. 24 (2006): 2167-80.
- 256. Genovese, R. F., J. L. Oubre, E. M. Jakubowski, P. J. Fleming, A. Saxena, G. A. Rockwood, P. Tipparaju and C. B. Willmore. "Evaluation of Cognitive and Biochemical Effects of Low-Level Exposure to Sarin in Rhesus and African Green Monkeys." Toxicology 231, no. 1 (2007): 11-20.
- 257. Myers, Todd M, JC La Mont, DW Kahler and L. A. Lumley. Effects of Repeated Sub-Lethal Vx Exposure on Operant Time Estimation in Rats, 2007. USAMRICD TR-07-03.
- 258. Bloch-Shilderman, Eugenia, Ishai Rabinovitz, Inbal Egoz, Lily Raveh, Nahum Allon, Ettie Grauer, Eran Gilat and Ben Avi Weissman. "Subchronic Exposure to Low-Doses of the Nerve Agent Vx: Physiological, Behavioral, Histopathological and Neurochemical Studies." Toxicology and applied pharmacology 231, no. 1 (2008): 17-23.
- 259. Pizarro, J. M., W. E. Chang, M. J. Bah, L. K. Wright, G. A. Saviolakis, A. Alagappan, C. L. Robison, J. D. Shah, J. L. Meyerhoff, D. M. Cerasoli, E. G. Midboe and L. A. Lumley. "Repeated Exposure to Sublethal Doses of the Organophosphorus Compound Vx Activates Bdnf Expression in Mouse Brain." Toxicol Sci 126, no. 2 (2012): 497-505.
- 260. Gao, X., H. Lin, R. Ray and P. Ray. "Toxicogenomic Studies of Human Neural Cells Following Exposure to Organophosphorus Chemical Warfare Nerve Agent VX." Neurochem Res 38, no. 5 (2013): 916-34.
- 261. Wright, Benjamin S, Peter E Rezk, Jacob R Graham, Keith E Steele, Richard K Gordon, Alfred M Sciuto and Madhusoodana P Nambiar. "Acute Lung Injury Following Inhalation Exposure to Nerve Agent Vx in Guinea Pigs." Inhalation toxicology 18, no. 6 (2006): 437-448.
- 262. Misik, Jan. "Military Incapacitating Agent Bz (3-Quinuclidinyl Benzilate) Past, Present and Future." Mil. Med. Sci. Let. (Voj. Drav. Listy.) 82, (2013): 1-5.
- 263 Misik, J., J. Vanek, K. Musilek and J. Kassa. "Cholinergic Antagonist 3-Quinuclidinyl Benzilate - Impact on Learning and Memory in Wistar Rats." Behav Brain Res 266, (2014): 193-200.
- 264. Kunesova, G., J. Hlavacek, J. Patocka, A. Evangelou, C. Zikos, D. Benaki, M. Paravatou-Petsotas, M. Pelecanou, E. Livaniou and J. Slaninova. "The Multiple T-Maze in Vivo Testing of the Neuroprotective Effect of Humanin Analogues." Peptides 29, no. 11 (2008): 1982-7.

- 265. Tinsley, C. J., N. S. Fontaine-Palmer, M. Vincent, E. P. Endean, J. P. Aggleton, M. W. Brown and E. C. Warburton. "Differing Time Dependencies of Object Recognition Memory Impairments Produced by Nicotinic and Muscarinic Cholinergic Antagonism in Perirhinal Cortex." Learn Mem 18, no. 7 (2011): 484-92.
- 266. Doguc, D. K., N. Delibas, H. Vural, I. Altuntas, R. Sutcu and Y. Sonmez. "Effects of Chronic Scopolamine Administration on Spatial Working Memory and Hippocampal Receptors Related to Learning." Behav Pharmacol 23, no. 8 (2012): 762-70.
- 267. von Linstow Roloff, E., D. Harbaran, J. Micheau, B. Platt and G. Riedel. "Dissociation of Cholinergic Function in Spatial and Procedural Learning in Rats." Neuroscience 146, no. 3 (2007): 875-89.
- 268. Gaillard, Y., P. Regenstreif and L. Fanton. "Modern Toxic Antipersonnel Projectiles." Am J Forensic Med Pathol 35, no. 4 (2014): 258-64.
- 269. Myhrer, Trond, Siri Enger and Pål Aas. "Antiparkinson Drugs Used as Prophylactics for Nerve Agents: Studies of Cognitive Side Effects in Rats." Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 89, no. 4 (2008): 633-638.
- 270. Raboin, S. J., S. Gulley, S. C. Henley, W. C. Chan, A. R. Esdaile and A. I. Sayegh. "Atropine Methyl Nitrate Increases Myenteric but Not Dorsal Vagal Complex Fos-Like Immunoreactivity in the Rat." Physiol Behav 88, no. 4-5 (2006): 448-52.
- 271. Pavlov, V. A., M. Ochani, M. Gallowitsch-Puerta, K. Ochani, J. M. Huston, C. J. Czura, Y. Al-Abed and K. J. Tracey. "Central Muscarinic Cholinergic Regulation of the Systemic Inflammatory Response During Endotoxemia." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, no. 13 (2006): 5219-23.
- 272. Pavlov, Valentin A, William R Parrish, Mauricio Rosas-Ballina, Mahendar Ochani, Margot Puerta, Kanta Ochani, Sangeeta Chavan, Yousef Al-Abed and Kevin J Tracey. "Brain Acetylcholinesterase Activity Controls Systemic Cytokine Levels through the Cholinergic Anti-Inflammatory Pathway." Brain, behavior, and immunity 23, no. 1 (2009): 41-45.
- 273. Martelli, D, MJ McKinley and RM McAllen. "The Cholinergic Anti-Inflammatory Pathway: A Critical Review." Autonomic Neuroscience 182, (2014): 65-69.
- 274. Kozer, E., A. Mordel, S. B. Haim, M. Bulkowstein, M. Berkovitch and Y. Bentur. "Pediatric Poisoning from Trimedoxime (Tmb4) and Atropine Automatic Injectors." J Pediatr 146, no. 1 (2005): 41-4.
- 275. Halberstadt AL (2015) Recent advances in the neuropsychopharmacology of serotonergic hallucinogens. Behav Brain Res 277: 99–120.

- 276. Bonson KR (2012) Hallucinogenic drugs. In: eLS. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons. epub ahead of print
- 277. Nutt D, King LA, Saulsbury W, et al. (2007) Development of a rational scale to assess the harm of drugs of potential misuse. Lancet 369: 1047–1053.
- 278. Nutt DJ, King LA, Phillips LD; Independent Scientific Committee on Drugs (2010) Drug harms in the UK: A multicriteria decision analysis. Lancet 376: 1558–1565.
- 279. Taylor M, Mackay K, Murphy J, et al. (2012) Quantifying the RR of harm to self and others from substance misuse: Results from a survey of clinical experts across Scotland. BMJ Open 2.
- 280. van Amsterdam J, Opperhuizen A, Koeter M, van den Brink W (2010) Ranking the harm of alcohol, tobacco and illicit drugs for the individual and the population. Eur Addict Res 16: 202–7.
- 281. Krebs, T. S. and P. O. Johansen. "Psychedelics and Mental Health: A Population Study." PLoS One 8, no. 8 (2013): e63972.
- 282. Johansen, P. O. and T. S. Krebs. "Psychedelics Not Linked to Mental Health Problems or Suicidal Behavior: A Population Study." J Psychopharmacol 29, no. 3 (2015): 270-9.
- 283. Hendricks, P. S., C. B. Thorne, C. B. Clark, D. W. Coombs and M. W. Johnson. "Classic Psychedelic Use Is Associated with Reduced Psychological Distress and Suicidality in the United States Adult Population." J Psychopharmacol 29, no. 3 (2015): 280-8.
- 284. Winkler, P. and L. Csemy. "Self-Experimentations with Psychedelics among Mental Health Professionals: Lsd in the Former Czechoslovakia." J Psychoactive Drugs 46, no. 1 (2014): 11-9.
- 285. Kilpatrick, Z. P. and G. Bard Ermentrout. "Hallucinogen Persisting Perception Disorder in Neuronal Networks with Adaptation." J Comput Neurosci 32, no. 1 (2012): 25-53.
- 286. Hermle, L., M. Simon, M. Ruchsow and M. Geppert. "Hallucinogen-Persisting Perception Disorder." Ther Adv Psychopharmacol 2, no. 5 (2012): 199-205.
- 287. Lerner, G.A and S. Lev-Ran. "Lsd-Associated "Alice in Wonderland Syndrome"(Aiws): A Hallucinogen Persisting Perception Disorder (Hppd) Case Report." Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci 52, no. 1 (2015): 67-8.
- 288. Lerner, G.A, D. Rudinski, O. Bor and C. Goodman. "Flashbacks and Hppd: A Clinical-Oriented Concise Review." Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci 51, no. 4 (2014): 296-301.
- 289. Lerner, G. A., C. Goodman, D. Rudinski and S. Lev-Ran. "Lsd Flashbacks the Appearance of New Visual Imagery Not Experienced During Initial Intoxication: Two Case Reports." Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci 51, no. 4 (2014): 307-9.
- 290. Litjens, R. P., T. M. Brunt, G. J. Alderliefste and R. H. Westerink. "Hallucinogen Persisting Perception Disorder and the Serotonergic System: A Comprehensive Review Including New Mdma-Related Clinical Cases." Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 24, no. 8 (2014): 1309-23.
- 291. Bagley WH, Yang H, Shah KH: Rhabdomyolysis. Intern Emerg Med 2007; 2:210–218
- 292. Bosch X, Poch E, Grau JM: Rhabdomyolysis and acute kidney injury. N Engl J Med 2009; 361:62–72.
- 293. Berrens, Z., J. Lammers and C. White. "Rhabdomyolysis after Lsd Ingestion." Psychosomatics 51, no. 4 (2010): 356-356 e3.
- 294. Balali-Mood, M. and M. Shariat. "Treatment of Organophosphate Poisoning. Experience of Nerve Agents and Acute Pesticide Poisoning on the Effects of Oximes." J Physiol Paris 92, no. 5-6 (1998): 375-8.
- 295. Balali-Mood, M., K. Balali-Mood and F. Hosseini Shirazi. "Recent Advances in Treatment of Acute Organophosphorous Nerve Agents Poisoning." Iranian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research Volume 5, no. Number 2 (2010): 79-87.
- 296 Voicu, V., F. S. Radulescu and A. Medvedovici. "Toxicological Considerations of Acetylcholinesterase Reactivators." Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 9, no. 1 (2013): 31-50.
- 297. Drtinova, Lucie and Miroslav Pohanka. "Antioxidant Markers in Guinea Pig Exposed to Obidoxime and Hi-6 Acetylcholinesterase Oxime Reactivators Containing Oxime Moiety." African Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology 7, no. 31 (2013): 2252-2257.

- 298. Fujita, K., M. Yamafuji, Y. Nakabeppu and M. Noda. "Therapeutic Approach to Neurodegenerative Diseases by Medical Gases: Focusing on Redox Signaling and Related Antioxidant Enzymes." Oxid Med Cell Longev 2012, (2012): 324256.
- 299. Guglielmotto, M., L. Giliberto, E. Tamagno and M. Tabaton. "Oxidative Stress Mediates the Pathogenic Effect of Different Alzheimer's Disease Risk Factors." Front Aging Neurosci 2, (2010): 3.
- Ramond, A., D. Godin-Ribuot, C. Ribuot, P. Totoson, I. Koritchneva, S. Cachot, P. Levy and M. Joyeux-Faure. "Oxidative Stress Mediates Cardiac Infarction Aggravation Induced by Intermittent Hypoxia." Fundam Clin Pharmacol 27, no. 3 (2013): 252-61.
- 301. A. Hill, C. Underwood and J. J. Belch. "Oxidative Stress Levels Are Raised in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome and Are Associated with Clinical Symptoms." Free Radic Biol Med 39, no. 5 (2005): 584-9.
- 302. Bentur, Y., I. Layish, A. Krivoy, M. Berkovitch, E. Rotman, S. B. Haim, Y. Yehezkelli and E. Kozer. "Civilian Adult Self Injections of Atropine-Trimedoxime (Tmb4) Auto-Injectors." Clin Toxicol (Phila) 44, no. 3 (2006): 301-6.
- 303. Cherian, AM; Peter, JV; Samuel, JV; Jaydevan, R; Peter, S; Joel, S; Jayselan, L; Thomas, K. "Effectiveness of 2-Pam (Pralidoxime) in the Treatment of Organophosphorus Poisoning (Opp): A Randomised Double Blind Placebo-Controlled Trial." Journal of the Association of Physicians of India 45, (1997): 22–4.
- 304. Samuel, J., K. Thomas, L. Jeyaseelan, J. V. Peter and A. M. Cherian. "Incidence of Intermediate Syndrome in Organophosphorous Poisoning." J Assoc Physicians India 43, no. 5 (1995): 321-3.
- 305. Johnson, S., J. V. Peter, K. Thomas, L. Jeyaseelan and A. M. Cherian. "Evaluation of Two Treatment Regimens of Pralidoxime (1 Gm Single Bolus Dose Vs 12 Gm Infusion) in the Management of Organophosphorus Poisoning." J Assoc Physicians India 44, no. 8 (1996): 529-31.
- 306. Buckley, N. A., M. Eddleston, Y. Li, M. Bevan and J. Robertson. "Oximes for Acute Organophosphate Pesticide Poisoning." Cochrane Database Syst Rev, no. 2 (2011): CD005085.
- 307. Pawar, K. S., R. R. Bhoite, C. P. Pillay, S. C. Chavan, D. S. Malshikare and S. G. Garad. "Continuous Pralidoxime Infusion Versus Repeated Bolus Injection to Treat Organophosphorus Pesticide Poisoning: A Randomised Controlled Trial." Lancet 368, no. 9553 (2006): 2136-41.
- 308. Ballantyne B, Swanston DW. The comparative acute mammalian toxicity of 1-chloroacetphenone (CN) and 2-chlorobenzylidene malononitrile (CS). Arch Toxicol 1978; 40: 75-95.
- 309. Chapman AJ, White C. Death resulting from lacrimatory agents. J Forensic Sci

1978;23:527-30.

310. Naeve W. A fatal case of chloracetophenone poisoning ("tear gas" poisoning). Arch Toxikol 1960;18:165–9.

311. Stein AA, Kirwan WE. Chloracetophenone (tear gas) poisoning: a clinico-pathologic report. J Forensic Sci 1964;9:374–82.

- 312. Schep, L. J., R. J. Slaughter and D. I. McBride. "Riot Control Agents: The Tear Gases CN, CS and OC-a Medical Review." J R Army Med Corps 161, no. 2 (2015): 94-99.
- 313. Queen, Frank B. "Allergic Dermatitis Following Exposure to Tear Gas (Chloracetophenone, Cn)." JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association 117, no. 22 (1941): 1879.
- 314. de Torres, Juan P, Víctor Correa, Jacob Rosquete and Tomás Febles. "Riot Control Agents and Their Respiratory Effects." Respiratory Medicine Extra 2, no. 1 (2006): 13-15.
- 315 Ballantyne, B. "Medical Management of the Traumatic Consequences of Civil Unrest Incidents: Causation, Clinical Approaches, Needs and Advanced Planning Criteria." Toxicol Rev 25, no. 3 (2006): 155-97.
- 316. Voegeli, S., & Baenninger, P. B. (2014). Severe chemical burn to the eye after pepper spray attack. Klin Monbl Augenheilkd, 231(4), 327-328.
- 317. Miller, J. J., & Skolnick, J. (2006). Inhalation injury after capsaicin exposure. J Ky Med Assoc, 104(3), 103-105.
- 318. Shimada M, Young C, Tanen DA. Corneal ulcer associated with pepper spray exposure during military training. J Emer Med. 2012;43(2):e149.
- 319. Gerber S, Frueh BE, Tappeiner C. Conjunctival proliferation after a mild pepper spray injury in a young child. Cornea. 2011;30:1042–4.
- 320. Mendelson JE, Tolliver BK, Delucchi KL, Baggott MJ, Flower K, Wilson Harris C, Galloway GP, Berger P. Capsaicin, an active ingredient in pepper sprays, increases the lethality of cocaine. Forensic Toxicol. 2010;28:33–7.
- 321. Toprak, S., Ersoy, G., Hart, J., & Clevestig, P. (2015). The pathology of lethal exposure to the Riot Control Agents: towards a forensics-based methodology for determining misuse. J Forensic Leg Med, 29, 36-42.
- 322. Schep, L. J., Slaughter, R. J., & McBride, D. I. (2015). Riot control agents: the tear gases CN, CS and OC-a medical review. J R Army Med Corps, 161(2), 94-99.

- 323 . Niyousha, M., Panahi, Y., & Golzari, S. (2015). Acute and Chronic Effects of Disturbance Control Factors, Complications and Treatment Method. J Environ Anal Chem, 2(138), 2.
- 324 . Mendelson JE, Tolliver BK, Delucchi KL, Baggott MJ, Flower K, Haris CW, et al. Capsaicin, an active ingredient in pepper sprays, increases the lethality of cocaine. Forensic Toxicol 2010;28:33e7.
- 325. Kearney, T., Hiatt, P., Birdsall, E., & Smollin, C. (2014). Pepper spray injury severity: tenyear case experience of a poison control system. Prehosp Emerg Care, 18(3), 381-386.
- 326. Gaillard, Yvan, Philippe Regenstreif and Laurent Fanton. "Modern Toxic Antipersonnel Projectiles." The American journal of forensic medicine and pathology 35, no. 4 (2014): 258-264.
- 327. White, I. M., T. Minamoto, J. R. Odell, J. Mayhorn and W. White. "Brief Exposure to Methamphetamine (Meth) and Phencyclidine (Pcp) During Late Development Leads to Long-Term Learning Deficits in Rats." Brain Res 1266, (2009): 72-86.
- 328. Jorgensen, P.B., L. Krych, T. B. Pedersen, N. Plath, J. P. Redrobe, A. K. Hansen, D. S. Nielsen, C. S. Pedersen, C. Larsen and D. B. Sorensen. "Investigating the Long-Term Effect of Subchronic Phencyclidine-Treatment on Novel Object Recognition and the Association between the Gut Microbiota and Behavior in the Animal Model of Schizophrenia." Physiol Behav 141, (2015): 32-9.
- 329. Newell, K. A., K. Zavitsanou and X. F. Huang. "Short and Long Term Changes in Nmda Receptor Binding in Mouse Brain Following Chronic Phencyclidine Treatment." J Neural Transm 114, no. 8 (2007): 995-1001.
- 330. Ellison, G., A. Keys and K. Noguchi. "Long-Term Changes in Brain Following Continuous Phencyclidine Administration: An Autoradiographic Study Using Flunitrazepam, Ketanserin, Mazindol, Quinuclidinyl Benzilate, Piperidyl-3,4-3h(N)-Tcp, and Ampa Receptor Ligands." Pharmacol Toxicol 84, no. 1 (1999): 9-17.
- 331. Allen, R. M. and S. J. Young. "Phencyclidine-Induced Psychosis." Am J Psychiatry 135, no. 9 (1978): 1081-4.
- 332. Erard, R., P. V. Luisada and R. Peele. "The Pcp Psychosis: Prolonged Intoxication or Drug-Precipitated Functional Illness?" J Psychedelic Drugs 12, no. 3-4 (1980): 235-51.
- 333. Agarwal, S. and M. Trivedi. "Cutaneous Complications of Pentazocine Abuse." Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol 73, no. 4 (2007): 280.
- 334. Fleming, JD, A Hopper, A Robson, M Singh and J Barker. "Pentazocine-Induced Cutaneous Scarring." Clinical and experimental dermatology 39, no. 1 (2014): 115-116.

- 335. Prasad, H. R., B. K. Khaitan, M. Ramam, V. K. Sharma, R. K. Pandhi, S. Agarwal, A. Dhawan, R. Jain and M. K. Singh. "Diagnostic Clinical Features of Pentazocine-Induced Ulcers." Int J Dermatol 44, no. 11 (2005): 910-5.
- 336. Kinney, D. K., K. Hintz, E. M. Shearer, D. H. Barch, C. Riffin, K. Whitley and R. Butler. "A Unifying Hypothesis of Schizophrenia: Abnormal Immune System Development May Help Explain Roles of Prenatal Hazards, Post-Pubertal Onset, Stress, Genes, Climate, Infections, and Brain Dysfunction." Med Hypotheses 74, no. 3 (2010): 555-63.
- 337. Suarez-Pinilla, P., J. Lopez-Gil and B. Crespo-Facorro. "Immune System: A Possible Nexus between Cannabinoids and Psychosis." Brain Behav Immun 40, (2014): 269-82.
- 338. Andreasson, S., P. Allebeck, A. Engstrom and U. Rydberg. "Cannabis and Schizophrenia. A Longitudinal Study of Swedish Conscripts." Lancet 2, no. 8574 (1987): 1483-6.
- 339. Arseneault, L., M. Cannon, J. Witton and R. M. Murray. "Causal Association between Cannabis and Psychosis: Examination of the Evidence." Br J Psychiatry 184, (2004): 110-7.
- 340. Flora, S. J., Flora, G., & Saxena, G. (2009). Arsenicals: toxicity, their use as chemical warfare agents and possible remedial measures Handbook of the Toxicology of Chemical Warfare Agents (pp. 109-133): Academic Press San Diego.
- 341. Mohan, A., Lee, T., & Sachdev, P. (2014). Surviving acute cyanide poisoning: a longitudinal neuropsychological investigation with interval MRI. BMJ Case Rep, 2014.
- 342. Fortin, J. L., Judic-Peureux, V., Desmettre, T., Manzon, C., Grimon, D., Hostalek, U., . . . Capellier, G. (2011). Hydrogen cyanide poisoning in a prison environment: a case report. J Correct Health Care, 17(1), 29-33.
- 343. Chen, R., Samoli, E., Wong, C. M., Huang, W., Wang, Z., Chen, B., . . . Group, C. C. (2012). Associations between short-term exposure to nitrogen dioxide and mortality in 17 Chinese cities: the China Air Pollution and Health Effects Study (CAPES). Environ Int, 45, 32-38.
- 344. Samoli, E., Aga, E., Touloumi, G., Nisiotis, K., Forsberg, B., Lefranc, A., . . . Katsouyanni, K. (2006). Short-term effects of nitrogen dioxide on mortality: an analysis within the APHEA project. Eur Respir J, 27(6), 1129-1138.
- 345. Wong C-M, Vinchit-Vadakan N, Kan H, Qian Z. Public health and air pollution in Asia (PAPA): a multicity study of short-term effects of air pollution on mortality. Environ Health Perspect 2008b;116(9):1195–202.
- 346. Shang, Y., Sun, Z., Cao, J., Wang, X., Zhong, L., Bi, X., . . . Huang, W. (2013). Systematic review of Chinese studies of short-term exposure to air pollution and daily mortality. Environ Int, 54, 100-111.

- 347. Li, H., Chen, R., Meng, X., Zhao, Z., Cai, J., Wang, C., . . . Kan, H. (2015). Short-term exposure to ambient air pollution and coronary heart disease mortality in 8 Chinese cities. Int J Cardiol, 197, 265-270.
- 348. Bledsoe, K. A., & Kramer, A. H. (2008). Propylene glycol toxicity complicating use of barbiturate coma. Neurocrit Care, 9(1), 122-124
- 349. Zar, T., Graeber, C., & Perazella, M. A. (2007). Recognition, treatment, and prevention of propylene glycol toxicity. Semin Dial, 20(3), 217-219.
- 350. Pisinger, C. (2014). Why public health people are more worried than excited over e-cigarettes. BMC Med, 12, 226.
- 351. Callahan-Lyon, P. (2014). Electronic cigarettes: human health effects. Tob Control, 23 Suppl 2, ii36-40.
- 352. Pisinger, C., & Dossing, M. (2014). A systematic review of health effects of electronic cigarettes. Prev Med, 69, 248-260.
- 353. Kienhuis, A. S., Soeteman-Hernandez, L. G., Bos, P. M., Cremers, H. W., Klerx, W. N., & Talhout, R. (2015). Potential harmful health effects of inhaling nicotine-free shisha-pen vapor: a chemical risk assessment of the main components propylene glycol and glycerol. Tob Induc Dis, 13(1), 15.
- 354. Suber RL, Deskin R, Nikiforov I, Fouillet X, Coggins CR. Subchronic nose-only inhalation study of propylene glycol in Sprague–Dawley rats. Food Chem Toxicol: Intl J Pub Br Ind Bio Res Assoc. 1989;27(9):573–83.
- 355. Fowles, J. R., Banton, M. I., & Pottenger, L. H. (2013). A toxicological review of the propylene glycols. Crit Rev Toxicol, 43(4), 363-390.
- 356. Choi, H., Schmidbauer, N., Sundell, J., Hasselgren, M., Spengler, J., & Bornehag, C. G. (2010). Common household chemicals and the allergy risks in pre-school age children. PLoS One, 5(10), e13423.
- 357. Loddenkemper, T., Moddel, G., Schuele, S. U., Wyllie, E., & Morris, H. H., 3rd. (2007). Seizures during intracarotid methohexital and amobarbital testing. Epilepsy Behav, 10(1), 49-54.
- 358. English, J., & Davis, B. (2010). Case report: Death associated with stroke following intracarotid amobarbital testing. Epilepsy Behav, 17(2), 283-284.
- 359. Blaszczyk, B., Lason, W., & Czuczwar, S. J. (2015). Antiepileptic drugs and adverse skin reactions: An update. Pharmacol Rep, 67(3), 426-434.

- 360. Chaabane, A., Ben Fadhel, N., Chadli, Z., Ben Fredj, N., Boughattas, N. A., & Aouam, K. (2014). Phenobarbital-induced DRESS: a lichenoid picture. Iran J Allergy Asthma Immunol, 13(6), 453-455.
- 361. Lai, E. C., Yang, Y. H., Lin, S. J., & Hsieh, C. Y. (2013). Use of antiepileptic drugs and risk of hypothyroidism. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf, 22(10), 1071-1079.
- 362. Devarbhavi, H., & Andrade, R. J. (2014). Drug-induced liver injury due to antimicrobials, central nervous system agents, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Semin Liver Dis, 34(2), 145-161.
- 363. Olsen JH, Schulgen G, Boice JD Jr, Whysner J, Travis LB, Williams GM, et al. (1995). Antiepileptic treatment and risk for hepatobiliary cancer and malignant lymphoma. Cancer Res 55:294–297.
- 364. La Vecchia, C., & Negri, E. (2014). A review of epidemiological data on epilepsy, phenobarbital, and risk of liver cancer. Eur J Cancer Prev, 23(1), 1-7.
- 365. Levenson, M., Rochester, CG, Mentari, E, Hughes, A, Feeney, J, Stone, M, Ware, J. (2008). Statistical Review and Evaluation: Antiepileptic Drugs and Suicidality. US Department of health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration.
- 366. Hesdorffer, D. C., & Kanner, A. M. (2009). The FDA alert on suicidality and antiepileptic drugs: Fire or false alarm? Epilepsia, 50(5), 978-986
- 367. Ferrer, P., Ballarin, E., Sabate, M., Vidal, X., Rottenkolber, M., Amelio, J., . . . Ibanez, L. (2014). Antiepileptic drugs and suicide: a systematic review of adverse effects. Neuroepide-miology, 42(2), 107-120.
- 368. Zhang, L. L., Zeng, L. N., & Li, Y. P. (2011). Side effects of phenobarbital in epilepsy: a systematic review. Epileptic Disord, 13(4), 349-365.
- 369. Kirilly, E. (2010). Long-term neuronal damage and recovery after a single dose of MDMA: expression and distribution of serotonin transporter in the rat brain. Neuropsychopharmacol Hung, 12(3), 413-423.
- 370. Gouzoulis-Mayfrank, E., & Daumann, J. (2009). Neurotoxicity of drugs of abuse--the case of methylenedioxyamphetamines (MDMA, ecstasy), and amphetamines. Dialogues Clin Neuro-sci, 11(3), 305-317.
- Reneman, L., Schilt, T., de Win, M. M., Booij, J., Schmand, B., van den Brink, W., & Bakker, O. (2006). Memory function and serotonin transporter promoter gene polymorphism in ecstasy (MDMA) users. J Psychopharmacol, 20(3), 389-399.

- 372. Voican, C. S., Corruble, E., Naveau, S., & Perlemuter, G. (2014). Antidepressant-induced liver injury: a review for clinicians. Am J Psychiatry, 171(4), 404-415.
- 373. Penha, F. M., Pons, M., Costa, E. F., Barros, N. M., Rodrigues, E. B., Cardoso, E. B., . . . Farah, M. E. (2013). Retinal pigmented epithelial cells cytotoxicity and apoptosis through activation of the mitochondrial intrinsic pathway: role of indocyanine green, brilliant blue and implications for chromovitrectomy. PLoS One, 8(5), e64094.
- 374. Rodrigues, E. B., Meyer, C. H., Mennel, S., & Farah, M. E. (2007). Mechanisms of intravitreal toxicity of indocyanine green dye: implications for chromovitrectomy. Retina, 27(7), 958-970.
- 375. Kim, K. S., & Lee, W. K. (2012). Indocyanine green toxicity after macular-hole surgery in both eyes. Retin Cases Brief Rep, 6(3), 278-279.
- 376. Thaler, S., Voykov, B., Willmann, G., Fiedorowicz, M., Rejdak, R., Gekeler, F., . . . Schuettauf, F. (2012). Tempol protects against intravitreous indocyanine green-induced retinal damage in rats. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 250(11), 1597-1606.
- 377. Wu, Y., Zhu, W., Xu, D., Li, Y.-H., Ba, J., Zhang, X.-L., . . . Yu, J. (2012). Indocyanine greenassisted internal limiting membrane peeling in macular hole surgery: A meta-analysis. PLoS One, 7(11).
- 378. Turner, E. H., Loftis, J. M., & Blackwell, A. D. (2006). Serotonin a la carte: supplementation with the serotonin precursor 5-hydroxytryptophan. Pharmacol Ther, 109(3), 325-338.
- 379. FDA (1998). Impurities Confirmed in Dietary Supplement 5-Hydroxy-I-Tryptophan. USA. Food and Drug Administration.
- 380. Allen, J. A., Peterson, A., Sufit, R., Hinchcliff, M. E., Mahoney, J. M., Wood, T. A., . . . Varga, J. (2011). Post-epidemic eosinophilia-myalgia syndrome associated with L-tryptophan. Arthritis Rheum, 63(11), 3633-3639.
- 381. Das, Y. T., Bagchi, M., Bagchi, D., & Preuss, H. G. (2004). Safety of 5-hydroxy-L-tryptophan. Toxicol Lett, 150(1), 111-122.
- 382. Oriel, M., Edmiston, S., Beauvais, S., Barry, T., & O'Malley, M. (2009). Illnesses associated with chloropicrin use in California agriculture, 1992-2003. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol, 200, 1-31.
- 383. Barry, T., Oriel, M., Verder-Carlos, M., Mehler, L., Edmiston, S., & O'Malley, M. (2010).
  Community exposure following a drip-application of chloropicrin. J Agromedicine, 15(1), 24-37.

- 384. Anderson A, A brief history of military contributions to ethical standards for research involving human subjects. 2003
- 385. Pittman PR, Coonan KM, Gibbs PH, Scott HM, Cannon TL, McKee KT Jr., "Long-term health effects of repeated exposure to multiple vaccines," Vaccine. 2004 Dec 9;23(4):525-36.
- 386. Kang HK, Bullman T, "Mortality follow-up of veterans who participated in military chemical and biological warfare agent testing between 1962 and 1972," J Toxicol Environ Health A. 2009;72(23):1550-2.
- 387. Project, S., Page, W., F., Young, H., A., & Crawford, H., M. Long-Term Health Effects of Participation in (Shipboard Hazard and Defense). Institute of Medicine, 2007 SRC.
- 388. Possible Long-Term Health Effects of Short-Term Exposure to Chemical Agents, Vol. 1, Anticholinesterases, and Anticholinergics. Committee on Toxicology, Board on Toxicology and Environmental Health Hazards, National Research Council, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1982, 290 pp.
- 389. Golomb, Beatrice Alexandra. "Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitors and Gulf War Illnesses." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105, no. 11 (2008): 4295-4300.
- 390. Proctor, S. P., K. J. Heaton, T. Heeren and R. F. White. "Effects of Sarin and Cyclosarin Exposure during the 1991 Gulf War on Neurobehavioral Functioning in Us Army Veterans." Neurotoxicology 27, no. 6 (2006): 931-9
- 391. Krengel, M. Neuropsychological Functioning in Gulf War Veterans Exposed to Pesticides and Pyridostigmine Bromide, 2008.
- 392. Toomey, R., R. Alpern, J. J. Vasterling, D. G. Baker, D. J. Reda, M. J. Lyons, W. G. Henderson, H. K. Kang, S. A. Eisen and F. M. Murphy. "Neuropsychological Functioning of U.S. Gulf War Veterans 10 Years after the War." J Int Neuropsychol Soc 15, no. 5 (2009): 717-29.
- 393. Haley, Robert W., Jeffrey S. Spence, Patrick S. Carmack, Richard F. Gunst, William R. Schucany, Frederick Petty, Michael D. Devous Sr, Frederick J. Bonte and Madhukar H. Trivedi. "Abnormal Brain Response to Cholinergic Challenge in Chronic Encephalopathy from the 1991 Gulf War." Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging 171, no. 3 (2009): 207-220.
- 394 Heaton, K.J., Palumbo, C.L., Proctor, S.P., Killiany, R.J., Yurgelun-Todd, D.A., White, R.F., 2007. Quantitative magnetic resonance brain imaging in US army veterans of the 1991 Gulf War potentially exposed to Sarin and Cyclosarin. NeuroToxicology 28 (4), 761–769.

- 395 Odegard, Timothy N, Crystal M Cooper, Emily A Farris, Josh Arduengo, James Bartlett and Robert Haley. "Memory Impairment Exhibited by Veterans with Gulf War Illness." Neurocase 19, no. 4 (2013): 316-327.
- 396 Steele, L., A. Sastre, M. M. Gerkovich and M. R. Cook. "Complex Factors in the Etiology of Gulf War Illness: Wartime Exposures and Risk Factors in Veteran Subgroups." Environ Health Perspect 120, no. 1 (2012): 112-8.
- 397 Klapper, A.J., McCarroll, J.E. and McColloch, M. Long-Term Followup of Medical Volunteers. Edgewood Arsenal Tech. Rept. 4611., 1972. Vol. Technical Report 4611.
- 398 US Army Medical Department: US Army Health Services Command, Project Director LTC David A. McEarling, MC. LSD follow-up study report, October 1980.
- 399. Frecska, E. and L. E. Luna. "The Adverse Effects of Hallucinogens from Intramural Perspective." Neuropsychopharmacol Hung 8, no. 4 (2006): 189-200
- 400. McGlothlin, W. H. & Arnold, D. O. (1971). LSD revisited. A ten-year follow-up of medical LSD use. Archives of General Psychiatry, 24, 35-49.
- 401. Heaton, Robert K and Ralph G Victor. "Personality Characteristics Associated with Psychedelic Flashbacks in Natural and Experimental Settings." Journal of abnormal psychology 85, no. 1 (1976): 83.
- 402. Halpern, J. H. & Pope, H. G. Jr. (2003). Hallucinogen persisting perception disorder: what do we know after 50 years? Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 69, 109-119.
- 403. Strassman, Rick J. "Adverse Reactions to Psychedelic Drugs. A Review of the Literature." The Journal of nervous and mental disease 172, no. 10 (1984): 577-595.
- 404. Cohen, S., Ditman, K.S. (1963). Prolonged adverse reactions to lysergic acid diethylamide. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 8, 475-480.
- 405. McGlothlin, WH. Long-Lasting Effects of Lsd on Certain Attitudes in Normals: An Experimental Proposal. Santa Vonica, Californda: The RAND Corporation.
- 406. National Research Council. Possible Long-Term Health Effects of Short-Term Exposure to Chemical Agents, 1984. Vol. II: Cholinesterase Reactivators, Psychochemicals, and Irritants and Vesicants.
- 407. Lindberg, K. "The Use of Riot Control Agents during the Vietnam War." Army Chemical Review January-June 2007, (2007): 51-55.

- 408. Asuku, M. E., S. M. Milner and K. B. Gerold. "Beyond Tears: The Potential Hazards of the O-Chlorobenzylidene-Malononitrile (CS) Gas under Scrutiny." J Spec Oper Med 11, no. 4 (2011): 28-30.
- 409. Brown, M. A. (2011). Science versus policy in establishing equitable Agent Orange disability compensation policy. Mil Med, 176(7 Suppl), 35-40.
- 410. Young, A. L., & Cecil, P. F., Sr. (2011). Agent Orange exposure and attributed health effects in Vietnam veterans. Mil Med, 176(7 Suppl), 29-34.
- 411. Parikh, J. G., & Pearlman, E. (2012). No association between Agent Orange exposure and monoclonal gammopathies. Ann Hematol, 91(8), 1315-1316.
- 412. Institute of Medicine Committee to Review the Health Effects in Vietnam Veterans of Exposure to, H. (2009) Veterans and Agent Orange: Update 2008. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US).
- 413. Somes, J. (2013). Vietnam veterans: getting old, getting sick--is this service related? J Emerg Nurs, 39(6), 640-643.
- 414. Presumption of Herbicide Exposure and Presumption of Disability During Service for Reservists Presumed Exposed to Herbicide. Interim final rule. (2015). Fed Regist, 80(118), 35246-35249.
- 415. Chamie, K., DeVere White, R. W., Lee, D., Ok, J. H., & Ellison, L. M. (2008). Agent Orange exposure, Vietnam War veterans, and the risk of prostate cancer. Cancer, 113(9), 2464-2470.
- 416. Chang, E. T., Boffetta, P., Adami, H. O., Cole, P., & Mandel, J. S. (2014). A critical review of the epidemiology of Agent Orange/TCDD and prostate cancer. Eur J Epidemiol, 29(10), 667-723.
- 417. Gupta, A., Ketchum, N., Roehrborn, C. G., Schecter, A., Aragaki, C. C., & Michalek, J. E.
  (2006). Serum dioxin, testosterone, and subsequent risk of benign prostatic hyperplasia: a prospective cohort study of Air Force veterans. Environ Health Perspect, 114(11), 1649-1654.
- 418. Grufferman, S., Lupo, P. J., Vogel, R. I., Danysh, H. E., Erhardt, E. B., & Ognjanovic, S. (2014). Parental military service, Agent Orange exposure, and the risk of rhabdomyosarcoma in offspring. J Pediatr, 165(6), 1216-1221.
- 419. Cypel, Y., & Kang, H. (2010). Mortality patterns of Army Chemical Corps veterans who were occupationally exposed to herbicides in Vietnam. Ann Epidemiol, 20(5), 339-346.

- 420. Michalek, J. E., & Pavuk, M. (2008). Diabetes and cancer in veterans of Operation Ranch Hand after adjustment for calendar period, days of spraying, and time spent in Southeast Asia. J Occup Environ Med, 50(3), 330-340.
- 421. Ngo, A. D., Taylor, R., & Roberts, C. L. (2010). Paternal exposure to Agent Orange and spina bifida: a meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol, 25(1), 37-44.
- 422. Taylor P. Anticholinesterase agents. In: Gilman AG, Rall TW, Nies AS, Taylor P, eds. Goodman and Gilman's the pharmacological basis of therapeutics. 8th ed. New York: Pergamon Press, 1990:131–149.
- 423. Karczmar, A.G. "Anticholinesterases and War Gases." In Exploring the Vertebrate Central Cholinergic Nervous System., edited by Karczmar, AG 237-310: Springer, 2007.
- 424. Watson, Annetta, Dennis Opresko, Robert Young, Veronique Hauschild, Joseph King and Kulbir Bakshi. "Organophosphate Nerve Agents." Handbook of Toxicology of Chemical Warfare Agents", Ed. by RC Gupta.—Oxford: Elsevier, (2009): 43-67.
- 425. Bajgar J. "Some Toxic Chemicals as Potential Chemical Warfare Agents The Threat for the Future?" Purkyne Military Medical Academy, Hradec Kralove, Czech Republic. (http://www.asanltr.com/ASANews-98/chemistry.html)
- 426. Gao, X., H. Lin, R. Ray and P. Ray. "Toxicogenomic Studies of Human Neural Cells Following Exposure to Organophosphorus Chemical Warfare Nerve Agent VX." Neurochem Res 38, no. 5 (2013): 916-34.
- 427. CIA (May 2, 2007). "Intelligence Update: Chemical Warfare Agent Issues Chemical Warfare Issues During the Persian Gulf War" (https://www.cia.gov/library/reports/general-reports-1/gulfwar/cwagents/index.htm).
- 428. Edwards D, "Reregistration Eligibility Decision for Malathion". US Environmental Protection Agency Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances (2006) EPA 738-R-06-030 journal:
  9.
- 429. Ball, JC. "Dual Use Research of Concern: Derivatives of 3-Quinuclidinyl Benzilate (Bz)." Mil. Med. Sci. Lett. (Voj. Zdrav. Listy) 84, (2015): 1-39.
- 430. Ketchum JS. Chemical Warfare Secrets Almost Forgotten. A Personal Story of Medical Testing of Army Volunteers with Incapacitating Chemical Agents During the Cold War. Chem-Books Inc 2006.

- 431. Weissman, B. A. and L. Raveh. "Therapy against Organophosphate Poisoning: The Importance of Anticholinergic Drugs with Antiglutamatergic Properties." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 232, no. 2 (2008): 351-8.
- 432. Moshiri, M., E. Darchini-Maragheh and M. Balali-Mood. "Advances in Toxicology and Medical Treatment of Chemical Warfare Nerve Agents." Daru 20, no. 1 (2012): 81.
- 433. Svobodova, Hana, Petr Jost and Rudolf Stetina. "Comparison of Potential Cytotoxicity and Genotoxicity of Selected Antidotes against Organophosphates Inhibiting Acetylcholinesterase." Mil Med Sci Lett (Voj Zdrav Listy) 80, (2011): 142-9.
- 434. Fountain, S. B., J. D. Rowan and M. O. Wollan. "Central Cholinergic Involvement in Sequential Behavior: Impairments of Performance by Atropine in a Serial Multiple Choice Task for Rats." Neurobiol Learn Mem 106, (2013): 118-26.
- 435. Edmund C. Kornfeld, E.J. Fornefeld, G. Bruce Kline, Marjorie J. Mann, Dwight E. Morrison, Reuben G. Jones and R.B. Woodward (1956). "The Total Synthesis of Lysergic Acid". Journal of the American Chemical Society 78: 3087–3114.
- 436. Koelle GB (1958): The pharmacology of mescaline and D-lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD). N Engl J Med 258:25–32.
- 437. Bercel NA, Travis LE, Olinger LB, Dreikurs E (1956): Model psychoses induced by LSD-25 in normals. I. Psychophysiological investigations, with special reference to the mechanism of the paranoid reaction. AMA Arch Neurol Psychiatry 75:588–611.
- 438. Krebs TS, Johansen PO (2012): Lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) for alcoholism: Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Psychopharmacol 26:994–1002.
- 439. Savage C, McCabe OL (1973): Residential psychedelic (LSD) therapy for narcotic addict: A controlled study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 28: 808–814.
- 440. Sewell RA, Halpern JH, Pope HG Jr (2006): Response of cluster headache to psilocybin and LSD. Neurology 66:1920–1922.
- 441. Gasser P, Holstein D, Michel Y, Doblin R, Yazar-Klosinski B, Passie T, et al. (2014): Safety and efficacy of lysergic acid diethylamide-assisted psychotherapy for anxiety associated with life-threatening diseases. J Nerv Ment Dis 202:513–520.
- 442. Cited in: Savage, C. "Lysergic Acid Diethylamide; a Clinical-Psychological Study." Am J Psychiatry 108, no. 12 (1952): 896-900.

- 443. Arthur Stoll and Albert Hofmann LSD Patent April 30, 1943 in Switzerland and March 23, 1948 in the United States. Available at USPTO; Search Patent Number 2,438,259.
- 444. Greene, L.W. 1949. Psychochemical Warfare: A New Concept of War. Cited in: Department of the Army Inspector General's Report on The Use of Volunteers in Chemical Weapon Research (DAIG 21-75) 10 March, 1976.
- 445. Report of the Ad Hoc Study Group on Psychochemical Agents (Wolff Report), November, 1955.
- 446. Department of the Army Inspector General's Report on The Use of Volunteers in Chemical Weapon Research (DAIG 21-75) Chapter 3 Threat. 10 March, 1976.
- 447. Office of Scientific Intelligence, CIA report on "Soviet Efforts to Develop New Chemical Warfare Toxic Agents," October, 1960. Cited in: Department of the Army Inspector General's Report on The Use of Volunteers in Chemical Weapon Research (DAIG 21-75) Chapter 3 Threat. 10 March, 1976.
- 448. Letter from Allen Dulles, Director of the CIA, to Secretary of Defense, Charles Wilson dated
   3 December, 1955. US Department of State Historical Document 244. <u>https://his-tory.state.gov/historicaldocuments/frus1950-55Intel/d244</u>
- 449. Cohen, S. "Lysergic Acid Diethylamide: Side Effects and Complications." J Nerv Ment Dis 130, (1960): 30-4.
- 450. Malleson II (1971). Acute adverse reactions to LSD in clinical and experimental use in the United Kingdom. British Journal of Psychiatry 113: 229-230.
- 451. Department of the Army Inspector General's Report on The Use of Volunteers in Chemical Weapon Research (DAIG 21-75) Chapter 9 Intelligence Corps Experiments. 10 March, 1976.
- 452. Askew, B. M., D. R. Davies, A. L. Green and R. Holmes. "The Nature of the Toxicity of 2-Oxo-Oximes." Br J Pharmacol Chemother 11, no. 4 (1956): 424-7.
- 453 . Eyer, P., A. Kawan and B. Ladstetter. "Formation of Cyanide after I.V. Administration of the Oxime Hi 6 to Dogs." Arch Toxicol 61, no. 1 (1987): 63-9.

- 454. Becker, C., F. Worek and H. John. "Chromatographic Analysis of Toxic Phosphylated Oximes (Pox): A Brief Overview." Drug Test Anal 2, no. 10 (2010): 460-8.
- 455. Ashani, Y., A. K. Bhattacharjee, H. Leader, A. Saxena and B. P. Doctor. "Inhibition of Cholinesterases with Cationic Phosphonyl Oximes Highlights Distinctive Properties of the Charged Pyridine Groups of Quaternary Oxime Reactivators." Biochem Pharmacol 66, no. 2 (2003): 191-202.
- 456. Kiderlen, D., P. Eyer and F. Worek. "Formation and Disposition of Diethylphosphoryl-Obidoxime, a Potent Anticholinesterase That Is Hydrolyzed by Human Paraoxonase (Pon1)." Biochem Pharmacol 69, no. 12 (2005): 1853-67.
- 457. Jokanović, Milan. "Medical Treatment of Acute Poisoning with Organophosphorus and Carbamate Pesticides." Toxicology letters 190, no. 2 (2009): 107-115.
- 458. Wilhelm, C. M., T. H. Snider, M. C. Babin, D. A. Jett, G. E. Platoff, Jr. and D. T. Yeung. "A Comprehensive Evaluation of the Efficacy of Leading Oxime Therapies in Guinea Pigs Exposed to Organophosphorus Chemical Warfare Agents or Pesticides." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 281, no. 3 (2014): 254-65.
- 459. Vojvodic, VB. "Blood Levels, Urinary Excretion and Potential Toxicity of N, N'-Trimethylenebis (Pyridinium 4-Aldoxime) Dichloride (Tmb-4) in Healthy Man Following Intramuscular Injection of the Oxime." Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2, (1970): 216-20.
- 460. Vojvodic, VB; and Boskovic, BA. "A Comparative Study of Pralidoxime, Obidoxime and Trimedoxime in Healthy Men Volunteers and in Rats." In Medical Protection against Warfare Agents, edited by SIPRI (Stockholm International Peace Research Institute), 65-73. Stockholm Sweden: Almqvist & Wiksell, 1976.
- 461. Kozer, E., A. Mordel, S. B. Haim, M. Bulkowstein, M. Berkovitch and Y. Bentur. "Pediatric Poisoning from Trimedoxime (Tmb4) and Atropine Automatic Injectors." J Pediatr 146, no. 1 (2005): 41-4.
- 462. Bhragava, Rakesh, Ram Singh Chauhan and Lokendra Singh. "Counter Measures in Organophosphorus Poisonings-a Review." Online International Interdisciplinary Research Journal Volume-V, no. II (2015).
- 463. Venkateswarlu, B; Kumar, EA. "Current Review on Organophosphorus Poisoning." Archives of Applied Science Research 2, no. 4 (2010): 199-215.
- 464. Warden, C. R. "Respiratory Agents: Irritant Gases, Riot Control Agents, Incapacitants, and Caustics." Crit Care Clin 21, no. 4 (2005): 719-37, vi.

- 465. Malhotra, RC and Pravin Kumar. "Chemistry and Toxicity of Tear Gases." Defence Science Journal 37, no. 2 (2014): 281-296.
- 466. Hoenig, Steven L. "Tear Agents." Compendium of Chemical Warfare Agents, (2007): 129-152.
- 467. Fedorov, Lev A. "Chemical Armament: A Country's War against Its Own People." Social Sciences and Humanities MESOJ 1, no. 2 (2010).

468. Carron PN, Yersin B. Management of the effects of exposure to tear gas. BMJ 2009;338.

469. Olajos EJ, Salem H. Riot control agents: pharmacology, toxicology, biochemistry and chemistry. J Appl Toxicol 2001;21:355–91.

- 470. Centers for Disease Control, The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Emergency Response Safety and Health Database <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/ershdb/EmergencyResponseCard</u> 29750017.html
- 471. McNamara, BP, EJ Owens, JT Weimer, TA Ballard and FJ Vocci. Toxicology of Riot Control Chemicals-Cs, Cn and Dm. DTIC Document, 1969.
- 472. Gongwer, LE; Ballard, TA; Gutentag, PJ; Punte, CL; Owens, EJ; Wilding, JL; and Hart, JW. The Comparative Effectiveness of Four Riot Control Agents, 1958. pt. 24-18, AD 737784.
- 473. Ballantyne, B., D. Gall and D. Robson. "Effects on Man of Drenching with Dilute Solutions of O-Chlorobenzylidene Malononitrile (Cs) and Dibenz (B.F)-1:4-Oxazepine (Cr)." Med Sci Law 16, no. 3 (1976): 159-70.
- 474. Lindsay, Christopher D, Christopher Green, Mike Bird, James TA Jones, James R Riches, Katherine K McKee, Mark S Sandford, Debra A Wakefield and Christopher M Timperley. "Potency of Irritation by Benzylidenemalononitriles in Humans Correlates with Trpa1 Ion Channel Activation." Royal Society Open Science 2, no. 1 (2015): 140160.
- 475. Ballantyne, B. "The Acute Mammalian Toxicology of Dibenz(B,F)-1,4-Oxazepine." Toxicology 8, no. 3 (1977): 347-79.
- 476. Pinkus, J. L. "Cr--a New Irritant Agent." N Engl J Med 299, no. 16 (1978): 901-2.
- 477. Hoenig, Steven L. "Tear Agents." Compendium of Chemical Warfare Agents, (2007): 129-152.

- 478. Kovalev, A. V., S. I. Tolmachev, L. A. Mukovskii and A. Khrustaleva Iu. "[on the Stability of the Irritant Dibenz-[B,F]-[1,4]-Oxazepine (Substance Cr)]." Sud Med Ekspert 55, no. 3 (2012): 15-8.
- 479. Kovalev, A. V., S. I. Tolmachev, L. A. Mukovskii and A. Khrustaleva Iu. "[the Biological Activity of the Irritant Dibenz-[B,F] - [1,4]-Oxazepine (Substance Cr) Persisting During a Long Period at the Environmental Objects]." Sud Med Ekspert 55, no. 5 (2012): 38-41.
- 480. Hilmas, CJ, Poole, M, Katos, AM, Williams, PT. "Riot Control Agents." In Handbook of Toxicology of Chemical Warfare Agents, edited by R.C. Gupta, 153-175. London: Academic Press, 2009.
- 481. Simmons, T.C., Singer, A., Koviak, T.A., Shuely, W.J., Sultan, W.E., and King, J.W. Studies of Potential Irritant Agents. I. A Comprehensive Investigation of Ea 4923., 1976. Vol. EC-TR-76018.
- 482. McNamara, B.P., Weimer, J.T., Biskup, R.K., Thomas, W.U., Hopcus, M.W., Stude, H., Jr., Merkey, R.P., and Van de Wal, A., Jr. Status Report of the Toxicity of Ea 4923, 1973.
- 483. Marrs, T. C., I. V. Allen, H. F. Colgrave and R. McConnell. "Neurotoxicity of 1-Methoxycycloheptatriene--a Purkinje Cell Toxicant." Hum Exp Toxicol 10, no. 2 (1991): 93-101.
- 484. Cole, J., M. C. Diot, F. N. Richmond and B. A. Bridges. "Comparative Induction of Gene Mutations and Chromosome Damage by 1-Methoxy-1,3,5-Cycloheptatriene (Mcht), 2. Results Using L5178y Mouse Lymphoma Cells to Detect Both Gene and Chromosome Damage; Validation with Ionizing Radiation, Methyl Methanesulphonate, Ethyl Methanesulphonate and Benzo[a]Pyrene." Mutat Res 230, no. 1 (1990): 81-91.
- 485. Salem, H; Ternay, AL Jr.; Smart, JK; Romano, JA Jr.; Luckey, BJ. "Chemicals Used for Riot Control and Personal Protection." In Chemical Warfare Agents: Chemistry, Pharmacology, Toxicology, and Therapeutics, edited by JA Jr.; Lukey Romano, BJ; Salem, H. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2008.
- 486. McNamara, B.P., Kimura, K.K., and Wiles, J.H. . Summary Report on Project New Year: Section Iii, 1960. 14-7.
- 487. Bey, T. and A. Patel. "Phencyclidine Intoxication and Adverse Effects: A Clinical and Pharmacological Review of an Illicit Drug." Cal J Emerg Med 8, no. 1 (2007): 9-14.
- 488. Hameed, J. M. and T. J. Haley. "Pyscho-Sedative Properties of Three Indolyl-Ethyl-Piperazine Derivatives." Br J Pharmacol Chemother 26, no. 1 (1966): 186-95.

489. Franklin, S. Non-Lethal Weapon Handbook: Digital Editions, 2014.

- 490. Wilkison, D. M., N. Pontzer and M. J. Hosko. "Slowing of Cortical Somatosensory Evoked Activity by Delta 9-Tetrahydrocannabinol and Dimethylheptylpyran in Alpha-Chloralose-Anesthetized Cats." Neuropharmacology 21, no. 7 (1982): 705-9.
- 491. Vaish, A. K., Consul, S., Agrawal, A., Chaudhary, S. C., Gutch, M., Jain, N., & Singh, M. M. (2013). Accidental phosgene gas exposure: A review with background study of 10 cases. J Emerg Trauma Shock, 6(4), 271-275.
- 492. Hurst, C.G., Smith, W.J. (2008). Health effects of exposure to vesicant agents. In Chemical Warfare Agents, Chemistry, Pharmacology, Toxicology, and Therapeutics (J. Romano, Jr., B. Lukey, H. Salem, eds), pp. 293–312. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL..
- 493. Young, R. A., Bast, C., & Gupta, R. (2009). Mustards and vesicants. Handbook of Toxicology of Chemical Warfare Agents. Elsevier, 93-108.
- 494. Patočka, J., & Kuča, K. (2011). Phosgene Oxime: The Forgotten Chemical Weapon. Military Medical Science Letters (Voj. Zdrav. Listy), 80, 38-41.
- 495. Dearfield, K. L., Edwards, S. R., O'Keefe, M. M., Abdelmajid, N. M., Blanchard, A. J., Labarre, D. D., & Bennett, P. A. (2013). Dietary estimates of dioxins consumed in U.S. Department of Agriculture-regulated meat and poultry products. J Food Prot, 76(9), 1597-1607.
- 496. Lorber, M., Patterson, D., Huwe, J., & Kahn, H. (2009). Evaluation of background exposures of Americans to dioxin-like compounds in the 1990s and the 2000s. Chemosphere, 77(5), 640-651.
- 497. WHO. (2010). Exposure to Arsenic: A Major Public Health Concern. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

# **References Consulted**

# Biological Agents and Vaccines

# Coxiella burnetii

- 1. Agerholm JS, "Coxiella burnetii associated reproductive disorders in domestic animals--a critical review," Acta Vet Scand. 2013 Feb 18;55:13.
- 2. Antonopoulos C, Karagianni M, Galanakis N, Vagianos C, "Mycotic splenic artery aneurysm secondary to Coxiella burnetii endocarditis," Ann Vasc Surg. 2010 Apr;24(3):416.e13-6.
- Bendermacher BL, Peppelenbosch AG, Daemen JW, Oude Lashof AM, Jacobs MJ, "Q fever (Coxiella burnetii) causing an infected thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm," J Vasc Surg. 2011 May;53(5):1402-4.
- 4. Boinot C, Planchard D, Giraudeau G, Turhan A, Agius G, Guicheteau M, "Autoimmune protein S activity deficiency following a Q fever," Thromb Haemost. 2007 Jul;98(1):255-7
- 5. Cohn A, Prebble J, Robson J, Nourse C, "Q fever as a cause of recurrent soft-tissue nodules and abscesses in a child," Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2012 May;31(5):525-7.
- 6. Frankel, Diane Richet, Herve Renvoise, Aurelie Raolt, Didier, *"Q Fever in France,"* 1985-2009," Emerging Infectious Diseases, Vol. 17, No. 3, March 2011.
- 7. Galbraith S, Cameron B, Li H, Lau D, Vollmer-Conna U, Lloyd AR, "Peripheral blood gene expression in postinfective fatigue syndrome following from three different triggering infections," J Infect Dis. 2011 Nov 15;204(10):1632-40.
- 8. Gleeson, Todd D. Decker, Catherine F. Johnson, Mark D. Hartzell, Joshua D. Mascola, John R, *"Q Fever in US Military Returning from Iraq,"* NATIONAL NAVAL MEDICAL CENTER BETHESDA MD.
- 9. González-Quijada S, Mora-Simón MJ, Martin-Ezquerro A, "Association between serological evidence of past Coxiella burnetii infection and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in elderly patients," Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014 Sep;20(9):873-8.
- 10. Grapperon, A.-M.; Wybrecht, D.; Pons, S.; Landais, C.; Alla, P.; Faivre, A, *"Syndrome de Guillain-Barré révélant une fièvre Q aiguë. / Guillain-Barré syndrome heralding acute q-fever,"* Revue Neurologique, Vol 169(3), Mar 2013, 269-274.

- 11. Hartzell, Joshua D. Gleeson, Todd Stephanie, Massun, Robert F. Wortmann, Glenn Martin, Gregory J, "Practice Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Patients With Q Fever by the Armed Forces Infectious Diseases Society," Walter Reed National Military Medical Center, Bethesda, MD.
- 12. Ikediobi UT, Streit J, "Chronic Q fever causing aortitis," Am J Med. 2013 Jul;126(7):e9-10
- 13. Lepidi H, Gouriet F, Raoult D, "Immunohistochemical detection of Coxiella burnetii in chronic Q fever hepatitis," Clin Microbiol Infect. 2009 Dec;15 Suppl 2:169-70.
- 14. Limmathurotsakul D; Cooper B; Peacock SJ; De Stavola B, *"Long-term outcome of Q fever endocarditis,"* Lancet Infectious Diseases, 2011 Feb; 11 (2): 81.
- Morroy, Gabriella; Bor, Hans H. J.; Polder, Johan; Hautvast, Jeannine L. A.; van der Hoek, Wim; Schneeberger, Peter M.; Wijkmans, Clementine J, *"Self-reported sick leave and long-term health symptoms of Q-fever patients,"* European Journal of Public Health, 2012 Dec; 22 (6): 814-9.
- 16. Pattullo V; Guindi M; Herzenberg A; Scholey J; Wong F, *"Unexpected renal and liver fail-ure,"* American Journal of Medicine, 2010 Sep; 123 (9): 799-801.
- 17. Pavia CS, McCalla C, "Serologic detection of a rare case of Q fever in New York City having hepatic and unusual renal complications, "Infection. 2010 Aug;38(4):325-9.
- Piraino B, Vollmer-Conna U, Lloyd AR, "Genetic associations of fatigue and other symptom domains of the acute sickness rsponse to infection," Brain Behav Immun. 2012 May;26(4):552-8.
- 19. Puljiz I; Kuzman I; Rode OD; Zuzul RK, *"Case report. Bell palsy associated with Q fever,"* Infections in Medicine, 2006 Dec; 23 (12): 619-20, 622.
- Shinar S; Skornick-Rapaport A; Rimon E, *"Placental abruption remote from term associated with q Fever infection,"* Obstetrics & Gynecology, 2012 Aug; 120 (2 Pt 2 Suppl 1): 503-5.
- 21. Suksaranjit P, Prasidthrathsint K, Ratanapo S, Srivali N, Cheungpasitporn W, Olearczyk BM, Bischof EF, Johnson RB, "Culture negative prosthetic valve endocarditis in chronic Q fever: an under-recognized entity," Int J Cardiol. 2013 Sep 1;167(5):e127-8.
- 22. van Loenhout JA, Paget WJ, Vercoulen JH, Wijkmans CJ, Hautvast JL, van der Velden K, "Assessing the long-term health impact of Q-fever in the Netherlands: a prospective cohort study started in 2007 on the largest documented Q-fever outbreak to date," BMC Infect Dis. 2012 Oct 30;12:280.

- 23. Waag, David M, "Coxiella Burnetii: Host and Bacterial Responses to Infection," Vaccine 25 (2007) 7288–7295.
- 24. Whelan, Jane Schimmer, Barbara Schneeberger, Peter Meekelenkamp, Jamie IJff, Arnold van der Hoek, Eim Robert, Mirna van Beest Holle, Du Ry, *"Q Fever among Culling Workers, the Netherlands, 2009-2010,"* CBRNIAC-BCO.
- 25. Yakubo, Shuji; Ueda, Yukiko; Tanekura, Naomichi; Arashima, Yasutomo; Nakayama, Tomohiro; Komiya, Tomoyoshi; Kato, Kimitoshi, "The First Case of a Patient Suffering from Coxiella burnetii Infection Attempting Suicide Arising from a State of Depression," International Medical Journal, 2012 Dec; 19 (4): 312-3.
- 26. Yakubo, Shuji; Ueda, Yukiko; Tanekura, Noamichi; Arashima, Yasutomo; Munemura, Tetsuya; Nakayama, Tomohiro; Komiya, Tomoyoshi; Kato, Kimitoshi, *"Kampo Formula Shakuyaku-kanzo-To Alleviates Sensation of Muscle Spasm in Coxiella burnetii Infection,"* International Medical Journal, 2013 Apr; 20 (2): 218-20.
- 27. Yasutomo Arashima; Shuji Yakubo; Yukiko Ueda; Tetsuya Munemura; Tomoyoshi Komiya; Hironori Isa; Tomohiro Nakayama, *"A First Case of Asthma Thought to be Caused by Coxiella burnetii Infection,"* International Medical Journal, 2013 Dec; 20 (6): 699-700.

#### Francisella tularensis

- 28. Belhassen-Garcia, Moncef; Velasco-Tirado, Virginia; Alvela-Suárez, Lucia; Fraile-Alonso, Maria del Carmen; Carpio-Pérez, Adela; Pardo-Lledias, Javier, "Cavitary Pneumonia and Skin Lesions," Respiratory Care, 2012 Mar; 57 (3): 457-9.
- 29. Celik T, Yuksel D, Kosker M, Turkoglu EB, "Unilateral acute dacryocystitis associated with oculoglandular tularemia: a case report," Semin Ophthalmol. 2013 Mar;28(2):91-3.
- Chitadze N1, Kuchuloria T, Clark DV, Tsertsvadze E, Chokheli M, Tsertsvadze N, Trapaidze N, Lane A, Bakanidze L, Tsanava S, Hepburn MJ, Imnadze P, "Water-borne outbreak of oropharyngeal and glandular tularemia in Georgia: investigation and follow-up," Infection. 2009 Dec;37(6):514-21.
- 31. Hepburn, Matthew J. Simpson, Andrew J, "Tularemia: Current Diagnosis and Treatment Options," Expert Rev. Anti Infect. Ther. 6(2), 231–240 (2008).
- 32. Kaya, Ali Deveci, Koksal Uysal, Ismail, Onder Guven, Ahmet, Sami Demir, Mevlut Uysal, Elif, Bilge Gultekin, Asim Icagasioglu, Fusun, Dilara, "Tularemia in Children: Evaluation of Clinical, Laboratory and Therapeutic Features of 27 Tularemia Cases," The Turkish Journal of Pediatrics 2012; 54: 105-112

- 33. Nelson C, Kugeler K, Petersen J, Mead P, "Tularemia -- United States, 2001-2010," MMWR, November 29, 2013; Vol. 62, No. 47.
- 34. Zhou C1, Yang Y, Zhang H, "Guillain-Barré syndrome and ulceroglandular tularemia," Infection. 2013 Dec;41(6):1199.

#### Plasmodium vivax Malaria

- 35. Al-Mendalawi M, Keskar V, Jamale T, Hase N, "Hemolytic uremic syndrome associated with Plasmodium vivax malaria successfully treated with plasma exchange," Indian Journal Of Nephrology. September 2014;24(5):331-33
- 36. Bangirana P, Allebeck P, Boivin MJ, John CC, Page C, Ehnvall A, Musisi S, "Cognition, behaviour and academic skills after cognitive rehabilitation in Ugandan children surviving severe malaria: a randomised trial," BMC Neurol. 2011 Aug 4;11:96.
- 37. Bangirana P, Opoka RO, Boivin MJ, Idro R, Hodges JS, Romero RA, Shapiro E, John CC, "Severe malarial anemia is associated with long-term neurocognitive impairment," Clin Infect Dis. 2014 Aug;59(3):336-44.
- 38. Bhatia V, Bhatia J, "Severe thrombocytopenia with bleeding manifestations in two children secondary to Plasmodium vivax," Platelets. 2010;21(4):307-9.
- 39. Boivin MJ, Gladstone MJ, Vokhiwa M, Birbeck GL, Magen JG, Page C, Semrud-Clikeman M, Kauye F, Taylor TE, "Developmental outcomes in Malawian children with retinopathy-positive cerebral malaria," Trop Med Int Health. 2011 Mar;16(3):263-71.
- 40. Boivin MJ1, Vokhiwa M, Sikorskii A, Magen JG, Beare NA, "Cerebral malaria retinopathy predictors of persisting neurocognitive outcomes in Malawian children," Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2014 Aug;33(8):821-4.
- 41. Chalkias A, Aridas S, Xanthos T, et al. Severe sepsis and septic shock due to Plasmodium vivax infection. American Journal Of Emergency Medicine [serial online]. April 2013;31(4):761.e1-2.
- 42. Conroy, Andrea L. Glover, Simon J. Hawkes, Michael Erdman, Laura K. Seydel, Karl B. Taylor, Terrie E. Molyneux, Malcolm E. Kain, Kevin C, "Angiopoietin-2 levels are associated with retinopathy and predict mortality in Malawian children with cerebral malaria: a retrospective case-control study," FIO CORP TORONTO (CANADA).
- 43. Curley JM, Mody RM, Gasser RA Jr, "Malaria caused by Plasmodium vivax complicated by acalculous cholecystitis," Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2011 Jul;85(1):42-9.

- 44. Douglas NM, Lampah DA, Kenangalem E, Simpson JA4 Poespoprodjo JR, Sugiarto P, Anstey NM, Price RN, "Major burden of severe anemia from non-falciparum malaria species in Southern Papua: a hospital-based surveillance study," PLoS Med. 2013 Dec;10(12).
- 45. Fabbri C, de Cássia Mascarenhas-Netto R, Lalwani P, Melo GC, Magalhães BM, Alexandre MA, Lacerda MV, Lima ES, "Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzymes activity in Plasmodium vivax malaria patients evolving with cholestatic jaundice," Malar J. 2013 Sep 10;12:315.
- 46. Fazil A1, Vernekar PV, Geriani D, Pant S, Senthilkumaran S, Anwar N, Prabhu A, Menezes RG, "Clinical profile and complication of malaria hepatopathy," J Infect Public Health. 2013 Oct;6(5):383-8.
- 47. Gantait K, Gantait I, "Vivax malaria complicated by myocarditis," J Assoc Physicians India. 2013 Dec;61(12):944-5.
- 48. Gupta N1, Sahoo SK, "Plasmodium vivax induced myocarditis: a rare case report," Indian J Med Microbiol. 2013 Apr-Jun;31(2):180-1.
- John CC, Bangirana P, Byarugaba J, Opoka RO, Idro R, Jurek AM, Wu B, Boivin MJ, "Cerebral malaria in children is associated with long-term cognitive impairment," Pediatrics. 2008 Jul;122(1):e92-9.
- 50. John CC, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Opoka RO, Park GS, Orchard PJ, Jurek AM, Idro R, Byarugaba J, Boivin MJ, "Cerebrospinal fluid cytokine levels and cognitive impairment in cerebral malaria," Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2008 Feb;78(2):198-205.
- 51. Kanodia KV, Vanikar AV, Kute VB, Trivedi HL, "Plasmodium vivax malaria associated with acute post infectious glomerulonephritis," Ren Fail. 2013 Aug;35(7):1024-6.
- 52. Kim KM, Bae BK, Lee SB, "Spontaneous splenic rupture in Plasmodium vivax malaria," Ann Surg Treat Res. 2014 Jul;87(1):44-6.
- 53. Kim SA, Kim ES, Rhee MY, Choi SI, Huh HJ, Chae SL, "A case of myocarditis associated with Plasmodium vivax malaria," J Travel Med. 2009 Mar-Apr;16(2):138-40.
- 54. Leoratti FM, Trevelin SC, Cunha FQ, Rocha BC, Costa PA, Gravina HD, Tada MS, Pereira DB, Golenbock DT, Antonelli LR, Gazzinelli RT, "Neutrophil paralysis in Plasmodium vivax malaria," PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2012;6(6):e1710.
- 55. Martins AC, Lins JB, Santos LM, Fernandes LN, Malafronte RS, Maia TC, Ribera MC, Ribera RB, da Silva-Nunes M, "Vivax malaria in an Amazonian child with dilated cardiomyopathy," Malar J. 2014 Feb 18;13:61.

- 56. Moulick A, Maitra S, Sarkar BS, Jana A, Sarkar S, "Vivax malaria presenting with myelitis: a rare complication," J Clin Diagn Res. 2013 May;7(5):914-6.
- 57. Naik B. Incidence of Jaundice in Plasmodium Vivax Malaria: A Prospective Study in Moodabidri, South India. Malaysian Journal Of Medical Sciences [serial online]. July 2014;21(4):24.
- 58. Nasir N, Lalani S, Samani ZA, Almas A, "Myocarditis complicating Plasmodium vivax malaria," J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2014 May;24 Suppl 2:S96-8.
- 59. Poespoprodjo JR, Fobia W, Kenangalem E, Lampah DA, Hasanuddin A, Warikar N, Sugiarto P, Tjitra E, Anstey NM, Price RN, "Vivax malaria: a major cause of morbidity in early infancy," Clin Infect Dis. 2009 Jun 15;48(12):1704-12.
- 60. Rodríguez-Morales AJ, Sánchez E, Vargas M, Piccolo C, Colina R, Arria M, Franco-Paredes C, "Is anemia in Plasmodium vivax malaria more frequent and severe than in Plasmodium falciparum?" Am J Med. 2006 Nov;119(11):e9-10.
- 61. Shanks G, White N. The activation of vivax malaria hypnozoites by infectious diseases. Lancet Infectious Diseases [serial online]. October 2013;13(10):900-906.
- 62. Sharma V, Samant R, Hegde A, Bhaja K, "Autoimmune hemolysis in malaria: a report of three cases," J Assoc Physicians India. 2012 Feb;60:129-31.
- 63. Vanikar AV, Ghuge PP, Goswami JG, Patel MP, Patel HV, Gumber MR, PR, Trivedi HL, "Renal cortical necrosis and acute kidney injury associated with Plasmodium vivax: a neglected human malaria parasite," Parasitol Res. 2012 Nov;111(5):2213-6.
- Venugopal V, Haider M. First case report of acute hemorrhagic leukoencephalitis following Plasmodium vivax infection. Indian Journal Of Medical Microbiology [serial online]. 2013;31(1):79-81.

# Staphylococcal Enterotoxin B (SEB)

- 65. John CC1, Niermann M, Sharon B, Peterson ML, Kranz DM, Schlievert PM, "Staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome erythroderma is associated with superantigenicity and hypersensitivity," Clin Infect Dis. 2009 Dec 15;49(12):1893-6.
- 66. Kashiwada T1, Kikuchi K, Abe S, Kato H, Hayashi H, Morimoto T, Kamio K, Usuki J, Takeda S, Tanaka K, Imanishi K, Yagi J, Azuma A, Gemma A, "Staphylococcal enterotoxin B toxic shock syndrome induced by community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (CA-MRSA)," Intern Med. 2012;51(21):3085-8.

- 67. Kotler DP1, Sandkovsky U, Schlievert PM, Sordillo EM, "Toxic shock-like syndrome associated with staphylococcal enterocolitis in an HIV-infected man," Clin Infect Dis. 2007 Jun 15;44(12):e121-3.
- 68. Miyazaki D, Ishida W, Tominaga T, Sumi T, Fukushima A, "Aggravation of conjunctival early-phase reaction by Staphylococcus enterotoxin B via augmentation of IgE production," Jpn J Ophthalmol. 2010 Sep;54(5):476-80.
- 69. Ohshima M, Miyake M, Takeda M, Kamijima M, Sakamoto T, "Staphylococcal enterotoxin B causes proliferation of sensory C-fibers and subsequent enhancement of neurogenic inflammation in rat skin," J Infect Dis. 2011 Mar 15;203(6):862-9.
- 70. Rao R, Nagarkatti P, Nagarkatti M, "Staphylococcal enterotoxin B-induced microRNA-155 targets SOCS1 to promote acute inflammatory lung injury," Infect Immun. 2014 Jul;82(7):2971-9.
- 71. Saeed AI1, Rieder SA, Price RL, Barker J, Nagarkatti P, Nagarkatti M, "Acute lung injury induced by Staphylococcal enterotoxin B: disruption of terminal vessels as a mechanism of induction of vascular leak. Microsc Microanal. 2012 Jun;18(3):445-52.
- 72. Tal S, Guller V, Goland S, Shimoni S, Gurevich A, "Reversible myocardial dysfunction in septic shock," Isr Med Assoc J. 2013 Sep;15(9):520-1.
- 73. Yan H, Yi H, Xia L, Zhan Z, He W, Cao J, Yang PC, Liu Z, "Staphylococcal enterotoxin B suppresses Alix and compromises intestinal epithelial barrier functions," J Biomed Sci. 2014 Apr 9;21:29.

# Pseudomonas Endotoxin

- 74. Asmussen S, Ito H, Enkhbaatar P, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells reduce the severity of acute lung injury in a sheep model of bacterial pneumonia. Thorax [serial online]. September 2014;69(9):819-825.
- 75. Bailey, Charles L. van Hoek, Monique L, "Discovery of Novel Virulence Factors of Biothreat Agents: Validation of the Phosphoproteome-Based Approach," GEORGE MASON UNIV FAIRFAX VA. 2007.
- 76. Constantinescu AA, Gleizes C, Alhosin M, Yala E, Zobairi F, Leclercq A, Stoian G, Mitrea IL, Prévost G, Toti F, Kessler L, "Exocrine cell-derived microparticles in response to lipopolysaccharide promote endocrine dysfunction in cystic fibrosis," J Cyst Fibros. 2014 Mar;13(2):219-26.

- 77. Cresce N, Marchetti M, Russell M. A sea sickness? Ecthyma gangrenosum. American Journal Of Medicine [serial online]. July 2014;127(7):592-594.
- 78. Gomez CR, Hirano S, Cutro BT, Birjandi S, Baila H, Nomellini V, Kovacs EJ, "Advanced age exacerbates the pulmonary inflammatory response after lipopolysaccharide exposure," Crit Care Med. 2007 Jan;35(1):246-51.
- 79. Ho C, Krassioukov A. Autonomic dysreflexia and myocardial ischemia. Spinal Cord [serial online]. September 2010;48(9):714-715.
- 80. Maes M, Leunis JC, "Normalization of leaky gut in chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) is accompanied by a clinical improvement: effects of age, duration of illness and the translocation of LPS from gram-negative bacteria," Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2008 Dec;29(6):902-10.
- Pearlman E, Sun Y, Roy S, Karmakar M, Hise AG, Szczotka-Flynn L, Ghannoum M, Chinnery HR, McMenamin PG, Rietsch A, "Host defense at the ocular surface," Int Rev Immunol. 2013 Feb;32(1):4-18.
- 82. Samotrueva MA1, Tyurenkov IN, Teplyi DL, Serezhnikova TK, Khlebtsova EB, "Psychoimmunomodulatory effect of phenotropil in animals with immune stress," Bull Exp Biol Med. 2011 May;151(1):51-4.
- 83. Wiesmann, William P. Draghic, Nicole Orwin, Elizabeth Del Vecchio, Justin, "Military Neurotrauma Database and Medical Research Development," Hugh and Carolyn Shelton Military Neurotrauma Foundation, Germantown, MD.

# Sand Fly Fever, Sicilian Strain

- 84. Ayaslioglu, Ergin; Guliter, Sefa; Karabicak, Cigdem; Ecemis, Kenan; Gulhan, Muhammet; Edis, Cigdem Torun, "Sandfly fever virus as a rare cause of acute viral hepatitis," Travel Medicine & Infectious Disease, 2014 May-Jun; 12 (3): 296-7.
- 85. Bartels S, de Boni L, Kretzschmar HA, Heckmann JG, "Lethal encephalitis caused by the Toscana virus in an elderly patient," J Neurol. 2012 Jan;259(1):175-7.
- 86. Calamusa G, Valenti RM, Vitale F, Mammina C, Romano N, Goedert JJ, Gori-Savellini G, Cusi MG, Amodio E, "Seroprevalence of and risk factors for Toscana and Sicilian virus infection in a sample population of Sicily (Italy)," J Infect. 2012 Feb;64(2):212-7.
- Cusi MG, Gandolfo C, Valentini M, Savellini GG, "Seroprevalence of antibodies to sandfly fever Sicilian virus in a sample population in Tuscany, Italy," Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis. 2013 May;13(5):345-6.

- Ellis SB; Appenzeller G; Lee H; Mullen K; Swenness R; Pimentel G; Mohareb E; Warner C, "Outbreak of sandfly fever in central Iraq, September 2007," Military Medicine, 2008 Oct; 173 (10): 949-53.
- 89. Guler S, Guler E, Caglayik DY, Kokoglu OF, Ucmak H, Bayrakdar F, Uyar Y, "A sandfly fever virus outbreak in the East Mediterranean region of Turkey," Int J Infect Dis. 2012 Apr;16(4):e244-6.
- 90. Izri A; Temmam S; Moureau G; Hamrioui B; de Lamballerie X; Charrel RN, "Sandfly fever Sicilian virus, Algeria," Emerging Infectious Diseases, 2008 May; 14 (5): 795-7.
- 91. Konstantinou GN; Papa A; Antoniadis A, "Sandfly-fever outbreak in Cyprus: are phlebo-viruses still a health problem?," Travel Medicine & Infectious Disease, 2007 Jul; 5 (4): 239-42.
- 92. Mosnier E, Charrel R, Vidal B, Ninove L, Schleinitz N, Harlé JR, Bernit E, "Toscana virus myositis and fasciitis," Med Mal Infect. 2013 May;43(5):208-10.
- 93. Personality changes after Toscana virus (TOSV) encephalitis in a 49-year-old man: A case report.
- 94. Serata D, Rapinesi C, Del Casale A, Simonetti A, Mazzarini L, Ambrosi E, Kotzalidis GD, Fensore C, Girardi P, Tatarelli R. Int J Neurosci. 2011 Mar;121(3):165-9.
- 95. Tufan ZK, Tasyaran MA (2013) Sandfly Fever: A Mini Review. Virol Mycol 2:109

#### Equine Encephalitis Viruses (VEE, EEE, WEE)

- 96. Delfraro A; Burgueno A; Morel N; Gonzalez G; Garcia A; Morelli J; Perez W; Chiparelli H; Arbiza J, "Fatal human case of Western equine encephalitis, Uruguay," Emerging Infectious Diseases, 2011 May; 17 (5): 952-4.
- 97. Dupuy LC, Reed DS, "Nonhuman primate models of encephalitic alphavirus infection: historical review and future perspectives," Curr Opin Virol. 2012 Jun;2(3):363-7
- 98. Fine DL, Roberts BA, Terpening SJ, Mott J, Vasconcelos D, House RV, "Neurovirulence evaluation of Venezuelan equine encephalitis (VEE) vaccine candidate V3526 in nonhuman primates," Vaccine. 2008 Jun 25;26(27-28):3497-506.
- 99. Fraas M, Bellerose A, "Mentoring programme for adolescent survivors of acquired brain injury," Brain Inj. 2010 Jan;24(1):50-61.
- 100. Gardner CL, Ebel GD, Ryman KD, Klimstra WB, "Heparan sulfate binding by natural eastern equine encephalitis viruses promotes neurovirulence," Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011 Sep 20;108(38):16026-31.

- 101. Greenlee JE, "The equine encephalitides," Handb Clin Neurol. 2014;123:417-32.
- 102. Mancao MY, Imran H, Chandra S, Estrada B, Figarola M, Sosnowski J, Vidal R, "Eastern equine encephalitis virus infection and hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis in a 5-monthold infant," Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2009 Jun;28(6):543-5.
- 103. McLaughlin-Beltz S, "The Neuropsychological Sequelae of Eastern Equine Encephalitis Virus in Childhood," Arch Clin Neuropsychol. 2014 Sep;29(6):571. doi: 10.1093/arclin/acu038.181.
- 104. Mukherjee S1, Moody EE, Lewokzco K, Huddleston DB, Huang J, Rowland ME, Wilson R, Dunn JR, Jones TF, Moncayo AC, "Eastern equine encephalitis in Tennessee: 2002-2008," J Med Entomol. 2012 May;49(3):731-8.
- 105. Powers AM, Roehrig JT, "Alphaviruses," Methods Mol Biol. 2011;665:17-38.
- 106. Quiroz E, Aguilar PV, Cisneros J, Tesh RB, Weaver SC, "Venezuelan equine encephalitis in Panama: fatal endemic disease and genetic diversity of etiologic viral strains," PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2009 Jun 30;3(6):e472.
- 107. Valerol N, Bonilla E, Espina LM, Maldonado M, Montero E, Añez F, Levy A, Bermudez J, Meleán E, Nery A, "Increase of interleukin-1 beta, gamma interferon and tumor necrosis factor alpha in serum and brain of mice infected with the Venezuelan Equine Encephalitis virus," Invest Clin. 2008 Dec;49(4):457-67.
- 108. Wendell, Linda C; Potter, N Stevenson; Roth, Julie L; Salloway, Stephen P; Thompson, Bradford B," Successful management of severe neuroinvasive eastern equine encephalitis," Neurocritical Care, 2013 Aug; 19 (1): 111-5.

# **Typhoid Fever**

- 109. Boopathy V, Periyasamy S, Alexander T, Balasubramanian P, "Typhoid fever with caecal ulcer bleed: managed conservatively," BMJ Case Rep. 2014 Mar 31;2014.
- 110. Ley, Benedikt Le, Hello, Simon Lunguya, Octavie Lejon, Veerle Muyembe, Jean-Jacques Weill, Francois-Xavier Jacobs, Jan, "Invasive Salmonella enterica Serotype Typhimurium Infections, Democratic Republic of the Congo, 2007 – 2011," Emerging Infectious Diseases, Vol. 20, No. 4, April 2014.
- 111. May W, Senitiri I. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with typhoid fever. A case study in the Fiji Islands. Pacific Health Dialog [serial online]. September 2010;16(2):85-88.

- 112. Palombo M, Margalit-Yehuda R, Leshem E, Sidi Y, Schwartz E. Near-fatal myocarditis complicating typhoid Fever in a traveler returning from Nepal. Journal Of Travel Medicine [serial online]. September 2013;20(5):329-332.
- 113. Relhan N, Pathengay A, Albini T, Priya K, Jalali S, Flynn HW, "A case of vasculitis, retinitis and macular neurosensory detachment presenting post typhoid fever," J Ophthalmic Inflamm Infect. 2014 Sep 18;4:23.
- 114. Shah S, Dubrey SW, "Typhoid fever, complicated by myocarditis, in a traveller returning to the UK," BMJ Case Rep. 2013 Feb 15;2013. pii: bcr2012008387
- 115. Sun LD, Guo CS, Sun M, Zhao ZY, Wu WX, Chen YY, Treatment of sepsis and severe multiple organ dysfunction syndrome as a result of intestinal perforation subsequent to typhoid fever, a case report, Zhonghua Wei Zhong Bing Ji Jiu Yi Xue. 2013 Dec;25(12):763.
- 116. Zaki S. Typhoid fever and viral hepatitis. Indian Journal Of Pediatrics [serial online]. June 2009;76(6):658.

#### **Rocky Mountain Spotted-Fever**

- 117. Bacci MR, Namura JJ, "Association between sepsis and Rocky Mountain spotted fever," BMJ Case Rep. 2012 Dec 6;2012.
- 118. Baggett MV, Turbett SE, Schwartzenberg SS, Stone JR, "Case records of the Massachusetts General Hospital: Case 5-2014: 2014: A 59-year-old man with fever, confusion, thrombocytopenia, rash, and renal failure," N Engl J Med. 2014 Feb 13;370(7):651-60.
- 119. Channick RN, Lorenzo ME, Wu CC, Hoang MP, "Case records of the Massachusetts General Hospital. Case 11-2012. A 60-year-old man with weakness, rash, and renal failure," N Engl J Med. 2012 Apr 12;366(15):1434-43.
- 120. Chaudhry MA, Scofield RH, "Atypical Rocky Mountain spotted fever with polyarticular arthritis," Am J Med Sci. 2013 Nov;346(5):427-9.
- 121. Hidalgo M, Orejuela L, Fuya P, Carrillo P, Hernandez J, Parra E, Keng C, Small M, Olano JP, Bouyer D, Castaneda E, Walker D, Valbuena G, "Rocky Mountain spotted fever, Colombia," Emerg Infect Dis. 2007 Jul;13(7):1058-60

#### **Plague Vaccine**

- 122. Quenee L, Hermanas T, Schneewind O, et al. Hereditary hemochromatosis restores the virulence of plague vaccine strains. Journal of Infectious Diseases [serial online]. October 2012;206(7):1050-1058.
- 123. Wang X, Zhang X, Zhou D, Yang R, "Live-attenuated Yersinia pestis vaccines," Expert Rev Vaccines. 2013 Jun;12(6):677-86.

#### Adenovirus Vaccine, live

- 124. Daniel Simancas-Racines\*, Claudia V Guerra, Ricardo Hidalgo, "Vaccines for the common cold," Editorial Group: Cochrane Acute Respiratory Infections Group. Published Online: 12 JUN 2013
- 125. Mastelic B, Garçon N, Del Giudice G, Golding H, Gruber M, Neels P, Fritzell B, "Predictive markers of safety and immunogenicity of adjuvanted vaccines," Biologicals. 2013 Nov;41(6):458-68

#### **Rift Valley Fever Virus Vaccine**

- 126. Dungu B, Louw I, Lubisi A, Hunter P, von Teichman BF, Bouloy M, "Evaluation of the efficacy and safety of the Rift Valley Fever Clone 13 vaccine in sheep," Vaccine. 2010 Jun 23;28(29):4581-7
- 127. Kalveram B, Lihoradova O, Indran SV, Ikegami T, "Using reverse genetics to manipulate the NSs gene of the Rift Valley fever virus MP-12 strain to improve vaccine safety and efficacy," J Vis Exp. 2011 Nov 1;(57):e3400.
- 128. Morrill JC, Laughlin RC, Lokugamage N, Pugh R, Sbrana E, Weise WJ, Adams LG, Makino S, Peters CJ, "Safety and immunogenicity of recombinant Rift Valley fever MP-12 vaccine candidates in sheep," Vaccine. 2013 Jan 7;31(3):559-65.
- 129. Morrill JC, Laughlin RC, Lokugamage N, Wu J, Pugh R, Kanani P, Adams LG, Makino S, Peters CJ, "Immunogenicity of a recombinant Rift Valley fever MP-12-NSm deletion vaccine candidate in calves," Vaccine. 2013 Oct 9;31(43):4988-94.

#### **Chikungunya Virus Vaccine**

130. Gorchakov R, Wang E, Leal G, Forrester NL, Plante K, Rossi SL, Partidos CD, Adams AP, Seymour RL, Weger J, Borland EM, Sherman MB, Powers AM, Osorio JE, Weaver SC, "Attenuation of Chikungunya virus vaccine strain 181/clone 25 is determined by two amino acid substitutions in the E2 envelope glycoprotein," J Virol. 2012 Jun;86(11):6084-96. 131. Plante K, Wang E, Partidos CD, Weger J, Gorchakov R, Tsetsarkin K, Borland EM, Powers AM, Seymour R, Stinchcomb DT, Osorio JE, Frolov I, Weaver SC, "Novel chikungunya vaccine candidate with an IRES-based attenuation and host range alteration mechanism," PLoS Pathog. 2011 Jul;7(7).

#### **Biological Agents and Vaccines Military Exposures and Health Outcomes**

- 132. Carpenter LM, Linsell L, Brooks C, Keegan TJ, Langdon T, Doyle P, Maconochie NE, Fletcher T, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Beral V, Venables KM, "Cancer morbidity in British military veterans included in chemical warfare agent experiments at Porton Down: cohort study," BMJ. 2009 Mar 24;338:b655.
- 133. Fullerton CS, Ursano RJ, "Behavioral and psychological responses to chemical and biological warfare," Mil Med. 1990 Feb;155(2):54-9.
- 134. Glass DC, Sim MR, Kelsall HL, Ikin JF, McKenzie D, Forbes A, Ittak P., "What was different about exposures reported by male Australian Gulf War veterans for the 1991 Persian Gulf War, compared with exposures reported for other deployments?" Mil Med. 2006 Jul;171(7):632-8.
- 135. Huxsoll DL, Parrott CD, Patrick WC 3rd., "Medicine in defense against biological warfare," JAMA. 1989 Aug 4;262(5):677-9.
- 136. Kelsall H, Macdonell R, Sim M, Forbes A, McKenzie D, Glass D, Ikin J, Ittak P, "Neurological status of Australian veterans of the 1991 Gulf War and the effect of medical and chemical exposures," Int J Epidemiol. 2005 Aug;34(4):810-9. Epub 2005 Apr 25
- 137. Kelsall HL, Sim MR, Forbes AB, Glass DC, McKenzie DP, Ikin JF, Abramson MJ, Blizzard L, Ittak P, "Symptoms and medical conditions in Australian veterans of the 1991 Gulf War: relation to immunisations and other Gulf War exposures," Occup Environ Med. 2004 Dec;61(12):1006-13.
- 138. Korényi-Both AL, Svéd L, Korényi-Both GE, Juncer DJ, Korényi-Both AL, Székely A. "The role of the sand in chemical warfare agent exposure among Persian Gulf War veterans: Al Eskan disease and "dirty dust"." Mil Med. 2000 May;165(5):321-36.
- 139. Moreno J. "Without consent. Interview by Charles Seife," New Sci. 1999 Nov 13;164(2212):48-51.
- 140. Proctor SP, Heeren T, White RF, Wolfe J, Borgos MS, Davis JD, Pepper L, Clapp R, Sutker PB, Vasterling JJ, Ozonoff D., "Health status of Persian Gulf War veterans: self-reported

symptoms, environmental exposures and the effect of stress," Int J Epidemiol. 1998 Dec;27(6):1000-10.

- 141. Rusnak JM, Kortepeter MG, Hawley RJ, Anderson AO, Boudreau E, Eitzen E, "Risk of occupationally acquired illnesses from biological threat agents in unvaccinated laboratory workers," Biosecur Bioterror. 2004;2(4):281-93.
- 142. Shanker T. "U.S. troops were subjected to a wider toxic testing," N Y Times Web. 2002 Oct 9:A18.
- 143. Sim MR. "Mortality and cancer in Porton Down subjects," BMJ. 2009 Mar 24;338:b358.
- 144. Stimpson NJ, Thomas HV, Weightman AL, Dunstan F, Lewis G, "Psychiatric disorder in veterans of the Persian Gulf War of 1991. Systematic review," Br J Psychiatry. 2003 May;182:391-403.
- 145. Thomas HV, Stimpson NJ, Weightman A, Dunstan F, Lewis G., "Pain in veterans of the Gulf War of 1991: a systematic review," BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2006 Sep 20;7:74.
- 146. Thomas HV, Stimpson NJ, Weightman AL, Dunstan F, Lewis G., "Systematic review of multi-symptom conditions in Gulf War veterans," Psychol Med. 2006 Jun;36(6):735-47. Epub 2006 Jan 26.

# Anticholinesterases

# Tabun (GA)

- 147. Albuquerque, E. X., E. F. Pereira, Y. Aracava, W. P. Fawcett, M. Oliveira, W. R. Randall, T. A. Hamilton, R. K. Kan, J. A. Romano, Jr. and M. Adler. "Effective Countermeasure against Poisoning by Organophosphorus Insecticides and Nerve Agents." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, no. 35 (2006): 13220-5.
- 148. Kassa, J. "Therapeutic and Neuroprotective Efficacy of Pharmacological Pretreatment and Antidotal Treatment of Acute Tabun or Soman Poisoning with the Emphasis on Pretreatment Drug Panpal." Arh Hig Rada Toksikol 57, no. 4 (2006): 427-34.
- 149. Kassa, J. and J. Karasova. "The Evaluation of the Neuroprotective Effects of Bispyridinium Oximes in Tabun-Poisoned Rats." J Toxicol Environ Health A 70, no. 18 (2007): 1556-67.
- 150. O'Donnell, J. C., C. Acon-Chen, J. H. McDonough and T. M. Shih. "Comparison of Extracellular Striatal Acetylcholine and Brain Seizure Activity Following Acute Exposure to the Nerve Agents Cyclosarin and Tabun in Freely Moving Guinea Pigs." Toxicol Mech Methods 20, no. 9 (2010): 600-8.

- 151. Pohanka, M., J. Z. Karasova, K. Musilek, K. Kuca, Y. S. Jung and J. Kassa. "Changes of Rat Plasma Total Low Molecular Weight Antioxidant Level after Tabun Exposure and Consequent Treatment by Acetylcholinesterase Reactivators." J Enzyme Inhib Med Chem 26, no. 1 (2011): 93-7.
- 152. Collombet, Jean-Marc. "Nerve Agent Intoxication: Recent Neuropathophysiological Findings and Subsequent Impact on Medical Management Prospects." Toxicology and applied pharmacology 255, no. 3 (2011): 229-241.
- 153. Emadi, Seyed Naser, Jafar Aslani, Zohreh Poursaleh, Morteza Izadi, Mohammadreza Soroush, Mohammad Kafashi, Seyed Ali Alavinia, Hossein Bakhshi, Amir Karimi, Kourosh Momtaz-Manesh, Ali Akbar Babaei, Alireza Esmaili, Babak Raygan, Seyed Emad Emadi, Farhang Babamahmoodi and Seyed Abolfazl Emadi. "Comparison Late Cutaneous Complications between Exposure to Sulfur Mustard and Nerve Agents." Cutaneous and Ocular Toxicology 31, no. 3 (2012): 214-219.
- 154. Ghanei, Mostafa, Mostafa Naderi, Ali Morad Kosar, Ali Amini Harandi, Nicholas S. Hopkinson and Zohreh Poursaleh. "Long-Term Pulmonary Complications of Chemical Warfare Agent Exposure in Iraqi Kurdish Civilians." Inhalation Toxicology 22, no. 9 (2010): 719-724.
- 155. Colosio C, Vellere F, and Moretto A: "Epidemiological Studies of Anticholinesterase Pesticide Poisoning: Global Impact" in Anticholinesterase Pesticides: Metabolism, Neurotoxicity, and Epidemiology; Satoh T, and Gupta RC, eds.; p 341-355. 2011, John Wiley and Sons.
- 156. Kobayashi H, Suzuki T, Akahori F, Satoh T: "Acetylcholinesterase and Acetylcholine Receptors: Brain Regional Heterogeneity" in Anticholinesterase Pesticides: Metabolism, Neurotoxicity, and Epidemiology; Satoh T, and Gupta RC, eds.; p 341-355. 2011, John Wiley and Sons.
- 157. Moretto A, Tiramani M, Colosio C: "Long-Term Neurotoxicological Effects of Anticholinesterases after either Acute or Chronic Exposure" in Anticholinesterase Pesticides: Metabolism, Neurotoxicity, and Epidemiology; Satoh T, and Gupta RC, eds.; p 341-355. 2011, John Wiley and Sons.

# Sarin (GB)

158. Albuquerque, E. X., E. F. Pereira, Y. Aracava, W. P. Fawcett, M. Oliveira, W. R. Randall, T. A. Hamilton, R. K. Kan, J. A. Romano, Jr. and M. Adler. "Effective Countermeasure against Poisoning by Organophosphorus Insecticides and Nerve Agents." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, no. 35 (2006): 13220-5.

- 159. Allon, N., S. Chapman, I. Egoz, I. Rabinovitz, J. Kapon, B. A. Weissman, G. Yacov, E. Bloch-Shilderman and E. Grauer. "Deterioration in Brain and Heart Functions Following a Single Sub-Lethal (0.8 Lct50) Inhalation Exposure of Rats to Sarin Vapor: A Putative Mechanism of the Long Term Toxicity." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 253, no. 1 (2011): 31-7.
- 160. Bansal, I., C. K. Waghmare, T. Anand, A. K. Gupta and B. K. Bhattacharya. "Differential mRNA Expression of Acetylcholinesterase in the Central Nervous System of Rats with Acute and Chronic Exposure of Sarin & Physostigmine." J Appl Toxicol 29, no. 5 (2009): 386-94.
- 161. Bloch-Shilderman, E. and A. Levy. "Transient and Reversible Nephrotoxicity of Sarin in Rats." J Appl Toxicol 27, no. 2 (2007): 189-94.
- 162. Conti, M. L., M. M. Che, M. Boylan, A. M. Sciuto, R. K. Gordon and M. P. Nambiar. "Acute Microinstillation Inhalation Exposure to Sarin Induces Changes in Respiratory Dynamics and Functions in Guinea Pigs." Int J Toxicol 28, no. 5 (2009): 436-47.
- 163. Dabisch, P. A., F. To, E. K. Kerut, M. S. Horsmon and R. J. Mioduszewski. "Multiple Exposures to Sarin Vapor Result in Parasympathetic Dysfunction in the Eye but Not the Heart." Toxicol Sci 99, no. 1 (2007): 354-61.
- 164. Damodaran, Tirupapuliyur V, Stephen T Greenfield, Anand G Patel, Holly K Dressman, Siomon K. Lin and Mohamed B Abou-Donia. "Toxicogenomic Studies of the Rat Brain at an Early Time Point Following Acute Sarin Exposure." Neurochemical Research 31, no. 3 (2006): 367-381.
- 165. Dave, J. R., R. A. Connors, R. F. Genovese, R. A. Whipple, R. W. Chen, S. M. DeFord, A. V. Moran and E. C. Tortella. "DNA Fragmentation in Leukocytes Following Repeated Low Dose Sarin Exposure in Guinea Pigs." Cell Mol Life Sci 64, no. 21 (2007): 2823-8.
- 166. Garrett, T. L., K. Joshi, C. M. Rapp, M. Chapleau, D. R. Cool, J. J. Schlager and J. B. Lucot. " The Effects of 8-Oh-Dpat on Neuroinflammation after Sarin Exposure in Mice." Toxicology 310, (2013): 22-8.
- 167. Gore, A., R. Brandeis, I. Egoz, D. Peri, J. Turetz and E. Bloch-Shilderman. "Efficacy Assessment of Various Anticholinergic Agents against Topical Sarin-Induced Miosis and Visual Impairment in Rats." Toxicol Sci 126, no. 2 (2012): 515-24.
- 168. Grauer, E. and A. Levy. "Oxotremorine-Induced Hypothermia as a Method for Evaluating Long-Term Neuronal Changes Following Poisoning by Cholinesterase Inhibitors in Rats." Toxicology 242, no. 1-3 (2007): 1-6.
- 169. Kawana, Noriko, Shin-ichi Ishimatsu and Katsuya Kanda. "Psycho-Physiological Effects of the Terrorist Sarin Attack on the Tokyo Subway System." Military medicine, (2001).

- 170. Keegan, T. J., S. A. Walker, C. Brooks, T. Langdon, L. Linsell, N. E. Maconochie, P. Doyle, T. Fletcher, M. J. Nieuwenhuijsen, L. M. Carpenter and K. M. Venables. "Exposures Recorded for Participants in the Uk Chemical Warfare Agent Human Research Programme, 1941-1989." Ann Occup Hyg 53, no. 1 (2009): 83-97.
- 171. Mach, M., R. D. Grubbs, W. A. Price, M. Nagaoka, M. Dubovicky and J. B. Lucot. "Delayed Behavioral and Endocrine Effects of Sarin and Stress Exposure in Mice." J Appl Toxicol 28, no. 2 (2008): 132-9.
- 172. Miyaki, Koichi, Yuji Nishiwaki, Kazuhiko Maekawa, Yasutaka Ogawa, Nozomu Asukai, Kimio Yoshimura, Norihito Etoh, Yukio Matsumoto, Yuriko Kikuchi and Nami Kumagai. "Effects of Sarin on the Nervous System of Subway Workers Seven Years after the Tokyo Subway Sarin Attack." Journal of occupational health 47, no. 4 (2005): 299-304.
- 173. Nishiwaki, Yuji, Kazuhiko Maekawa, Yasutaka Ogawa, Nozomu Asukai, Masayasu Minami, Kazuyuki Omae and Sarin Health Effects Study Group. "Effects of Sarin on the Nervous System in Rescue Team Staff Members and Police Officers 3 Years after the Tokyo Subway Sarin Attack." Environmental health perspectives 109, no. 11 (2001): 1169.
- 174. Oswal, D. P., T. L. Garrett, M. Morris and J. B. Lucot. "Low-Dose Sarin Exposure Produces Long Term Changes in Brain Neurochemistry of Mice." Neurochem Res 38, no. 1 (2013): 108-16.
- 175. Pachiappan, A., M. M. Thwin, L. Weng Keong, F. K. Lee, J. Manikandan, V. Sivakumar and P. Gopalakrishnakone. "Ets2 Regulating Neurodegenerative Signaling Pathway of Human Neuronal (Sh-Sy5y) Cells Exposed to Single and Repeated Low-Dose Sarin (Gb)." Chem Res Toxicol 22, no. 6 (2009): 990-6.
- 176. Shih, T. M., S. W. Hulet and J. H. McDonough. "The Effects of Repeated Low-Dose Sarin Exposure." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 215, no. 2 (2006): 119-34.
- 177. Speed, H. E., C. A. Blaiss, A. Kim, M. E. Haws, N. R. Melvin, M. Jennings, A. J. Eisch and C. M. Powell. "Delayed Reduction of Hippocampal Synaptic Transmission and Spines Following Exposure to Repeated Subclinical Doses of Organophosphorus Pesticide in Adult Mice." Toxicol Sci 125, no. 1 (2012): 196-208.
- 178. Spradling, K. D., L. A. Lumley, C. L. Robison, J. L. Meyerhoff and J. F. Dillman, 3rd. "Transcriptional Analysis of Rat Piriform Cortex Following Exposure to the Organophosphonate Anticholinesterase Sarin and Induction of Seizures." J Neuroinflammation 8, (2011): 83.

- 179. Spradling, K. D., L. A. Lumley, C. L. Robison, J. L. Meyerhoff and J. F. Dillman, 3rd. "Transcriptional Responses of the Nerve Agent-Sensitive Brain Regions Amygdala, Hippocampus, Piriform Cortex, Septum, and Thalamus Following Exposure to the Organophosphonate Anticholinesterase Sarin." J Neuroinflammation 8, (2011): 84.
- Yokoyama, K. "Our Recent Experiences with Sarin Poisoning Cases in Japan and Pesticide Users with References to Some Selected Chemicals." Neurotoxicology 28, no. 2 (2007): 364-73.
- 181. Chao, L. L., L. Abadjian, J. Hlavin, D. J. Meyerhoff and M. W. Weiner. "Effects of Low-Level Sarin and Cyclosarin Exposure and Gulf War Illness on Brain Structure and Function: A Study at 4t." Neurotoxicology 32, no. 6 (2011): 814-22.
- 182. Tuite, J. J. and R. W. Haley. "Meteorological and Intelligence Evidence of Long-Distance Transit of Chemical Weapons Fallout from Bombing Early in the 1991 Persian Gulf War." Neuroepidemiology 40, no. 3 (2013): 160-77.

# Soman (GD)

- 183. Apland, J. P., T. H. Figueiredo, F. Qashu, V. Aroniadou-Anderjaska, A. P. Souza and M. F. Braga. "Higher Susceptibility of the Ventral Versus the Dorsal Hippocampus and the Posteroventral Versus Anterodorsal Amygdala to Soman-Induced Neuropathology." Neurotoxicology 31, no. 5 (2010): 485-92.
- 184. Aroniadou-Anderjaska, V., T. H. Figueiredo, J. P. Apland, F. Qashu and M. F. Braga. "Primary Brain Targets of Nerve Agents: The Role of the Amygdala in Comparison to the Hippocampus." Neurotoxicology 30, no. 5 (2009): 772-6.
- 185. Collombet, J. M., E. Four, W. Fauquette, M. F. Burckhart, C. Masqueliez, D. Bernabe, D. Baubichon and G. Lallement. "Soman Poisoning Induces Delayed Astrogliotic Scar and Angiogenesis in Damaged Mouse Brain Areas." Neurotoxicology 28, no. 1 (2007): 38-48.
- 186. Collombet, J. M., C. Pierard, D. Beracochea, S. Coubard, M. F. Burckhart, E. Four, C. Masqueliez, D. Baubichon and G. Lallement. "Long-Term Consequences of Soman Poisoning in Mice Part 1. Neuropathology and Neuronal Regeneration in the Amygdala." Behav Brain Res 191, no. 1 (2008): 88-94.
- 187. de Araujo Furtado, M., A. Zheng, M. Sedigh-Sarvestani, L. Lumley, S. Lichtenstein and D. Yourick. "Analyzing Large Data Sets Acquired through Telemetry from Rats Exposed to Organophosphorous Compounds: An Eeg Study." J Neurosci Methods 184, no. 1 (2009): 176-83.
- Dhote, F., A. Peinnequin, P. Carpentier, V. Baille, C. Delacour, A. Foquin, G. Lallement and F. Dorandeu. "Prolonged Inflammatory Gene Response Following Soman-Induced Seizures in Mice." Toxicology 238, no. 2-3 (2007): 166-76.
- 189. Dillman, J. F., 3rd, C. S. Phillips, D. M. Kniffin, C. P. Tompkins, T. A. Hamilton and R. K. Kan. "Gene Expression Profiling of Rat Hippocampus Following Exposure to the Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitor Soman." Chem Res Toxicol 22, no. 4 (2009): 633-8.
- 190. Gullapalli, R. P., Y. Aracava, J. Zhuo, E. Helal Neto, J. Wang, G. Makris, I. Merchenthaler, E.
   F. Pereira and E. X. Albuquerque. "Magnetic Resonance Imaging Reveals That Galantamine Prevents Structural Brain Damage Induced by an Acute Exposure of Guinea Pigs to Soman." Neurotoxicology 31, no. 1 (2010): 67-76.
- 191. Hassel, B. "Nicotinic Mechanisms Contribute to Soman-Induced Symptoms and Lethality." Neurotoxicology 27, no. 4 (2006): 501-7.
- 192. Katos, A. M., M. Conti, T. S. Moran, T. W. Chon, R. K. Gordon, A. M. Sciuto, B. P. Doctor and M. P. Nambiar. "Acute Microinstillation Inhalation Exposure to Soman Induces Changes in Respiratory Dynamics and Functions in Guinea Pigs." Inhal Toxicol 21, no. 7 (2009): 1-10.
- 193. Katos, A. M., M. Conti, T. S. Moran, T. W. Chon, R. K. Gordon, A. M. Sciuto, B. P. Doctor and M. P. Nambiar. "Acute Microinstillation Inhalation Exposure to Soman Induces Changes in Respiratory Dynamics and Functions in Guinea Pigs." Inhal Toxicol 21, no. 7 (2009): 1-10.
- 194. Langston, J. L. and T. M. Myers. "Diet Composition Modifies the Toxicity of Repeated Soman Exposure in Rats." Neurotoxicology 32, no. 6 (2011): 907-15.
- 195. Mamczarz, J., G. S. Kulkarni, E. F. Pereira and E. X. Albuquerque. "Galantamine Counteracts Development of Learning Impairment in Guinea Pigs Exposed to the Organophosphorus Poison Soman: Clinical Significance." Neurotoxicology 32, no. 6 (2011): 785-98.
- Myers, T. M. and J. L. Langston. "Diet Composition Exacerbates or Attenuates Soman Toxicity in Rats: Implied Metabolic Control of Nerve Agent Toxicity." Neurotoxicology 32, no. 3 (2011): 342-9.
- 197. Perkins, M. W., Z. Pierre, P. Rezk, J. Song, S. Oguntayo, A. M. Sciuto, B. P. Doctor and M. P. Nambiar. "Acute Changes in Pulmonary Function Following Microinstillation Inhalation Exposure to Soman in Nonatropenized Guinea Pigs." Int J Toxicol 30, no. 3 (2011): 348-57.
- 198. Prager, E. M., V. Aroniadou-Anderjaska, C. P. Almeida-Suhett, T. H. Figueiredo, J. P. Apland, F. Rossetti, C. H. Olsen and M. F. Braga. "The Recovery of Acetylcholinesterase Activity and the Progression of Neuropathological and Pathophysiological Alterations in the Rat

Basolateral Amygdala after Soman-Induced Status Epilepticus: Relation to Anxiety-Like Behavior." Neuropharmacology 81, (2014): 64-74.

- 199. RamaRao, G., P. Afley, J. Acharya and B. K. Bhattacharya. "Efficacy of Antidotes (Midazolam, Atropine and Hi-6) on Nerve Agent Induced Molecular and Neuropathological Changes." BMC Neurosci 15, (2014): 47.
- 200. RamaRao, G., B. K. Bhattacharya, S. Kumar and C. K. Waghmare. "Gene Expression and Phosphoprotein Profile of Certain Key Neuronal Signaling Proteins Following Soman Intoxication." Toxicology 290, no. 2-3 (2011): 195-202.
- Angoa-Perez, M., C. W. Kreipke, D. M. Thomas, K. E. Van Shura, M. Lyman, J. H. McDonough and D. M. Kuhn. "Soman Increases Neuronal Cox-2 Levels: Possible Link between Seizures and Protracted Neuronal Damage." Neurotoxicology 31, no. 6 (2010): 738-46.
- 202. Collombet, J. M. "Nerve Agent Intoxication: Recent Neuropathophysiological Findings and Subsequent Impact on Medical Management Prospects." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 255, no. 3 (2011): 229-41.
- 203. Collombet, J. M., D. Beracochea, P. Liscia, C. Pierard, G. Lallement and P. Filliat. "Long-Term Effects of Cytokine Treatment on Cognitive Behavioral Recovery and Neuronal Regeneration in Soman-Poisoned Mice." Behav Brain Res 221, no. 1 (2011): 261-70.

## Cyclosarin (GF)

- 204. Brown Jr, James S. "Psychiatric Issues in Toxic Exposures." Psychiatric Clinics of North America 30, no. 4 (2007): 837-854.
- 205. Chen, Yun. "Organophosphate-Induced Brain Damage: Mechanisms, Neuropsychiatric and Neurological Consequences, and Potential Therapeutic Strategies." Neurotoxicology 33, no. 3 (2012): 391-400.
- 206. Hulet, S. W., D. R. Sommerville, D. B. Miller, J. A. Scotto, W. T. Muse and D. C. Burnett.
   "Comparison of Sarin and Cyclosarin Toxicity by Subcutaneous, Intravenous and Inhalation Exposure in Gottingen Minipigs." Inhal Toxicol 26, no. 3 (2014): 175-84.
- 207. Jones, E, B Everitt, S Ironside, I Palmer and S Wessely. "Psychological Effects of Chemical Weapons: A Follow-up Study of First World War Veterans." Psychological medicine 38, no. 10 (2008): 1419-1426.

- 208. Jones, E., B. Everitt, S. Ironside, I. Palmer and S. Wessely. "Psychological Effects of Chemical Weapons: A Follow-up Study of First World War Veterans." Psychological Medicine 38, no. 10 (2008): 1419-1426.
- 209. Mach, Mojmir, Robert D Grubbs, William A Price, Maya Nagaoka, Michal Dubovický and James B Lucot. "Delayed Behavioral and Endocrine Effects of Sarin and Stress Exposure in Mice." Journal of Applied Toxicology 28, no. 2 (2008): 132-139.
- 210. Marrs, Timothy C. "Toxicology of Organophosphate Nerve Agents." Chemical warfare agents: toxicology and treatment 2, (2007).
- 211. Bullman, Tim A, Clare M Mahan, Han K Kang and William F Page. "Mortality in Us Army Gulf War Veterans Exposed to 1991 Khamisiyah Chemical Munitions Destruction." American journal of public health 95, no. 8 (2005): 1382.
- 212. Chao, L. L., L. Abadjian, J. Hlavin, D. J. Meyerhoff and M. W. Weiner. "Effects of Low-Level Sarin and Cyclosarin Exposure and Gulf War Illness on Brain Structure and Function: A Study at 4t." Neurotoxicology 32, no. 6 (2011): 814-22.
- 213. Chao, L. L., J. C. Rothlind, V. A. Cardenas, D. J. Meyerhoff and M. W. Weiner. "Effects of Low-Level Exposure to Sarin and Cyclosarin During the 1991 Gulf War on Brain Function and Brain Structure in Us Veterans." Neurotoxicology 31, no. 5 (2010): 493-501.

# GV (GP)

- 214. Aroniadou-Anderjaska, Vassiliki, Taiza H. Figueiredo, James P. Apland, Felicia Qashu and Maria F. M. Braga. "Primary Brain Targets of Nerve Agents: The Role of the Amygdala in Comparison to the Hippocampus." NeuroToxicology 30, no. 5 (2009): 772-776.
- 215. Ellison, D Hank. Handbook of Chemical and Biological Warfare Agents: CRC Press, 2010.
- 216. Geoghegan, James and Jeffrey L Tong. "Chemical Warfare Agents." Continuing Education in Anaesthesia, Critical Care & Pain 6, no. 6 (2006): 230-234.
- 217. Jokanović, Milan. "Current Understanding of the Mechanisms Involved in Metabolic Detoxification of Warfare Nerve Agents." Toxicology Letters 188, no. 1 (2009): 1-10.
- Moshiri, Mohammd, Emadodin Darchini-Maragheh and Mahdi Balali-Mood. "Advances in Toxicology and Medical Treatment of Chemical Warfare Nerve Agents." Daru 20, no. 81 (2012): 1-24.
- 219. RamaRao, G and BK Bhattacharya. "Multiple Signal Transduction Pathways Alterations During Nerve Agent Toxicity." Toxicology letters 208, no. 1 (2012): 16-22.

- 220. Shulga, Olga V and Christopher Palmer. "Detection of V-Type Nerve Agent Degradation Products at Electrodes Modified by Ppy/Pqq Using Cacl2 as Supporting Electrolyte." Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry 385, no. 6 (2006): 1116-1123.
- 221. Sidell, Frederick R. "9 a History of Human Studies with Nerve Agents By." Chemical Warfare Agents: Toxicology and Treatment, (2007): 223.

# VX (EA 1701)

- Bajgar, J., K. Kuca, J. Fusek, J. Karasova, J. Kassa, J. Cabal, D. Jun and V. Blaha. "Inhibition of Blood Cholinesterases Following Intoxication with Vx and Its Derivatives." J Appl Toxicol 27, no. 5 (2007): 458-63.
- 223. Benton, Bernard J, Jeffrey M McGuire, Douglas R Sommerville, Paul A Dabisch, Edward M Jakubowski Jr, KL Matson, Robert J Mioduszewski, Sandra A Thomson and Charles L Crouse. "Effects of Whole-Body Vx Vapor Exposure on Lethality in Rats." Inhalation toxicology 18, no. 14 (2006): 1091-1099.
- 224. Chauhan, S, S Chauhan, R D'cruz, S Faruqi, KK Singh, S Varma, M Singh and V Karthik.
  "Chemical Warfare Agents." Environmental toxicology and pharmacology 26, no. 2 (2008): 113-122.
- 225. Chen, Yun. "Organophosphate-Induced Brain Damage: Mechanisms, Neuropsychiatric and Neurological Consequences, and Potential Therapeutic Strategies." Neurotoxicology 33, no. 3 (2012): 391-400.
- 226. Genovese, R. F., B. J. Benton, J. L. Oubre, C. E. Byers, E. M. Jakubowski, R. J. Mioduszewski, T. J. Settle and T. J. Steinbach. "Determination of Threshold Adverse Effect Doses of Percutaneous Vx Exposure in African Green Monkeys." Toxicology 279, no. 1-3 (2011): 65-72.
- 227. Grauer, E. and A. Levy. "Oxotremorine-Induced Hypothermia as a Method for Evaluating Long-Term Neuronal Changes Following Poisoning by Cholinesterase Inhibitors in Rats." Toxicology 242, no. 1-3 (2007): 1-6.
- 228. Graziani, S., D. Christin, S. Daulon, P. Breton, N. Perrier and L. Taysse. "Effects of Repeated Low-Dose Exposure of the Nerve Agent Vx on Monoamine Levels in Different Brain Structures in Mice." Neurochem Res 39, no. 5 (2014): 911-21.
- 229. Hajek, P., J. Bajgar, D. Slizova, O. Krs, K. Kuca, L. Capek and J. Fusek. "Different Inhibition of Acetylcholinesterase in Selected Parts of the Rat Brain Following Intoxication with Vx and Russian Vx." Drug Chem Toxicol 32, no. 1 (2009): 1-8.

- Joosen, M. J., M. J. van der Schans and H. P. van Helden. "Percutaneous Exposure to Vx: Clinical Signs, Effects on Brain Acetylcholine Levels and Eeg." Neurochem Res 33, no. 2 (2008): 308-17.
- 231. Katos, A. M., M. L. Conti, T. S. Moran, R. K. Gordon, B. P. Doctor, A. M. Sciuto and M. P. Nambiar. "Abdominal Bloating and Irritable Bowel Syndrome Like Symptoms Following Microinstillation Inhalation Exposure to Chemical Warfare Nerve Agent Vx in Guinea Pigs." Toxicol Ind Health 23, no. 4 (2007): 231-40.
- 232. Nambiar, Madhusoodana P, Richard K Gordon, Peter E Rezk, Alexander M Katos, Nikolai A Wajda, Theodore S Moran, Keith E Steele, Bhupendra P Doctor and Alfred M Sciuto.
  "Medical Countermeasure against Respiratory Toxicity and Acute Lung Injury Following Inhalation Exposure to Chemical Warfare Nerve Agent Vx." Toxicology and applied pharmacology 219, no. 2 (2007): 142-150.
- 233. Nirujogi, R. S., J. D. Wright, Jr., S. S. Manda, J. Zhong, C. H. Na, J. Meyerhoff, B. Benton, R. Jabbour, K. Willis, M. S. Kim, A. Pandey and J. W. Sekowski. "Phosphoproteomic Analysis Reveals Compensatory Effects in the Piriform Cortex of Vx Nerve Agent Exposed Rats." Proteomics 15, no. 2-3 (2015): 487-99.
- 234. O'Donnell, J. C., J. H. McDonough and T. M. Shih. "In Vivo Microdialysis and Electroencephalographic Activity in Freely Moving Guinea Pigs Exposed to Organophosphorus Nerve Agents Sarin and Vx: Analysis of Acetylcholine and Glutamate." Arch Toxicol 85, no. 12 (2011): 1607-16.
- 235. Peng, X., M. W. Perkins, J. Simons, A. M. Witriol, A. M. Rodriguez, B. M. Benjamin, J. Devorak and A. M. Sciuto. "Acute Pulmonary Toxicity Following Inhalation Exposure to Aerosolized Vx in Anesthetized Rats." Inhal Toxicol 26, no. 7 (2014): 371-9.
- 236. Rezk, P. E., J. R. Graham, T. S. Moran, R. K. Gordon, A. M. Sciuto, B. P. Doctor and M. P. Nambiar. "Acute Toxic Effects of Nerve Agent Vx on Respiratory Dynamics and Functions Following Microinsillation Inhalation Exposure in Guinea Pigs." Inhal Toxicol 19, no. 3 (2007): 291-302.
- 237. Rocksen, D., D. Elfsmark, V. Heldestad, K. Wallgren, G. Cassel and A. Goransson Nyberg.
   "An Animal Model to Study Health Effects During Continuous Low-Dose Exposure to the Nerve Agent Vx." Toxicology 250, no. 1 (2008): 32-8.
- 238. Tenn, C. C. and Y. Wang. "Vx-Induced Cell Death Involves Activation of Caspase-3 in Cultured Rat Cortical Neurons." Neurosci Lett 417, no. 2 (2007): 155-9.
- 239. Zabrodskii, P. F. and V. A. Grishin. "[Pharmacological Correction of Nonspecific Resistance and Production of Proinflammatory Cytokines During Chronic Intoxication with Organophosphorus Compound Vx]." Eksp Klin Farmakol 75, no. 11 (2012): 19-21.

- 240. Zabrodskii, P. F., V. A. Grishin and V. K. Borodavko. "Mechanism of Suppression of Phagocytic and Metabolic Activity of Neutrophils and Production of Proinflammatory Cytokines During Chronic Poisoning with Organophosphorus Compounds." Bull Exp Biol Med 155, no. 4 (2013): 464-6.
- 241. Genovese, Raymond F, Bernard J Benton, Esther H Lee, Sara J Shippee and E Michael Jakubowski. "Behavioral and Biochemical Evaluation of Sub-Lethal Inhalation Exposure to Vx in Rats." Toxicology 232, no. 1 (2007): 109-118.

### Other V-agents (VE, VG, VM)

- 242. Arbel, Yaron, Shani Shenhar-Tsarfaty, Nir Waiskopf, Ariel Finkelstein, Amir Halkin, Miri Revivo, Shlomo Berliner, Itzhak Herz, Itzhak Shapira, Gad Keren, Hermona Soreq and Shmuel Banai. "Decline in Serum Cholinesterase Activities Predicts 2-Year Major Adverse Cardiac Events." Molecular Medicine 20, no. 1 (2014): 38-45.
- 243. Bajgar, Jiri. "Treament and Prophylaxis of Nerve Agent/Organophosphates Intoxication." Therap. Pharmacol. Clin. Toxicol 13, (2009): 247-253.
- 244. Bajgar, J., K. Kuca, J. Fusek, J. Karasova, J. Kassa, J. Cabal, D. Jun and V. Blaha. "Inhibition of Blood Cholinesterases Following Intoxication with Vx and Its Derivatives." J Appl Toxicol 27, no. 5 (2007): 458-63.
- 245. Ballantyne, Bryan and Timothy C Marrs. "Overview of the Biological and Clinical Aspects of Organophosphates And." Clinical and Experimental Toxicology of Organophosphates and Carbamates, (2013): 3.
- 246. Ellison, D. H. Handbook of Chemical and Biological Warfare Agents (2nd Ed), 2008.
- 247. Golomb, Beatrice Alexandra. "Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitors and Gulf War Illnesses." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105, no. 11 (2008): 4295-4300.
- 248. Gupta, Ramesh C. Toxicology of Organophosphate & Carbamate Compounds: Academic Press, 2011.
- 249. Misik, J., R. Pavlikova, J. Cabal and K. Kuca. "Acute Toxicity of Some Nerve Agents and Pesticides in Rats." Drug Chem Toxicol 38, no. 1 (2015): 32-6.
- 250. O'Donnell, J. C., J. H. McDonough and T. M. Shih. "Changes in Extracellular Striatal Acetylcholine and Brain Seizure Activity Following Acute Exposure to Nerve Agents in Freely Moving Guinea Pigs." Toxicol Mech Methods 20, no. 3 (2010): 143-52.

- 251. Pitschmann, Vladimír. "Overall View of Chemical and Biochemical Weapons." Toxins 6, no. 6 (2014): 1761-1784.
- 252. Pohanka, Miroslav. "Cholinesterases, a Target of Pharmacology and Toxicology." Biomedical Papers 155, no. 3 (2011): 219-223.
- 253. Wandhammer, Marielle, Eugénie Carletti, Marcel Van der Schans, Emilie Gillon, Yvain Nicolet, Patrick Masson, Maurice Goeldner, Daan Noort and Florian Nachon. "Structural Study of the Complex Stereoselectivity of Human Butyrylcholinesterase for the Neurotoxic V-Agents." The Journal of Biological Chemistry 286, no. 19 (2011): 16783-16789.
- 254. Worek, F., T. Seeger, G. Reiter, M. Goldsmith, Y. Ashani, H. Leader, J. L. Sussman, N. Aggarwal, H. Thiermann and D. S. Tawfik. "Post-Exposure Treatment of Vx Poisoned Guinea Pigs with the Engineered Phosphotriesterase Mutant C23: A Proof-of-Concept Study." Toxicol Lett 231, no. 1 (2014): 45-54.
- 255. Balali-Mood, Mahdi and Hamidreza Saber. "Recent Advances in the Treatment of Organophosphorous Poisonings." Iranian Journal of Medical Sciences 37, no. 2 (2012): 74-91.
- 256. Marrs, Timothy C. "Toxicology of Organophosphate Nerve Agents." Chemical warfare agents: toxicology and treatment 2, (2007).
- 257. Mirzayanov, V. S. State Secrets. An Insider's Chronicle of the Russian Chemical Weapons Program, 2009.
- 258. Moshiri, Mohammd, Emadodin Darchini-Maragheh and Mahdi Balali-Mood. "Advances in Toxicology and Medical Treatment of Chemical Warfare Nerve Agents." DARU Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 20, no. 1 (2012): 81-81.

## DFP (Diisopropyl fluorophosphate)

- 259. Kofman, Ora and Guy Ben-Bashat. "Diisopropylfluorophosphate Administration in the Pre-Weanling Period Induces Long-Term Changes in Anxiety Behavior and Passive Avoidance in Adult Mice." Psychopharmacology 183, no. 4 (2006): 452-461.
- 260. Kofman, O. and T. Sher. "Postnatal Exposure to Diisopropylfluorophosphate Enhances Discrimination Learning in Adult Mice." Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30, no. 5 (2006): 914-8.
- 261. Levi, Y., O. Kofman, M. Schwebel and A. Shaldubina. "Discrimination and Avoidance Learning in Adult Mice Following Developmental Exposure to Diisopropylfluorophosphate." Pharmacol Biochem Behav 88, no. 4 (2008): 438-45.

- 262. Li, Y., P. J. Lein, C. Liu, D. A. Bruun, C. Giulivi, G. D. Ford, T. Tewolde, C. Ross-Inta and B. D. Ford. "Neuregulin-1 Is Neuroprotective in a Rat Model of Organophosphate-Induced Delayed Neuronal Injury." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 262, no. 2 (2012): 194-204.
- 263. Li, Y., P. J. Lein, C. Liu, D. A. Bruun, T. Tewolde, G. Ford and B. D. Ford. "Spatiotemporal Pattern of Neuronal Injury Induced by Dfp in Rats: A Model for Delayed Neuronal Cell Death Following Acute Op Intoxication." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 253, no. 3 (2011): 261-9.
- 264. Lin, T., O. Duek, A. Dori and O. Kofman. "Differential Long Term Effects of Early Diiso-propylfluorophosphate Exposure in Balb/C and C57bl/J6 Mice." Int J Dev Neurosci 30, no. 2 (2012): 113-20.
- 265. Livneh, U., A. Dori, A. Katzav and O. Kofman. "Strain and Regional Dependence of Alternate Splicing of Acetylcholinesterase in the Murine Brain Following Stress or Treatment with Diisopropylfluorophosphate." Behav Brain Res 210, no. 1 (2010): 107-15.
- 266. Lopez-Granero, C., F. Canadas, D. Cardona, Y. Yu, E. Gimenez, R. Lozano, D. S. Avila, M. Aschner and F. Sanchez-Santed. "Chlorpyrifos-, Diisopropylphosphorofluoridate-, and Parathion-Induced Behavioral and Oxidative Stress Effects: Are They Mediated by Analogous Mechanisms of Action?" Toxicol Sci 131, no. 1 (2013): 206-16.
- 267. Oriel, S., A. Dori and O. Kofman. "Postnatal Diisopropylfluorophosphate Enhances Conditioned Vigilance in Adult Balb/C and C57bl/6 Mice and Alters Expression of Acetylcholinesterase Splice Variants." Behav Pharmacol 25, no. 7 (2014): 661-72.
- 268. Petroianu, G. A. and D. E. Lorke. "Pyridinium Oxime Reactivators of Cholinesterase Inhibited by Diisopropyl-Fluorophosphate (Dfp): Predictive Value of in-Vitro Testing for in-Vivo Efficacy." Mini Rev Med Chem 8, no. 13 (2008): 1328-42.
- 269. Qian, Y., J. Venkatraj, R. Barhoumi, R. Pal, A. Datta, J. R. Wild and E. Tiffany-Castiglioni. "Comparative Non-Cholinergic Neurotoxic Effects of Paraoxon and Diisopropyl Fluorophosphate (Dfp) on Human Neuroblastoma and Astrocytoma Cell Lines." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 219, no. 2-3 (2007): 162-71.
- 270. Terry, A. V., Jr., W. D. Beck, S. Warner, L. Vandenhuerk and P. M. Callahan. "Chronic Impairments in Spatial Learning and Memory in Rats Previously Exposed to Chlorpyrfos or Diisopropylfluorophosphate." Neurotoxicol Teratol 34, no. 1 (2012): 1-8.
- Terry Jr, A. V. "Functional Consequences of Repeated Organophosphate Exposure: Potential Non-Cholinergic Mechanisms." Pharmacology & Therapeutics 134, no. 3 (2012): 355-365.
- 272. Zaja-Milatovic, S., R. C. Gupta, M. Aschner and D. Milatovic. "Protection of Dfp-Induced Oxidative Damage and Neurodegeneration by Antioxidants and Nmda Receptor Antagonist." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 240, no. 2 (2009): 124-31.

- 273. Zanettini, Claudio, Leigh V Panlilio, Mano Aliczki, Steven R Goldberg, József Haller and Sevil Yasar. "Effects of Endocannabinoid System Modulation on Cognitive and Emotional Behavior." Frontiers in behavioral neuroscience 5, (2011).
- 274. Zhu, H., J. J. O'Brien, J. P. O'Callaghan, D. B. Miller, Q. Zhang, M. Rana, T. Tsui, Y. Peng, J. Tomesch, J. P. Hendrick, L. P. Wennogle and G. L. Snyder. "Nerve Agent Exposure Elicits Site-Specific Changes in Protein Phosphorylation in Mouse Brain." Brain Res 1342, (2010): 11-23.
- 275. de Araujo Furtado, Marcio, Franco Rossetti, Soma Chanda and Debra Yourick. "Exposure to Nerve Agents: From Status Epilepticus to Neuroinflammation, Brain Damage, Neurogenesis and Epilepsy." Neurotoxicology 33, no. 6 (2012): 1476-1490.

### Malathion

- Albert, Anathea, Ken Drouillard, G Douglas Haffner and Brian Dixon. "Dietary Exposure to Low Pesticide Doses Causes Long-Term Immunosuppression in the Leopard Frog (Rana Pipiens)." Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 26, no. 6 (2007): 1179-1185.
- Bhanti, M. and A. Taneja. "Contamination of Vegetables of Different Seasons with Organophosphorous Pesticides and Related Health Risk Assessment in Northern India." Chemosphere 69, no. 1 (2007): 63-8.
- Bouchard, Maryse F, David C Bellinger, Robert O Wright and Marc G Weisskopf. "Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Urinary Metabolites of Organophosphate Pesticides." Pediatrics 125, no. 6 (2010): e1270-e1277.
- dos Santos, A. A., D. B. dos Santos, R. P. Ribeiro, D. Colle, K. C. Peres, J. Hermes, A. M. Barbosa,
   A. L. Dafre, A. F. de Bem, K. Kuca and M. Farina. "Effects of K074 and Pralidoxime on Antioxidant and Acetylcholinesterase Response in Malathion-Poisoned Mice." Neurotoxicology 32, no. 6 (2011): 888-95.
- Elsheikha, H. M., H. S. Hussein and M. H. Rahbar. "Clinico-Pathological Effects of Schistosoma Mansoni Infection Associated with Simultaneous Exposure to Malathion in Swiss Outbred Albino Mice." Acta Trop 108, no. 1 (2008): 11-9.
- Josse, R., A. Sharanek, C. C. Savary and A. Guillouzo. "Impact of Isomalathion on Malathion Cytotoxicity and Genotoxicity in Human Heparg Cells." Chem Biol Interact 209, (2014): 68-76.
- Jurewicz, Joanna and Wojciech Hanke. "Prenatal and Childhood Exposure to Pesticides and Neurobehavioral Development: Review of Epidemiological Studies." International journal of occupational medicine and environmental health 21, no. 2 (2008): 121-132.

- Lasram, M. M., K. Bouzid, I. B. Douib, A. Annabi, N. El Elj, S. El Fazaa, J. Abdelmoula and N. Gharbi. "Lipid Metabolism Disturbances Contribute to Insulin Resistance and Decrease Insulin Sensitivity by Malathion Exposure in Wistar Rat." Drug Chem Toxicol, (2014): 1-8.
- Lasram, M. M., I. B. Dhouib, K. Bouzid, A. J. Lamine, A. Annabi, N. Belhadjhmida, M. B. Ahmed, S. E. Fazaa, J. Abdelmoula and N. Gharbi. "Association of Inflammatory Response and Oxidative Injury in the Pathogenesis of Liver Steatosis and Insulin Resistance Following Subchronic Exposure to Malathion in Rats." Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 38, no. 2 (2014): 542-53.
- Lasram, M. M., A. J. Lamine, I. B. Dhouib, K. Bouzid, A. Annabi, N. Belhadjhmida, M. B. Ahmed, S. El Fazaa, J. Abdelmoula and N. Gharbi. "Antioxidant and Anti-Inflammatory Effects of N-Acetylcysteine against Malathion-Induced Liver Damages and Immunotoxicity in Rats." Life Sci 107, no. 1-2 (2014): 50-8.
- López, Olga, Antonio F Hernández, Lourdes Rodrigo, Fernando Gil, Gloria Pena, José Luis Serrano, Tesifón Parrón, Enrique Villanueva and Antonio Pla. "Changes in Antioxidant Enzymes in Humans with Long-Term Exposure to Pesticides." Toxicology letters 171, no. 3 (2007): 146-153.
- McCauley, Linda A, W Kent Anger, Matthew Keifer, Rick Langley, Mark G Robson and Diane Rohlman. "Studying Health Outcomes in Farmworker Populations Exposed to Pesticides." Environmental health perspectives, (2006): 953-960.
- Mdaghri, Y. A., A. Mossadeq, M. Faroudy and A. Sbihi. "[Cardiac Complications Associated with Organophosphate Poisoning]." Ann Cardiol Angeiol (Paris) 59, no. 2 (2010): 114-7.
- Ojha, A. and Y. Gupta. "Evaluation of Genotoxic Potential of Commonly Used Organophosphate Pesticides in Peripheral Blood Lymphocytes of Rats." Hum Exp Toxicol, (2014).
- Pahwa, M., S. A. Harris, K. Hohenadel, J. R. McLaughlin, J. J. Spinelli, P. Pahwa, J. A. Dosman and A. Blair. "Pesticide Use, Immunologic Conditions, and Risk of Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma in Canadian Men in Six Provinces." Int J Cancer 131, no. 11 (2012): 2650-9.
- Patil, V. K. and M. David. "Oxidative Stress in Freshwater Fish, Labeo Rohita as a Biomarker of Malathion Exposure." Environ Monit Assess 185, no. 12 (2013): 10191-9.
- Rastogi, S. K., S. Tripathi and D. Ravishanker. "A Study of Neurologic Symptoms on Exposure to Organophosphate Pesticides in the Children of Agricultural Workers." Indian J Occup Environ Med 14, no. 2 (2010): 54-7.

- Saldana, Tina M, Olga Basso, Jane A Hoppin, Donna D Baird, Charles Knott, Aaron Blair, Michael CR Alavanja and Dale P Sandler. "Pesticide Exposure and Self-Reported Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in the Agricultural Health Study." Diabetes Care 30, no. 3 (2007): 529-534.
- Selmi, S., S. El-Fazaa and N. Gharbi. "Oxidative Stress and Cholinesterase Inhibition in Plasma, Erythrocyte and Brain of Rats' Pups Following Lactational Exposure to Malathion." Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 34, no. 3 (2012): 753-60.
- Slager, R. E., S. L. Simpson, T. D. Levan, J. A. Poole, D. P. Sandler and J. A. Hoppin. "Rhinitis Associated with Pesticide Use among Private Pesticide Applicators in the Agricultural Health Study." J Toxicol Environ Health A 73, no. 20 (2010): 1382-93.
- Smith, G. R., S. V. Krishnamurthy, A. C. Burger and L. B. Mills. "Differential Effects of Malathion and Nitrate Exposure on American Toad and Wood Frog Tadpoles." Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 60, no. 2 (2011): 327-35.
- Stone, D. L., D. L. Sudakin and J. J. Jenkins. "Longitudinal Trends in Organophosphate Incidents Reported to the National Pesticide Information Center, 1995-2007." Environ Health 8, (2009): 18.
- Suresh Babu, N., J. K. Malik, G. S. Rao, M. Aggarwal and V. Ranganathan. "Effects of Subchronic Malathion Exposure on the Pharmacokinetic Disposition of Pefloxacin." Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 22, no. 2 (2006): 167-71.
- Trevisan, R., M. Uliano-Silva, P. Pandolfo, J. L. Franco, P. S. Brocardo, A. R. Santos, M. Farina, A. L. Rodrigues, R. N. Takahashi and A. L. Dafre. "Antioxidant and Acetylcholinesterase Response to Repeated Malathion Exposure in Rat Cerebral Cortex and Hippocampus." Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 102, no. 4 (2008): 365-9.
- Galantai, R., B. Emody-Kiss, Z. Somosy, G. Bognar, G. Horvath, Z. Forgacs, A. Gachalyi and M. Szilasi. "Does Malaoxon Play a Role in the Geno- and Cytotoxic Effects of Malathion on Human Choriocarcinoma Cells?" J Environ Sci Health B 46, no. 8 (2011): 773-9.
- Schleier, J. J., 3rd, R. S. Davis, L. M. Barber, P. A. Macedo and R. K. Peterson. "A Probabilistic Risk Assessment for Deployed Military Personnel after the Implementation of the "Leishmaniasis Control Program" at Tallil Air Base, Iraq." J Med Entomol 46, no. 3 (2009): 693-702.

## Physostigmine

276. Barak, S. and I. Weiner. "Dissociating Scopolamine-Induced Disrupted and Persistent Latent Inhibition: Stage-Dependent Effects of Glycine and Physostigmine." Psychopharmacology (Berl) 209, no. 2 (2010): 175-84.

- 277. Fox, Chris, Kathryn Richardson, Ian D Maidment, George M Savva, Fiona E Matthews, David Smithard, Simon Coulton, Cornelius Katona, Malaz A Boustani and Carol Brayne. "Anticholinergic Medication Use and Cognitive Impairment in the Older Population: The Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 59, no. 8 (2011): 1477-1483.
- Furey, M. L., P. Pietrini, J. V. Haxby and W. C. Drevets. "Selective Effects of Cholinergic Modulation on Task Performance During Selective Attention." Neuropsychopharmacology 33, no. 4 (2008): 913-23.
- 279. Holschneider, Daniel P, Yumei Guo, Margareth Roch, Keith M Norman and Oscar U Scremin. "Acetylcholinesterase Inhibition and Locomotor Function after Motor-Sensory Cortex Impact Injury." Journal of neurotrauma 28, no. 9 (2011): 1909-1919.
- 280. Jafari-Sabet, Majid. "Nmda Receptor Blockers Prevents the Facilitatory Effects of Post-Training Intra-Dorsal Hippocampal Nmda and Physostigmine on Memory Retention of Passive Avoidance Learning in Rats." Behavioural brain research 169, no. 1 (2006): 120-127.
- Lamproglou, Ioannis, Laure Barbier, Michel Diserbo, Florence Fauvelle, William Fauquette and Christine Amourette. "Repeated Stress in Combination with Pyridostigmine: Part I: Long-Term Behavioural Consequences." Behavioural brain research 197, no. 2 (2009): 301-310.
- 282. Li, X., J. X. Li, X. Zhu, R. Cui and J. Jiao. "Effects of Physostigmine on the Conditioned Hyperactivity and Locomotor Sensitization to Morphine in Rats." Behav Brain Res 206, no. 2 (2010): 223-8.
- 283. Lombardi, F. "Pharmacological Treatment of Neurobehavioural Sequelae of Traumatic Brain Injury." European Journal of Anaesthesiology 25, no. S42 (2008): 131-136.
- 284. Muthuraju, S., P. Maiti, P. Solanki, A. K. Sharma, S. Pati, S. B. Singh, D. Prasad and G. Ilavazhagan. "Possible Role of Cholinesterase Inhibitors on Memory Consolidation Following Hypobaric Hypoxia of Rats." Int J Neurosci 121, no. 5 (2011): 279-88.
- 285. Mwanza, J. C., D. Finley, C. L. Spivey, J. E. Graff and D. W. Herr. "Depression of the Photic after Discharge of Flash Evoked Potentials by Physostigmine, Carbaryl and Propoxur, and the Relationship to Inhibition of Brain Cholinesterase." Neurotoxicology 29, no. 1 (2008): 87-100.
- 286. Nelson, Lewis S, Richard D Shih and Michael J Balick. "Poisons, Poisoning Syndromes, and Their Clinical Management." Handbook of Poisonous and Injurious Plants, (2007): 21-34.

- 287. Slotkin, Theodore A, Emiko A MacKillop, Ian T Ryde, Charlotte A Tate and Frederic J Seidler. "Screening for Developmental Neurotoxicity Using Pc12 Cells: Comparisons of Organophosphates with a Carbamate, an Organochlorine, and Divalent Nickel." Environmental health perspectives, (2007): 93-101.
- 288. Wiegand, T. J., P. M. Wax, T. Schwartz, Y. Finkelstein, R. Gorodetsky and J. Brent. "The Toxicology Investigators Consortium Case Registry--the 2011 Experience." J Med Toxicol 8, no. 4 (2012): 360-77.
- 289. Bansal, I., C. K. Waghmare, T. Anand, A. K. Gupta and B. K. Bhattacharya. "Differential Mrna Expression of Acetylcholinesterase in the Central Nervous System of Rats with Acute and Chronic Exposure of Sarin & Physostigmine." J Appl Toxicol 29, no. 5 (2009): 386-94.
- 290. Lotti, Marcello. "Central Neurotoxicity and Behavioural." Clinical and Experimental Toxicology of Organophosphates and Carbamates, (2013): 75.
- 291. Lund, Cathrine, Per Drottning, Birgitte Stiksrud, Javad Vahabi, Marianne Lyngra, Ivind Ekeberg, Dag Jacobsen and Knut Erik Hovda. "A One-Year Observational Study of All Hospitalized Acute Poisonings in Oslo: Complications, Treatment and Sequelae." Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 20, no. 1 (2012): 49.
- 292. Wetherell, J., M. Price, H. Mumford, S. Armstrong and L. Scott. "Development of Next Generation Medical Countermeasures to Nerve Agent Poisoning." Toxicology 233, no. 1-3 (2007): 120-7.

## Anticholinesterases Military Exposures and Health Outcomes

- 293. Kelsall H, Macdonell R, Sim M, Forbes A, McKenzie D, Glass D, Ikin J, Ittak P, "Neurological status of Australian veterans of the 1991 Gulf War and the effect of medical and chemical exposures," Int J Epidemiol. 2005 Aug;34(4):810-9. Epub 2005 Apr 25
- 294. Thomas HV, Stimpson NJ, Weightman AL, Dunstan F, Lewis G., "Systematic review of multi-symptom conditions in Gulf War veterans," Psychol Med. 2006 Jun;36(6):735-47. Epub 2006 Jan 26.
- 295. Proctor SP, Heeren T, White RF, Wolfe J, Borgos MS, Davis JD, Pepper L, Clapp R, Sutker PB, Vasterling JJ, Ozonoff D., "Health status of Persian Gulf War veterans: self-reported symptoms, environmental exposures and the effect of stress," Int J Epidemiol. 1998 Dec;27(6):1000-10.
- 296. Thomas HV, Stimpson NJ, Weightman A, Dunstan F, Lewis G., "Pain in veterans of the Gulf War of 1991: a systematic review," BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2006 Sep 20;7:74.

- 297. Glass DC, Sim MR, Kelsall HL, Ikin JF, McKenzie D, Forbes A, Ittak P., "What was different about exposures reported by male Australian Gulf War veterans for the 1991 Persian Gulf War, compared with exposures reported for other deployments?" Mil Med. 2006 Jul;171(7):632-8.
- 298. Korényi-Both AL, Svéd L, Korényi-Both GE, Juncer DJ, Korényi-Both AL, Székely A. "The role of the sand in chemical warfare agent exposure among Persian Gulf War veterans: Al Eskan disease and "dirty dust"." Mil Med. 2000 May;165(5):321-36.
- 299. Stimpson NJ, Thomas HV, Weightman AL, Dunstan F, Lewis G, "Psychiatric disorder in veterans of the Persian Gulf War of 1991. Systematic review," Br J Psychiatry. 2003 May;182:391-403.
- 300. Shanker T. "U.S. troops were subjected to a wider toxic testing," N Y Times Web. 2002 Oct 9:A18.
- 301. Sim MR. "Mortality and cancer in Porton Down subjects," BMJ. 2009 Mar 24;338:b358.
- 302. Carpenter LM, Linsell L, Brooks C, Keegan TJ, Langdon T, Doyle P, Maconochie NE, Fletcher T, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Beral V, Venables KM, "Cancer morbidity in British military veterans included in chemical warfare agent experiments at Porton Down: cohort study," BMJ. 2009 Mar 24;338:b655.
- 303. Moreno J. "Without consent. Interview by Charles Seife," New Sci. 1999 Nov 13;164(2212):48-51.
- 304. Kang HK, Bullman T, "Mortality follow-up of veterans who participated in military chemical and biological warfare agent testing between 1962 and 1972," J Toxicol Environ Health A. 2009;72(23):1550-2.
- 305. Fullerton CS, Ursano RJ, "Behavioral and psychological responses to chemical and biological warfare," Mil Med. 1990 Feb;155(2):54-9.

# **Anticholinergics**

### 3-Quinuclidinyl benzilate (BZ, QNB, Tox: B001)

- 306. Brown, J. S., Jr. "Psychiatric Issues in Toxic Exposures." Psychiatr Clin North Am 30, no. 4 (2007): 837-54.
- 307. Gaillard, Y., P. Regenstreif and L. Fanton. "Modern Toxic Antipersonnel Projectiles." Am J Forensic Med Pathol 35, no. 4 (2014): 258-64.

- 308. Ganesan, K., S. K. Raza and R. Vijayaraghavan. "Chemical Warfare Agents." J Pharm Bioallied Sci 2, no. 3 (2010): 166-78.
- 309. Huang, L. F., J. B. Zheng, Y. Xu, H. T. Song and C. X. Yu. "A Snake Venom Phospholipase A2 with High Affinity for Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors Acts on Guinea Pig Ileum." Toxicon 51, no. 6 (2008): 1008-16.
- 310. Hurst, G. Medical Management of Chemical Casualties Handbook, 2014. "Incapacitating Agents;" Army Research Institute of Chemical Defense, Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD; 2010. CBRNIAC-CB-096987.
- 311. Kobayashi, H., T. Suzuki, M. Sakamoto, W. Hashimoto, K. Kashiwada, I. Sato, F. Akahori and T. Satoh. "Brain Regional Acetylcholinesterase Activity and Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors in Rats after Repeated Administration of Cholinesterase Inhibitors and Its Withdrawal." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 219, no. 2-3 (2007): 151-61.
- 312. Misik, J., J. Korabecny, E. Nepovimova, P. Cabelova and J. Kassa. "The Effects of Novel 7-Meota-Donepezil Like Hybrids and N-Alkylated Tacrine Analogues in the Treatment of Quinuclidinyl Benzilate-Induced Behavioural Deficits in Rats Performing the Multiple T-Maze Test." Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub, (2015).
- 313. Misik, Jan and Jiri Kassa. "A Comparison of Cholinesterase Inhibitors in the Treatment of Quinuclidinyl Benzilate-Induced Behavioural Deficit in Rats Performing the Multiple T-Maze." Journal of Applied Biomedicine 12, no. 4 (2014): 211-217.
- 314. National Research Council Committee on Acute Exposure Guideline, Levels and Toxicology National Research Council Committee on. In Nineteenth Interim Report of the Committee on Acute Exposure Guideline Levels: Part A. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US) Copyright 2011 by the National Academy of Sciences.
- 315. Pitschmann, Vladimír. "Overall View of Chemical and Biochemical Weapons." Toxins 6, (2014): 1761-1784.
- 316. Tokita, Y., M. Yuzurihara, K. Satoh, S. Iizuka, S. Imamura, Y. Kase and S. Takeda. "The Cholinergic Nervous System Plays an Important Role in Rat Postoperative Intestinal Adhesion." Surgery 143, no. 2 (2008): 226-32.

## Tox: B002 (N-Methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylphenyl glycolate)

Nothing was found in any date range using any search strings.

# Tox: B003 (Bibliography for N-Methyl-4-piperidyl cyclobutyl phenyl glycolate)

Nothing was found in any date range using any identifiers.

## Tox: B006 (3-Quinuclidinyl phenylcyclopentylglycolate)

317. Peters, Scott O. Lecavalier, P, "Synthesis and Characterization of a BZ Analogue: 1-Methyl-4-Piperidinyl Phenylcyclopentylglycolate," Defence Research and Development Suffield (Alberta) (This paper is accessible only to DoD.)

### Tox: B007 (Ditran)

- 318. Gaillard, Y., P. Regenstreif and L. Fanton. "Modern Toxic Antipersonnel Projectiles." Am J Forensic Med Pathol 35, no. 4 (2014): 258-64.
- 319. McDonough, JH. Shih, TM; "Atropine and Other Anticholinergic Drugs," 2007. CB-057613 CB057613.

### Tox: B008 (Benzetimide HCl)

320. Poole, Norman, Dominic Dougall and Niruj Agrawal. "Pharmacotherapy for Chronic Cognitive Impairment in Traumatic Brain Injury." The Cochrane Library, (2011).

### Tox: B009 (L-2-α-Tropinyl benzilate hydrochloride)

321. Casanova, M., C. Furlan, L. Sterin-Borda and E. S. Borda. "Muscarinic Cholinoceptor Activation Modulates DNA Synthesis and Cd40 Expression in Fibroblast Cells." Auton Autacoid Pharmacol 26, no. 3 (2006): 293-301.

### Tox: B010 (L-2-α-Tropinyl L-cyclopentylphenylglycolate)

Nothing was found using any search strings.

### Tox: B011 (N-methyl-4-piperidyl cyclopentylmethyl-ethynylglycollate, PCMG)

Several older publications were found from the 1960s and 1970s, but there was nothing that was published within the date range for the search.

## Tox: B012 (cis-2-Methyl-3-quinuclidinyl cyclopentylphenyl-glycolate)

No publications were found using any of the identifiers.

## Tox: B013 (1-Methyl-4-piperidyl phenyl-(3-methylbut-1-yn-3-enyl)-glycolate)

Nothing found within the date limitations of the project

## Tox: B014 (3-Quinuclidinyl (1-hydroxycyclopentyl) phenylacetate)

Searches with all of the identifiers only turned up the 2009 review by Mark Brown.

# Tox B015 (3-Quinuclidinyl cyclopentyl-(2 –propenyl)-glycolate)

Nothing found.

## Tox: B016 (4-(1-methyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridyl)-Methyl-Isopropylphenylglycolate)

Nothing useful was recovered.

## Tox B018 (Benactyzine HCL (Amizil, Suvatil, Parasan, Nutinal)

- Bongartz, J. P., M. Buntinx, E. Coesemans, B. Hermans, G. V. Lommen and J. V. Wauwe.
   "Synthesis and Structure-Activity Relationship of Benzetimide Derivatives as Human Cxcr3 Antagonists." Bioorg Med Chem Lett 18, no. 21 (2008): 5819-23.
- 323. Komarova, T. G., I. V. Ekimova and Y. F. Pastukhov. "Role of the Cholinergic Mechanisms of the Ventrolateral Preoptic Area of the Hypothalamus in Regulating the State of Sleep and Waking in Pigeons." Neurosci Behav Physiol 38, no. 3 (2008): 245-52.
- 324. Poole, Norman, Dominic Dougall and Niruj Agrawal. "Pharmacotherapy for Chronic Cognitive Impairment in Traumatic Brain Injury." The Cochrane Library, (2011).

- 325. Raveh, L., I. Rabinovitz, E. Gilat, I. Egoz, J. Kapon, Z. Stavitsky, B. A. Weissman and R. Brandeis. "Efficacy of Antidotal Treatment against Sarin Poisoning: The Superiority of Benactyzine and Caramiphen." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 227, no. 1 (2008): 155-62.
- 326. Zhang, Yu-tong and Xue-mei Ma. "Research Advance of Ops Neural Development Toxicity Mechanism." Journal of Anhui Agricultural Sciences 12, (2014): 036.2)

## Tox: B022 (Atropine methyl nitrate/Metatropine (Eumydrin))

- 327. Fuentes, JM, WB Fulton, D Nino, MA Talamini and A De Maio. "Atropine Treatment Modifies Lps-Induced Inflammatory Response and Increases Survival." Inflammation Research 57, no. 3 (2008): 111-117.
- 328. McAllen. "The Cholinergic Anti-Inflammatory Pathway: A Critical Review." Autonomic Neuroscience 182, (2014): 65-69.

### Tox: B023 (N-Methyl-4-piperidyl isopropylphenyl-glycolate)

- 329. Eggers, C., B. Szelies, B. Bauer, K. Wienhard, H. Schroder, K. Herholz and W. D. Heiss. "Imaging of Acetylcholine Esterase Activity in Brainstem Nuclei Involved in Regulation of Sleep and Wakefulness." Eur J Neurol 14, no. 6 (2007): 690-3.
- 330. Garibotto, V., M. Tettamanti, A. Marcone, I. Florea, A. Panzacchi, R. Moresco, J. R. Virta, J. Rinne, S. F. Cappa and D. Perani. "Cholinergic Activity Correlates with Reserve Proxies in Alzheimer's Disease." Neurobiol Aging 34, no. 11 (2013): 2694 e13-8.
- Richter, N., I. Allendorf, O. A. Onur, L. Kracht, M. Dietlein, M. Tittgemeyer, B. Neumaier, G. R. Fink and J. Kukolja. "The Integrity of the Cholinergic System Determines Memory Performance in Healthy Elderly." Neuroimage 100, (2014): 481-8.

### Tox: B025 (Toxogonin Atropine Benactyzine (TAB))

332. McDonough, John H and Tsung-Ming Shih. "Atropine and Other Anticholinergic Drugs." Chemical warfare agents: toxicology and treatment, (2007): 287.

### **Anticholinergics Military Exposures and Health Outcomes**

- 333. Brown, B., G. Haegerstrom-Portnoy, R. Baker, A. J. Adams and R. T. Jones. "Effects of Benactyzine Hydrochloride on Dynamic Vision Functions." Aviat Space Environ Med 53, no. 11 (1982): 1123-8.
- 334. Guidelines for Chemical Warfare Agents in Military Field Drinking Water. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 1995.
- 335. Ketchum, J. S., F. R. Sidell, E. B. Crowell, Jr., G. K. Aghajanian and A. H. Hayes, Jr. "Atropine, Scopolamine, and Ditran: Comparative Pharmacology and Antagonists in Man." Psychopharmacologia 28, no. 2 (1973): 121-45.
- 336. Neubauer, H., S. Gershon and D. M. Sundland. "Differential Responses to an Anticholinergic Psychotomimetic (Ditran) in a Mixed Psychiatric Population." Psychiatr Neurol (Basel) 151, no. 2 (1966): 65-80.
- 337. Wilson, R. E. and C. Shagass. "Comparison of Two Drugs with Psychotomimetic Effects (Lsd and Ditran)." J Nerv Ment Dis 138, no. 3 (1964): 277-86.

# LSD, Other Classical Hallucinogens & Lysergamides

## Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (LSD)

- 338. Baggott, M. J., J. R. Coyle, E. Erowid, F. Erowid and L. C. Robertson. "Abnormal Visual Experiences in Individuals with Histories of Hallucinogen Use: A Web-Based Questionnaire." Drug Alcohol Depend 114, no. 1 (2011): 61-7.
- 339. Beck, F. and N. Bonnet. "[the Substance Experience, a History of Lsd]." Med Sci (Paris) 29, no. 4 (2013): 430-3.
- 340. Bernhard, M. K. and K. Ulrich. "[Recurrent Cortical Blindness after Lsd-Intake]." Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr 77, no. 2 (2009): 102-4.
- 341. Blacha, C., M. M. Schmid, M. Gahr, R. W. Freudenmann, P. L. Plener, F. Finter, B. J. Connemann and C. Schonfeldt-Lecuona. "Self-Inflicted Testicular Amputation in First Lysergic Acid Diethylamide Use." J Addict Med 7, no. 1 (2013): 83-4.
- 342. Brodrick, J. and B. G. Mitchell. "Hallucinogen Persisting Perception Disorder and Risk of Suicide." *J Pharm Pract*, (2015).
- 343. Chernoloz, O., M. El Mansari and P. Blier. "Sustained Administration of Pramipexole Modifies the Spontaneous Firing of Dopamine, Norepinephrine, and Serotonin Neurons in the Rat Brain." Neuropsychopharmacology 34, no. 3 (2009): 651-61.

- 344. Colace, C. "Drug Dreams in Mescaline and Lsd Addiction." Am J Addict 19, no. 2 (2010): 192.
- 345. Dubois, J. and R. Vanrullen. "Visual Trails: Do the Doors of Perception Open Periodically?" PLoS Biol 9, no. 5 (2011): e1001056.
- 346. Gersztenkorn, D. and A. G. Lee. "Palinopsia Revamped: A Systematic Review of the Literature." *Surv Ophthalmol* 60, no. 1 (2015): 1-35.
- 347. Goldman, S., D. Galarneau and R. Friedman. "New Onset Lsd Flashback Syndrome Triggered by the Initiation of Ssris." Ochsner J 7, no. 1 (2007): 37-9.
- 348. Gonzalez-Maeso, J. and S. C. Sealfon. "Psychedelics and Schizophrenia." Trends Neurosci 32, no. 4 (2009): 225-32.
- 349. Halberstadt, A. L. and M. A. Geyer. "Multiple Receptors Contribute to the Behavioral Effects of Indoleamine Hallucinogens." Neuropharmacology 61, no. 3 (2011): 364-81.
- 350. Halpern, John H, Joji Suzuki, Pedro E Huertas and Torsten Passie. "Hallucinogen Abuse and Dependence." In *Encyclopedia of Psychopharmacology*, 1-5: Springer, 2014.
- 351. Hermle, L., K. A. Kovar, W. Hewer and M. Ruchsow. "[Hallucinogen-Induced Psychological Disorders]." Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr 76, no. 6 (2008): 334-42.
- 352. Iaria, G., C. J. Fox, M. Scheel, R. M. Stowe and J. J. Barton. "A Case of Persistent Visual Hallucinations of Faces Following Lsd Abuse: A Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study." Neurocase 16, no. 2 (2010): 106-18.
- 353. Juszczak, G. R. and A. H. Swiergiel. "Recreational Use of D-Lysergamide from the Seeds of Argyreia Nervosa, Ipomoea Tricolor, Ipomoea Violacea, and Ipomoea Purpurea in Poland." J Psychoactive Drugs 45, no. 1 (2013): 79-93.
- 354. Legriel, S., F. Bruneel, O. Spreux-Varoquaux, A. Birenbaum, M. L. Chadenat, F. Mignon, N. Abbosh, M. Henry-Lagarrigue, L. Revault D'Allonnes, P. Guezennec, G. Troche and J. P. Bedos. "Lysergic Acid Amide-Induced Posterior Reversible Encephalopathy Syndrome with Status Epilepticus." Neurocrit Care 9, no. 2 (2008): 247-52.
- 355. Lev-Ran, S., D. Feingold, A. Frenkel and A. G. Lerner. "Clinical Characteristics of Individuals with Schizophrenia and Hallucinogen Persisting Perception Disorder: A Preliminary Investigation." *J Dual Diagn* 10, no. 2 (2014): 79-83.

- 356. Lev-Ran, S., D. Feingold, D. Rudinski, S. Katz and L. G. Arturo. "Schizophrenia and Hallucinogen Persisting Perception Disorder: A Clinical Investigation." *Am J Addict* 24, no. 3 (2015): 197-9.
- Liester, M. B. "A Review of Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (Lsd) in the Treatment of Addictions: Historical Perspectives and Future Prospects." Curr Drug Abuse Rev 7, no. 3 (2014): 146-56.
- 358. Martin, D. A., D. Marona-Lewicka, D. E. Nichols and C. D. Nichols. "Chronic Lsd Alters Gene Expression Profiles in the Mpfc Relevant to Schizophrenia." Neuropharmacology 83, (2014): 1-8.
- 359. Martin, David, Connie Porretta and Charles Nichols. "Hallucinogens Activate a Specific Population of Neurons in the Cortex." *The FASEB Journal* 29, no. 1 Supplement (2015): 931.14.
- 360. Matveev, V. F. "Pathomorphological Changes the Brain of Experimental Animals in Chronic Intoxication with Lysergamide. [Pathomorphological Changes the Brain of Experimental Animals in Chronic Intoxication with Lysergamide.]." Zhurnal Nevropatologii i Psikhiatrii 70, no. 12: 1856-1862.
- 361. Matveev, V. F. "Reversibility of Changes in the Rat Brain, Brought on by Prolonged Administration of Lysergamide (Lsd). [Reversibility of Changes in the Rat Brain, Brought on by Prolonged Administration of Lysergamide (Lsd).]." Byulleten' Eksperimental'Noi Biologii i Meditsiny 71, no. 1: 45-48.
- 362. McWilliams, S. A. and R. J. Tuttle. "Long-Term Psychological Effects of Lsd." Psychol Bull 79,
- 363. Morgan, C. J., L. Muetzelfeldt, M. Muetzelfeldt, D. J. Nutt and H. V. Curran. "Harms Associated with Psychoactive Substances: Findings of the Uk National Drug Survey." J Psychopharmacol 24, no. 2 (2010): 147-53.
- Neven, A. and J. D. Blom. "[Synesthesias in the Context of Hallucinogen-Induced Persistent Perception Disorder Following the Use of Lsd]." Tijdschr Psychiatr 56, no. 11 (2014): 748-52.
- 365. Palenicek, T., Z. Hlinak, V. Bubenikova-Valesova, T. Novak and J. Horacek. "Sex Differences in the Effects of N,N-Diethyllysergamide (Lsd) on Behavioural Activity and Prepulse Inhibition." Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 34, no. 4 (2010): 588-96.
- Passie, T., J. H. Halpern, D. O. Stichtenoth, H. M. Emrich and A. Hintzen. "The Pharmacology of Lysergic Acid Diethylamide: A Review." CNS Neurosci Ther 14, no. 4 (2008): 295-314.

- 367. Paulke, A., C. Kremer, C. Wunder, J. Achenbach, B. Djahanschiri, A. Elias, J. S. Schwed, H. Hubner, P. Gmeiner, E. Proschak, S. W. Toennes and H. Stark. "Argyreia Nervosa (Burm. F.): Receptor Profiling of Lysergic Acid Amide and Other Potential Psychedelic Lsd-Like Compounds by Computational and Binding Assay Approaches." J Ethnopharmacol 148, no. 2 (2013): 492-7.
- 368. Raval, M. V., R. C. Gaba, K. Brown, K. T. Sato and M. K. Eskandari. "Percutaneous Transluminal Angioplasty in the Treatment of Extensive Lsd-Induced Lower Extremity Vasospasm Refractory to Pharmacologic Therapy." J Vasc Interv Radiol 19, no. 8 (2008): 1227-30.
- 369. Romano, A. G., J. L. Quinn, L. Li, K. D. Dave, E. A. Schindler, V. J. Aloyo and J. A. Harvey. "Intrahippocampal Lsd Accelerates Learning and Desensitizes the 5-Ht(2a) Receptor in the Rabbit, Romano Et Al." Psychopharmacology (Berl) 212, no. 3 (2010): 441-8.
- 370. Santini, M. A., C. Ratner, S. Aznar, A. B. Klein, G. M. Knudsen and J. D. Mikkelsen. "Enhanced Prefrontal Serotonin 2a Receptor Signaling in the Subchronic Phencyclidine Mouse Model of Schizophrenia." J Neurosci Res 91, no. 5 (2013): 634-41.
- 371. Schmid, Y., F. Enzler, P. Gasser, E. Grouzmann, K. H. Preller, F. X. Vollenweider, R. Brenneisen, F. Muller, S. Borgwardt and M. E. Liechti. "Acute Effects of Lysergic Acid Diethylamide in Healthy Subjects." Biol Psychiatry, (2014).
- 372. Smith, D. E., G. E. Raswyck and L. D. Davidson. "From Hofmann to the Haight Ashbury, and into the Future: The Past and Potential of Lysergic Acid Diethlyamide." J Psychoactive Drugs 46, no. 1 (2014): 3-10.
- 373. Vadivelu, N., S. Mitra, A. D. Kaye and R. D. Urman. "Perioperative Analgesia and Challenges in the Drug-Addicted and Drug-Dependent Patient." Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 28, no. 1 (2014): 91-101.
- 374. Winter, J. C. "Hallucinogens as Discriminative Stimuli in Animals: Lsd, Phenethylamines, and Tryptamines." Psychopharmacology (Berl) 203, no. 2 (2009): 251-63.
- 375. Zobor, D., T. Strasser, G. Zobor, F. Schober, A. Messias, O. Strauss, A. Batra and E. Zrenner.
   "Ophthalmological Assessment of Cannabis-Induced Persisting Perception Disorder: Is There a Direct Retinal Effect?" *Doc Ophthalmol* 130, no. 2 (2015): 121-30.

## Acetyl-lysergic acid diethylamide (ALD, N-acetyl LSD)

- 376. Baumeister, David, Georgina Barnes, Giovanni Giaroli and Derek Tracy. "Classical Hallucinogens as Antidepressants? A Review of Pharmacodynamics and Putative Clinical Roles." Therapeutic advances in psychopharmacology, (2014): 2045125314527985.
- 377. Isbell, Harris, EJ Miner and CR Logan. "Relationships of Psychotomimetic to Anti-Serotonin Potencies of Congeners of Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (Lsd-25)." Psychopharmacology 1, no. 1 (1959): 20-28.
- 378. Malitz, Sidney, Bernard Wilkens, William C Roehrig and Paul H Hoch. "A Clinical Comparsion of Three Related Hallucinogens." Psychiatric Quarterly 34, no. 2 (1960): 333-345.
- Marchbanks, RM. "Inhibitory Effects of Lysergic Acid Derivatives and Reserpine on 5-Ht Binding to Nerve Ending Particles." Biochemical pharmacology 16, no. 10 (1967): 1971-1979.
- 380. Rogers, Lorene L. and Richard B. Pelton. "Effect of Behavior-Altering Drugs on Alcohol Consumptions by Rats." Texas Reports on Biology & Medicine 16, (1958): 133-136.
- 381. Wright, A. M., M. Mocrhead and J. H. Welsh. "Actions of Derivatives of Lysergic Acid on the Heart of Venus Mercenaria." Br J Pharmacol Chemother 18, (1962): 440-50.

## Bromo-lysergic acid diethylamide (Bromo LSD, BOL)

- 382. Baron, M. O., B. Sklarofsky, N. Fremont-Smith and H. A. Abramson. "Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (Lsd-25): Xxviii. Assay of 2-Bromo-Lysergic Acid Diethylamide by the Siamese Fighting Fish." The Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied 46, (1958): 303-308.
- 383. Bogoch, Samuel. "With Special Reference to the Pharmacology of Brain Gangliosides." Ganglioside Function: Biochemical and Pharmacological Implications 71, (2013): 233.
- 384. Brandt, Simon D and Torsten Passie. "Research on Psychedelic Substances." Drug testing and analysis 4, no. 7-8 (2012): 539-542.
- 385. Ginzel, K. H. and W. Mayer-Gross. "Prevention of Psychological Effects of D-Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (Lsd 25) by Its 2-Brom Derivative (Bol 148)." Nature 178, no. 4526 (1956): 210.

- 386. Harvey, J. A. "Role of the Serotonin 5-Ht(2a) Receptor in Learning." Learn Mem 10, no. 5 (2003): 355-62.
- 387. Isbell, H., E. J. Miner and C. R. Logan. "Cross Tolerance between D-2-Brom-Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (Bol-148) and the D-Diethylamide of Lysergic Acid (Lsd-25)." Psychopharmacologia 1, (1959): 109-16.
- Isbell, H., E. J. Miner and C. R. Logan. "Relationships of Psychotomimetic to Anti-Serotonin Potencies of Congeners of Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (Lsd-25)." Psychopharmacologia 1, (1959): 20-8.
- 389. Karst, M., J. H. Halpern, M. Bernateck and T. Passie. "The Non-Hallucinogen 2-Bromo-Lysergic Acid Diethylamide as Preventative Treatment for Cluster Headache: An Open, Non-Randomized Case Series." Cephalalgia 30, no. 9 (2010): 1140-4.
- 390. Kelly, Peter H. and Leslie L. Iversen. "Lsd as an Agonist at Mesolimbic Dopamine Receptors." Psychopharmacologia 45, no. 2 (1975): 221-224.
- 391. King, A. R., I. L. Martin and K. A. Melville. "Reversal Learning Enhanced by Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (Lsd): Concomitant Rise in Brain 5-Hydroxytryptamine Levels." Br J Pharmacol 52, no. 3 (1974): 419-26.
- 392. Lionetto, Luana, Andrea Negro, Stefano Palmisani, Giovanna Gentile, Maria Rosaria Del Fiore, Marco Mercieri, Maurizio Simmaco, Thomas Smith, Adnan Al-Kaisy and Roberto Arcioni. "Emerging Treatment for Chronic Migraine and Refractory Chronic Migraine." Expert opinion on emerging drugs 17, no. 3 (2012): 393-406.
- 393. May, Arne. "Illicit Drugs and Cluster Headache: An Inevitable Discussion." Cephalalgia 32, no. 14 (2012): 1021-1022.
- 394. Tfelt-Hansen, Peer. "Is Bol-148 Hallucinogenic?" Cephalalgia 31, no. 5 (2011): 634.
- 395. Walker, Ellen A. and John J. Foley. "Acquisition Session Length Modulates Consolidation Effects Produced by 5-Ht2c Ligands in a Mouse Autoshaping-Operant Procedure." Behavioural Pharmacology 21, no. 2 (2010): 83-89.

## Psilocybin

- 396. Aronson, J. K. (2009). Meyler's side effects of psychiatric drugs: Elsevier.
- 397. Barbee, G., Berry-Caban, C., Barry, J., Borys, D., Ward, J., & Salyer, S. (2009). Analysis of mushroom exposures in Texas requiring hospitalization, 2005-2006. J Med Toxicol, 5(2), 59-62. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19415588
- 398. Carhart-Harris, R. L., Leech, R., Erritzoe, D., Williams, T. M., Stone, J. M., Evans, J., . . . Nutt, D. J. (2013). Functional connectivity measures after psilocybin inform a novel hypothesis of early psychosis. Schizophr Bull, 39(6), 1343-1351. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbs117
- 399. Catlow, B. J., Song, S., Paredes, D. A., Kirstein, C. L., & Sanchez-Ramos, J. (2013). Effects of psilocybin on hippocampal neurogenesis and extinction of trace fear conditioning. Exp Brain Res, 228(4), 481-491. doi:10.1007/s00221-013-3579-0
- 400. Frecska, E., & Luna, L. E. (2006). The adverse effects of hallucinogens from intramural perspective. Neuropsychopharmacol Hung, 8(4), 189-200. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17211054
- 401. Kraehenmann, R., Preller, K. H., Scheidegger, M., Pokorny, T., Bosch, O. G., Seifritz, E., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2014). Psilocybin-Induced Decrease in Amygdala Reactivity Correlates with Enhanced Positive Mood in Healthy Volunteers. Biol Psychiatry. doi:10.1016/j.bi-opsych.2014.04.010
- 402. Sakashita, Y., Abe, K., Katagiri, N., Kambe, T., Saitoh, T., Utsunomiya, I., . . . Taguchi, K. (2015). Effect of psilocin on extracellular dopamine and serotonin levels in the mesoac-cumbens and mesocortical pathway in awake rats. Biol Pharm Bull, 38(1), 134-138. doi:10.1248/bpb.b14-00315
- 403. Studerus, E., Gamma, A., Kometer, M., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2012). Prediction of psilocybin response in healthy volunteers. PLoS One, 7(2), e30800. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0030800
- 404. Studerus, E., Kometer, M., Hasler, F., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2011). Acute, subacute and long-term subjective effects of psilocybin in healthy humans: a pooled analysis of experimental studies. J Psychopharmacol, 25(11), 1434-1452. doi:10.1177/0269881110382466
- 405. Tyls, F., Palenicek, T., & Horacek, J. (2014). Psilocybin--summary of knowledge and new perspectives. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol, 24(3), 342-356. doi:10.1016/j.euro-neuro.2013.12.006.

- 406. van Amsterdam, J., Opperhuizen, A., & van den Brink, W. (2011). Harm potential of magic mushroom use: a review. Regulatory toxicology and pharmacology, 59(3), 423-429. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0273230011000080
- 407. Ventegodt, S., Jørgen Andersen, N., Kandel, I., & Merrick, J. (2009). Effect, side effects and adverse events of non-pharmaceutical medicine. A review. International Journal on Disability and Human Development, 8(3), 227-236.
- 408. Young, S. N. (2013). Single treatments that have lasting effects: some thoughts on the antidepressant effects of ketamine and botulinum toxin and the anxiolytic effect of psilocybin. J Psychiatry Neurosci, 38(2), 78-83. doi:10.1503/jpn.120128.
- 409. Zhuk, O., Jasicka-Misiak, I., Poliwoda, A., Kazakova, A., Godovan, V. V., Halama, M., & Wieczorek, P. P. (2015). Research on acute toxicity and the behavioral effects of methanolic extract from psilocybin mushrooms and psilocin in mice. Toxins (Basel), 7(4), 1018-1029. doi:10.3390/toxins7041018

## Dimethyltryptamine, DMT

- 410. Alonso, J. F., Romero, S., Mananas, M. A., & Riba, J. (2015). Serotonergic psychedelics temporarily modify information transfer in humans. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol, 18(8). doi:10.1093/ijnp/pyv039
- 411. Araujo, A. M., Carvalho, F., Bastos Mde, L., Guedes de Pinho, P., & Carvalho, M. (2015). The hallucinogenic world of tryptamines: an updated review. Arch Toxicol, 89(8), 1151-1173. doi:10.1007/s00204-015-1513-x
- 412. Bouso, J. C., Fabregas, J. M., Antonijoan, R. M., Rodriguez-Fornells, A., & Riba, J. (2013). Acute effects of ayahuasca on neuropsychological performance: differences in executive function between experienced and occasional users. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 230(3), 415-424. doi:10.1007/s00213-013-3167-9.
- 413. Bouso, J. C., Gonzalez, D., Fondevila, S., Cutchet, M., Fernandez, X., Ribeiro Barbosa, P. C.,
  ... Riba, J. (2012). Personality, psychopathology, life attitudes and neuropsychological performance among ritual users of Ayahuasca: a longitudinal study. PLoS One, 7(8), e42421. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042421
- 414. Callaway, J. C., & Grob, C. S. (1998). Ayahuasca preparations and serotonin reuptake inhibitors: a potential combination for severe adverse interactions. J Psychoactive Drugs, 30(4), 367-369. doi:10.1080/02791072.1998.10399712

- 415. Doering-Silveira, E., Lopez, E., Grob, C. S., de Rios, M. D., Alonso, L. K., Tacla, C., . . . Da Silveira, D. X. (2005). Ayahuasca in adolescence: a neuropsychological assessment. J Psychoactive Drugs, 37(2), 123-128. doi:10.1080/02791072.2005.10399791
- 416. dos Santos, R. G. (2014). Immunological effects of ayahuasca in humans. J Psychoactive Drugs, 46(5), 383-388. doi:10.1080/02791072.2014.960113
- 417. Dos Santos, R. G., Valle, M., Bouso, J. C., Nomdedeu, J. F., Rodriguez-Espinosa, J., McIlhenny, E. H., . . . Riba, J. (2011). Autonomic, neuroendocrine, and immunological effects of ayahuasca: a comparative study with d-amphetamine. J Clin Psychopharmacol, 31(6), 717-726. doi:10.1097/JCP.0b013e31823607f6.
- 418. Frecska, E., & Luna, L. E. (2006). The adverse effects of hallucinogens from intramural perspective. Neuropsychopharmacol Hung, 8(4), 189-200. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17211054
- 419. Gatch, M. B., Rutledge, M. A., Carbonaro, T., & Forster, M. J. (2009). Comparison of the discriminative stimulus effects of dimethyltryptamine with different classes of psychoactive compounds in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 204(4), 715-724. doi:10.1007/s00213-009-1501-z
- 420. Harris, R., & Gurel, L. (2012). A study of ayahuasca use in North America. J Psychoactive Drugs, 44(3), 209-215. doi:10.1080/02791072.2012.703100
- 421. Liester, M. B. (2013). Near-death experiences and ayahuasca-induced experiences—Two unique pathways to a phenomenologically similar state of consciousness. Journal of Transpersonal Psychology, 45(1), 24-48.
- 422. Paterson, N. E., Darby, W. C., & Sandhu, P. S. (2015). N,N-Dimethyltryptamine-Induced Psychosis. Clin Neuropharmacol, 38(4), 141-143. doi:10.1097/WNF.0000000000000078
- 423. Pitol, D. L., Siessere, S., Dos Santos, R. G., Rosa, M. L., Hallak, J. E., Scalize, P. H., . . . Regalo, S. C. (2015). Ayahuasca Alters Structural Parameters of the Rat Aorta. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 66(1), 58-62. doi:10.1097/FJC.00000000000243
- 424. Riba, J., Anderer, P., Jane, F., Saletu, B., & Barbanoj, M. J. (2004). Effects of the South American psychoactive beverage ayahuasca on regional brain electrical activity in humans: a functional neuroimaging study using low-resolution electromagnetic tomography. Neuropsychobiology, 50(1), 89-101. doi:10.1159/000077946
- 425. Riba, J., Anderer, P., Morte, A., Urbano, G., Jane, F., Saletu, B., & Barbanoj, M. J. (2002). Topographic pharmaco-EEG mapping of the effects of the South American psychoactive beverage ayahuasca in healthy volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmacol, 53(6), 613-628. Retrieved

from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12047486 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1874340/pdf/bcp0053-0613.pdf

- 426. Riga, M. S., Soria, G., Tudela, R., Artigas, F., & Celada, P. (2014). The natural hallucinogen 5-MeO-DMT, component of Ayahuasca, disrupts cortical function in rats: reversal by antipsychotic drugs. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol, 17(8), 1269-1282. doi:10.1017/S1461145714000261
- 427. Szabo, A. (2015). Psychedelics and Immunomodulation: Novel Approaches and Therapeutic Opportunities. Front Immunol, 6, 358. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00358
- 428. Szara, S. (2007). DMT at fifty. Neuropsychopharmacol Hung, 9(4), 201-205. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18510265
- 429. Warren, J. M., Dham-Nayyar, P., & Alexander, J. (2013). Recreational use of naturally occurring dimethyltryptamine--contributing to psychosis? Aust N Z J Psychiatry, 47(4), 398-399. doi:10.1177/0004867412462749
- Wittmann, M., Carter, O., Hasler, F., Cahn, B. R., Grimberg, U., Spring, P., . . . Vollenweider, F. X. (2007). Effects of psilocybin on time perception and temporal control of behaviour in humans. J Psychopharmacol, 21(1), 50-64. doi:10.1177/0269881106065859

### Mescaline

- 431. Carstairs, S. D., & Cantrell, F. L. (2010). Peyote and mescaline exposures: a 12-year review of a statewide poison center database. Clin Toxicol (Phila), 48(4), 350-353. doi:10.3109/15563650903586745
- 432. Delay, J., & Gerard, H. P. (2007). [Experimental intoxication by mescaline. 1948]. Encephale, 33 Spec No 2, S455-479. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17941270
- 433. Hanks, J. B., & Gonzalez-Maeso, J. (2013). Animal models of serotonergic psychedelics. ACS Chem Neurosci, 4(1), 33-42. doi:10.1021/cn300138m
- 434. Krebs, T. S., & Johansen, P. O. (2013). Over 30 million psychedelic users in the United States. F1000Res, 2, 98. doi:10.12688/f1000research.2-98.v1
- 435. Meehan, T. J., Bryant, S. M., & Aks, S. E. (2010). Drugs of abuse: the highs and lows of altered mental states in the emergency department. Emerg Med Clin North Am, 28(3), 663-682. doi:10.1016/j.emc.2010.03.012

- 436. Studerus, E., Kometer, M., Hasler, F., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2011). Acute, subacute and long-term subjective effects of psilocybin in healthy humans: a pooled analysis of experimental studies. J Psychopharmacol, 25(11), 1434-1452. doi:10.1177/0269881110382466
- 437. Winter, J. C., Rice, K. C., Amorosi, D. J., & Rabin, R. A. (2007). Psilocybin-induced stimulus control in the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 87(4), 472-480. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2007.06.003

### Lysergamides

- 438. Auriemma, R. S., R. Pivonello, Y. Perone, L. F. Grasso, L. Ferreri, C. Simeoli, D. Iacuaniello, M. Gasperi and A. Colao. "Safety of Long-Term Treatment with Cabergoline on Cardiac Valve Disease in Patients with Prolactinomas." Eur J Endocrinol 169, no. 3 (2013): 359-66.
- 439. Boguszewski, C. L., C. M. dos Santos, K. S. Sakamoto, L. C. Marini, A. M. de Souza and M. Azevedo. "A Comparison of Cabergoline and Bromocriptine on the Risk of Valvular Heart Disease in Patients with Prolactinomas." Pituitary 15, no. 1 (2012): 44-9.
- 440. Borooah, S., V. Chadha and S. Sutherland. "A Case of Permanent Retinal Disturbance Postpartum Following Administration of Ergometrine." Can J Ophthalmol 43, no. 5 (2008): 607-8.
- 441. Chang, S. C., C. H. Chen and M. L. Lu. "Cabergoline-Induced Psychotic Exacerbation in Schizophrenic Patients." Gen Hosp Psychiatry 30, no. 4 (2008): 378-80.
- 442. Chng, E. and R. Dalan. "Pituitary Apoplexy Associated with Cabergoline Therapy." J Clin Neurosci 20, no. 12 (2013): 1637-43.
- 443. de Labriolle, A., O. Genee, L. M. Heggs and L. Fauchier. "Acute Myocardial Infarction Following Oral Methyl-Ergometrine Intake." Cardiovasc Toxicol 9, no. 1 (2009): 46-8.
- 444. Fioravanti, M., T. Nakashima, J. Xu and A. Garg. "A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Assessing Adverse Event Profile and Tolerability of Nicergoline." BMJ Open 4, no. 7 (2014): e005090.
- 445. Frank, M. J. and R. C. O'Reilly. "A Mechanistic Account of Striatal Dopamine Function in Human Cognition: Psychopharmacological Studies with Cabergoline and Haloperidol." Behav Neurosci 120, no. 3 (2006): 497-517.

- 446. Gatch, M. B., A. Kozlenkov, R. Q. Huang, W. Yang, J. D. Nguyen, J. Gonzalez-Maeso, K. C. Rice, C. P. France, G. H. Dillon, M. J. Forster and J. A. Schetz. "The Hiv Antiretroviral Drug Efavirenz Has Lsd-Like Properties." Neuropsychopharmacology 38, no. 12 (2013): 2373-84.
- 447. Hofmann, A. "Psychotomimetic Drugs; Chemical and Pharmacological Aspects." Acta Physiol Pharmacol Neerl 8, (1959): 240-58.
- 448. Jouret, F. and V. Col. "Pneumocephalus During Cabergoline Treatment of an Invasive Macroprolactinoma." Acta Clin Belg 64, no. 5 (2009): 457.
- 449. Junker, A. E., B. Als-Nielsen, C. Gluud and L. L. Gluud. "Dopamine Agents for Hepatic Encephalopathy." Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2, (2014): CD003047.
- 450. Juszczak, G. R. and A. H. Swiergiel. "Recreational Use of D-Lysergamide from the Seeds of Argyreia Nervosa, Ipomoea Tricolor, Ipomoea Violacea, and Ipomoea Purpurea in Poland." J Psychoactive Drugs 45, no. 1 (2013): 79-93
- 451. Kalkavoura, C. S., I. Michopoulos, P. Arvanitakis, P. Theodoropoulou, K. Dimopoulou, E. Tzebelikos and L. Lykouras. "Effects of Cabergoline on Hyperprolactinemia, Psychopathology, and Sexual Functioning in Schizophrenic Patients." Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 21, no. 4 (2013): 332-41.
- 452. Kaushik, P., M. R. Soule, W. A. Ellison, B. Ahmed and R. Kaushik. "Cabergoline-Associated Erythema Nodosum." Ann Pharmacother 42, no. 2 (2008): 284-7.
- 453. Klinke, H. B., I. B. Muller, S. Steffenrud and R. Dahl-Sorensen. "Two Cases of Lysergamide Intoxication by Ingestion of Seeds from Hawaiian Baby Woodrose." Forensic Sci Int 197, no. 1-3 (2010): e1-5.
- 454. Kremer, C., A. Paulke, C. Wunder and S. W. Toennes. "Variable Adverse Effects in Subjects after Ingestion of Equal Doses of Argyreia Nervosa Seeds." Forensic Sci Int 214, no. 1-3 (2012): e6-8.
- 455. Lancellotti, P., E. Livadariu, M. Markov, A. F. Daly, M. C. Burlacu, D. Betea, L. Pierard and A. Beckers. "Cabergoline and the Risk of Valvular Lesions in Endocrine Disease." Eur J Endocrinol 159, no. 1 (2008): 1-5.
- 456. Legriel, S., F. Bruneel, O. Spreux-Varoquaux, A. Birenbaum, M. L. Chadenat, F. Mignon, N. Abbosh, M. Henry-Lagarrigue, L. Revault D'Allonnes, P. Guezennec, G. Troche and J. P. Bedos. "Lysergic Acid Amide-Induced Posterior Reversible Encephalopathy Syndrome with Status Epilepticus." Neurocrit Care 9, no. 2 (2008): 247-52.

- 457. Levin, J., J. Neudert, L. Zwermann, M. Nabauer and K. Botzel. "Reversible Cardiac Valve Fibrosis Secondary to Treatment with High-Dose Cabergoline for Parkinson's Disease." J Neurol 258, no. 11 (2011): 2097-9.
- 458. Netea-Maier, R. T., E. J. van Lindert, H. Timmers, E. L. Schakenraad, J. A. Grotenhuis and A. R. Hermus. "Cerebrospinal Fluid Leakage as Complication of Treatment with Cabergoline for Macroprolactinomas." J Endocrinol Invest 29, no. 11 (2006): 1001-5.
- 459. Paulke, A., C. Kremer, C. Wunder and S. W. Toennes. "Analysis of Lysergic Acid Amide in Human Serum and Urine after Ingestion of Argyreia Nervosa Seeds." Anal Bioanal Chem 404, no. 2 (2012): 531-8.
- 460. Raverot, G., M. Jacob, E. Jouanneau, B. Delemer, A. Vighetto, M. Pugeat and F. Borson-Chazot. "Secondary Deterioration of Visual Field During Cabergoline Treatment for Macroprolactinoma." Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 70, no. 4 (2009): 588-92.
- 461. Scholz, H., C. Trenkwalder, R. Kohnen, D. Riemann, L. Kriston and M. Hornyak. "Dopamine Agonists for Restless Legs Syndrome." Cochrane Database Syst Rev, no. 3 (2011): CD006009.
- 462. Vallette, S., K. Serri and O. Serri. "Cabergoline Therapy for Prolactinomas: Is Valvular Heart Disease a Real Safety Concern?" Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 8, no. 1 (2010): 49-54.
- 463. Vallette, S., K. Serri, J. Rivera, P. Santagata, S. Delorme, N. Garfield, N. Kahtani, H. Beauregard, N. Aris-Jilwan, G. Houde and O. Serri. "Long-Term Cabergoline Therapy Is Not Associated with Valvular Heart Disease in Patients with Prolactinomas." Pituitary 12, no. 3 (2009): 153-7.
- 464. Weber, W. E. and P. C. Nijssen. "[Impulse Control Disorder Induced by the Use of Dopamine Agonists]." Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 153, no. 3 (2009): 80-1.
- 465. Winblad, B., M. Fioravanti, T. Dolezal, I. Logina, I. G. Milanov, D. C. Popescu and A. Solomon. "Therapeutic Use of Nicergoline." Clin Drug Investig 28, no. 9 (2008): 533-52.

### LSD, Other Classical Hallucinogens & Lysergamides Military Exposure and Health Outcomes

- 466. Abraham, Henry David and Andrew M Aldridge. "Adverse Consequences of Lysergic Acid Diethylamide." Addiction 88, no. 10 (1993): 1327-1334.
- 467. Abrahart, David. "A Critical Review of Theories and Research Concerning Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (Lsd) and Mental Health." Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies. Protokół dostępu: http://www.maps.org/research/abrahart.html [15.11. 2010], (1998).

- 468. Brown, M. "Military Chemical Warfare Agent Human Subjects Testing: Part 1--History of Six-Decades of Military Experiments with Chemical Warfare Agents." Mil Med 174, no. 10 (2009): 1041-8.
- 469. National Research Council. Possible Long-Term Health Effects of Short-Term Exposure to Chemical Agents, 1984. Vol. II: Cholinesterase Reactivators, Psychochemicals, and Irritants and Vesicants.
- 470. Kang, Han K. and Tim Bullman. "Mortality Follow-up of Veterans Who Participated in Military Chemical and Biological Warfare Agent Testing between 1962 and 1972." Journal of toxicology and environmental health. Part A 72, no. 23 (2009): 1550-2.
- 471. Ketchum, JS; Aghajanian, GK; Bing, OHK. The Human Assessment of Ea-1729 and Ez-3528 by the Inhalation Route, 1964. AD-351962.
- 472. Ketchum, JS; Sidell, FR. "Incapacitating Agents." In Medical Aspects of Chemical and Biological Warfare, edited by FR; Takafuji ET; Franz Sidell, DR., I. Warfare, Weaponry, and the Casualty. Washington, DC: United States Government Printing, 1997.
- 473. Khatchadourian, R. "Operation Delirium." The New Yorker, December 17, 2012 2012.
- 474. Lee, Harry A, Roger Gabriel, Amanda J Bale and Dawn Welch. "Clinical Findings in 111 Ex-Porton Down Volunteers." Journal of the Royal Army Medical Corps 150, no. 1 (2004): 14-19.
- 475. McCoy, Alfred W. "Science in Dachau's Shadow: Hebb, Beecher, and the Development of Cia Psychological Torture and Modern Medical Ethics." Journal of the History of the Behavioral Sciences 43, no. 4 (2007): 401-417.
- 476. McManus, John, Sumeru G Mehta, Annette R McClinton, Robert A De Lorenzo and Toney W Baskin. "Informed Consent and Ethical Issues in Military Medical Research." Academic emergency medicine 12, no. 11 (2005): 1120-1126.
- 477. Monroe, RR. Lysergic Acid Derivatives, 1958. AD 0720793.
- 478. Moreno, J. "Without Consent. Interview by Charles Seife." New scientist (1971) 164, no. 2212 (1999): 48-51.
- 479. Moreno, Jonathan D. Mind Wars: Brain Research and National Defense: Dana Press Washington, DC, 2006.
- 480. Reich, Peter and Robert B Hepps. "Homicide During a Psychosis Induced by Lsd." JAMA 219, no. 7 (1972): 869-871.

- 481. Sim, VM. Clinical Investigation of Ea 1729, 1961. CRDL Technical Report 3074.
- 482. Sloane, Bruce and John W Lovett Doust. "Psychophysiological Investigations in Experimental Psychoses: Results of the Exhibition of D-Lysergic Acid Diethylamide to Psychiatric Patients." The British Journal of Psychiatry 100, no. 418 (1954): 129-144.
- 483. Tennant, Forest S. "Drug Abuse in the Us Army, Europe." JAMA 221, no. 10 (1972): 1146-1149.
- 484. Wolfendale, Jessica and Steve Clarke. "Paternalism, Consent, and the Use of Experimental Drugs in the Military." Journal of Medicine and Philosophy 33, no. 4 (2008): 337-355.

## Oximes

Toxogonin, Obidoxime chloride

- 485. Bajgar, Jiri, Josef Fusek, Kamil Kuca, Lucie Bartosova and Daniel Jun. "Treatment of Organophosphate Intoxication Using Cholinesterase Reactivators: Facts and Fiction." Mini reviews in medicinal chemistry 7, no. 5 (2007): 461-466.
- 486. Bradberry, Sally and Allister Vale. "Management of Poisoning: Antidotes." *Medicine* 35, no. 10 (2007): 562-564.
- 487. Cochran, R., J. Kalisiak, T. Kucukkilinc, Z. Radic, E. Garcia, L. Zhang, K. Y. Ho, G. Amitai, Z. Kovarik, V. V. Fokin, K. B. Sharpless and P. Taylor. "Oxime-Assisted Acetylcholinesterase Catalytic Scavengers of Organophosphates That Resist Aging." *J Biol Chem* 286, no. 34 (2011): 29718-24.
- Fisar, Z., J. Hroudova, J. Korabecny, K. Musilek and K. Kuca. "In Vitro Effects of Acetylcholinesterase Reactivators on Monoamine Oxidase Activity." Toxicol Lett 201, no. 2 (2011): 176-80.
- 489. Hamilton, Murray G and Paul M Lundy. "Medical Countermeasures to Wmds: Defence Research for Civilian and Military Use." *Toxicology* 233, no. 1 (2007): 8-12.
- 490. Jun, D., K. Kuca, M. Hronek and L. Opletal. "Effect of Some Acetylcholinesterase Reactivators on
- 491. Human Platelet Aggregation in Vitro." J Appl Toxicol 26, no. 3 (2006): 258-61.

- 492. Kuca, Kamil, Kamil Musilek, Miroslav Pohanka, Vlastimil Dohnal and Jiri Patocka. "Reactivation Potency of the Acetylcholinesterase Reactivator Obidoxime Is Limited." *Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub* 153, no. 4 (2009): 259-262.
- 493. Leibson, Tom and Matitiahu Lifshitz. "Organophosphate and Carbamate Poisoning: Review of the Current Literature and Summary of Clinical and Laboratory Experience in Southern Israel." *The Israel Medical Association journal* 10, no. 11 (2008): 767.
- 494. Pejchal, J., J. Osterreicher, K. Kuca, D. Jun, J. Bajgar and J. Kassa. "The Influence of Acetylcholinesterase Reactivators on Selected Hepatic Functions in Rats." *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* 103, no. 2 (2008): 119-23.
- 495. Peter, John V, John L Moran and Petra Graham. "Oxime Therapy and Outcomes in Human Organophosphate Poisoning: An Evaluation Using Meta-Analytic Techniques." Critical care medicine 34, no. 2 (2006): 502-510.
- 496. Pohanka, Miroslav, Ladislav Novotny, Josef Fusek and Jiri Pikula. "Hi-6 and Obidoxime Implication in Oxidative Stress, Antioxidants Level and Apoptosis." *African Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 5, no. 8 (2011): 1145-1149.
- 497. Steffen, Christian. "The Dilemma of Approving Antidotes." *Toxicology* 233, no. 1 (2007): 13-19.
- 498. Thiermann, Horst, Franz Worek and Kai Kehe. "Limitations and Challenges in Treatment of Acute Chemical Warfare Agent Poisoning." *Chemico-biological interactions* 206, no. 3 (2013): 435-443.

## TMB4 (Trimedoxime)

- 499. Bajgar, Jiri, Josef Fusek, Kamil Kuca, Lucie Bartosova and Daniel Jun. "Treatment of Organophosphate Intoxication Using Cholinesterase Reactivators: Facts and Fiction." Mini reviews in medicinal chemistry 7, no. 5 (2007): 461-466.
- 500. Bartosova, Lucie, Kamil Kuca, Gabriela Kunesova and Daniel Jun. "The Acute Toxicity of Acetylcholinesterase Reactivators in Mice in Relation to Their Structure." Neurotoxicity research 9, no. 4 (2006): 291-296.
- 501. Bentur, Yedidia, Ido Layish, Amir Krivoy, Matitiahu Berkovitch, Eran Rotman, Shmuel Bar Haim, Yoav Yehezkelli and Eran Kozer. "Civilian Adult Self Injections of Atropine–Trimedoxime (Tmb4) Auto-Injectors." Clinical Toxicology 44, no. 3 (2006): 301-306.

- 502. Buckley, Nick A, Michael Eddleston, Yi Li, Marc Bevan and Jane Robertson. "Oximes for Acute Organophosphate Pesticide Poisoning." The Cochrane Library, (2011).
- 503. Fisar, Z., J. Hroudova, J. Korabecny, K. Musilek and K. Kuca. "In Vitro Effects of Acetylcholinesterase Reactivators on Monoamine Oxidase Activity." Toxicol Lett 201, no. 2 (2011): 176-80.
- 504. Kassa, Jiří, Jiří BaJgar, Kamil Kuča, Kamil MusíleK and Jana KarasoVá. "The Present Approaches to the Development of Prophylactic and Therapeutic Antidotes against Nerve Agents." Interdisciplinary toxicology 1, no. 1 (2008): 18-21.
- 505. Kassa, J., J. Misik and J. Z. Karasova. "Evaluation of the Potency of Two Novel Bispyridinium Oximes (K456, K458) in Comparison with Oxime K203 and Trimedoxime to Counteract Tabun-Induced Neurotoxicity in Rats." Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 113, no. 3 (2013): 201-8.
- 506. Kassa, J., V. Sepsova, M. Tumova, A. Horova and K. Musilek. "A Comparison of the Reactivating and Therapeutic Efficacy of Two Newly Developed Oximes (K727 and K733) with Oxime K203 and Trimedoxime in Tabun-Poisoned Rats and Mice." Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 116, no. 4 (2015): 367-71.
- 507. Kassa, J., V. Sepsova, M. Tumova, K. Musilek and A. Horova. "The Evaluation of the Reactivating and Therapeutic Efficacy of Two Novel Oximes (K361 and K378) in Comparison with the Oxime K203 and Trimedoxime in Tabun-Poisoned Rats and Mice." Toxicol Mech Methods 24, no. 3 (2014): 173-8.
- 508. Kozer, E., A. Mordel, S. B. Haim, M. Bulkowstein, M. Berkovitch and Y. Bentur. "Pediatric Poisoning from Trimedoxime (Tmb4) and Atropine Automatic Injectors." J Pediatr 146, no. 1 (2005): 41-4.
- 509. Peter, John V, John L Moran and Petra Graham. "Oxime Therapy and Outcomes in Human Organophosphate Poisoning: An Evaluation Using Meta-Analytic Techniques." Critical care medicine 34, no. 2 (2006): 502-510.
- 510. Sharma, R., B. Gupta, N. Singh, J. R. Acharya, K. Musilek, K. Kuca and K. K. Ghosh. "Development and Structural Modifications of Cholinesterase Reactivators against Chemical Warfare Agents in Last Decade: A Review." Mini Rev Med Chem 15, no. 1 (2015): 58-72.

511. Wolthuis, O. L., I. H. Philippens and R. A. Vanwersch. "Side Effects of Therapeutic Drugs against Organophosphate Poisoning." Neurotoxicol Teratol 11, no. 3 (1989): 221-5.

### P2S, Pralidoxime methane sulfonate

- 512. Antonijevic, Biljana and Milos P Stojiljkovic. "Unequal Efficacy of Pyridinium Oximes in Acute Organophosphate Poisoning." *Clinical medicine & research* 5, no. 1 (2007): 71-82.
- 513. Buckley, Nick A, Michael Eddleston, Yi Li, Marc Bevan and Jane Robertson. "Oximes for Acute Organophosphate Pesticide Poisoning." The Cochrane Library, (2011).
- Fisar, Z., J. Hroudova, J. Korabecny, K. Musilek and K. Kuca. "In Vitro Effects of Acetylcholinesterase Reactivators on Monoamine Oxidase Activity." *Toxicol Lett* 201, no. 2 (2011): 176-80.
- 515. Jokanović, Milan and Miloš P Stojiljković. "Current Understanding of the Application of Pyridinium Oximes as Cholinesterase Reactivators in Treatment of Organophosphate Poisoning." *European journal of pharmacology* 553, no. 1 (2006): 10-17.
- 516. Kayouka, Maya, Pascal Houzé, Patricia Risède, Marcel Debray and Frederic J Baud. "Acute Renal Failure Alters the Kinetics of Pralidoxime in Rats." *Toxicology letters* 184, no. 1 (2009): 61-66.
- 517. Liu, W. F., N. W. Hu, T. F. Chian, C. Ma, C. H. Lin, C. Y. Liu and M. T. Wu. "Adverse Behavioral Effects of the Anticholinesterase Poisoning Protector Pralidoxime Methanesulfonate." Proc Natl Sci Counc Repub China B 8, no. 4 (1984): 341-6.
- 518. Peter, John V, John L Moran and Petra Graham. "Oxime Therapy and Outcomes in Human Organophosphate Poisoning: An Evaluation Using Meta-Analytic Techniques." Critical care medicine 34, no. 2 (2006): 502-510.
- 519. Shih, Tsung-Ming, Jacob W Skovira and John H McDonough. "Effects of 4-Pyridine Aldoxime on Nerve Agent-Inhibited Acetylcholinesterase Activity in Guinea Pigs." *Archives of toxicology* 83, no. 12 (2009): 1083-1089.
- 520. Stojiljkovic, MP and M Jokanovic. "Pyridinium Oximes: Rationale for Their Selection as Causal Antidotes against Organophosphate Poisonings and Current Solutions for Auto-Injectors." *Arhiv za higijenu rada i toksikologiju* 57, no. 4 (2006): 435.
521. Wolthuis, O. L., I. H. Philippens and R. A. Vanwersch. "Side Effects of Therapeutic Drugs against Organophosphate Poisoning." Neurotoxicol Teratol 11, no. 3 (1989): 221-5.

## Irritants

## CS (Chlorobenzylidene malononitrile)

- 522. Agrawal, Y., D. Thornton and A. Phipps. "Cs Gas--Completely Safe? A Burn Case Report and Literature Review." Burns 35, no. 6 (2009): 895-7.
- 523. Blain, P. G. "Tear Gases and Irritant Incapacitants. 1-Chloroacetophenone, 2-Chlorobenzylidene Malononitrile and Dibenz[B,F]-1,4-Oxazepine." Toxicol Rev 22, no. 2 (2003): 103-10.
- 524. Brone, B., P. J. Peeters, R. Marrannes, M. Mercken, R. Nuydens, T. Meert and H. J. Gijsen."Tear Gasses Cn, Cr, and Cs Are Potent Activators of the Human Trpa1 Receptor." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 231, no. 2 (2008): 150-6.
- 525. Carron, P. N. and B. Yersin. "Management of the Effects of Exposure to Tear Gas." BMJ 338, (2009): b2283.
- 526. Dimitroglou, Y., G. Rachiotis and C. Hadjichristodoulou. "Exposure to the Riot Control Agent Cs and Potential Health Effects: A Systematic Review of the Evidence." Int J Environ Res Public Health 12, no. 2 (2015): 1397-411.
- 527. Hankin, S. M. and C. N. Ramsay. "Investigation of Accidental Secondary Exposure to Cs Agent." Clin Toxicol (Phila) 45, no. 4 (2007): 409-11.
- 528. Kain, N., A. Mishra and M. I. James. "Guidance Needed on Secondary Effects of Cs Gas on Staff." BMJ 340, (2010): c1189.
- 529. Karagama, Y. G., J. R. Newton and C. J. Newbegin. "Short-Term and Long-Term Physical Effects of Exposure to Cs Spray." J R Soc Med 96, no. 4 (2003): 172-4.
- 530. Luka, A., A. Stolbach and R. S. Hoffman. "Response to "Prevention of Cs 'Tear Gas' Eye and Skin Effects and Active Decontamination with Diphoterine: Preliminary Studies in 5 French Gendarmes"." J Emerg Med 32, no. 3 (2007): 309-10; author reply 310-1.

- 531. Shambhu, S. and R. Kurtis. "Allergic Contact Dermatitis Due to Cs Spray." Emerg Med J 28, no. 4 (2011): 345.
- 532. Sivathasan, N. "Educating on Cs or 'Tear Gas'." Emerg Med J 27, no. 11 (2010): 881-2.
- 533. Solomon, I., I. Kochba, E. Eizenkraft and N. Maharshak. "Report of Accidental Cs Ingestion among Seven Patients in Central Israel and Review of the Current Literature." Arch Toxicol 77, no. 10 (2003): 601-4.
- 534. Toprak, S., G. Ersoy, J. Hart and P. Clevestig. "The Pathology of Lethal Exposure to the Riot Control Agents: Towards a Forensics-Based Methodology for Determining Misuse." J Forensic Leg Med 29, (2015): 36-42.
- 535. Wu, K., A. Husain and R. Barry. "Acute Generalized Exanthematous Pustulosis Induced by aTopical Agent: 2-Chlorobenzylidene Malonitrile (Cs) Gas." Br J Dermatol 164, no. 1 (2011): 227-8.

### CA (Bromobenzyl cyanide)

- 536. Brone, Bert, Pieter J Peeters, Roger Marrannes, Marc Mercken, Ronny Nuydens, Theo Meert and Harrie JM Gijsen. "Tear Gasses Cn, Cr, and Cs Are Potent Activators of the Human Trpa1 Receptor." Toxicology and applied pharmacology 231, no. 2 (2008): 150-156.
- 537. Jakubkova, M. "[Corrosive Burns of the Eye with Brombenzylcyanide]." Cesk Oftalmol 9, no. 4 (1953): 308-12.
- 538. Oberst, F. W., J. W. Crook, S. F. Swaim, F. P. Ward, W. S. Koon and N. P. Musselman. "Toxic Effects of High Concentrations of BromobenzyInitrile Vapor in Various Animal Species." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 16, no. 1 (1970): 66-72.
- 539. Salem, H; Ternay, AL Jr.; Smart, JK; Romano, JA Jr.; Luckey, BJ. "Chemicals Used for Riot Control and Personal Protection." In Chemical Warfare Agents: Chemistry, Pharmacology, Toxicology, and Therapeutics, edited by JA Jr.; Lukey Romano, BJ; Salem, H. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2008.

### **CN (Chloroacetophenone**

- 540. Blain, P. G. "Tear Gases and Irritant Incapacitants. 1-Chloroacetophenone, 2-Chlorobenzylidene
- 541. Malononitrile and Dibenz[B,F]-1,4-Oxazepine." Toxicol Rev 22, no. 2 (2003): 103-10.
- 542. Brone, B., P. J. Peeters, R. Marrannes, M. Mercken, R. Nuydens, T. Meert and H. J. Gijsen.
  "Tear Gasses CN, CR, and CS Are Potent Activators of the Human Trpa1 Receptor." Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 231, no. 2 (2008): 150-6.
- 543. Lindberg, K. "The Use of Riot Control Agents During the Vietnam War." Army Chemical Review January-June 2007, (2007): 51-55.
- 544. Matousek, J. "Health and Environmental Threats Associated with the Destruction of Chemical Weapons." Ann N Y Acad Sci 1076, (2006): 549-58.
- 545. Monsudi, Kehinde Fasasi and Abdulkabir Ayansiji Ayanniyi. "Bodily and Ocular Injuries Following Tear Gas Canister Explosion." Asian Journal of Health and Medical Sciences Vol 1, no. 1: 69-74.
- 546. Toprak, S., G. Ersoy, J. Hart and P. Clevestig. "The Pathology of Lethal Exposure to the Riot Control Agents: Towards a Forensics-Based Methodology for Determining Misuse." J Forensic Leg Med 29, (2015): 36-42.
- 547. Unuvar, Umit, Onder Ozkalipci, Sukran Irencin, Umit Sahin and Sebnem Korur Fincanci.
  "Demonstration Control Agents: Evaluation of 64 Cases after Massive Use in Istanbul." The American journal of forensic medicine and pathology 34, no. 2 (2013): 150-154.
- 548. Viswanath, Dabir S and Tushar K Ghosh. "Chemical Terrorism: Classification, Synthesis and Properties." In Science and Technology of Terrorism and Counterterrorism, 283-300: CRC Press Boca Raton, 2010.
- 549. Wang, Hong, Bing-wei LI, Zheng Li, Zheng Fang, Ni-yun YANG, Lu-xin WANG, Tian-you DAI, Zheng-tao LIU and Xian-de LIU. "Acute Toxicity of Three Kinds of Stimulating Warfare Agents to Alga [J]." Research of Environmental Sciences 1, (2006): 023.

### DM (Adamsite (Diphenylaminechloroarsine)

- 550. Andrulewicz, Eugeniusz. "Chemical Weapons Dumped in the Baltic Sea." In Assessment of the Fate and Effects of Toxic Agents on Water Resources, 299-319: Springer, 2007.
- 551. Carron, Pierre-Nicolas and Bertrand Yersin. "Management of the Effects of Exposure to Tear Gas." *BMJ* 338, (2009).
- 552. Centers for Disease Control, The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Emergency Response Safety and Health Database <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/ershdb/EmergencyResponseCard</u> 29750017.html
- 553. Chauhan, S, R D'cruz, S Faruqi, KK Singh, S Varma, M Singh and V Karthik. "Chemical Warfare Agents." *Environmental toxicology and pharmacology* 26, no. 2 (2008): 113-122.
- 554. Committee on Acute Exposure Guideline Levels; Committee and Toxicology;. *Nineteenth Interim Report of the Committee on Acute Exposure Guideline Levels: Part A - Chloroarsen icals*, 2011.
- 555. Hart, John. "Background to Selected Environmental and Human Health Effects of Chemical Warfare Agents." In *Environmental Consequences of War and Aftermath*, 1-19: Springer, 2009.
- 556. Henriksson, J., A. Johannisson, P. A. Bergqvist and L. Norrgren. "The Toxicity of Organoarsenic-Based Warfare Agents: In Vitro and in Vivo Studies." *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* 30, no. 2 (1996): 213-9.
- 557. Lee, Harry A, Roger Gabriel, Amanda J Bale and Dawn Welch. "Clinical Findings in 111 Ex-Porton Down Volunteers." *Journal of the Royal Army Medical Corps* 150, no. 1 (2004): 14-19.
- 558. Maynard, Robert L and Robert P Chilcott. "Toxicology of Chemical Warfare Agents." *General, Applied and Systems Toxicology*, (2009).
- 559. Missiaen, T., M. Soderstrom, I. Popescu and P. Vanninen. "Evaluation of a Chemical Munition Dumpsite in the Baltic Sea Based on Geophysical and Chemical Investigations." *Sci Total Environ* 408, no. 17 (2010): 3536-53.
- 560. Neilands, JB. "Vietnam: Progress of the Chemical War." Asian Survey, (1970): 209-229.
- 561. Punte, C. L., T. A. Ballard and J. T. Weimer. "Inhalation Studies with Chloracetophenone, Diphenylaminochloroarsine, and Pelargonic Morpholide--I. Animal Exposures." Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 23, (1962): 194-8.
- 562. Salem, Harry, Michael Feasel and Bryan Ballantyne. "Of Riot Control Agents." Inhalation

*Toxicology*, (2014): 211.

- 563. Sanderson, H., P. Fauser, M. Rahbek and J. B. Larsen. "Review of Environmental Exposure Concentrations of Chemical Warfare Agent Residues and Associated the Fish Community Risk Following the Construction and Completion of the Nord Stream Gas Pipeline between Russia and Germany." *J Hazard Mater* 279, (2014): 518-26.
- 564. Sanderson, H., P. Fauser, M. Thomsen and P. B. Sorensen. "Screening Level Fish Community Risk Assessment of Chemical Warfare Agents in the Baltic Sea." *J Hazard Mater* 154, no. 1-3 (2008): 846-57.

## Capsicum (Pepper Spray)

- 565. Adler, J., Dawson, D. P., & Yasheng, M. (2010). Biomedical research literature with respect to the effects of Conducted Energy Weapons: Ottawa (ON): Carleton University.
- 566. Anderson, P. D. (2012). Emergency management of chemical weapons injuries. J Pharm Pract, 25(1), 61-68. doi:10.1177/0897190011420677
- 567. Arbak, P., Baser, I., Kumbasar, O. O., Ulger, F., Kilicaslan, Z., & Evyapan, F. (2014). Long term effects of tear gases on respiratory system: analysis of 93 cases. Scientific World Journal, 2014, 963638. doi:10.1155/2014/963638
- 568. Catli, T., Acar, M., Olgun, Y., Dag, I., Cengiz, B. P., & Cingi, C. (2015). Analysis of acute impact of oleoresin capsicum on rat nasal mucosa using scanning electron microscopy. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol, 272*(1), 9-13. doi:10.1007/s00405-014-2987-5
- 569. Carron, P. N., & Yersin, B. (2009). Management of the effects of exposure to tear gas. BMJ, 338, b2283. doi:10.1136/bmj.b2283
- 570. Dawes, D., Ho, J., & Miner, J. (2009). The neuroendocrine effects of the TASER X26: a brief report. Forensic Sci Int, 183(1-3), 14-19. doi:10.1016/j.forsciint.2008.09.015
- 571. de Torres, J. P., Correa, V., Rosquete, J., & Febles, T. (2006). Riot control agents and their respiratory effects. *Respiratory Medicine Extra*, *2*(1), 13-15. doi:10.1016/j.rmedx.2005.10.005
- 572. Final report on the safety assessment of capsicum annuum extract, capsicum annuum fruit extract, capsicum annuum resin, capsicum annuum fruit powder, capsicum frutescens fruit, capsicum frutescens fruit extract, capsicum frutescens resin, and capsaicin. (2007). Int J Toxicol, 26 Suppl 1, 3-106. doi:10.1080/10915810601163939

- 573. Garibaldi, B. T., West, N. E., Illei, P. B., & Terry, P. B. (2015). Bronchiolitis obliterans organizing pneumonia following a jalapeno grease fire. *Chest*, *147*(2), e31-33. doi:10.1378/chest.14-1338
- 574. Haber, L., Nance, P., Maier, A. (2007). Human Effectiveness and Risk Characterization of Oleoresin Capsicum (OC) and Pelargonic Acid Vanillylamide (PAVA or Nonivamide) Hand-Held Devices. (AFRL-RH-BR-TR-2008-0002). U.S. Army, Edgewood Chemical and Biological Center (ECBC) Air Force Research Laboratory.
- 575. Hilmas, C. J., Poole, M. J., Katos, A. M., & Williams, P. T. (2009). Chapter 12 Riot Control Agents. In R. C. Gupta (Ed.), Handbook of Toxicology of Chemical Warfare Agents (pp. 153-175). San Diego: Academic Press.
- 576. Ho, J. D., Dawes, D. M., Nelson, R. S., Lundin, E. J., Ryan, F. J., Overton, K. G., . . . Miner, J. R. (2010). Acidosis and catecholamine evaluation following simulated law enforcement "use of force" encounters. *Acad Emerg Med*, *17*(7), e60-68. doi:10.1111/j.1553-2712.2010.00813.x
- 577. Kristovich, R. L., Dabisch, P., Horsman, M., McCaskey, D., Howard, A., Kimmel, E., Mioduszewski, R., Thomson, S. (2006). Assessment Of The Ocular Irritancy Of Oleoresin Capsicum (OC) And Related Capsaicinoids In Guinea Pigs. Toxicol Sci, 90((1-S)).
- 578. Kumar, P., Deb, U., & Kaushik, M. P. (2012). Evaluation of oleoresin capsicum of Capsicum frutescenes var. Nagahari containing various percentages of capsaicinoids following inhalation as an active ingredient for tear gas munitions. Inhal Toxicol, 24(10), 659-666. doi:10.3109/08958378.2012.709547
- 579. MacDonald, J. M., Kaminski, R. J., & Smith, M. R. (2009). The effect of less-lethal weapons on injuries in police use-of-force events. *Am J Public Health, 99*(12), 2268-2274. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.159616
- 580. McCaskey, D. A., Kristovich, R.L., Carpin, J.C., Dabisch, P.A., Howard, A.S., Kimmel, E.C. (2006). A Comparison Of Exposure-Response For Capsaicin, N-VanillyInonanoamide, Or Oleoresin Capsicum Aerosol Induced Sensory Irritation. Toxicol Sci, 90((1-S)), 210.
- 581. Meram Arbak, P. (2013). Effects of Tear Gases on the Pulmonary System. *Turk Toraks Dergisi/Turkish Thoracic Journal, 14*(4).
- 582. Rasier, R., Kukner, A. S., Sengul, E. A., Yalcin, N. G., Temizsoylu, O., & Bahcecioglu, H. O. (2015). The decrease in aqueous tear production associated with pepper spray. *Curr Eye Res, 40*(4), 429-433. doi:10.3109/02713683.2014.930156
- 583. Salem, H., Ballantyne, B., & Katz, S. (2008). 15 Chemicals Used for Riot Control and Personal Protection. Chemical Warfare Agents.

- 584. Salem, H., Feasel, M., & Ballantyne, B. (2014). of Riot Control Agents. Inhal Toxicol, 211.
- 585. Sloane, C., & Vilke, G. M. (2006). Riot control agents, tasers, and other less lethal weapons *Sudden Deaths in Custody* (pp. 113-138): Springer.
- 586. Vijayan, V., Goel, N., & Caroli, R. (2011). Thermal Lung Injuries. *Textbook of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine Vols 1 and 2*.

### Nonanoyl morpholide (MPK)

587. Babakhanian, R. V., E. S. Bushuev, L. K. Gustyleva, A. Ignat'ev Iu and G. N. Kul'bitskii. "[the Gas Chromatographic Analysis of Irritating Substances]." Sud Med Ekspert 39, no. 1 (1996): 28-9.

### Benzylidene malonitrile,

- 588. Hout, Joseph J. Identification of the Compounds Formed During the Low Temperature Heat Dispersal of O-Chlorobenzylidene Malononitrile (Cs Riot Control Agent). DTIC Document, 2006.
- 589. Jones, G. R. N. and M. S. Israel. "Mechanism of Toxicity of Injected Cs Gas." Nature 228, no. 5278 (1970): 1315-1317.
- 590. Munavalli, Shekar, Dennis K Rohrbaugh and HD Durst. Chemistry, Biochemistry, Pharmacology, and Toxicology of Cs and Synthesis of Its Novel Analogs. DTIC Document, 2007.
- 591. Palmer, Matthew, Graham Urquhart and Henrietta Harrison. "Tears at Playtime: An Unusual Chemical Incident with Multiple Exposures Related to an Imported Slide in a Playground." Chemical Hazards and Poisons Report: 10.
- 592. Panahi, Younes, Mohammad Reza and Samad Golzari. "Research Paper Medical Science Acute and Chronic Effects of Disturbance Control Factors, Complications and Treatment Method: A Review."
- 593. Recer, G. M., T. B. Johnson and A. K. Gleason. "An Evaluation of the Relative Potential Public Health Concern for the Self-Defense Spray Active Ingredients Oleoresin Capsicum, O-

Chlorobenzylidene Malononitrile, and 2-Chloroacetophenone." Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 36, no. 1 (2002): 1-11.

594. Salem, Harry, Michael Feasel and Bryan Ballantyne. "Of Riot Control Agents." Inhalation Toxicology, (2014): 211.

### CR (Dibenzoxazepine)

- 595. Blain, P. G. "Tear Gases and Irritant Incapacitants. 1-Chloroacetophenone, 2-Chlorobenzylidene Malononitrile and Dibenz[B,F]-1,4-Oxazepine." *Toxicol Rev* 22, no. 2 (2003): 103-10.
- 596. Brone, B., P. J. Peeters, R. Marrannes, M. Mercken, R. Nuydens, T. Meert and H. J. Gijsen. "Tear Gasses Cn, Cr, and Cs Are Potent Activators of the Human Trpa1 Receptor." *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 231, no. 2 (2008): 150-6.
- 597. Carron, Pierre-Nicolas and Bertrand Yersin. "Management of the Effects of Exposure to Tear Gas." *BMJ* 338, (2009).
- 598. French, M. C., J. M. Harrison, T. D. Inch, L. Leadbeater, J. Newman, D. G. Upshall and G. M. Powell. "The Fate of Dibenz[B,F]-1,4-Oxazepine (Cr) in the Rat, Rhesus Monkey and Guinea-Pig. Part I. Metabolism in Vivo." Xenobiotica 13, no. 6 (1983): 345-59.
- 599. Gijsen, H. J., D. Berthelot, M. Zaja, B. Brone, I. Geuens and M. Mercken. "Analogues of Morphanthridine and the Tear Gas Dibenz[B,F][1,4]Oxazepine (Cr) as Extremely Potent Activators of the Human Transient Receptor Potential Ankyrin 1 (Trpa1) Channel." J Med Chem 53, no. 19 (2010): 7011-20.
- 600. Hilmas, CJ, Poole, M, Katos, AM, Williams, PT. "Riot Control Agents." In Handbook of Toxicology of Chemical Warfare Agents, edited by R.C. Gupta, 153-175. London: Academic Press, 2009.
- 601. Holland, P. "The Cutaneous Reactions Produced by Dibenzoxazepine (Cr)." Br J Dermatol 90, no. 6 (1974): 657-9.
- 602. Husain, K., P. Kumar and R. C. Malhotra. "A Comparative Study of Biochemical Changes Induced by Inhalation of Aerosols of O-Chloroacetophenone & Dibenz (B,F)-1,4-Oxazepine in Rats." *Indian J Med Res* 94, (1991): 76-9.
- 603. Keegan, T. J., S. A. Walker, C. Brooks, T. Langdon, L. Linsell, N. E. Maconochie, P. Doyle, T. Fletcher, M. J. Nieuwenhuijsen, L. M. Carpenter and K. M. Venables. "Exposures Recorded

for Participants in the Uk Chemical Warfare Agent Human Research Programme, 1941-1989." Ann Occup Hyg 53, no. 1 (2009): 83-97.

- 604. Kumar, P., S. J. Flora, S. C. Pant, A. S. Sachan, S. P. Saxena and S. D. Gupta. "Toxicological Evaluation of 1-Chloroacetophenone and Dibenz[B,F]-1,4-Oxazepine after Repeated Inhalation Exposure in Mice." *J Appl Toxicol* 14, no. 6 (1994): 411-6.
- 605. Kumar, P., R. Vijayaraghavan, S. C. Pant, A. S. Sachan and R. C. Malhotra. "Effect of Inhaled Aerosol of 1-Chloroacetophenone (Cn) and Dibenz (B,F)-1,4 Oxazepine (Cr) on Lung Mechanics and Pulmonary Surfactants in Rats." *Hum Exp Toxicol* 14, no. 5 (1995): 404-9.
- 606. Mina, Bushra, Maciej Walczyszyn and Mary Jane Reed. "Noninvasive Mechanical Ventilation after Chemical Disasters." In *Noninvasive Ventilation in High-Risk Infections and Mass Casualty Events*, 163-173: Springer, 2014.
- 607. Owens, EJ, JT Weimer, TA Ballard, DF Ford and JB Samuel. Ocular, Cutaneous, Respiratory, and Intratracheal Toxicity of Solutions of Cs and Ea 3547 in Glycol and Glycol Ether in Animals. DTIC Document, 1970.
- 608. Pant, S. C. and P. Kumar. "Time Dependent Histomorphological Assessment of Lung Damage Induced by Inhaled Dibenz(B,F)-1-4-Oxazepine (Cr) and 1-Chloroacetophenone (Cn) in Rats." *Funct Dev Morphol* 3, no. 3 (1993): 181-4.

## CHT (1-Methoxy-1,2,5-cycloheptatriene)

- 609. Army, US. Evaluation of Ea 4923 for Mutagenicity and Chromosome Damaging Potential. In Ea 4923 - a Volatile Sensory Irritant, Part 2 - Source Documents, 1977.
- 610. Asquith, J. C., J. Dewey, C. G. Lee, B. C. Morris and T. D. Webber. "Comparative Induction of Gene Mutations and Chromosome Damage by 1-Methoxy-1,3,5-Cycloheptatriene (Mcht), 1. Results from a Battery of Standard Tests." Mutat Res 230, no. 1 (1990): 71-80.
- 611. Ketchum, James S and James S Ketchum. *Chemical Warfare Secrets Almost Forgotten*: WestBow Press, 2012.

## Incapacitants

## 302089 & 302582, Butyrophenone derivatives (Haloperidol)

- 612. Benvegnu, D. M., R. C. Barcelos, N. Boufleur, C. S. Pase, P. Reckziegel, F. C. Flores, A. F. Ourique, M. D. Nora, B. da Silva Cde, R. C. Beck and M. E. Burger. "Haloperidol-Loaded Polysorbate-Coated Polymeric Nanocapsules Decrease Its Adverse Motor Side Effects and Oxidative Stress Markers in Rats." Neurochem Int 61, no. 5 (2012): 623-31.
- 613. Elmorsy, Ekramy, Laila M Elzalabany, Hany M Elsheikha and Paul A Smith. "Adverse Effects of Antipsychotics on Micro-Vascular Endothelial Cells of the Human Blood–Brain Barrier." *Brain research* 1583, (2014): 255-268.
- 614. Gardiner, E., A. Carroll, P. A. Tooney and M. J. Cairns. "Antipsychotic Drug-Associated Gene-Mirna Interaction in T-Lymphocytes." *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* 17, no. 6 (2014): 929-43.
- 615. Hefner, G., K. Geschke and C. Hiemke. "Severe Adverse Drug Events under Combination of Nortriptyline and Melperone Due to Pharmacokinetic Interaction." *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 34, no. 3 (2014): 394-6.
- 616. Howland, R. H. "The Comparative Cardiac Effects of Haloperidol and Quetiapine: Parsing a Review." *J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv* 52, no. 6 (2014): 23-6.
- 617. Jones, N. "Antipsychotic Medications, Psychological Side Effects and Treatment Engagement." *Issues Ment Health Nurs* 33, no. 7 (2012): 492-3.
- 618. Kuiper, Michael A, Nicole Peikert and E Christiaan Boerma. "Gamma-Hydroxybutyrate Withdrawal Syndrome: A Case Report." *Cases journal* 2, no. 1 (2009): 6530.
- 619. Minns, Alicia B and Richard F Clark. "Toxicology and Overdose of Atypical Antipsychotics." *The Journal of emergency medicine* 43, no. 5 (2012): 906-913.
- 620. Mirski, Marek A and Mitzi K Hemstreet. "Critical Care Sedation for Neuroscience Patients." *Journal of the neurological sciences* 261, no. 1 (2007): 16-34.
- Raudenska, M., J. Gumulec, P. Babula, T. Stracina, M. Sztalmachova, H. Polanska, V. Adam, R. Kizek, M. Novakova and M. Masarik. "Haloperidol Cytotoxicity and Its Relation to Oxidative Stress." *Mini Rev Med Chem* 13, no. 14 (2013): 1993-8.
- 622. Robinson, Donald S. "Schizophrenia and Risk of Suicide." Primary Psychiatry 15, no. 4 (2008): 21-23.
- 623. Slooff, V. D., E. Spaans, E. van Puijenbroek, N. Jessurun, B. S. van Beusekom, M. de Hoog, D. Tibboel and S. N. de Wildt. "Adverse Events of Haloperidol for the Treatment of Delir-ium in Critically III Children." *Intensive Care Med* 40, no. 10 (2014): 1602-3.

- 624. Ulhaq, I. and A. Abba-Aji. "Haloperidol Induced Obsessive Compulsive Symptom (Ocs) in a Patient with Learning Disability and Bipolar Affective Disorder." *BMJ Case Rep* 2012, (2012).
- 625. Veselinovic, T., H. Schorn, I. B. Vernaleken, C. Hiemke, G. Zernig, R. Gur and G. Grunder. "Effects of Antipsychotic Treatment on Cognition in Healthy Subjects." *J Psychopharmacol* 27, no. 4 (2013): 374-85.

## Phencyclidine (PCP)

- 626. Aggarwal, M., A. Banerjee, S. M. Singh, S. K. Mattoo and D. Basu. "Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorders: 13-Year Data from a De-Addiction Centre and Their Clinical Implications." Asian J Psychiatr 5, no. 3 (2012): 220-4.
- 627. Aoyama, Y., A. Mouri, K. Toriumi, T. Koseki, S. Narusawa, N. Ikawa, T. Mamiya, T. Nagai, K. Yamada and T. Nabeshima. "Clozapine Ameliorates Epigenetic and Behavioral Abnormalities Induced by Phencyclidine through Activation of Dopamine D1 Receptor." Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 17, no. 5 (2014): 723-37.
- 628. Brust, J. C. "Substance Abuse and Movement Disorders." Mov Disord 25, no. 13 (2010): 2010-20.
- 629. Brust, J. C. "Neurologic Complications of Illicit Drug Abuse." Continuum (Minneap Minn)20, no. 3 Neurology of Systemic Disease (2014): 642-56.
- 630. Carroll, M. E., J. L. Mach, R. M. La Nasa and J. L. Newman. "Impulsivity as a Behavioral Measure of Withdrawal of Orally Delivered Pcp and Nondrug Rewards in Male and Female Monkeys." Psychopharmacology (Berl) 207, no. 1 (2009): 85-98.
- 631. D'Onofrio, G., J. B. McCausland, A. F. Tarabar and L. C. Degutis. "Illy: Clinical and Public Health Implications of a Street Drug." Subst Abus 27, no. 4 (2006): 45-51.
- 632. Elsworth, J. D., S. M. Groman, J. D. Jentsch, R. Valles, M. Shahid, E. Wong, H. Marston and R. H. Roth. "Asenapine Effects on Cognitive and Monoamine Dysfunction Elicited by Sub-chronic Phencyclidine Administration." Neuropharmacology 62, no. 3 (2012): 1442-52.

- 633. Kjaerby, C., B. V. Broberg, U. Kristiansen and N. O. Dalby. "Impaired GABAergic Inhibition in the Prefrontal Cortex of Early Postnatal Phencyclidine (Pcp)-Treated Rats." Cereb Cortex 24, no. 9 (2014): 2522-32.
- 634. Manto, M. "Toxic Agents Causing Cerebellar Ataxias." Handb Clin Neurol 103, (2012): 201-13.
- 635. McLean, S. L., M. L. Woolley and J. C. Neill. "Effects of Subchronic Phencyclidine on Behaviour of Female Rats on the Elevated Plus Maze and Open Field." J Psychopharmacol 24, no. 5 (2010): 787-90.
- 636. Metaxas, A., R. Willems, E. J. Kooijman, V. A. Renjaan, P. J. Klein, A. D. Windhorst, L. V. Donck, J. E. Leysen and B. N. Berckel. "Subchronic Treatment with Phencyclidine in Adoles-cence Leads to Impaired Exploratory Behavior in Adult Rats without Altering Social Inter-action or N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Binding Levels." J Neurosci Res 92, no. 11 (2014): 1599-607.
- 637. Mouri, A., T. Koseki, S. Narusawa, M. Niwa, T. Mamiya, S. Kano, A. Sawa and T. Nabeshima. "Mouse Strain Differences in Phencyclidine-Induced Behavioural Changes." Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 15, no. 6 (2012): 767-79.
- 638. Newell, K. A., K. Zavitsanou and X. F. Huang. "Opposing Short- and Long-Term Effects on Muscarinic M1/4 Receptor Binding Following Chronic Phencyclidine Treatment." J Neurosci Res 85, no. 6 (2007): 1358-63.
- 639. Pollard, M., C. Varin, B. Hrupka, D. J. Pemberton, T. Steckler and H. Shaban. "Synaptic Transmission Changes in Fear Memory Circuits Underlie Key Features of an Animal Model of Schizophrenia." Behav Brain Res 227, no. 1 (2012): 184-93.
- 640. Pyndt Jorgensen, B., L. Krych, T. B. Pedersen, N. Plath, J. P. Redrobe, A. K. Hansen, D. S. Nielsen, C. S. Pedersen, C. Larsen and D. B. Sorensen. "Investigating the Long-Term Effect of Subchronic Phencyclidine-Treatment on Novel Object Recognition and the Association between the Gut Microbiota and Behavior in the Animal Model of Schizophrenia." Physiol Behav 141, (2015): 32-9.
- 641. Radonjic, N. V., I. D. Knezevic, U. Vilimanovich, T. Kravic-Stevovic, L. V. Marina, T. Nikolic, V. Todorovic, V. Bumbasirevic and N. D. Petronijevic. "Decreased Glutathione Levels and

Altered Antioxidant Defense in an Animal Model of Schizophrenia: Long-Term Effects of Perinatal Phencyclidine Administration." Neuropharmacology 58, no. 4-5 (2010): 739-45.

- 642. Santini, M. A., C. Ratner, S. Aznar, A. B. Klein, G. M. Knudsen and J. D. Mikkelsen. "Enhanced Prefrontal Serotonin 2a Receptor Signaling in the Subchronic Phencyclidine Mouse Model of Schizophrenia." J Neurosci Res 91, no. 5 (2013): 634-41.
- 643. Snigdha, S. and J. C. Neill. "Efficacy of Antipsychotics to Reverse Phencyclidine-Induced Social Interaction Deficits in Female Rats--a Preliminary Investigation." Behav Brain Res 187, no. 2 (2008): 489-94.
- 644. Sutcliffe, J. S., F. Rhaman, K. M. Marshall and J. C. Neill. "Oestradiol Attenuates the Cognitive Deficit Induced by Acute Phencyclidine Treatment in Mature Female Hooded-Lister Rats." J Psychopharmacol 22, no. 8 (2008): 918-22.
- 645. Tanaka, D. H., K. Toriumi, K. Kubo, T. Nabeshima and K. Nakajima. "GABAergic Precursor Transplantation into the Prefrontal Cortex Prevents Phencyclidine-Induced Cognitive Deficits." J Neurosci 31, no. 40 (2011): 14116-25.
- 646. Varner, K. J., K. Daigle, P. F. Weed, P. B. Lewis, S. E. Mahne, A. Sankaranarayanan and P. J. Winsauer. "Comparison of the Behavioral and Cardiovascular Effects of Mephedrone with Other Drugs of Abuse in Rats." Psychopharmacology (Berl) 225, no. 3 (2013): 675-85.
- 647. Yamamoto, H., E. Kamegaya, W. Sawada, R. Hasegawa, T. Yamamoto, Y. Hagino, Y. Takamatsu, K. Imai, H. Koga, M. Mishina and K. Ikeda. "Involvement of the N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Glun2d Subunit in Phencyclidine-Induced Motor Impairment, Gene Expression, and Increased Fos Immunoreactivity." Mol Brain 6, (2013): 56.

## 218437 (An indolylalkyl piperazine, Oxypertine)

- 648. Barnes, Thomas RE. "Movement Disorders Induced by Medications." In *Encyclopedia of Psychopharmacology*, 805-808: Springer, 2010.
- 649. Chen, Hong and Rajiv Tandon. "First-and Second-Generation Antipsychotics and the Concept of "Atypicality"." (2009).
- 650. Elliott, Simon. "Current Awareness of Piperazines: Pharmacology and Toxicology." *Drug testing and analysis* 3, no. 7-8 (2011): 430-438.

- 651. Norris, W and PGM Wallace. "Oxypertine (Integrin): A Study of Its Use in Premedication." British journal of anaesthesia 45, no. 12 (1973): 1222-1224.
- 652. Saini, T, S Kumar and B Narasimhan. "Central Nervous System Activities of Indole Derivatives: An Overview." *Central nervous system agents in medicinal chemistry*, (2015).
- 653. Samara, M. T., H. Cao, B. Helfer, J. M. Davis and S. Leucht. "Chlorpromazine Versus Every Other Antipsychotic for Schizophrenia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Challenging the Dogma of Equal Efficacy of Antipsychotic Drugs." *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 24, no. 7 (2014): 1046-55.
- 654. Sönmez, İpek and Ümit Aykan. "Kabul Tarihi Psychotropic Drugs and Ocular Side Effects." (2013).
- 655. Tandon, Rajiv, RH Belmaker, Wagner F Gattaz, Juan J Lopez-Ibor, Ahmed Okasha, Bruce Singh, Dan J Stein, Jean-Pierre Olie, W Wolfang Fleischhacker and Hans-Juergen Moeller.
  "World Psychiatric Association Pharmacopsychiatry Section Statement on Comparative Effectiveness of Antipsychotics in the Treatment of Schizophrenia." Schizophrenia research 100, no. 1 (2008): 20-38.
- 656. Trubitsyna, T. K. and M. D. Kashkovskii. "[Pharmacological Properties of Indolylalkyl Derivatives of Quipazine]." Farmakol Toksikol 43, no. 5 (1980): 530-6.
- 657. Wylie, David W and S Archer. "Structure-Activity Relationships of 1-[3-Indolyl) Alkyl]-4-Arylpiperazines. A New Series of Tranquilizers." Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 5, no. 5 (1962): 932-943

## 219362

This compound is not listed in any of the databases, nor is it in the original reports from the NAS on the Edgewood tests.

## 220548 (Benzomorphan)

658. Mirski, Marek A and Mitzi K Hemstreet. "Critical Care Sedation for Neuroscience Patients." Journal of the neurological sciences 261, no. 1 (2007): 16-34.

- 659. Pasquinucci, L., O. Prezzavento, A. Marrazzo, E. Amata, S. Ronsisvalle, Z. Georgoussi, D. D. Fourla, G. M. Scoto, C. Parenti, G. Arico and G. Ronsisvalle. "Evaluation of N-Substitution in 6,7-Benzomorphan Compounds." Bioorg Med Chem 18, no. 14 (2010): 4975-82.
- 660. Satoh, N., Y. Toyohira, K. Takahashi and N. Yanagihara. "Effects of Various Pharmacological Agents on the Function of Norepinephrine Transporter." J UOEH 37, no. 1 (2015): 33-42.

### 302034 Benzomorphan butyrophenone

No uncited references found.

## DHMP (Dimethylheptyl pyran)

- 661. Gunderson, E. W., H. M. Haughey, N. Ait-Daoud, A. S. Joshi and C. L. Hart. ""Spice" and "K2" Herbal Highs: A Case Series and Systematic Review of the Clinical Effects and Biopsychosocial Implications of Synthetic Cannabinoid Use in Humans." Am J Addict 21, no. 4 (2012): 320-6.
- 662. Hunault, C. C., T. T. Mensinga, K. B. Bocker, C. M. Schipper, M. Kruidenier, M. E. Leenders,
  I. de Vries and J. Meulenbelt. "Cognitive and Psychomotor Effects in Males after Smoking a Combination of Tobacco and Cannabis Containing up to 69 Mg Delta-9-Tetrahydrocannabinol (Thc)." Psychopharmacology (Berl) 204, no. 1 (2009): 85-94.
- 663. Khiabani, H. Z., J. Morland and J. G. Bramness. "Frequency and Irregularity of Heart Rate in Drivers Suspected of Driving under the Influence of Cannabis." *Eur J Intern Med* 19, no. 8 (2008): 608-12.
- 664. Kolb, B., G. Gorny, C. L. Limebeer and L. A. Parker. "Chronic Treatment with Delta-9-Tetrahydrocannabinol Alters the Structure of Neurons in the Nucleus Accumbens Shell and Medial Prefrontal Cortex of Rats." *Synapse* 60, no. 6 (2006): 429-36.
- 665. Le Foll, B. and R. F. Tyndale. "Cannabinoids: Friend or Foe?" *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 97, no. 6 (2015): 528-31.
- 666. Lemberger, L., R. McMahon, R. Archer, K. Matsumoto and H. Rowe. "Pharmacologic Effects and Physiologic Disposition of Delta 6a,10a Dimethyl Heptyl Tetrahydrocannabinol (Dmhp) in Man." Clin Pharmacol Ther 15, no. 4 (1974): 380-6.

- 667. Osgood, P. F. and J. F. Howes. "Delta9-Tetrahydrocannabinol and Dimethylheptylpyran Induced Tachycardia in the Conscious Rat." *Life Sci* 21, no. 9 (1977): 1329-36.
- 668. Pradhan, S. N. "Pharmacology of Some Synthetic Tetrahydrocannabinols." *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 8, no. 3 (1984): 369-85.
- 669. Pryce, G., D. R. Riddall, D. L. Selwood, G. Giovannoni and D. Baker. "Neuroprotection in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis and Progressive Multiple Sclerosis by Cannabis-Based Cannabinoids." *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* 10, no. 2 (2015): 281-92.
- 670. Rabinak, C. A., M. Angstadt, M. Lyons, S. Mori, M. R. Milad, I. Liberzon and K. L. Phan.
  "Cannabinoid Modulation of Prefrontal-Limbic Activation During Fear Extinction Learning and Recall in Humans." *Neurobiol Learn Mem* 113, (2014): 125-34.
- 671. Roser, P., J. Gallinat, G. Weinberg, G. Juckel, I. Gorynia and A. M. Stadelmann. "Psychomotor Performance in Relation to Acute Oral Administration of Delta9-Tetrahydrocannabinol and Standardized Cannabis Extract in Healthy Human Subjects." *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 259, no. 5 (2009): 284-92.
- 672. Volfe, Z., A. Dvilansky and I. Nathan. "Cannabinoids Block Release of Serotonin from Platelets Induced by Plasma from Migraine Patients." *Int J Clin Pharmacol Res* 5, no. 4 (1985): 243-6.
- 673. Williamson, E. M. and F. J. Evans. "Cannabinoids in Clinical Practice." Drugs 60, no. 6 (2000): 1303-14.
- 674. Zuurman, L., C. Roy, R. C. Schoemaker, A. Hazekamp, J. den Hartigh, J. C. Bender, R. Verpoorte, J. L. Pinquier, A. F. Cohen and J. M. van Gerven. "Effect of Intrapulmonary Tetrahydrocannabinol Administration in Humans." *J Psychopharmacol* 22, no. 7 (2008): 707-16.

## Oximes, Irritants and Incapacitants Military Exposures and Health Outcomes

Keegan, TJ, SAS Walker, C Brooks, T Langdon, L Linsell, NES Maconochie, P Doyle, T Fletcher, MJ Nieuwenhuijsen and LM Carpenter. "Exposures Recorded for Participants in the Uk Chemical Warfare Agent Human Research Programme, 1941–1989." Annals of occupational hygiene 53, no. 1 (2009): 83-97.

Lee, Harry A, Roger Gabriel, Amanda J Bale and Dawn Welch. "Clinical Findings in 111 Ex-Porton Down Volunteers." Journal of the Royal Army Medical Corps 150, no. 1 (2004): 14-19.

# Miscellaneous Traditional Chemical Warfare Agents

## Sulfur mustard

- 675. Aliannejad, R. (2013). Comment on incidence of cancer in Iranian sulfur mustard (SM) exposed veterans. Inhal Toxicol, 25(11), 651.
- 676. Behravan, E., Moallem, S. A., Khateri, S., Maraghi, E., Jowsey, P., Blain, P. G., & Balali-Mood, M. (2013). Deoxyribonucleic acid damage in Iranian veterans 25 years after wartime exposure to sulfur mustard. J Res Med Sci, 18(3), 239-244.
- 677. Brimfield, A. A., Mancebo, A. M., Mason, R. P., Jiang, J. J., Siraki, A. G., & Novak, M. J. (2009). Free radical production from the interaction of 2-chloroethyl vesicants (mustard gas) with pyridine nucleotide-driven flavoprotein electron transport systems. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 234(1), 128-134.
- 678. Doi, M., Hattori, N., Yokoyama, A., Onari, Y., Kanehara, M., Masuda, K.; Kohno, N. (2011). Effect of mustard gas exposure on incidence of lung cancer: a longitudinal study. Am J Epidemiol, 173(6), 659-666. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq426
- 679. Ebadi, A., Ahmadi, F., Ghanei, M., & Kazemnejad, A. (2009). Spirituality: a key factor in coping among Iranians chronically affected by mustard gas in the disaster of war. Nurs Health Sci, 11(4), 344-350.
- 680. Ekstrand-Hammarstrom, B., Wigenstam, E., & Bucht, A. (2011). Inhalation of alkylating mustard causes long-term T cell-dependent inflammation in airways and growth of connective tissue. Toxicology, 280(3), 88-97. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2010.11.012
- 681. Ghabili, K., Agutter, P. S., Ghanei, M., Ansarin, K., Panahi, Y., & Shoja, M. M. (2011). Sulfur mustard toxicity: history, chemistry, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics. Crit Rev Toxicol, 41(5), 384-403.
- 682. Ghanei, M., & Harandi, A. A. (2010). Lung carcinogenicity of sulfur mustard. Clin Lung Cancer, 11(1), 13-17. doi:10.3816/CLC.2010.n.002
- 683. Ghasemi, H., Owlia, P., Jalali-Nadoushan, M. R., Pourfarzam, S., Azimi, G., Yarmohammadi, M. E., Ghazanfari, T. (2013). A clinicopathological approach to sulfur mustard-induced organ complications: a major review. Cutan Ocul Toxicol, 32(4), 304-324.
- 684. Ghazanfari, T., Faghihzadeh, S., Aragizadeh, H., Soroush, M. R., Yaraee, R., Mohammad Hassan, Z.; Sardasht-Iran Cohort Study Research, G. (2009). Sardasht-Iran cohort study of chemical warfare victims: design and methods. Arch Iran Med, 12(1), 5-14.

- 685. Ghazanfari, T., Kariminia, A., Yaraee, R., Faghihzadeh, S., Ardestani, S. K., Ebtekar, M.; Hassan, Z. M. (2013). Long term impact of sulfur mustard exposure on peripheral blood mononuclear subpopulations--Sardasht-Iran Cohort Study (SICS). Int Immunopharmacol, 17(3), 931-935. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2012.12.023
- 686. Ghazanfari, T., Sharifnia, Z., Yaraee, R., Pourfarzam, S., Kariminia, A., Mahlojirad, M., . . . Ghanei, M. (2009). Serum soluble Fas ligand and nitric oxide in long-term pulmonary complications induced by sulfur mustard: Sardasht-Iran Cohort Study. Int Immunopharmacol, 9(13-14), 1489-1493. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2009.08.019
- 687. Hassankhani, H., Taleghani, F., Mills, J., Birks, M., Francis, K., & Ahmadi, F. (2010). Being hopeful and continuing to move ahead: religious coping in Iranian chemical warfare poisoned veterans, a qualitative study. J Relig Health, 49(3), 311-321.
- 688. Hosseini-khalili, A., Haines, D. D., Modirian, E., Soroush, M., Khateri, S., Joshi, R.; Giardina, C. (2009). Mustard gas exposure and carcinogenesis of lung. Mutat Res, 678(1), 1-6. doi:10.1016/j.mrgentox.2009.05.022
- 689. Jafari, M., & Ghanei, M. (2010). Evaluation of plasma, erythrocytes, and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid antioxidant defense system in sulfur mustard-injured patients. Clin Toxicol (Phila), 48(3), 184-192. doi:10.3109/15563651003623297
- 690. Karbasi-Afshar, R., Panahi, Y., & Saburi, A. (2013). Other considerations about carcinogenicity of sulfur mustard. Cancer Causes Control, 24(12), 2251-2252.
- 691. Keramati, M. R., Balali-Mood, M., Mousavi, S. R., Sadeghi, M., & Riahi-Zanjani, B. (2013). Biochemical and hematological findings of Khorasan veterans 23 years after sulfur mustard exposure. J Res Med Sci, 18(10), 855-859.
- 692. Kiani, A., Mostafaie, A., Shirazi, F. H., & Ghazanfari, T. (2013). Serum profiles of matrix metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitors in long-term pulmonary complication induced by sulfur mustard: Sardasht-Iran Cohort Study (SICS). Int Immunopharmacol, 17(3), 964-967. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2012.12.025
- McNutt, P., Hamilton, T., Nelson, M., Adkins, A., Swartz, A., Lawrence, R., & Milhorn, D. (2012). Pathogenesis of acute and delayed corneal lesions after ocular exposure to sulfur mustard vapor. Cornea, 31(3), 280-290.
- 694. Milhorn, D., Hamilton, T., Nelson, M., & McNutt, P. (2010). Progression of ocular sulfur mustard injury: development of a model system. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1194, 72-80. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05491.x

- 695. Mishra, N. C., Rir-sima-ah, J., March, T., Weber, W., Benson, J., Jaramillo, R.; Sopori, M. (2010). Sulfur mustard induces immune sensitization in hairless guinea pigs. Int Immunopharmacol, 10(2), 193-199. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2009.10.015
- 696. Mood, M. B., Zilaee, M., Mobarhan, M. G., Sheikh-Andalibi, M. S., Mohades-Ardabili, H., Dehghani, H., & Ferns, G. (2014). Comparison of Dietary Macro and Micro Nutrient Intake between Iranian Patients with Long-term Complications of Sulphur Mustard Poisoning and Healthy Subjects. Malays J Med Sci, 21(6), 19-26.
- 697. Namazi, S., Niknahad, H., & Razmkhah, H. (2009). Long-term complications of sulphur mustard poisoning in intoxicated Iranian veterans. J Med Toxicol, 5(4), 191-195.
- 698. Nourani, M. R., Ebrahimi, M., Roudkenar, M. H., Vahedi, E., Ghanei, M., & Imani Fooladi, A. A. (2011). Sulfur mustard induces expression of metallothionein-1A in human airway epithelial cells. Int J Gen Med, 4, 413-419. doi:10.2147/IJGM.S17916
- 699. Panahi, Y., Azizi, T., Moghadam, M. R., Amin, G., Parvin, S., & Sahebkar, A. (2015). Oral health status among Iranian veterans exposed to sulfur mustard: A case-control study. J Clin Exp Dent, 7(2), e192-196. doi:10.4317/jced.52112
- 700. Pourfarzam, S., Ghazanfari, T., Yaraee, R., Ghasemi, H., Hassan, Z. M., Faghihzadeh, S.; Ghanei, M. (2009). Serum levels of IL-8 and IL-6 in the long term pulmonary complications induced by sulfur mustard: Sardasht-Iran Cohort Study. Int Immunopharmacol, 9(13-14), 1482-1488. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2009.09.002
- 701. Razavi, S. M., Ghanei, M., Salamati, P., & Safiabadi, M. (2013). Long-term effects of mustard gas on respiratory system of Iranian veterans after Iraq-Iran war: a review. Chin J Traumatol, 16(3), 163-168.
- 702. Rejaei, M., Rejaei, P., & Balali-Mood, M. (2010). Nursing care of acute sulfur mustard poisoning. Int J Occup Environ Med, 1(2), 95-98.
- 703. Rezaian, G. R., Emad, A., Ghayumi, M. A., Rezaian, S., & Zare, N. (2008). Exercise intolerance and chronotropic impairment-The long-term cardiovascular sequelae of mustard gas exposure: A paired-comparative study. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol, 26(2), 212-215. doi:10.1016/j.etap.2008.03.015
- 704. Schnurr, P. P., Ford, J. D., Friedman, M. J., Green, B. L., Dain, B. J., & Sengupta, A. (2000). Predictors and outcomes of posttraumatic stress disorder in World War II veterans exposed to mustard gas. J Consult Clin Psychol, 68(2), 258-268
- 705. Shohrati, M., Karimzadeh, I., Saburi, A., Khalili, H., & Ghanei, M. (2014). The role of N-acetylcysteine in the management of acute and chronic pulmonary complications of sulfur

mustard: a literature review. Inhal Toxicol, 26(9), 507-523. doi:10.3109/08958378.2014.920439

- 706. Smith, W. J. (2002). Vesicant agents and antivesicant medical countermeasures: Clinical toxicology and psychological implications. Military Psychology, 14(2), 145-157.
- 707. Taravati, A., Ardestani, S. K., Soroush, M. R., Faghihzadeh, S., Ghazanfari, T., Jalilvand, F.; Fallahi, F. (2012). Serum albumin and paraoxonase activity in Iranian veterans 20 years after sulfur mustard exposure. Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol, 34(4), 706-713.
- 708. Taravati, A., Ardestani, S. K., Ziaee, A. A., Ghorbani, A., Soroush, M. R., Faghihzadeh, S., . . . Ghazanfari, T. (2013). Effects of paraoxonase 1 activity and gene polymorphisms on longterm pulmonary complications of sulfur mustard-exposed veterans. Int Immunopharmacol, 17(3), 974-979.
- 709. Tewari-Singh, N., Jain, A. K., Orlicky, D. J., White, C. W., & Agarwal, R. (2014). Cutaneous injury-related structural changes and their progression following topical nitrogen mustard exposure in hairless and haired mice. PLoS One, 9(1), e85402.
- 710. Zojaji, R., Balali-Mood, M., Mirzadeh, M., Saffari, A., & Maleki, M. (2009). Delayed head and neck complications of sulphur mustard poisoning in Iranian veterans. J Laryngol Otol, 123(10), 1150-1154.

## Phosgene

- 711. Anderson, P. D. (2012). Emergency management of chemical weapons injuries. J Pharm Pract, 25(1), 61-68. doi:10.1177/0897190011420677
- 712. Bardana, E. J., Jr. (2008). 10. Occupational asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 121(2 Suppl), S408-411; quiz S421. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2007.08.005
- 713. Fitzgerald, G. J. (2008). Chemical warfare and medical response during World War I. Am J Public Health, 98(4), 611-625. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2007.11930.
- 714. Grainge, C., & Rice, P. (2010). Management of phosgene-induced acute lung injury. Clin Toxicol (Phila), 48(6), 497-508. doi:10.3109/15563650.2010.506877
- 715. Gutch, M., Jain, N., Agrawal, A., & Consul, S. (2012). Acute accidental phosgene poisoning. BMJ Case Rep, 2012. doi:10.1136/bcr.11.2011.5233
- 716. Hardison, L. S., Jr., Wright, E., & Pizon, A. F. (2014). Phosgene exposure: a case of accidental industrial exposure. J Med Toxicol, 10(1), 51-56. doi:10.1007/s13181-013-0319-6

- 717. Kumar, A., Chaudhari, S., Kush, L., Kumar, S., Garg, A., & Shukla, A. (2012). Accidental inhalation injury of phosgene gas leading to acute respiratory distress syndrome. Indian J Occup Environ Med, 16(2), 88-89. doi:10.4103/0019-5278.107088
- 718. Li, W., Liu, F., Wang, C., Truebel, H., & Pauluhn, J. (2012). Novel insights into phosgeneinduced acute lung injury in rats: role of dysregulated cardiopulmonary reflexes and nitric oxide in lung edema pathogenesis. toxicological sciences, kfs317.
- 719. Lo, S. H., Chan, C. C., Chen, W. C., & Wang, J. D. (2006). Grand rounds: outbreak of hematologic abnormalities in a community of people exposed to leakage of fire extinguisher gas. Environ Health Perspect, 114(11), 1713-1717. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17107857
- Mateuca, R. A., Carton, C., Roelants, M., Roesems, S., Lison, D., & Kirsch-Volders, M. (2010). Genotoxicity surveillance programme in workers dismantling World War I chemical ammunition. Int Arch Occup Environ Health, 83(5), 483-495. doi:10.1007/s00420-010-0526-2
- 721. McKeown, N. J., & Burton, B. T. (2012). Acute lung injury following refrigeration coil deicing. Clin Toxicol (Phila), 50(3), 218-220. doi:10.3109/15563650.2012.659251
- 722. Nemery, B. (2006). Chemical-Induced Lung Injury and Its Long-Term Sequelae Imaging of Occupational and Environmental Disorders of the Chest (pp. 67-75): Springer.
- 723. Pauluhn, J. (2006). Acute nose-only exposure of rats to phosgene. Part II. Concentration x time dependence of changes in bronchoalveolar lavage during a follow-up period of 3 months. Inhal Toxicol, 18(9), 595-607. doi:10.1080/08958370600742771
- 724. Sciuto, A. M. (2006). Inhalation toxicology of an irritant gas-historical perspectives, current research, and case studies of phosgene exposure. Inhalation toxicology. H. Salem and S. A. Katz. Boca Raton, FL, CRC/Taylor & Francis.
- 725. Sun, J., Kan, B., Jian, X., Wang, J., & Yu, G. (2014). [Acute occupational phosgene poisoning: a case report]. Zhonghua Lao Dong Wei Sheng Zhi Ye Bing Za Zhi, 32(4), 299-300. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24754951

## Lewisite

726. Anderson, P. D. (2012). Emergency management of chemical weapons injuries. J Pharm Pract, 25(1), 61-68. doi:10.1177/0897190011420677a

- 727. Baker, D. J. (2014). The Classification and Properties of Toxic Hazards Toxic Trauma (pp. 25-45): Springer.
- 728. Fitzgerald, G. M., & Vollmer, T. (2009). CBRNE-Vesicants, Organic Arsenicals-L, ED, MD, PD, HL.
- 729. National Research Council, C. o. A. E. G. L., Committee on Toxicology, Board on Environmental Studies and Toxicology, Division on Earth and Life Studies. (2013). Acute Exposure Guideline Levels for Selected Airborne Chemicals (Vol. 15). Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- 730. Nelson, P., Hancock, J. R., & Sawyer, T. W. (2006). Therapeutic effects of hypothermia on Lewisite toxicity. Toxicology, 222(1-2), 8-16. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2005.12.026
- 731. Nguon, N., Clery-Barraud, C., Vallet, V., Elbakdouri, N., Wartelle, J., Mouret, S., . . . Boudry, I. (2014). Time course of lewisite-induced skin lesions and inflammatory response in the SKH-1 hairless mouse model. Wound Repair Regen, 22(2), 272-280. doi:10.1111/wrr.12147
- 732. Saeidian, H., & Sahandi, M. (2015). Comprehensive DFT study on molecular structures of Lewisites in support of the Chemical Weapons Convention. Journal of Molecular Structure, 1100, 486-495.
- 733. Traub, S. J. (2006). Vesicants Handbook of Bioterrorism and Disaster Medicine (pp. 167-170): Springer.
- 734. Wiener, S. W. (2006). Lewisite. JAMA, 296(5), 589-594.

### Cyanide, Hydrogen cyanide, AC

- 735. Anseeuw, K., Delvau, N., Burillo-Putze, G., De Iaco, F., Geldner, G., Holmstrom, P., . . .
  Sabbe, M. (2013). Cyanide poisoning by fire smoke inhalation: a European expert consensus. Eur J Emerg Med, 20(1), 2-9. doi:10.1097/MEJ.0b013e328357170b
- 736. Avais, M., Khan, M. S., Khan, M. A., Ashraf, K., Khan, J. A., & Hameed, S. (2014). Prolonged oral cyanide effects on feed intake, growth rate and blood parameters in rabbits. Pak J Pharm Sci, 27(4), 773-777.

- 737. Baum, M. M., Moss, J. A., Pastel, S. H., & Poskrebyshev, G. A. (2007). Hydrogen cyanide exhaust emissions from in-use motor vehicles. Environ Sci Technol, 41(3), 857-862.
- 738. Bebarta, V. S. (2012). Hydrogen cyanide related deaths and detection in the blood. Inhal Toxicol, 24(10), 687; author reply 688. doi:10.3109/08958378.2012.710662
- 739. Dinh, D., & Rosini, J. M. (2014). Empiric treatment of cyanide toxicity in an enclosed-space fire survivor. J Emerg Nurs, 40(3), 282-285; quiz 293. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2014.02.003.
- 740. Eckstein, M. (2008). Enhancing public health preparedness for a terrorist attack involving cyanide. J Emerg Med, 35(1), 59-65. doi:10.1016/j.jemermed.2007.03.040.
- 741. Fortin, J. L., Desmettre, T., Manzon, C., Judic-Peureux, V., Peugeot-Mortier, C., Giocanti, J.
  P., Capellier, G. (2010). Cyanide poisoning and cardiac disorders: 161 cases. J Emerg Med, 38(4), 467-476. doi:10.1016/j.jemermed.2009.09.028
- 742. Grabowska, T., Skowronek, R., Nowicka, J., & Sybirska, H. (2012). Prevalence of hydrogen cyanide and carboxyhaemoglobin in victims of smoke inhalation during enclosed-space fires: a combined toxicological risk. Clin Toxicol (Phila), 50(8), 759-763. doi:10.3109/15563650.2012.714470.
- 743. Huzar, T. F., George, T., & Cross, J. M. (2013). Carbon monoxide and cyanide toxicity: etiology, pathophysiology and treatment in inhalation injury. Expert Rev Respir Med, 7(2), 159-170. doi:10.1586/ers.13.9
- 744. Jian, X., Guo, G., Ruan, Y., Lin, D., & Zhao, B. (2008). Severe keloids caused by hydrogen cyanide injury: a case report. Cutan Ocul Toxicol, 27(2), 97-101. doi:10.1080/15569520801968197.
- 745. MacLennan, L., & Moiemen, N. (2015). Management of cyanide toxicity in patients with burns. Burns, 41(1), 18-24. doi:10.1016/j.burns.2014.06.001
- 746. Magnusson, R., Nyholm, S., & Astot, C. (2012). Analysis of hydrogen cyanide in air in a case of attempted cyanide poisoning. Forensic Sci Int, 222(1-3), e7-e12. doi:10.1016/j.for-sciint.2012.05.014

- 747. Manzano, H., de Sousa, A. B., Soto-Blanco, B., Guerra, J. L., Maiorka, P. C., & Gorniak, S. L. (2007). Effects of long-term cyanide ingestion by pigs. Vet Res Commun, 31(1), 93-104. doi:10.1007/s11259-006-3361-x
- 748. Mintegi, S., Clerigue, N., Tipo, V., Ponticiello, E., Lonati, D., Burillo-Putze, G., . . . Anseeuw, K. (2013). Pediatric cyanide poisoning by fire smoke inhalation: a European expert consensus. Toxicology Surveillance System of the Intoxications Working Group of the Spanish Society of Paediatric Emergencies. Pediatr Emerg Ca.re, 29(11), 1234-1240. doi:10.1097/PEC.0b013e3182aa4ee1
- 749. Musshoff, F., Kirschbaum, K. M., & Madea, B. (2011). An uncommon case of a suicide with inhalation of hydrogen cyanide. Forensic Sci Int, 204(1-3), e4-7. doi:10.1016/j.for-sciint.2010.05.012
- 750. O'Brien, D. J., Walsh, D. W., Terriff, C. M., & Hall, A. H. (2011). Empiric management of cyanide toxicity associated with smoke inhalation. Prehosp Disaster Med, 26(5), 374-382. doi:10.1017/s1049023x11006625.
- 751. Sang, A. G. P., Guharat, S., & Wananukul, W. (2011). A mass cyanide poisoning from pickling bamboo shoots. Clin Toxicol (Phila), 49(9), 834-839. doi:10.3109/15563650.2011.618456
- 752. Stamyr, K., Thelander, G., Ernstgard, L., Ahlner, J., & Johanson, G. (2012). Swedish forensic data 1992-2009 suggest hydrogen cyanide as an important cause of death in fire victims. Inhal Toxicol, 24(3), 194-199. doi:10.3109/08958378.2012.660285
- 753. Sweeney, L. M., Sommerville, D. R., & Channel, S. R. (2014). Impact of non-constant concentration exposure on lethality of inhaled hydrogen cyanide. Toxicol Sci, 138(1), 205-216. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kft277
- 754. Sweeney, L. M., Sommerville, D. R., Channel, S. R., Sharits, B. C., Gargas, N. M., & Gut, C. P., Jr. (2015). Evaluating the validity and applicable domain of the toxic load model: impact of concentration vs. time profile on inhalation lethality of hydrogen cyanide. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol, 71(3), 571-584. doi:10.1016/j.yrtph.2015.02.015
- 755. Udeh, C. I., Ting, M., Arango, M., & Mick, S. (2015). Delayed presentation of nitroprussideinduced cyanide toxicity. Ann Thorac Surg, 99(4), 1432-1434.

## **CX (Phosgene Oxime)**

- 756. Haines, D. D., & Fox, S. C. (2014). Acute and Long-Term Impact of Chemical Weapons: Lessons from the Iran-Iraq War. Forensic Sci Rev, 26(2), 97-114. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26227026
- 757. Kuča, K., & Pohanka, M. (2010). Chemical warfare agents Molecular, Clinical and Environmental Toxicology (pp. 543-558): Springer.
- 758. Muskat, P. C. (2008). Mass casualty chemical exposure and implications for respiratory failure. Respir Care, 53(1), 58-63; discussion 63-56. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18173860
- 759. http://rc.rcjournal.com/content/53/1/58.full.pdf
- 760. Nicholson-Roberts, T. C. (2010). Toxicology and military anaesthesia. J R Army Med Corps, 156(4 Suppl 1), 327-334. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21302652

# **Environmental Pollutants and Toxic Compounds**

## Dioxins

- 761. Agency, U. S. E.PA (2010). Recommended Toxicity Equivalence Factors (TEFs) for Human Health Risk Assessments of 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin and Dioxin-Like Compounds. (EPA/100/R-10/005). Washington, DC.
- 762. Agency, U. S. EPA (2012). EPA's Reanalysis of Key Issues Related to Dioxin Toxicity and Response to NAS Comments. (EPA/600/R-10/038F). Washington, DC.
- 763. Alshaarawy, O., Zhu, M., Ducatman, A. M., Conway, B., & Andrew, M. E. (2014). Urinary polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon biomarkers and diabetes mellitus. Occup Environ Med, 71(6), 437-441. doi:10.1136/oemed-2013-101987
- 764. Anderson, A. S. (2004). Fish risks and benefits. J Hum Nutr Diet, 17(5), 411-412. doi:10.1111/j.1365-277X.2004.00558.x

- 765. Brokken, L. J., & Giwercman, Y. L. (2014). Gene-environment interactions in male reproductive health: special reference to the aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling pathway. Asian J Androl, 16(1), 89-96. doi:10.4103/1008-682X.122193
- 766. Burns, J. S., Williams, P. L., Sergeyev, O., Korrick, S., Lee, M. M., Revich, B., . . . Hauser, R. (2011). Serum dioxins and polychlorinated biphenyls are associated with growth among Russian boys. Pediatrics, 127(1), e59-68. doi:10.1542/peds.2009-3556
- 767. Carpenter, D. O. (2006). Environmental contaminants and learning and memory. In C. K. T. Kuboki (Ed.), Psychosomatic medicine: Proceedings of the 18th World Congress on Psychosomatic Medicine, held in Kobe Japan, between 21 and 26 August 2005 (pp. 185-189). New York, NY, US: Elsevier Science.
- 768. Chang, J. W., Chen, H. L., Su, H. J., Liao, P. C., Guo, H. R., & Lee, C. C. (2010). Dioxin exposure and insulin resistance in Taiwanese living near a highly contaminated area. Epidemiology, 21(1), 56-61. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181c2fc6e
- 769. Costa, E. M., Spritzer, P. M., Hohl, A., & Bachega, T. A. (2014). Effects of endocrine disruptors in the development of the female reproductive tract. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol, 58(2), 153-161. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24830592 http://www.scielo.br/pdf/abem/v58n2/0004-2730-abem-58-2-0153.pdf
- 770. Covaci, A., Voorspoels, S., Schepens, P., Jorens, P., Blust, R., & Neels, H. (2008). The Belgian PCB/dioxin crisis-8 years later An overview. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol, 25(2), 164-170. doi:10.1016/j.etap.2007.10.003.
- 771. Del Pup, L., Mantovani, A., Luce, A., Cavaliere, C., Facchini, G., Di Francia, R., . . . Berretta, M. (2015). Endocrine disruptors and female cancer: Informing the patients (Review). Oncol Rep, 34(1), 3-11. doi:10.3892/or.2015.3997
- 772. Dobrogowski, M., Wesolowski, W., Kucharska, M., Paduszynska, K., Dworzynska, A., Szymczak, W., . . . Pomorski, L. (2015). Health risk to medical personnel of surgical smoke produced during laparoscopic surgery. Int J Occup Med Environ Health, 28(5), 831-840. doi:10.13075/ijomeh.1896.00374
- 773. Elobeid, M. A., Padilla, M. A., Brock, D. W., Ruden, D. M., & Allison, D. B. (2010). Endocrine disruptors and obesity: an examination of selected persistent organic pollutants in the NHANES 1999-2002 data. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 7(7), 2988-3005. doi:10.3390/ijerph7072988
- 774. Han, G., Ding, G., Lou, X., Wang, X., Shen, H., & Zhou, Y. (2010). [Study of between persistent organic pollutants (POPs) content in children vein blood and thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) in the capcitors dismantlement area]. Wei Sheng Yan Jiu, 39(5), 580-582. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21033435

- 775. Hofe, C. R., Feng, L., Zephyr, D., Stromberg, A. J., Hennig, B., & Gaetke, L. M. (2014). Fruit and vegetable intake, as reflected by serum carotenoid concentrations, predicts reduced probability of polychlorinated biphenyl-associated risk for type 2 diabetes: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2003-2004. Nutr Res, 34(4), 285-293. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2014.02.001
- 776. Inoue, H., Mishima, K., Yamamoto-Yoshida, S., Ushikoshi-Nakayama, R., Nakagawa, Y., Yamamoto, K., . . . Saito, I. (2012). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated induction of EBV reactivation as a risk factor for Sjogren's syndrome. J Immunol, 188(9), 4654-4662. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101575
- 777. Kido, T., Dao, T. V., Ho, M. D., Duc Dang, N., Pham, N. T., Okamoto, R., . . . Nguyen, H. N. (2014). High cortisol and cortisone levels are associated with breast milk dioxin concentrations in Vietnamese women. Eur J Endocrinol, 170(1), 131-139. doi:10.1530/EJE-13-0410
- 778. Kogevinas, M. (2011). Epidemiological approaches in the investigation of environmental causes of cancer: the case of dioxins and water disinfection by-products. Environ Health, 10 Suppl 1, S3. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-10-S1-S3
- 779. Korkalainen, M., Kallio, E., Olkku, A., Nelo, K., Ilvesaro, J., Tuukkanen, J., . . . Viluksela, M. (2009). Dioxins interfere with differentiation of osteoblasts and osteoclasts. Bone, 44(6), 1134-1142. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2009.02.019
- 780. Kraus, T., Gube, M., Lang, J., Esser, A., Sturm, W., Fimm, B., . . . Group, H. E. (2012). Surveillance program for former PCB-exposed workers of a transformer and capacitor recycling company, family members, employees of surrounding companies, and area residents--executive summary. J Toxicol Environ Health A, 75(19-20), 1241-1247. doi:10.1080/15287394.2012.709377.
- 781. Kumar, J., Lind, P. M., Salihovic, S., van Bavel, B., Ekdahl, K. N., Nilsson, B., . . . Ingelsson, E. (2014). Influence of persistent organic pollutants on the complement system in a population-based human sample. Environ Int, 71, 94-100. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2014.06.009
- 782. La Merrill, M., Harper, R., Birnbaum, L. S., Cardiff, R. D., & Threadgill, D. W. (2010). Maternal dioxin exposure combined with a diet high in fat increases mammary cancer incidence in mice. Environ Health Perspect, 118(5), 596-601. doi:10.1289/ehp.0901047
- 783. Laisi, S., Kiviranta, H., Lukinmaa, P. L., Vartiainen, T., & Alaluusua, S. (2008). Molar-incisorhypomineralisation and dioxins: new findings. Eur Arch Paediatr Dent, 9(4), 224-227. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19054476

- 784. Leng, L., Chen, X., Li, C. P., Luo, X. Y., & Tang, N. J. (2014). 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibezo-p-dioxin exposure and prostate cancer: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Public Health, 128(3), 207-213. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2013.10.006
- 785. Lin, S., Yang, Z., Liu, H., & Cai, Z. (2011). Metabolomic analysis of liver and skeletal muscle tissues in C57BL/6J and DBA/2J mice exposed to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. Mol Biosyst, 7(6), 1956-1965. doi:10.1039/c1mb05057e
- 786. Lippmann, M., Cohen, M. D., & Chen, L. C. (2015). Crit Rev Toxicol, 45(6), 492-530. doi:10.3109/10408444.2015.1044601
- 787. Lorber, M., Gibb, H., Grant, L., Pinto, J., Pleil, J., & Cleverly, D. (2007). Assessment of inhalation exposures and potential health risks to the general population that resulted from the collapse of the World Trade Center towers. Risk Anal, 27(5), 1203-1221. doi:10.1111/j.1539-6924.2007.00956.
- 788. Luzardo, O. P., Henriquez-Hernandez, L. A., Valeron, P. F., Lara, P. C., Almeida-Gonzalez, M., Losada, A., . . . Boada, L. D. (2012). The relationship between dioxin-like polychlorobiphenyls and IGF-I serum levels in healthy adults: evidence from a cross-sectional study. PLoS ONE, 7(5), e38213. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0038213
- 789. Magliano, D. J., Loh, V. H., Harding, J. L., Botton, J., & Shaw, J. E. (2014). Persistent organic pollutants and diabetes: a review of the epidemiological evidence. Diabetes Metab, 40(1), 1-14. doi:10.1016/j.diabet.2013.09.006
- 790. Marinkovic, N., Pasalic, D., Ferencak, G., Grskovic, B., & Stavljenic Rukavina, A. (2010). Dioxins and human toxicity. Arh Hig Rada Toksikol, 61(4), 445-453. doi:10.2478/10004-1254-61-2010-2024
- Mrema, E. J., Rubino, F. M., Brambilla, G., Moretto, A., Tsatsakis, A. M., & Colosio, C. (2013). Persistent organochlorinated pesticides and mechanisms of their toxicity. Toxicology, 307, 74-88. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2012.11.015.
- 792. Muenyi, C. S., Carrion, S. L., Jones, L. A., Kennedy, L. H., Slominski, A. T., Sutter, C. H., & Sutter, T. R. (2014). Effects of in utero exposure of C57BL/6J mice to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin on epidermal permeability barrier development and function. Environ Health Perspect, 122(10), 1052-1058. doi:10.1289/ehp.1308045
- 793. Nishijo, M., Pham, T. T., Nguyen, A. T., Tran, N. N., Nakagawa, H., Hoang, L. V., . . . Nishijo, H. (2014). 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in breast milk increases autistic traits of 3-year-old children in Vietnam. Mol Psychiatry, 19(11), 1220-1226. doi:10.1038/mp.2014.18

- 794. Nishijo, M., Tai, P. T., Nakagawa, H., Maruzeni, S., Anh, N. T., Luong, H. V., . . . Nishijo, H. (2012). Impact of perinatal dioxin exposure on infant growth: a cross-sectional and longitudinal studies in dioxin-contaminated areas in Vietnam. PLoS ONE, 7(7), e40273. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040273
- 795. Nowack, N., Wittsiepe, J., Kasper-Sonnenberg, M., Wilhelm, M., & Scholmerich, A. (2015). Influence of Low-Level Prenatal Exposure to PCDD/Fs and PCBs on Empathizing, Systemizing and Autistic Traits: Results from the Duisburg Birth Cohort Study. PLoS ONE, 10(6), e0129906. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129906
- 796. Onozuka, D., Hirata, T., & Furue, M. (2014). Net survival after exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxins: the Yusho study. Environ Int, 73, 28-32. doi:10.1016/j.en-vint.2014.07.008
- 797. Paunescu, A. C., Dewailly, E., Dodin, S., Nieboer, E., & Ayotte, P. (2013). Dioxin-like compounds and bone quality in Cree women of Eastern James Bay (Canada): a cross-sectional study. Environ Health, 12(1), 54. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-12-54
- 798. Pham, T. T., Nishijo, M., Nguyen, A. T., Tran, N. N., Hoang, L. V., Tran, A. H., . . . Nishijo, H. (2015). Perinatal dioxin exposure and the neurodevelopment of Vietnamese toddlers at 1year of age. Sci Total Environ, 536, 575-581. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.07.055
- 799. Rushton, L., Hutchings, S. J., Fortunato, L., Young, C., Evans, G. S., Brown, T., . . . Van Tongeren, M. (2012). Occupational cancer burden in Great Britain. Br J Cancer, 107 Suppl 1, S3-7. doi:10.1038/bjc.2012.112
- 800. Sharpe, R. M. (2010). Environmental/lifestyle effects on spermatogenesis. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 365(1546), 1697-1712. doi:10.1098/rstb.2009.0206
- 801. Slowinska, M., Koter-Michalak, M., & Bukowska, B. (2011). [The effect of dioxins on the human organism--epidemiological studies]. Med Pr, 62(6), 643-652. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22312956
- 802. Stride, P. (2009). Dioxin, diet and disease on St. Kilda. J R Coll Physicians Edinb, 39(4), 370-374. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20509464
- 803. Svechnikov, K., Izzo, G., Landreh, L., Weisser, J., & Soder, O. (2010). Endocrine disruptors and Leydig cell function. J Biomed Biotechnol, 2010. doi:10.1155/2010/684504
- 804. Tai, P. T., Nishijo, M., Anh, N. T., Maruzeni, S., Nakagawa, H., Van Luong, H., . . . Nishijo, H. (2013). Dioxin exposure in breast milk and infant neurodevelopment in Vietnam. Occup Environ Med, 70(9), 656-662. doi:10.1136/oemed-2012-101021

- 805. Thomke, F., Jung, D., Besser, R., Roder, R., Konietzko, J., & Hopf, H. C. (1999). Increased risk of sensory neuropathy in workers with chloracne after exposure to 2,3,7,8-polychlorinated dioxins and furans. Acta Neurol Scand, 100(1), 1-5. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.1999.tb00716.x
- 806. Tlustos, C., Anderson, W., Flynn, A., & Pratt, I. (2014). Additional exposure of the Irish adult population to dioxins and PCBs from the diet as a consequence of the 2008 Irish dioxin food contamination incident. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess, 31(5), 889-904. doi:10.1080/19440049.2014.893399
- 807. van den Akker, E. L. T., & Weisglas-Kuperus, N. (2012). Sexual differentiation of the human brain: Hormonal control and effects of endocrine disruptors. In M. L. L. Kestler (Ed.), Gender differences in prenatal substance exposure (pp. 207-215). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association.
- 808. Weinhold, B. (2012). Environ Health Perspect, 120(6), A228. doi:10.1289/ehp.120-a228
- 809. White, S. S., & Birnbaum, L. S. (2012). The dioxin story The Praeger handbook of environmental health, Vol 1: Foundations of the field, Vol 2: Agents of disease, Vol 3: Water, air, and solid waste, Vol 4: Current issues and emerging debates (pp. 409-425). Santa Barbara, CA, US: Praeger/ABC-CLIO.
- 810. Yamamoto, K., Kudo, M., Arito, H., Ogawa, Y., & Takata, T. (2015). A cross-sectional analysis of dioxins and health effects in municipal and private waste incinerator workers in Japan. Ind Health. doi:10.2486/indhealth.2015-0006
- 811. Yorita Christensen, K. L., Carrico, C. K., Sanyal, A. J., & Gennings, C. (2013). Multiple classes of environmental chemicals are associated with liver disease: NHANES 2003-2004. Int J Hyg Environ Health, 216(6), 703-709. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2013.01.005

### Arsenic

- 812. Argos, M., Kalra, T., Rathouz, P. J., Chen, Y., Pierce, B., Parvez, F., . . . Ahsan, H. (2010). Arsenic exposure from drinking water, and all-cause and chronic-disease mortalities in Bangladesh (HEALS): a prospective cohort study. Lancet, 376(9737), 252-258. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60481-3
- 813. Bhattacharjee, P., Chatterjee, D., Singh, K. K., & Giri, A. K. (2013). Systems biology approaches to evaluate arsenic toxicity and carcinogenicity: an overview. Int J Hyg Environ Health, 216(5), 574-586. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2012.12.008.

- 814. Biswas, R., Poddar, S., & Mukherjee, A. (2007). Investigation on the genotoxic effects of long-term administration of sodium arsenite in bone marrow and testicular cells in vivo using the comet assay. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol, 26(1), 29-37. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17725528
- 815. Brauner, E. V., Nordsborg, R. B., Andersen, Z. J., Tjonneland, A., Loft, S., & Raaschou-Nielsen, O. (2014). Long-term exposure to low-level arsenic in drinking water and diabetes incidence: a prospective study of the diet, cancer and health cohort. Environ Health Perspect, 122(10), 1059-1065. doi:10.1289/ehp.1408198
- 816. Chen, C. J., Wang, S. L., Chiou, J. M., Tseng, C. H., Chiou, H. Y., Hsueh, Y. M., . . . Lai, M. S. (2007). Arsenic and diabetes and hypertension in human populations: a review. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 222(3), 298-304. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2006.12.032.
- 817. Dakeishi, M., Murata, K., & Grandjean, P. (2006). Long-term consequences of arsenic poisoning during infancy due to contaminated milk powder. Environ Health, 5, 31. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-5-31
- 818. Dastgiri, S., Mosaferi, M., Fizi, M. A., Olfati, N., Zolali, S., Pouladi, N., & Azarfam, P. (2010). Arsenic exposure, dermatological lesions, hypertension, and chromosomal abnormalities among people in a rural community of northwest Iran. J Health Popul Nutr, 28(1), 14-22. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20214082
- 819. Dittmar, J., Voegelin, A., Maurer, F., Roberts, L. C., Hug, S. J., Saha, G. C., . . . Kretzschmar, R. (2010). Arsenic in soil and irrigation water affects arsenic uptake by rice: complementary insights from field and pot studies. Environ Sci Technol, 44(23), 8842-8848. doi:10.1021/es101962d
- Echaniz-Laguna, A., Benoilid, A., Vinzio, S., Fornecker, L. M., Lannes, B., Goulle, J. P., . . . Mousson de Camaret, B. (2012). Mitochondrial myopathy caused by arsenic trioxide therapy. Blood, 119(18), 4272-4274. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-10-385138
- 821. Farzan, S. F., Karagas, M. R., & Chen, Y. (2013). In utero and early life arsenic exposure in relation to long-term health and disease. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 272(2), 384-390. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2013.06.030
- Frankel, S., Concannon, J., Brusky, K., Pietrowicz, E., Giorgianni, S., Thompson, W. D., & Currie, D. A. (2009). Arsenic exposure disrupts neurite growth and complexity in vitro. Neurotoxicology, 30(4), 529-537. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2009.02.015
- 823. Grandjean, P., & Herz, K. T. (2015). Trace elements as paradigms of developmental neurotoxicants: Lead, methylmercury and arsenic. J Trace Elem Med Biol, 31, 130-134. doi:10.1016/j.jtemb.2014.07.023

- 824. Halatek, T., Lutz, P., Stetkiewicz, J., Krajnow, A., Wieczorek, E., Swiercz, R., . . . Wasowicz, W. (2013). Comparison of neurobehavioral and biochemical effects in rats exposed to dusts from copper smelter plant at different locations. J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng, 48(9), 1000-1011. doi:10.1080/10934529.2013.773198
- 825. Harper, K. N., Liu, X., Hall, M. N., Ilievski, V., Oka, J., Calancie, L., . . . Gamble, M. V. (2014). A dose-response study of arsenic exposure and markers of oxidative damage in Bangladesh. J Occup Environ Med, 56(6), 652-658. doi:10.1097/JOM.00000000000166
- 826. Huang, Y. L., Hsueh, Y. M., Huang, Y. K., Yip, P. K., Yang, M. H., & Chen, C. J. (2009). Urinary arsenic methylation capability and carotid atherosclerosis risk in subjects living in arsenicosis-hyperendemic areas in southwestern Taiwan. Sci Total Environ, 407(8), 2608-2614. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.12.061
- 827. Kharroubi, W., Dhibi, M., Haouas, Z., Chreif, I., Neffati, F., Hammami, M., & Sakly, R. (2014). Effects of sodium arsenate exposure on liver fatty acid profiles and oxidative stress in rats. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, 21(3), 1648-1657. doi:10.1007/s11356-013-2057-3
- Kruger, K., Repges, H., Hippler, J., Hartmann, L. M., Hirner, A. V., Straub, H., . . . Musshoff, U. (2007). Effects of dimethylarsinic and dimethylarsinous acid on evoked synaptic potentials in hippocampal slices of young and adult rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 225(1), 40-46. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2007.07.007.
- 829. Liao, C. M., Shen, H. H., Lin, T. L., Chen, S. C., Chen, C. L., Hsu, L. I., & Chen, C. J. (2008). Arsenic cancer risk posed to human health from tilapia consumption in Taiwan. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf, 70(1), 27-37. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2007.10.018
- Mao, G., Guo, X., Kang, R., Ren, C., Yang, Z., Sun, Y., . . . Yang, W. (2010). Prevalence of disability in an arsenic exposure area in Inner Mongolia, China. Chemosphere, 80(9), 978-981. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.05.040
- 831. Moon, K. A., Guallar, E., Umans, J. G., Devereux, R. B., Best, L. G., Francesconi, K. A., . . . Navas-Acien, A. (2013). Association between exposure to low to moderate arsenic levels and incident cardiovascular disease. A prospective cohort study. Ann Intern Med, 159(10), 649-659. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-159-10-201311190-00719
- Morales-Marin, M. E., Cordova, E. J., Centeno, F., Martinez-Hernandez, A., Mendez-Garcia, A., Molina, B., . . . Orozco, L. (2015). NFE2L2 Gene Variants and Arsenic Susceptibility: A Lymphoblastoid Model. J Toxicol Environ Health A, 78(10), 628-634. doi:10.1080/15287394.2015.1004146.
- Nuta, O., Moquet, J., Bouffler, S., Lloyd, D., Sepai, O., & Rothkamm, K. (2014). Impact of long-term exposure to sodium arsenite on cytogenetic radiation damage. Mutagenesis, 29(2), 123-129. doi:10.1093/mutage/get070

- 834. O'Bryant, S. E., Edwards, M., Menon, C. V., Gong, G., & Barber, R. (2011). Long-term lowlevel arsenic exposure is associated with poorer neuropsychological functioning: a Project FRONTIER study. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 8(3), 861-874. doi:10.3390/ijerph8030861.
- 835. Rahman, M., Sohel, N., Yunus, M., Chowdhury, M. E., Hore, S. K., Zaman, K., . . . Streatfield, P. K. (2013). Increased childhood mortality and arsenic in drinking water in Matlab, Bangladesh: a population-based cohort study. PLoS One, 8(1), e55014. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055014
- 836. Ramsey, K. A., Foong, R. E., Sly, P. D., Larcombe, A. N., & Zosky, G. R. (2013). Early life arsenic exposure and acute and long-term responses to influenza A infection in mice. Environ Health Perspect, 121(10), 1187-1193. doi:10.1289/ehp.1306748
- 837. See, L. C., Chiou, H. Y., Lee, J. S., Hsueh, Y. M., Lin, S. M., Tu, M. C., . . . Chen, C. J. (2007). Dose-response relationship between ingested arsenic and cataracts among residents in Southwestern Taiwan. J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng, 42(12), 1843-1851. doi:10.1080/10934520701566884
- 838. Siu, C. W., Au, W. Y., Yung, C., Kumana, C. R., Lau, C. P., Kwong, Y. L., & Tse, H. F. (2006). Effects of oral arsenic trioxide therapy on QT intervals in patients with acute promyelocytic leukemia: implications for long-term cardiac safety. Blood, 108(1), 103-106. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-01-0054
- Steinmaus, C., Ferreccio, C., Acevedo, J., Yuan, Y., Liaw, J., Duran, V., . . . Smith, A. H. (2014). Increased lung and bladder cancer incidence in adults after in utero and early-life arsenic exposure. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 23(8), 1529-1538. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0059
- 840. Vahidnia, A., van der Voet, G. B., & de Wolff, F. A. (2007). Arsenic neurotoxicity--a review. Hum Exp Toxicol, 26(10), 823-832. doi:10.1177/0960327107084539.
- 841. von Ehrenstein, O. S., Poddar, S., Yuan, Y., Mazumder, D. G., Eskenazi, B., Basu, A., . . . Smith, A. H. (2007). Children's intellectual function in relation to arsenic exposure. Epidemiology, 18(1), 44-51. doi:10.1097/01.ede.0000248900.65613.a9
- Wang, H. S., Sthiannopkao, S., Chen, Z. J., Man, Y. B., Du, J., Xing, G. H., . . . Wong, M. H. (2013). Arsenic concentration in rice, fish, meat and vegetables in Cambodia: a preliminary risk assessment. Environ Geochem Health, 35(6), 745-755. doi:10.1007/s10653-013-9532-0

- 843. Wang, W., Xie, Z., Lin, Y., & Zhang, D. (2014). Association of inorganic arsenic exposure with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. J Epidemiol Community Health, 68(2), 176-184. doi:10.1136/jech-2013-203114
- 844. Wei, M., Yamada, T., Yamano, S., Kato, M., Kakehashi, A., Fujioka, M., . . . Wanibuchi, H. (2013). Diphenylarsinic acid, a chemical warfare-related neurotoxicant, promotes liver carcinogenesis via activation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling and consequent induction of oxidative DNA damage in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 273(1), 1-9. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2013.08.022.
- 845. Weidemann, D., Kuo, C. C., Navas-Acien, A., Abraham, A. G., Weaver, V., & Fadrowski, J. (2015). Association of arsenic with kidney function in adolescents and young adults: Results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2009-2012. Environ Res, 140, 317-324. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2015.03.030
- 846. Wu, C. T., Lu, T. Y., Chan, D. C., Tsai, K. S., Yang, R. S., & Liu, S. H. (2014). Effects of arsenic on osteoblast differentiation in vitro and on bone mineral density and microstructure in rats. Environ Health Perspect, 122(6), 559-565. doi:10.1289/ehp.1307832
- 847. Wu, M. M., Chiou, H. Y., Lee, T. C., Chen, C. L., Hsu, L. I., Wang, Y. H., . . . Chen, C. J. (2010). GT-repeat polymorphism in the heme oxygenase-1 gene promoter and the risk of carotid atherosclerosis related to arsenic exposure. J Biomed Sci, 17, 70. doi:10.1186/1423-0127-17-70
- 848. Yang, C. Y. (2006). Does arsenic exposure increase the risk of development of peripheral vascular diseases in humans? J Toxicol Environ Health A, 69(19), 1797-1804. doi:10.1080/15287390600630237
- 849. Zhang, C., Li, S., Sun, Y., Dong, W., Piao, F., Piao, Y., . . . Yu, S. (2014). Arsenic downregulates gene expression at the postsynaptic density in mouse cerebellum, including genes responsible for long-term potentiation and depression. Toxicol Lett, 228(3), 260-269. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.05.007
- 850. Zhang, C., Mao, G., He, S., Yang, Z., Yang, W., Zhang, X., . . . Guo, X. (2013). Relationship between long-term exposure to low-level arsenic in drinking water and the prevalence of abnormal blood pressure. J Hazard Mater, 262, 1154-1158. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.09.045

### Nitrogen Dioxide

- 851. Amadeo, B., Robert, C., Rondeau, V., Mounouchy, M. A., Cordeau, L., Birembaux, X.;
  Raherison, C. (2015). Impact of close-proximity air pollution on lung function in schoolchildren in the French West Indies. BMC Public Health, 15, 45. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-1382-5
- 852. Baja, E. S., Schwartz, J. D., Wellenius, G. A., Coull, B. A., Zanobetti, A., Vokonas, P. S., & Suh, H. H. (2010). Traffic-related air pollution and QT interval: modification by diabetes, obesity, and oxidative stress gene polymorphisms in the normative aging study. Environ Health Perspect, 118(6), 840-846. doi:10.1289/ehp.0901396
- 853. Bakian, A. V., Huber, R. S., Coon, H., Gray, D., Wilson, P., McMahon, W. M., & Renshaw, P. F. (2015). Acute air pollution exposure and risk of suicide completion. Am J Epidemiol, 181(5), 295-303. doi:10.1093/aje/kwu341
- 854. Carlsen, H. K., Zoega, H., Valdimarsdottir, U., Gislason, T., & Hrafnkelsson, B. (2012). Hydrogen sulfide and particle matter levels associated with increased dispensing of antiasthma drugs in Iceland's capital. Environ Res, 113, 33-39. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2011.10.010
- 855. Dales, R. E., Cakmak, S., Vidal, C. B., & Rubio, M. A. (2012). Air pollution and hospitalization for acute complications of diabetes in Chile. Environ Int, 46, 1-5. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2012.05.002
- 856. Filippini, T., Heck, J. E., Malagoli, C., Del Giovane, C., & Vinceti, M. (2015). A review and meta-analysis of outdoor air pollution and risk of childhood leukemia. J Environ Sci Health C Environ Carcinog Ecotoxicol Rev, 33(1), 36-66. doi:10.1080/10590501.2015.1002999
- 857. Huang, Y. C., Rappold, A. G., Graff, D. W., Ghio, A. J., & Devlin, R. B. (2012). Synergistic effects of exposure to concentrated ambient fine pollution particles and nitrogen dioxide in humans. Inhal Toxicol, 24(12), 790-797. doi:10.3109/08958378.2012.718809
- 858. Jochner, S., Markevych, I., Beck, I., Traidl-Hoffmann, C., Heinrich, J., & Menzel, A. (2015). The effects of short- and long-term air pollutants on plant phenology and leaf characteristics. Environ Pollut, 206, 382-389. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2015.07.040
- 859. Johnson, J. Y., Rowe, B. H., Allen, R. W., Peters, P. A., & Villeneuve, P. J. (2013). A case-control study of medium-term exposure to ambient nitrogen dioxide pollution and hospitalization for stroke. BMC Public Health, 13, 368. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-368

- 860. Kunzli, N., Perez, L., Lurmann, F., Hricko, A., Penfold, B., & McConnell, R. (2008). An attributable risk model for exposures assumed to cause both chronic disease and its exacerbations. Epidemiology, 19(2), 179-185. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181633c2f
- 861. Lee, I. M., Tsai, S. S., Chang, C. C., Ho, C. K., & Yang, C. Y. (2007). Air pollution and hospital admissions for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in a tropical city: Kaohsiung, Taiwan. Inhal Toxicol, 19(5), 393-398. doi:10.1080/08958370601174818
- 862. Mills, I. C., Atkinson, R. W., Kang, S., Walton, H., & Anderson, H. R. (2015). Quantitative systematic review of the associations between short-term exposure to nitrogen dioxide and mortality and hospital admissions. BMJ Open, 5(5), e006946. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006946
- Shah, A. S., Lee, K. K., McAllister, D. A., Hunter, A., Nair, H., Whiteley, W., . . . Mills, N. L. (2015). Short term exposure to air pollution and stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bmj, 350, h1295. doi:10.1136/bmj.h1295
- 864. Steinvil, A., Kordova-Biezuner, L., Shapira, I., Berliner, S., & Rogowski, O. (2008). Shortterm exposure to air pollution and inflammation-sensitive biomarkers. Environ Res, 106(1), 51-61. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2007.08.006
- 865. Turin, T. C., Kita, Y., Rumana, N., Nakamura, Y., Ueda, K., Takashima, N.;Ueshima, H. (2012). Short-term exposure to air pollution and incidence of stroke and acute myocardial infarction in a Japanese population. Neuroepidemiology, 38(2), 84-92. doi:10.1159/000335654
- 866. Vencloviene, J., Grazuleviciene, R., Babarskiene, R., Dedele, A., & Grazulevicius, T. (2011). Short-term nitrogen dioxide exposure and geomagnetic activity interaction: contribution to emergency hospitalization for acute coronary syndrome. Int J Environ Health Res, 21(3), 149-160. doi:10.1080/09603123.2010.515671
- 867. Yan, W., Ji, X., Shi, J., Li, G., & Sang, N. (2015). Acute nitrogen dioxide inhalation induces mitochondrial dysfunction in rat brain. Environ Res, 138, 416-424. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2015.02.022
868. Yang, C., Chen, A., Chen, R., Qi, Y., Ye, J., Li, S., . . . Chen, X. (2014). Acute effect of ambient air pollution on heart failure in Guangzhou, China. Int J Cardiol, 177(2), 436-441. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.09.003

#### Propylene Glycol

- 869. Burstyn, I. (2014). Peering through the mist: systematic review of what the chemistry of contaminants in electronic cigarettes tells us about health risks. BMC Public Health, 14, 18. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-18
- 870. Cheung, R. T., Tipoe, G. L., Tam, S., Ma, E. S., Zou, L. Y., & Chan, P. S. (2006). Preclinical evaluation of pharmacokinetics and safety of melatonin in propylene glycol for intravenous administration. J Pineal Res, 41(4), 337-343. doi:10.1111/j.1600-079X.2006.00372.x
- 871. Farsalinos, K. E., Romagna, G., Allifranchini, E., Ripamonti, E., Bocchietto, E., Todeschi, S., .
  . Voudris, V. (2013). Comparison of the cytotoxic potential of cigarette smoke and electronic cigarette vapour extract on cultured myocardial cells. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 10(10), 5146-5162. doi:10.3390/ijerph10105146
- 872. Horinek, E. L., Kiser, T. H., Fish, D. N., & MacLaren, R. (2009). Propylene glycol accumulation in critically ill patients receiving continuous intravenous lorazepam infusions. Ann Pharmacother, 43(12), 1964-1971. doi:10.1345/aph.1M313
- 873. Hutzler, C., Paschke, M., Kruschinski, S., Henkler, F., Hahn, J., & Luch, A. (2014). Chemical hazards present in liquids and vapors of electronic cigarettes. Arch Toxicol, 88(7), 1295-1308. doi:10.1007/s00204-014-1294-7
- 874. Lim, T. Y., Poole, R. L., & Pageler, N. M. (2014). Propylene glycol toxicity in children. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther, 19(4), 277-282. doi:10.5863/1551-6776-19.4.277
- 875. National Toxicology, P. (2004). NTP-CERHR Monograph on the Potential Human Reproductive and Developmental Effects of Propylene Glycol (PG). Ntp cerhr mon(12), i-III6. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15995735
- 876. Oh, A. Y., & Kacker, A. (2014). Do electronic cigarettes impart a lower potential disease burden than conventional tobacco cigarettes? Review on E-cigarette vapor versus tobacco smoke. Laryngoscope, 124(12), 2702-2706. doi:10.1002/lary.24750

877. Pillai, U., Hothi, J. C., & Bhat, Z. Y. (2014). Severe propylene glycol toxicity secondary to use of anti-epileptics. Am J Ther, 21(4), e106-109. doi:10.1097/MJT.0b013e31824c407d

#### Environmental Pollutants and Toxic Compounds Military Exposures and Health Outcomes

- 878. Buffler, P. A., Ginevan, M. E., Mandel, J. S., & Watkins, D. K. (2011). The Air Force health study: an epidemiologic retrospective. Ann Epidemiol, 21(9), 673-687. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2011.02.001
- 879. Chang, E. T., Boffetta, P., Adami, H. O., & Mandel, J. S. (2015). A critical review of the epidemiology of Agent Orange or 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin and lymphoid malignancies. Ann Epidemiol, 25(4), 275-292.e230. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.01.002
- 880. Committee to Review the Health Effects in Vietnam Veterans of Exposure to Agent Orange, H., Board on the Health of Select, P., & Institute of, M. (2014). The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health Veterans and Agent Orange: Update 2012. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US) Copyright 2014 by the National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.
- 881. Herbicide exposure and veterans with covered service in Korea. Final rule. (2011). Fed Regist, 76(16), 4245-4250.
- 882. Hoenemeyer, L. A. (2013). Urologic cancer risks for veterans exposed to Agent Orange. Urol Nurs, 33(2), 87-90, 99. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23734554
- 883. Kang, Han K. and Tim Bullman. "Mortality Follow-up of Veterans Who Participated in Military Chemical and Biological Warfare Agent Testing between 1962 and 1972." Journal of toxicology and environmental health. Part A 72, no. 23 (2009): 1550-2.
- 884. Ketchum, JS; Sidell, FR. "Incapacitating Agents." In Medical Aspects of Chemical and Biological Warfare, edited by FR; Takafuji ET; Franz Sidell, DR., I. Warfare, Weaponry, and the Casualty. Washington, DC: United States Government Printing, 1997.
- 885. Khatchadourian, R. "Operation Delirium." The New Yorker, December 17, 2012 2012.
- 886. Lenart, M., Buckenmaier, C. C., 3rd, Kim, M. J., & Plunkett, A. R. (2010). Development of a complicated pain syndrome following cyanide poisoning in a U.S. soldier. Mil Med, 175(4), 292-294.

- 887. Patterson, A. T., Kaffenberger, B. H., Keller, R. A., & Elston, D. M. (2015). Skin diseases associated with Agent Orange and other organochlorine exposures. J Am Acad Dermatol. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2015.05.006
- 888. Ross, J. H., Hewitt, A., Armitage, J., Solomon, K., Watkins, D. K., & Ginevan, M. E. (2015). Exposure to TCDD from base perimeter application of Agent Orange in Vietnam. Sci Total Environ, 511, 82-90. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.11.083
- Ross, J. H., Hewitt, A., Armitage, J., Solomon, K., Watkins, D. K., & Ginevan, M. E. (2015). Handler, bystander and reentry exposure to TCDD from application of Agent Orange by C-123 aircraft during the Vietnam War. Sci Total Environ, 505, 514-525. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.10.005
- 890. Veitch, D. P., Friedl, K. E., & Weiner, M. W. (2013). Military risk factors for cognitive decline, dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Curr Alzheimer Res, 10(9), 907-930.
- 891. Yi, S. W., & Ohrr, H. (2014). Agent Orange exposure and cancer incidence in Korean Vietnam veterans: a prospective cohort study. Cancer, 120(23), 3699-3706. doi:10.1002/cncr.28961
- 892. Yi, S. W., Hong, J. S., Ohrr, H., & Yi, J. J. (2014). Agent Orange exposure and disease prevalence in Korean Vietnam veterans: the Korean veterans health study. Environ Res, 133, 56-65. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2014.04.027
- 893. Yi, S. W., Ohrr, H., Won, J. U., Song, J. S., & Hong, J. S. (2013). Serum 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin levels and their association with age, body mass index, smoking, military record-based variables, and estimated exposure to Agent Orange in Korean Vietnam veterans. J Prev Med Public Health, 46(5), 226-236. doi:10.3961/jpmph.2013.46.5.226

# Antibiotics

# Chloramphenicol & Tetracycline

- 894. Ahmadizadeh, M., Esmailpoor, M., & Goodarzi, Z. (2013). Effect of phenobarbital on chloramphonicol-induced toxicity in rat liver and small intestine. Iran J Basic Med Sci, 16(12), 1282-1285.
- 895. Andicochea, C. T., Portouw, S. J., & Bokan, M. M. (2015). Chloramphenicol and acute esophagitis in the emergency department. J Emerg Trauma Shock, 8(1), 65-67. doi:10.4103/0974-2700.150401

- 896. Barnhill, A. E., Brewer, M. T., & Carlson, S. A. (2012). Adverse effects of antimicrobials via predictable or idiosyncratic inhibition of host mitochondrial components. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 56(8), 4046-4051. doi:10.1128/aac.00678-12
- 897. Carroll, M. W., Lee, M., Cai, Y., Hallahan, C. W., Shaw, P. A., Min, J. H., . . . Barry, C. E., 3rd. (2012). Frequency of adverse reactions to first- and second-line anti-tuberculosis chemo-therapy in a Korean cohort. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis, 16(7), 961-966. doi:10.5588/ijtld.11.0574
- 898. Chen, H., Rao, H., He, P., Qiao, Y., Wang, F., Liu, H., . . . Yao, J. (2014). Potential toxicity of amphenicol antibiotic: binding of chloramphenicol to human serum albumin. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, 21(19), 11340-11348. doi:10.1007/s11356-014-3081-7
- 899. Correa-Salde, V., & Albesa, I. (2009). Reactive oxidant species and oxidation of protein and haemoglobin as biomarkers of susceptibility to stress caused by chloramphenicol. Biomed Pharmacother, 63(2), 100-104. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2008.05.001
- 900. Del Rosso, J. Q. (2009). Oral antibiotic drug interactions of clinical significance to dermatologists. Dermatol Clin, 27(1), 91-94. doi:10.1016/j.det.2008.07.011
- 901. Dinca, E. B., Skinner, A., Dinca, R. V., & Tudose, C. (2015). The dangers of gastritis: a case of clarithromycin-associated brief psychotic episode. J Nerv Ment Dis, 203(2), 149-151. doi:10.1097/nmd.0000000000251
- 902. Ding, S., Wu, J., Zhang, M., Lu, H., Mahmood, Q., & Zheng, P. (2015). Acute toxicity assessment of ANAMMOX substrates and antibiotics by luminescent bacteria test. Chemosphere, 140, 174-183. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.03.057
- 903. Doshi, B., & Sarkar, S. (2009). Topical administration of chloramphenicol can induce acute hepatitis. Bmj, 338, b1699. doi:10.1136/bmj.b1699
- 904. Duewelhenke, N., Krut, O., & Eysel, P. (2007). Influence on mitochondria and cytotoxicity of different antibiotics administered in high concentrations on primary human osteoblasts and cell lines. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 51(1), 54-63. doi:10.1128/aac.00729-05

- 905. Eliakim-Raz, N., Lador, A., Leibovici-Weissman, Y., Elbaz, M., Paul, M., & Leibovici, L. (2015). Efficacy and safety of chloramphenicol: joining the revival of old antibiotics? Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Antimicrob Chemother, 70(4), 979-996. doi:10.1093/jac/dku530
- 906. Fluoroquinolones: psychiatric adverse effects. (2008). Prescrire Int, 17(93), 20.
- 907. Greenblatt, H. K., & Greenblatt, D. J. (2014). Liver injury associated with ketoconazole: review of the published evidence. J Clin Pharmacol, 54(12), 1321-1329. doi:10.1002/jcph.400
- 908. Hutson, J. R., Fischer, H. D., Wang, X., Gruneir, A., Daneman, N., Gill, S. S., . . . Anderson, G. M. (2012). Use of clarithromycin and adverse cardiovascular events among older patients receiving donepezil: a population-based, nested case-control study. Drugs Aging, 29(3), 205-211. doi:10.2165/11599090-00000000-00000
- 909. Klain, V. (2015). Comment on the dangers of gastritis: A case of clarithromycin-associated brief psychotic episode. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 203(6), 481.
- 910. Kouvelou, E., Pourzitaki, C., Aroni, F., Papazisis, G., & Kouvelas, D. (2008). Acute psychosis induced by clarithromycin in a healthy adult? J Clin Psychopharmacol, 28(5), 579-580. doi:10.1097/JCP.0b013e318185a357
- 911. Lassnig, R. M. (2010). [Acute psychosis induced by a Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori)-eradication treatment with amoxicillin, clarithromycin and pantoprazole]. Neuropsychiatr, 24(2), 144-150.
- 912. Leone, A., Nie, A., Brandon Parker, J., Sawant, S., Piechta, L. A., Kelley, M. F., . . . McMillian, M. K. (2014). Oxidative stress/reactive metabolite gene expression signature in rat liver detects idiosyncratic hepatotoxicants. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 275(3), 189-197. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2014.01.017
- 913. Li, C. H., Cheng, Y. W., Liao, P. L., Yang, Y. T., & Kang, J. J. (2010). Chloramphenicol causes mitochondrial stress, decreases ATP biosynthesis, induces matrix metalloproteinase-13 expression, and solid-tumor cell invasion. Toxicol Sci, 116(1), 140-150. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfq085

- 914. Ljung, R., Lagergren, J., Bexelius, T. S., Mattsson, F., & Lindblad, M. (2012). Increased risk of acute pancreatitis among tetracycline users in a Swedish population-based case-control study. Gut, 61(6), 873-876. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300949
- 915. Lopes, R., Rodrigues, R., Domingues, I., Curral, R., & Roma-Torres, A. (2011). [Antibiomania: a case of a manic episode induced by clarithromycin]. Acta Med Port, 24(5), 827-832.
- 916. Mishra, A., Pandya, H. V., Dave, N., Mathew, M., Sapre, C. M., & Chaudhary, S. (2014). A rare debilitating neurological adverse effect of ranolazine due to drug interaction with clarithromycin. Indian J Pharmacol, 46(5), 547-548. doi:10.4103/0253-7613.140593
- 917. Negrin-Gonzalez, J., Peralta Filpo, G., Carrasco, J. L., Robledo Echarren, T., & Fernandez-Rivas, M. (2014). Psychiatric adverse reaction induced by clarithromycin. Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol, 46(3), 114-115.
- 918. Ocal, S., Selcuk, H., Korkmaz, M., Unal, H., & Yilmaz, U. (2010). Acute pancreatitis following doxycycline and ornidazole coadministration. Jop, 11(6), 614-616.
- 919. Ogita, A., Takada, K., & Kawana, S. (2011). Case of anaphylaxis due to tetracycline hydrochloride. J Dermatol, 38(6), 597-599. doi:10.1111/j.1346-8138.2010.01021.x
- 920. Paez, P. L., Becerra, M. C., & Albesa, I. (2008). Chloramphenicol-induced oxidative stress in human neutrophils. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol, 103(4), 349-353. doi:10.1111/j.1742-7843.2008.00290.x
- 921. Page, S. R., & Yee, K. C. (2014). Rhabdomyolysis in association with simvastatin and dosage increment in clarithromycin. Intern Med J, 44(7), 690-693. doi:10.1111/imj.12464
- 922. Panarelli, N. C. (2014). Drug-induced injury in the gastrointestinal tract. Semin Diagn Pathol, 31(2), 165-175. doi:10.1053/j.semdp.2014.02.007
- 923. Phillips, C. I. (2008). Risk of systemic toxicity from topical ophthalmic chloramphenicol. Scott Med J, 53(3), 54-55.
- 924. Phillips, C. I. (2010). Systematic risks from chloramphenicol eye drops. Br J Gen Pract, 60(571), 134. doi:10.3399/bjgp10X483300

- 925. Saito, T., Nakamura, M., Watari, M., & Isse, K. (2008). Tardive seizure and antibiotics: case reports and review of the literature. J ect, 24(4), 275-276. doi:10.1097/YCT.0b013e31816ba986
- 926. Shehab, N., Patel, P. R., Srinivasan, A., & Budnitz, D. S. (2008). Emergency department visits for antibiotic-associated adverse events. Clin Infect Dis, 47(6), 735-743. doi:10.1086/591126
- 927. Short, J., Zabel, S., Cook, C., & Schmeitzel, L. (2014). Adverse events associated with chloramphenicol use in dogs: a retrospective study (2007-2013). Vet Rec, 175(21), 537. doi:10.1136/vr.102687
- 928. Svanstrom, H., Pasternak, B., & Hviid, A. (2014). Use of clarithromycin and roxithromycin and risk of cardiac death: cohort study. Bmj, 349, g4930. doi:10.1136/bmj.g4930
- 929. Tome, A. M., & Filipe, A. (2011). Quinolones: review of psychiatric and neurological adverse reactions. Drug Saf, 34(6), 465-488. doi:10.2165/11587280-00000000-00000
- 930. Turani, M., Banfalvi, G., Peter, A., Kukoricza, K., Kiraly, G., Talas, L., . . . Kemeny-Beke, A. (2015). Antibiotics delay in vitro human stem cell regrowth. Toxicol In Vitro, 29(2), 370-379. doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2014.10.013
- 931. Wagner, J., Suessmair, C., & Pfister, H. W. (2009). Rhabdomyolysis caused by co-medication with simvastatin and clarithromycin. J Neurol, 256(7), 1182-1183. doi:10.1007/s00415-009-5078-6
- 932. Wiest, D. B., Cochran, J. B., & Tecklenburg, F. W. (2012). Chloramphenicol toxicity revisited: a 12-year-old patient with a brain abscess. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther, 17(2), 182-188. doi:10.5863/1551-6776-17.2.182
- 933. Wlodek, C., & Narayan, S. (2014). A reminder about photo-onycholysis induced by tetracycline, and the first report of a case induced by lymecycline. Clin Exp Dermatol, 39(6), 746-747. doi:10.1111/ced.12350
- 934. Yen, Y. F., Chung, M. S., Hu, H. Y., Lai, Y. J., Huang, L. Y., Lin, Y. S., . . . Deng, C. Y. (2015). Association of pulmonary tuberculosis and ethambutol with incident depressive disorder: a nationwide, population-based cohort study. J Clin Psychiatry, 76(4), e505-511. doi:10.4088/JCP.14m09403

935. Zhang, W., Sun, W., An, S., Xiong, B., Lin, K., Cui, X., & Guo, M. (2013). Acute and chronic toxic effects of chloramphenicol on Scenedesmus obliquus and Chlorella pyrenoidosa. Water Environ Res, 85(8), 725-732.

# Barbituates, Stimulants, & Antidepressants

#### Amobarbital

- 936. Curot, J., Denuelle, M., Busigny, T., Barragan-Jason, G., Kany, M., Tall, P., . . . Valton, L. (2014). Bilateral Wada test: amobarbital or propofol? Seizure, 23(2), 122-128. doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2013.10.009
- 937. Magee, J. A., Pender, N. P., Abrahams, S., Thornton, J., Delanty, N., & Fortune, G. M. (2012). A comparison of propofol and amobarbital for use in the Wada test. Seizure, 21(5), 399-401. doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2012.02.001
- 938. Mariappan, R., Manninen, P., McAndrews, M. P., Cohn, M., Tai, P., Valiante, T., & Venkatraghavan, L. (2013). Intracarotid etomidate is a safe alternative to sodium amobarbital for the Wada test. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol, 25(4), 408-413. doi:10.1097/ANA.0b013e3182971e8a

#### Phenobarbital

- 939. Brodie, M. J., & Kwan, P. (2012). Current position of phenobarbital in epilepsy and its future. Epilepsia, 53 Suppl 8, 40-46. doi:10.1111/epi.12027
- 940. Ding, D., Zhang, Q., Zhou, D., Lin, W., Wu, Q., Sun, J., . . . Sander, J. W. (2012). Cognitive and mood effects of phenobarbital treatment in people with epilepsy in rural China: a prospective study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 83(12), 1139-1144. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2012-303042
- 941. Elafros, M. A., Bui, E., & Birbeck, G. L. (2014). Medication side effects among people with epilepsy taking phenobarbital in Zambia. Epilepsy Res, 108(9), 1680-1684. doi:10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2014.08.005

- 942. Kalinin, V. V. (2007). Suicidality and antiepileptic drugs: is there a link? Drug Saf, 30(2), 123-142.
- 943. Karimzadeh, P., & Bakrani, V. (2013). Antiepileptic drug-related adverse reactions and factors influencing these reactions. Iran J Child Neurol, 7(3), 25-29. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3943074/pdf/ijcn-7-025.pdf
- 944. Manuyakorn, W., Siripool, K., Kamchaisatian, W., Pakakasama, S., Visudtibhan, A., Vilaiyuk, S., . . . Benjaponpitak, S. (2013). Phenobarbital-induced severe cutaneous adverse drug reactions are associated with CYP2C19\*2 in Thai children. Pediatr Allergy Immunol, 24(3), 299-303. doi:10.1111/pai.12058

#### MDMA (Ecstasy)

- 945. Allott, K., & Redman, J. (2007). Are there sex differences associated with the effects of ecstasy/3, 4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA)? Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 31(3), 327-347. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0149763406001126
- 946. Brotto, V., & Lee, G. (2007). Substance use and its implications for the critical care nurses: a literature review. Intensive Crit Care Nurs, 23(2), 64-70. doi:10.1016/j.iccn.2006.11.001.
- 947. Brown, J., Edwards, M., McKone, E., & Ward, J. (2007). A long-term ecstasy-related change in visual perception. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 193(3), 437-446. doi:10.1007/s00213-007-0785
- 948. Brown, J., McKone, E., & Ward, J. (2010). Deficits of long-term memory in ecstasy users are related to cognitive complexity of the task. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 209(1), 51-67. doi:10.1007/s00213-009-1766-2
- 949. Buttner, A. (2011). Review: The neuropathology of drug abuse. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 37(2), 118-134. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2990.2010.01131.x
- 950. Capela, J. P., Carmo, H., Remiao, F., Bastos, M. L., Meisel, A., & Carvalho, F. (2009). Molecular and cellular mechanisms of ecstasy-induced neurotoxicity: an overview. Mol Neurobiol, 39(3), 210-271. doi:10.1007/s12035-009-8064-1.
- 951. Carson, D. S., Bosanquet, D. P., Carter, C. S., Pournajafi-Nazarloo, H., Blaszczynski, A., & McGregor, I. S. (2012). Preliminary evidence for lowered basal cortisol in a naturalistic sample of methamphetamine polydrug users. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol, 20(6), 497-503. doi:10.1037/a0029976

- 952. Compton, D. M., Selinger, M. C., Westman, E., & Otero, P. (2011). Differentiation of MDMA or 5-MeO-DIPT induced cognitive deficits in rat following adolescent exposure. Psychology & Neuroscience, 4(1), 157-169. doi:10.3922/j.psns.2011.1.018
- 953. Cunningham, J. I., Raudensky, J., Tonkiss, J., & Yamamoto, B. K. (2009). MDMA pretreatment leads to mild chronic unpredictable stress-induced impairments in spatial learning. Behav Neurosci, 123(5), 1076-1084. doi:10.1037/a0016716
- 954. Daza-Losada, M., Rodriguez-Arias, M., Maldonado, C., Aguilar, M. A., & Minarro, J. (2008). Behavioural and neurotoxic long-lasting effects of MDMA plus cocaine in adolescent mice. Eur J Pharmacol, 590(1-3), 204-211. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2008.06.025
- 955. Falck, R. S., Wang, J., & Carlson, R. G. (2008). Depressive symptomatology in young adults with a history of MDMA use: a longitudinal analysis. J Psychopharmacol, 22(1), 47-54. doi:10.1177/0269881107078293
- 956. Fantegrossi, W. E. (2008). In vivo pharmacology of MDMA and its enantiomers in rhesus monkeys. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol, 16(1), 1-12. doi:10.1037/1064-1297.16.1.1
- 957. Fernandez-Serrano, M. J., Perez-Garcia, M., & Verdejo-Garcia, A. (2011). What are the specific vs. generalized effects of drugs of abuse on neuropsychological performance? Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 35(3), 377-406. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.04.008
- 958. Freudenmann, R. W., Schonfeldt-Lecuona, C., Spitzer, M., Hermle, L., & Gron, G. (2006). Electroconvulsive therapy in the treatment of depression in a former ecstasy user. J Psychopharmacol, 20(6), 860-862. doi:10.1177/0269881106067243
- 959. Gouzoulis-Mayfrank, E., & Daumann, J. (2006). Neurotoxicity of methylenedioxyamphetamines (MDMA; ecstasy) in humans: how strong is the evidence for persistent brain damage? Addiction, 101(3), 348-361. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01314.
- 960. Izco, M., Orio, L., O'Shea, E., & Colado, M. I. (2007). Binge ethanol administration enhances the MDMA-induced long-term 5-HT neurotoxicity in rat brain. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 189(4), 459-470. doi:10.1007/s00213-006-0602-1
- 961. Johnson, B. N., & Yamamoto, B. K. (2010). Chronic stress enhances the corticosterone response and neurotoxicity to +3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA): the role of ambient temperature. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 335(1), 180-189. doi:10.1124/jpet.110.171322.
- Kalechstein, A. D., De La Garza II, R., Mahoney III, J. J., Fantegrossi, W. E., & Newton, T. F. (2007). MDMA use and neurocognition: a meta-analytic review. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 189(4), 531-537.

- 963. Laws, K. R., & Kokkalis, J. (2007). Ecstasy (MDMA) and memory function: a meta-analytic update. Hum Psychopharmacol, 22(6), 381-388. doi:10.1002/hup.857.
- 964. Lizarraga, L. E., Cholanians, A. B., Phan, A. V., Herndon, J. M., Lau, S. S., & Monks, T. J. (2015). Vesicular Monoamine Transporter 2 and the Acute and Long-Term Response to 3, 4-(±)-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine. Toxicological Sciences, 143(1), 209-219. Retrieved from http://toxsci.oxfordjournals.org/content/143/1/209.long.
- 965. Lizarraga-Zazueta, L. E. (2014). The Role Of Sertonin And Vesicular Monoamine Transporters In The Adverse Responses To Methylenedioxymethamphetamine.
- 966. Martins, S. S., Mazzotti, G., & Chilcoat, H. D. (2006). Recent-onset ecstasy use: association with deviant behaviors and psychiatric comorbidity. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol, 14(3), 275-286. doi:10.1037/1064-1297.14.3.275.
- 967. Mechan, A., Yuan, J., Hatzidimitriou, G., Irvine, R. J., McCann, U. D., & Ricaurte, G. A. (2006). Pharmacokinetic profile of single and repeated oral doses of MDMA in squirrel monkeys: relationship to lasting effects on brain serotonin neurons. Neuropsychopharmacology, 31(2), 339-350. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300808
- 968. Montoya, A. G., Sorrentino, R., Lukas, S. E., & Price, B. H. (2002). Long-term neuropsychiatric consequences of "ecstasy" (MDMA): a review. Harv Rev Psychiatry, 10(4), 212-220. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12119307
- 969. Murphy, P. N., Erwin, P. G., Maciver, L., Fisk, J. E., Larkin, D., Wareing, M., . . . Ralley, R. (2011). The relationships of 'ecstasy' (MDMA) and cannabis use to impaired executive inhibition and access to semantic long-term memory. Hum Psychopharmacol, 26(7), 460-469. doi:10.1002/hup.1228
- 970. Nulsen, C., Fox, A., & Hammond, G. (2011). Electrophysiological indices of altered working memory processes in long-term ecstasy users. Hum Psychopharmacol, 26(7), 488-497. doi:10.1002/hup.1231
- 971. O'Shea, E., Orio, L., Escobedo, I., Sanchez, V., Camarero, J., Green, A. R., & Colado, M. I. (2006). MDMA-induced neurotoxicity: long-term effects on 5-HT biosynthesis and the influence of ambient temperature. Br J Pharmacol, 148(6), 778-785. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706783
- 972. Payance, A., Scotto, B., Perarnau, J. M., de Muret, A., & Bacq, Y. (2013). Severe chronic hepatitis secondary to prolonged use of ecstasy and cocaine. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol, 37(5), e109-113. doi:10.1016/j.clinre.2013.06.003

- 973. Schaefer, T. L., Skelton, M. R., Herring, N. R., Gudelsky, G. A., Vorhees, C. V., & Williams, M. T. (2008). Short-and long-term effects of (+)-methamphetamine and (±)-3, 4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine on monoamine and corticosterone levels in the neonatal rat following multiple days of treatment. Journal of neurochemistry, 104(6), 1674-1685.
- 974. Scholey, A. B., Owen, L., Gates, J., Rodgers, J., Buchanan, T., Ling, J., . . . Parrott, A. C. (2011). Hair MDMA samples are consistent with reported ecstasy use: findings from a study investigating effects of ecstasy on mood and memory. Neuropsychobiology, 63(1), 15-21. doi:10.1159/000321833.
- 975. Tait, R. J., George, A., & Olesen, S. (2013). 'Ecstasy' and the use of sleep medications in a general community sample: a 4-year follow-up. Addiction, 108(9), 1640-1648. doi:10.1111/add.12200
- 976. Thompson, V. B., Heiman, J., Chambers, J. B., Benoit, S. C., Buesing, W. R., Norman, M. K., .
  . . Lipton, J. W. (2009). Long-term behavioral consequences of prenatal MDMA exposure.
  Physiol Behav, 96(4-5), 593-601. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2008.12.013
- 977. Yamamoto, B. K., Moszczynska, A., & Gudelsky, G. A. (2010). Amphetamine toxicities: classical and emerging mechanisms. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1187, 101-121. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05141.x

# Iproniazid

- 978. Al-Omari, A., Cowan, J., Turner, L., & Cooper, C. (2013). Antidepressant prophylaxis reduces depression risk but does not improve sustained virological response in hepatitis C patients receiving interferon without depression at baseline: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology, 27(10), 575. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3805338/pdf/cjg27575.pdf
- 979. Kuntz, E. (2006). Drug-induced liver damage. Hepatology Principles and Practice: History-Morphology Biochemistry- Diagnostics Clinic- Therapy, 541-562.
- 980. Pachkoria, K., Isabel Lucena, M., Molokhia, M., Cueto, R., Serrano Carballo, A., Carvajal, A., & Andrade, R. J. (2007). Genetic and molecular factors in drug-induced liver injury: a review. Current drug safety, 2(2), 97-112.
- 981. Rubio Barbon, S., Leon Duran, D., & Arias Miranda, I. (2008). [Antidepressant-induced toxic hepatitis]. Gastroenterol Hepatol, 31(1), 48-49. Retrieved from http://www.sci-encedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0210570508712615

- 982. Sedky, K., Nazir, R., Joshi, A., Kaur, G., & Lippmann, S. (2012). Which psychotropic medications induce hepatotoxicity? General hospital psychiatry, 34(1), 53-61. Retrieved from http://www.ghpjournal.com/article/S0163-8343(11)00355-0/abstract
- 983. Suriawinata, A. A., & Thung, S. N. (2006). Acute and chronic hepatitis. Paper presented at the Seminars in diagnostic pathology.

# Miscellaneous Drugs and Diagnostic Substances

#### Phenazone

None of the databases consulted had recent publications linking phenazone to toxicity, adverse effects, or sequelae.

#### Indocyanine green

- 984. Allen, R. C., & Oetting, T. A. (2007). Indocyanine green toxicity. Ophthalmology, 114(1), 197; author reply 197. doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2006.08.005
- 985. Toczylowska, B., Zieminska, E., Goch, G., Milej, D., Gerega, A., & Liebert, A. (2014). Neurotoxic effects of indocyanine green -cerebellar granule cell culture viability study. Biomed Opt Express, 5(3), 800-816. doi:10.1364/boe.5.000800

#### Aminohippuric acid (PAH)

- 986. Tsuda, A., Ishimura, E., Ohno, Y., Ichii, M., Nakatani, S., Mori, K.; Inaba, M. (2014). Significant association of poor glycemic control with increased resistance in efferent arterioles-study of inulin and para-aminohippuric acid clearance in humans. Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 104(2), 234-40
- 987. Yasumoto, M., Tsuda, A., Ishimura, E., Uedono, H., Ohno, Y., Ichii, M.; Inaba, M. (2015). Significant association between glycemic status and increased estimated postglomerular resistance in nondiabetic subjects - study of inulin and para-aminohippuric acid clearance in humans. Physiol Rep, 3(3).

# Bromsulphthalein (BSP)

No publications were found that discussed toxicity, adverse reactions of long-term sequelae.

# Miscellaneous Other Compounds

# PABA (Para-aminobenzoic acid)

- 988. Rodriguez, E., Valbuena, M. C., Rey, M., & Porras de Quintana, L. (2006). Causal agents of photoallergic contact dermatitis diagnosed in the national institute of dermatology of Colombia. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed, 22(4), 189-192. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0781.2006.00212.x
- 989. Stoevesandt, J., Kurzinger, N., Brocker, E. B., & Trautmann, A. (2010). Uro-dermatological problems of a construction worker: paraaminobenzoic acid as a systemic photosensitizer. Eur J Dermatol, 20(2), 217-219. doi:10.1684/ejd.2010.0876
- 990. Waters, A. J., Sandhu, D. R., Lowe, G., & Ferguson, J. (2009). Photocontact allergy to PABA in sunscreens: the need for continued vigilance. Contact Dermatitis, 60(3), 172-173. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0536.2008.01448.x

# 12202

No references could be found for this compound.

#### Pyridine

No recent references were found for this compound.

# CS Arsenic

No information on CS Arsenic was found.

# 5-HTP – (Hydroxytryptophan)

- 991. Duke, A. A., Begue, L., Bell, R., & Eisenlohr-Moul, T. (2013). Revisiting the serotonin-aggression relation in humans: a meta-analysis. Psychol Bull, 139(5), 1148-1172. doi:10.1037/a0031544
- 992. Hennig, J., Reuter, M., Netter, P., Burk, C., & Landt, O. (2005). Two types of aggression are differentially related to serotonergic activity and the A779C TPH polymorphism. Behav Neurosci, 119(1), 16-25. doi:10.1037/0735-7044.119.1.16
- 993. Kamb, M. L., Murphy, J. J., Jones, J. L., Caston, J. C., Nederlof, K., Horney, L. F., . . . Kilbourne, E. M. (1992). Eosinophilia-myalgia syndrome in L-tryptophan-exposed patients. Jama, 267(1), 77-82.
- Silver, R. M., Heyes, M. P., Maize, J. C., Quearry, B., Vionnet-Fuasset, M., & Sternberg, E. M. (1990). Scleroderma, fasciitis, and eosinophilia associated with the ingestion of tryptophan. N Engl J Med, 322(13), 874-881.
- 995. Shaw, K., Turner, J., & Del Mar, C. (2002). Tryptophan and 5-hydroxytryptophan for depression. Cochrane Database Syst Rev(1), CD003198. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003198
- 996. Trindade-Filho, E. M., Vasconcelos, C. A. C. d., & Guedes, R. C. A. (2009). Acute tryptophan administration impairs cortical spreading depression propagation in REM sleep deprived and non-deprived adult rats. Psychology & Neuroscience, 2(2), 235-241. doi:10.3922/j.psns.2009.2.017

#### Octylamine

No recent references were found for the potential long-term negative health effects of octylamine in any of the databases searched.

# Chloropicrin

997. Bessac, B. F., & Jordt, S. E. (2010). Sensory detection and responses to toxic gases: mechanisms, health effects, and countermeasures. Proc Am Thorac Soc, 7(4), 269-277. doi:10.1513/pats.201001-004SM

- 998. Condie, L. W., Daniel, F. B., Olson, G. R., & Robinson, M. (1994). Ten and ninety-day toxicity studies of chloropicrin in Sprague-Dawley rats. Drug Chem Toxicol, 17(2), 125-137. doi:10.3109/01480549409014306
- 999. Environmental Protection Agency, (2008). Interim Acute Exposure Guideline Levels: Chloropicrin (CAS Reg. No. 76-06-2) Washington, DC.
- 1000. Kloth, S., Baur, X., Goen, T., & Budnik, L. T. (2015). Accidental exposure to gas emissions from transit goods treated for pest control. Environ Health, 14, 110. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-13-110
- 1001. Pesonen, M., Hakkinen, M., Rilla, K., Juvonen, R., Kuitunen, T., Pasanen, M., & Vahakangas, K. (2014). Chloropicrin-induced toxic responses in human lung epithelial cells. Toxicol Lett, 226(2), 236-244. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.02.006